
GMC100106-0001 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

01 July 2008 10:56 

...................... ..................... 
RE: i_._._.C_.o_d_.e_..A._._.j- lOP 

T h a n ks [~[~[<[~] 

[~;~-~-~i has dealt with [[1111111~}~[~1111111[]. She advises me that at present we do not have 

signed copies ofi ........... .C_.o_.d_.e_._A. ........... ireports as they were emailed to us. 

Signed copies have now been requested and as soon as I receive them I will forward them 
to you. 

[]]]]]]]]]_5.~]~]]]]]]]]]]wrote the reports on a patient by patient basis whereby he was sent all of 
the relevant witness statements, including statements made by i[i[i[~[~_iT~[i[] and the medical 
records relating to that patient, as well as a copy of his previous report for Hampshire 
Constabulary. 

If you require any further information please let me know. 

_C._9_¢t.A_ ...... Jl Partner 
for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

Consider the environment, think before you print! 

Field FisherWaterhouse LLP Portland Tower Portland Street Manchester M1 3LF 

Tel+44 (0)161 238 4900 Fax+44 (0)161 237 5357 E.mail info~ffw.com 

Web www.ffw.com CDE823 

FFW does not accept service of documents by e-mail for Court or other purposes unless expressly agreed in writing 
beforehand. For service to be effective, the sender must receive an express acknowledgement of receipt from the 
person intended to be served. 

This e-mail may contain privileged and confidential information. If you receive it in error please tell the sender 
and do not copy, distribute or take any action in reliance upon it. You should ensure this e-mail and any 
attachments are virus free. E-mail is not a 100% virus-free or secure medium. It is your responsibility to 
ensure that viruses do not adversely affect your system and that your messages to us meet your own security 
requirements. We reserve the right to read any e-mail or attachment entering or leaving our systems without 
notice. 

Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (registered 
number OC318472) and is regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority. A list of its members and their 
professional qualifications is available at its registered office, 35 Vine Street, London, EC3N 2AA. 
We use the term partner to refer to a member of Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP, or an employee or consultant 
with equivalent standing and qualifications. 

From: [- .............................................. c%a~-~ .................................................. l 
Sent: Tuesday, July 01, 2008 9:42 AM 



GMC100106-0002 

Cc: .. ....................... ~ 
Subject: L._,C_,o_,d_,e_._A,_._i- IOP 
Importance: High 

GMC legal has requested signed copies ofi Code A ]reports if they are available. 

They also would be grateful if you would clarify: 

Did [. ......... .c_.o_~A ......... j have the benefit of all the medical records and notes for the 12 patients 
when he prepared his reports 

or 

Did he prepare the reports having old reviewed old reports and no medical records etc? 

L.c_~.,~ AI 
This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential and intended solely for the 
use of the individual or entity to whom they are addressed. If you have received this 
email in error please notify ~mc@~mc-uk.or~ 

General Medical Council 

St James’s Buildings, 79 Oxford Street, Manchester, M1 6FQ 

Regents Place, 350 Euston Road, London, NWl 3JN 

The Tun, 4 Jackson’s Entry, Holyrood Road, Edinburgh, EH8 8PJ 

Regus House, Falcon Drive, Cardiff Bay, CF 10 4RU 

20 Adelaide Street, Belfast, BT2 8GD 

The GMC is a charity registered in England and Wales (1089278) and Scotland 
(SC037750) 



GMC100106-0003 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

.............................. 56~’~,- ............................. i 

08 July 2008 10:10 

Code A i 

Hello [_.c_ o_ .d_ .e_ . _A_ j , 

Further to our discussion our Adjudication Section has advised that [~_.-o.~_X.-~] lOP hearing will 
be heard in private. I would be grateful if you would make the patient’s families aware of the lOP 
hearing this Friday. 

I will inform Hampshire PCT. 

L£_°.d_~._A.j 



GMC100106-0004 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

08 July 2008 10:13 

L ........................... _.c_.o_ _d._e...A.. ........................... i 
[_._._c_£ .a_~_.~_._._.i- lOP 

7823533 1.DOC 

Please see the attached note concerning L._._c_o_.d_.e_._A_._._icurrent working arrangements. 

Sent: 07 Jul 2008 17:27 
To: [ ......................... ~i~-;~ ........................ 
Subject: File note 

As promised earlier, file note enclosed referencing the mention of the prescription 

restrictions. 

Consider the environment, think before you print! 

Field FisherWaterhouse LLP Portland Tower Portland Street Manchester M1 3LF 

Tel+44 (0)161 238 4900 Fax+44 (0)161 237 5357 E-mail info@ffw.com 
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and do not copy, distribute or take any action in reliance upon it. You should ensure this e-mail and any 
attachments are virus flee. E-mail is not a 100% virus-flee or secure medium. It is your responsibility to 
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
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GMC100106-0006 

Field Fisher Waterhouse 

attendance note 
Name: L._._._C_£.d_e_._A. ...... j I Call type: Meeting 11 February 2008 

Att: 
............. _C..9.d_e_...A- ............ j3~rector of Corporate 
Affairs 

From: Hampshire PCT 

Duration: I Date: 07 July 2008 

7823533 v1 



GMC100106-0007 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

Code A 

07 July 2008 10:31 

There is no file note as such, it is something that ["~-.-_~-.-_{.g_~-.-_.-_.-_~?told 
me in my meeting with the PCT. It is contained within my handwritten 

notes of the meeting. 

He told me that ’she is under voluntary prescribing prescriptions, she 

will not prescribe opiates and asks a colleague to doso. Medicines 

Management review this quarterly to check she is adhering. This 
arrangement has been in place since the outset of the concerns in 

2003/2004.’ 

His statement is being finalised and I asked him to include this 

information. I will chase this up and forward it to you. I can 
incorporate the above into a file note if you so wish. 

Thanks 

Code Ai 
i l Solicitor 

for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

Mobile i_~ _~ _~ .~h_-6_-.d_-~ ~._~ _~ .~ _~ i 

Consider the environment, think before you print! 

Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP Portland Tower Portland Street Manchester M1 3LF 

Tel+44 (0)161 238 4900 Fax+44 (0)161 237 5357 E-mail infoff~ffw.com 
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

This e-mail may contain privileged and confidential information. If you receive it in error please tell the sender and 
do not copy, distribute or take any action in reliance upon it. You should ensure this e-mail and any attachments are 



GMC100106-0008 

virus free. E-mail is not a 100% virus-free or secure medium. It is your responsibility to ensure that viruses do not 

adversely affect your system and that your messages to us meet your own security requirements. We reserve the 
right to read any e-mail or attachment entering or leaving our systems without notice. 

Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (registered number 

OC318472) and is regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority. A list of its members and their professional 
qualifications is available at its registered office, 35 Vine Street, London, EC3N 2AA. 

We use the term partner to refer to a member of Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP, or an employee or consultant with 
equivalent standing and qualifications. 

From. i    Code A    i 

Sent: Thursday, June 26, 2008 8:51 PM 
To l ............................................... i 

cc:i ........... .......... J 
Subject: Re: [121~}~_;.2~12] 

Thanks ~.g~_~_~_] 

I will try and find the note tomorrow. Did you mean [~i~does not want 

anyone from GMC (or FFW) to attend inquest pre-meeting? 

i_~_~_~_o~_d_e.-_~_~_] I Partner 

for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

..... Original Message ..... 
From: [ .................................................. 

To " ........................ 
C~I : [ Code A 
Sent: Thu Jun 26 18:16:37 2008 

Subject: 

We discussed the [i.d_.;_~ii~ig] case with [_._..�_o_.a_.e_._n._._.jtoday and he does want 
anyone from the GMC to attend the meeting. 

Also [_~_~.~i_;.Zj mentioned yesterday that she has a file note indicating 

that is currently working subj ect to voluntary restrictions 

could you forward that to me please. 



GMC100106-0009 

This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential and 

intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to whom they are 
addressed. If you have received this email in error please notify 

gmc@gmc-uk.org 

General Medical Council 

St James’s Buildings, 79 Oxford Street, Manchester, M1 6FQ 

Regents Place, 350 Euston Road, London, NWl 3JN 

The Tun, 4 Jackson’s Entry, Holyrood Road, Edinburgh, EH8 8PJ 

Regus House, Falcon Drive, Cardiff Bay, CF10 4RU 

20 Adelaide Street, Belfast, BT2 8GD 

The GMC is a charity registered in England and Wales (1089278) and 

Scotland (SC037750) 



GMC100106-0010 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

07 July 2008 17:27 

File note -i_._._.c_£a_~_.~_._._.i 

7823533 1.DOC 

As promised earlier, file note enclosed referencing the mention of the prescription restrictions. 

[_..C._o._d._e...A_.~ 

Consider the environment, think before you print! 

Field FisherWaterhouse LLP Portland Tower Portland Street Manchester M1 3LF 

Tel+44 (0)161 238 4900 Fax+44 (0)161 237 5357 E-mail info~ffw.com 

Web www.ffw.com CDE823 

FFW does not accept service of documents by e-mail for Court or other purposes unless expressly agreed in writing 
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not copy, distribute or take any action in reliance upon it. You should ensure this e-mail and any attachments are virus 
free. E-mail is not a 100% virus-free or secure medium. It is your responsibility to ensure that viruses do not adversely 
affect your system and that your messages to us meet your own security requirements. We reserve the right to read 
any e-mail or attachment entering or leaving our systems without notice. 

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
Name: 

Att: 

Duration: 

[]]]]]:#~#~[~]]]]]]- Director of Corporate 
Affairs 

I Call type: Meeting 11 February 2008 

From: Hampshire PCT 

I Date: 07 July 2008 

General Medical Council 

As part of my meeting with [ ........... ~-3a-~-i, ........... i he told me that was subject to voluntary 

prescribing restrictions. She has agreed not to prescribe opiates and asks a colleague to do so. 

Medicines Management review this arrangement quarterly to check that she is adhering to this. This 

arrangement has been in place from the outset of the concerns in 2003 to 2004. 

We agreed that [-fi;a;~-i would include this within his witness statement. 

TET 

7823533 vl 



GMC100106-0012 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 

CodeA 

30 June 2008 10:05 

Code A L ..................................................................................................................................... ilOP 

Subject: RE: L.~.o..d_e._A_j 

Case listed for 10:30 in London on 11 July. - H1-197783948 

..... Original Message ..... 

Sent: 30 June 2008 09:46 
To i ..................................................................................................................... 
ccl i Code A 
Subject: Re: [~_~_~"~i 

Thanks. This would be fine. 

..... Original Message ..... 

From: [_-..-._-._-._-._-._-.’_’._-._-..-d_-6_-.a.-~_- ~_-._-._-._-._-._-._-._-._-._-..’.i 
To: [222222222222~.?.??.24T22222222222.] 

Sent: Mon Jun 30 09:36:29 2008 

Subject: ~.~. ~]~]~.g] 

L~_~.~~ _~3 

As discussed, I’ve looked at the listings for the IOP within the next seven days, which is currently full. Obviously, as 
this case will need half a day this does pose a slight difficulty with regard to listings. 

There is a slot on Friday 11 July, which works out at 1 ldays from today (9 working days) as opposed to the 

requested slot of ’within 7 days’. 

I wonder if this would be acceptable? 

Regards, 

Lc._o..a._~.N 



GMC100106-0013 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

26 June 2008 14:47 

Code A i 
RE: Letter to NMC 

iCode A~las approved the letter. 

From: i ..................................... -~~;J~-~ ..................................... 
Sent: 26 .]un 2008 13:34 

¯ .................... ................... 
Cc: i 
Subject: Letter to NMC 

I have drafted a letter to the NMC which advises them of the decision re listing but also 
picks up on some points we discussed on 16 May and the issues raised by [_._._c._o~_~._._.j 
about how we deal with the NMC involvement. 

Can you confirm you are happy for this letter to be sent? 

_C._?_~_~_.A_. ...... ~il Partner 
for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 
dd: [~.~_A.-~j I m: ~._-._-._-._-._-._-._-~.~_-._-._-._-._-._-._-.j 

Consider the environment, think before you print! 

Field FisherWaterhouse LLP Portland Tower Portland Street Manchester M1 3LF 

Tel+44 (0)161 238 ~900 Fax+44 (0)161 237 5357 E-mail info~ffw.com 

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
VVe use the term partner to refer to a member of Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP, or an employee or consultant 
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with equivalent standing and qualifications. 



GMC100106-0015 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

26 June 2008 13:34 

Letter to NMC 

DOCS 7750395 1.DOC 

I have drafted a letter to the NMC which advises them of the decision re listing but also picks up on 
some points we discussed on 16 May and the issues raised by .=,---~-S-~-K--~about howwe deal with 
the NMC involvement. 

Can you confirm you are happy for this letter to be sent? 

[i~i~i~i~_-~-~i~i~i~i I Partner 
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

FFVV does not accept service of documents by e-mail for Court or other purposes unless expressly agreed in writing 
beforehand. For service to be effective, the sender must receive an express acknowledgement of receipt from the person 
intended to be served. 

This e-mail may contain privileged and confidential information. If you receive it in error please tell the sender and do 
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
OC316472) and is regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority. A list of its members and their professional 
qualifications is available at its registered office, 35 Vine Street, London, EC3N 2_AA. 
We use the term partner to refer to a member of Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP, or an employee or consultant with 
equivalent standing and qualifications. 



GMC100106-0016 

Draft (26.06.2008) 

Strictly Private & Confidential 

Nursing & Midwifery Council 

23 Portland Place 
London 
W1B 1PZ 

Our ref: SLE/GML/00492-15579/7750395 vl 

Your ref: 

L._._..~:_.o#_e..A. _._._._.= 
Partner 

~ ......................... ~ (Direct Dial) 
[Code A 

26 June 2008 

Dear i..c._o._a._~Ai 

General Medical Council- 

I write further to our meeting with you and [ .......... ~;]i-g~ .......... .] (NMC), [~.-_d_~-_~-~i and [ .......... ~-ga-g~- .......... l 

(GMC) on 16 May 2008. 

Listing of GMC hearing 

When we met we discussed the then recent announcement by the Portsmouth and South East 

Hampshire Coroner of his intention to open Inquests into the deaths of ten people who died at 

Gosport War Memorial Hospital. 

After careful consideration the GMC has now decided to postpone the Fitness to Practise Panel 

Hearing regarding [_~.6_.;_?~_;~] until the inquests have been held. Eight of these patients were 

amongst those due to be considered at the Fitness to Practise Panel Hearing which had been 

provisionally listed to commence on 8 September 2008. The GMC has taken legal advice and has 

decided that on balance, it is preferable to await the outcome of the inquests. The inquests could give 

rise to further fitness to practise allegations or could lead to the GMC revising the charge that it 

proposed to bring and so could be highly relevant to the GMC proceedings. Giving the inquest 

primacy over GMC proceedings will also allow [_._._.c_.o_.a_.e_.~_._._.ito deal with that inquiry and her evidence 

for that process, ahead of her having to finalise her response to the Fitness to Practise Panel. 

As I indicated when we spoke on the telephone this week the Coroner has indicated that there will be 

a pre-hearing meeting to discuss the listing of the inquests and other matters. We have been advised 

that the date will be Thursday 14 August 2008 and I am currently clarifying with the General Medical 

Council who will attend on their behalf. 



GMC100106-0017 

The GMC Fitness to Practise Panel Hearing will be relisted once we have further information from 

the Coroner about the proposed date of the inquests. 

Review of evidence and information in the public domain 

I understand you are familiar with the Commission for Health Improvement ("CHI") Investigation 

Report (published in July 2002). When reviewing it very recently I noted that the CHI said in 2002 

that the NMC were considering any issues of professional misconduct in relation to any of the nurses 

referred to in police documentation. CHI also highlighted, as you identified at our meeting, the 

requirement that nurses act in the best interests of their patient at all time, including challenging the 

prescribing of other clinical staff, if appropriate. 

NMC and GMC investigations and disclosure 

Whilst the Notice of Hearing has yet to be finalised we have advised ii~i~i~i~.k_-i~i~i~] solicitors that the 

GMC charge is likely to include reference to the prescribing to 12 patients. 

When we met to discuss the GMC and NMC investigations you indicated that the NMC currently 

have a number of complaints based on correspondence from families and relating to five nurses. 

However your indication was that those written complaints were unlikely to result in onward 

referrals. You also indicated those nurses referred to have not be informed that there has been a 

"complaint" about them to the NMC. 

In relation to the review of conduct which might arise from the police investigation, we understand 

that at present the NMC intend to await the outcome of the GMC’s proceedings which, it is 

anticipated, will result in a finding as to whether the prescribing by [1212121212~_;._ai_;i~21212121212iwas inappropriate 

and/or not in the best interests of her patients. Again no individual nurses have been notified by the 

NMC that their conduct could fall to be considered as a result of the police documentation. 

We have discussed the situation with our barrister. To date most, if not all, of the nurse witnesses 

whom we have approached have had support from their union or RCN representative. We have, 

throughout, indicated that any concerns about professional conduct by nurses would be matters to be 

dealt with by the NMC. 

We have been advised that, prior to any nurse being called to give evidence, we should remind them 

in writing of their right to seek legal advice (and our power to summons them to give evidence). We 

are of course concerned about issues of self-incrimination by witnesses who have not been fully 

informed of the potential for their conduct to be scrutinised by their own regulator. 

We would also invite the NMC to confirm to us any decisions to refer or close complaints against 

particular nurses. We would like to be able to then disclose this information to [~?_)_)}_~.~]legal 

advisers. We should also like to be able to be open with our witnesses if we are aware of any 

confirmed NMC proceedings and it would be helpful to discuss disclosure to any nurse witnesses in 

due course. 

7750395 vl 2 
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In the meantime in our discussions with families it is possible that we will be advised of complaints 

made against nurses (indeed when we spoke I indicated some families had repeated their concerns 

about the nursing staff to us directly). We will have to comply with our disclosure obligations by 

letting ~_._._._.c_.o_~.&._._.jlawyers know about family complaints about nursing staff where this is relevant. 

Our barrister has suggested that we ought to explicitly ask families to confirm whether they have 

complained about any other medical or nursing staff and that we should obtain copies of any letters of 

complaint. Such documents would be subject to disclosure. 

All of the above matters are now somewhat secondary given that the GMC now intends that the 

inquests should have primacy over their own investigation for the time-being. We anticipate that 

many of the nursing and medical staff will give evidence at the Inquest which may be relevant to the 

regulatory proceedings. 

If you have any questions in relation to this matter you should feel free to contact either [~.~_] 

[_._._.c_.o_.a_~.&._._iat the GMC or me directly if appropriate. 

Yours sincerely 

for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

7750395 vl 3 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

25 June 2008 17:14 

Example postponement letter for GMC.DOC 

DOCS 7748305 1.DOC 

As discussed, for your discussion with i-~-~_~.~.~_~iand press office. 

Code A 
i ........................ il Solicitor 
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

Our ref: TET/GML/00492-15579/7747574 vl 

Your ref: 

Assistant Solicitor 
r ......................... ~ (Direct Dial) Code A i 

25 June 2008 

Dear 

General Medical Council 

I write further to our previous correspondence to update you on the current position of the GMC 

Fitness to Practise investigation. 

You may be aware that recently the Portsmouth and South East Hampshire Coroner has announced 

his intention to open Inquests into the deaths of ten people who died at Gosport War Memorial 

Hospital. 

After careful consideration, and upon the receipt of legal advice, the GMC has decided to postpone 

the Fitness to Practise Panel Hearing regarding [~.~.}.~.~j until the Inquest has been held into the 

deaths of the ten patients at the Gosport War Memorial Hospital. Eight of these patients were 

amongst those due to be considered at the Fitness to Practise Panel Hearing. The GMC has taken 

legal advice and has decided that on balance it is preferable to await the outcome of the Inquest. The 

outcome of the Inquest could give rise to further fitness to practise allegations or could lead to the 

GMC revising the charges that they are proposing to bring and so could be highly relevant to the 

GMC proceedings. Giving the Inquest primacy will also allow ~.~.~] to deal with that inquiry 

and evidence for that process, ahead of her having to finalise her response to the Fitness to Practise 

Panel. 

The GMC Fitness to Practise Hearing will be relisted once we have been informed by the Coroner of 

the date of the Inquest. At present I do not know when this will be, but will of course keep you fully 

informed. 
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In the meantime I am continuing with my preparation for the Hearing, which includes finalising any 

outstanding witness evidence. This will ensure that once I have further information from the Coroner 

the GMC will be ready to re-list the Hearing without any further delays. 

I appreciate that you may be disappointed by this news but hope that you understand the reasons 

above. If you would like to discuss this matter then please do not hesitate to contact either myself or 

.a_ 727; 

The Coroner may contact you directly regarding the Inquest. Any queries regarding the Inquest 

should be directed to him. For your information his details are: 

Her Maj esty’s Coroner for Portsmouth and East Hampshire 
Coroner’s Office 
Room T20 
The Guildhall 
Guildhall Square 
Portsmouth 
PO1 2AJ 

May I take this opportunity to thank you again for your ongoing assistance. 
appreciate your co-operation. 

Yours sincerely 

My colleagues and I 

for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

7748305 vl 2 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

Code A 

24 June 2008 16:22 

Code A 
RE: IOC and PPC Papers 

DOCS 7739094 1.PDF 

Thanks for your e-mail. 

Do you want me to print out and sign the letters to the MDU again - or will file copies be 
sufficient? (we don’t retain signed copies on file - but I can do some with Copy marked on them) 

I have enclosed a pdf of the Police Operation Rochester summary of their entire investigation 
which should prove to be very helpful for the Panel. 

Thank you for enclosing the index to the 2004 bundle. In terms of the medical records, I would 
note that the records made available to the Committee were not for the patients in the charges, 
except for [~(~.~;~i. 

I think it would be a good idea to have the medical records for Patients A to L to be available to 
the Panel if so required. Do you have copies of these? If not, let me know and I will arrange for 
them to be copied (this is a big job though - they are in multiple folders and it may be better for 
you to borrow ours in terms of costs etc. and them return them to us afterwards) 

I think that the best option would be to start with the transcript of the 2004 hearing and follow on 
from that. We could, similarly to the medical records, have the additional documents available 

should they be required, however the evidence for the previous bundles (eg the reports of i~_~.;_~j 
.C..?_d._e._.A_ .......................... ~ is not the evidence on which we have sought to rely whilst drafting 

the charges. I don’t think this will be prejudicial to ii~i~i~e~.i~i] as all of the evidence would be open 
to the Panel and indeed she is more likely to be judged on the case as it stands at present (which 
is significantly different to how it was in 2002) 

In terms of witness statements, these do add to [_~_~] evidence, and may influence 
the Panel. However, i~~_~i evidence is pretty persuasive on its own and goes directly 
to inappropriate prescribing and treatment. They are relevant however. I will ask ~i,_-01._-iito e-mail 
you scanned versions of all of those which we have finalised. Probably in batches as there are 
loads! All of these have been previously disclosed to the defence. 

Regards 
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.C_._o._d._e._A._ ...... ]1 Solicitor 
for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

Mobile [ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~_~g_~_~_~ ~ ~ ~ ~ i 

From: [ ............................................................ e6a~;~- ............................................................ 
Sent: Tuesday, June 24, 2008 11:30 AM 

................ ............... Cc:[ ............................................................ 
Subject: RE: ~[OC and PPC Papers - [CodeAi 

Thank you for your email. 

I would be grateful if you would send me the following documents: 

¯ A copy of your recent signed letter to the MDU which explained our reasons for the 
postponing the hearing. 

¯ A copy of your signed letter of 30 May 2008 to the MDU 

¯ A copy of your signed letter of 3 March 2008 to the MDU and accompanying charges re 
Patients A-K 

¯ A copy of your signed letter of 6 May to the MDU and the charges which accompanied re 
Patient L 

¯ Also we do have a letter from the Police explaining the outcome of their last 
investigation? 

[_._._C_,o_,d_,e_._A,_._._ j reports 

I have received the reports - thank you. 

lOP bundle 2004 

I have managed to find a copy of the bundle and I attach a copy of the cover sheet and index 
from that hearing. 

Our options are to continue our evidence directly from on that bundle or to start with the transcript 
of the 2004 hearing, paperwork considered by the PPC and then our current evidence, please 
advise which option would be less prejudicial to ~--~-S-~-~-~,--i 

Medical Records 

You will note from the index of the 2004 hearing, that medical records were not included in the 
bundle but made available to the Panel on the day of the hearing, we could adopt the same 
approach here if there is a referral to lOP. Please let me know your thoughts. 
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Witness Statements 

No interim orders have previously been made due to insufficient evidence, if you consider that the 
witness statements will add anything to i~i~i~i~i~i~i#~4~;.~i~i~i~i~i~ii which may influence the Panel’s 
decision please provide them. 

Wessex Protocols 

I am content with you view that you do not consider that the Wessex Protocols will assist the 
Panel. 

Sent: 23 Jun 2008 13:36 
To: i Code A Cc:i .................................................................. 
Subject: I0C and PPC Papers - iCode 

put in her e-mail last week: 

"Finally in relation to lOP - I suggest that the bundle should include the new set of [~-g.~-~.j 
reports for the cases we are running with ([.~.~.ican provide these) and a copy of the 
whole of the proposed charge. We can provide medical records and statements for each 
case, and the i~#~_~_~-_i police interview transcripts as well but this would make the papers 
very bulky. In fairness we should perhaps ask the defence if there are documents from the 
many boxes of materials we have that they want to include. Possible other documents 
might be the Wessex Protocols. (I am not sure what is in the existing lOP bundle but in 
fairness that too may have to aft go in with the decisions made)." 

1. The i~4~i.~_i~i reports I e-mailed over to you last week, I hope you received these OK. 
As discussed, I sent over all of the reports to you - including the ones we are not 
going to run - for completeness. 

2. Copy of the charge - you should have this - please let me know if you require a 
further copy 

3. Medical records/statements - do you want these provided? I am not clear from the 
e-mails which have been exchanged. This would be very bulky and would take us 
some time to copy. I would also question if the lOP would have the time to 
usefully refer to all these documents? 

4. I note your previous comments regarding the defence and this being a unilaterally 
prepared bundle. 

5. I have been back through the papers we received from Eversheds and have a 
folder containing IOC bundles for 21 June 2001,21 March 2002, 19 September 
2002, transcripts for the same dates, PPC bundle for 29-30 August 2002 and 
Letter from MDu to PPC and PPC outcome. I cannot find within our papers 
anywhere an IOC bundle for 2004. Would you like me to copy the papers we have 
for the 2001/2002 proceedings listed above? (I have a feeling you may already 
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have these) 
6. I don’t think that the Wessex Protocols would assist the panel but am happy to 

send these over if you would like them. 

Perhaps you could CC your response to my secretary ii~io~o_~_.](address above) as I have to 
leave the office by 14:30 for an appointment but she can do the necessary copying and 
send the documents to you in the post this afternoon if you wish. 

The defence have been formally informed and so has the Coroner. I am currently drafting 
the letters to the families and witnesses and will let you/the GMC press office know when 
these are ready to be sent out. 

Regards 

i Code A i 
il Solicitor 

for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

Consider the environment, think before you print! 

Field FisherWaterhouse LLP Portland Tower Portland Street Manchester M1 3LF 

Tel (0)161 238 4900 Fax (0)161 237 5357 E-mail info@ffw,com 

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

email in error please notify gmc@gmc-uk.org 

General Medical Council 

St James’s Buildings, 79 Oxford Street, Manchester, M1 6FQ 

Regents Place, 350 Euston Road, London, NW1 3JN 

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
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OPERATION ROCHESTER 

Investiqation Overview 1998-2006, 

Backqround, 

Gosport War Memorial Hospital (GWMH) is a 113 bed community hospital managed during 

much of the period under investigation by the Fareham and Gosport Primary Care Trust. 

The hospital fell under the Portsmouth Health Care (NHS) Trust from April 199z~ until April 

2002 when services were transferred to the local Primary Care Trust. 

The hospital operates on a day-to-day basis by nursing and support staff employed by the 

PCT. Clinical expertise was provided by way of visiting general practitioners and clinical 

assistants, consultant cover being provided in the same way, 

Elderly patients were generally admitted to GWMH through referrals from local hospitals or 

general practitioners for palliative,, rehabilitative or respite care. 

L ..................... _c. _?. .d_ e_ . _ .A_ ..................... i is a registered Medical Practitioner who in 1988 took up a part-time 

position at GWMH as Clinical Assistant in Elderly Medicine. She retired from 1hat position 

in 2000. 

Police I nvestiqations, 

Operation ROCHESTER was an investigation by Hampshire Police into the deaths of 

elderly patients at GWMH following allegations that patients admitted since 1989 for 

rehabilitative or respite care were inappropriately administered Diamorphine and other 

opiate drugs at levels or under circumstances that hastened or caused death, There were 
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further concerns raised by families of the deceased that the general standard of care 

afforded to patients was often sub-optimal and potentially negligent. 

Most of the allegations involved a particular General Practitioner directly responsible for 

patient care[ .................... C_..o..d_e_...A_ .................... 

Two allegations (i ...... .c_._o._d_.e_._.A_._._. 

i    Code A 

Of 945 death certificates issued in respect of patient deaths at GWMH between 1995 and 

2000, 456 were certified by [[:[:[:[:[:[:[.�_-~:½1[~:[:[:[:[:[i[:~, 

The allegations were subject of three extensive investigations by Hampshire Police 

between 1998 and 2006 during which the circumstances surrounding the deaths of 92 

patients were examined. At every stage experts were commissioned to provide evidence of 

the standard of care applied to the cases under review, 

The Crown Prosecution Service reviewed the evidence at the conclusion of each of the 

three investigation phases and on every occasion concluded that the prosecution test was 

not satisfied and that there was insufficient evidence to sanction a criminal prosecution of 

healthcare staff, in particular [ ......... ~s~i;~-,~ ....... ~, 

¯ The General Medical Council also heard evidence during Interim Order Committee 

Hearings to determine whether the registration of ~-_~_~_-._-._-~~] to continue 1o practice 

should be withdrawn, On each of the three occasions that the matter was heard the GMC 

was satisfied that there was no requirement for such an order and I CodeA icontinued to 

practice under voluntary restrictions in respect of the administration of Opiate drugs, 

The First Police investicfation, 

Hampshire Police investigations 

[~i~i~i~_~.e_-i~A_-i~i~i~i] aged 91 years. 

commenced in 1998 following the death of 
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r ............................................................. i whilst recovering from a 
Code A [~i~i~i~i~i~�_-~i_ai~~i~i~i~i~i~i~i died at the GWMH on i ............................................................. _., 

surgical operation carried.out at the nearby Royal Haslar Hospital to address a broken neck 

of femur on her right side (hip replacement), 

FolIowing the death of [~-_a}~_X.-~] two of her daughters, [.~[[_~.~[[_~#-~_~.~[_~.~[[[.~[] and i’[_t~i~] 

[#~i~[e_-i#] complained to the Hampshire Police about the treatment that had been given to their 

mother at the GWMH. [~~.~i~-_~.~._-.~] contacted Gosport police on 27th September, 

1998 and alleged that her mother had been unlawfully killed, 

Local officers (Gosport CID) carried out an investigation submitting papers to the Crown 

Prosecution Service in March 1999. 

The Reviewing CPS Lawyer determ 

a criminal prosecution to be justified, 

ined that on the evidence available he did not consider 

[iiiiiiiiiiiiiil..c.-_~._a.-.e.-i-_~iiiiiiiiiiiiiilj then expressed her dissatisfaction with the quality 

investigation and made a formal complaint against the officers involved. 

of the police 

The complaint made by [.T_:_:.:.T_:_:.:#~£:a.:~.T~T.:.T_:_:.:.T_:j was upheld and a review of the police 

investigation was carried out. 

Second Police Investigation 

Hampshire Police commenced a re-investigation into the death of [:.:.:_~_~.:.:_~#.:?:~.~..:~_~_..:.:_-_-...-.:i on 

Monday 17th April 2000. 

medical opinion through a report dated 9th November 2000 making the followin9 

conclusions: 

Midazolam and Hyoscine for ........................ ~-~~i;~-~ ....................... ]in a manner as to 

cause her death," 
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were also knowingly responsible for the administration of these drugs." 

"As a result of being given these drugs, [[~[~[~[~[~[~[~.#~_a.~[~[~[~[~[~[_[~] was unlawfully 

killed." 

A meeting took place on 19th June 2001 between senior police 

caseworker [[[[[#[o_-~~[A_-[[[[} Treasury Counsel and 

officers, the CPS 

Treasury Counsel took the view that [mm~mm~mm~mm~mm~mm~mm~mm~mm~mm~mm#~mm~mm~mm~mm~mm~mm~mm~mm~mm~mm~mm~m] report on the medical aspects 

of the case, and his assertions that [.~.~.~.~.~.~.~_~.a_.~.-_~.~.~.~.~.~.~.] had been unlawfully killed were flawed 

in respect of his analysis of the law. He was not entirely clear of the legal ingredients of 

gross negligence/manslaughter. 

( 
................... 

££~__~ ................. ] provided a second report dated 10th July, 2001 where he essentially 

underpinned his earlier findings commenting:- 

¯ "It is my opinion that as a result of being given these drugs[ ............ .C..o_d_..e..A_. ........... ] 

death occurred earlier than it would have done from natural causes," 

In August 2001 the Crown Prosecution Service advised that there was 

to provide a realistic prospect of a conviction against any person, 

insufficient evider~ce 

Local media coverage of the case of [~i~i~i~i~i~i~i.-_C.-.~.-_e.-.~-i~i~i~i~i~i~i~ii resulted in other families raising 

concerns about the circumstances of their relatives’ deaths at the GWMH as a result four 

more cases were randomly selected for review, 

Expert opinions were sought of a further two medical ~[~[~[~[~[~[~_c.-_~.-_e_e.-~[,~[~[~[~[~[~[~[.i and [i~~.~i)who 

were each provided with copies of the medical records of the four cases in addition to the 

medical records of 

The reports from [llillillillillillill~m,(~--~l~l~l----~--mlillillillillillilli and [[i[i[i[i[i[i[i[~.e_-i[.A_-i[i[i[i[i[i[i[iJ were reviewed by the Police and 

a decision was taken not to forward them to the CPS as they were all of a similar nature to 

4 
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the [i[i[i[i[.�_-i_~._,)i~[#i[i[i[] case and would therefore attract a similar response as the earlier advice 

from counsel. A decision was then made by the Police that there would be .no further police 

investigations at that time. 

Copies of the expert witness reports of [~.6_.-.0~_e.-~.~] and i[~[~[~[~[~[~[~_~.~_~[~[~[~[~[~[~] were 

forwarded to the General Medical Council, the Nursing and Midwifery Council and the 

Commission for Health Improvement for appropriate action. 

tnterveninq Developments between Second and Third investiQations 

On 22na October 2001 the Commission for Health Improvement (CHI) launched an 

investigation into the management provision and quality of health care for~ which 

Portsmouth Health Care (NHS) Trust was responsible at GWMH interviewing 59 staff in the 

process. 

A report of the CHI investigation findings was published in May 2002 concluding that a 

number of factors contributed to a failure of the Trust systems to ensure good quality 

patient care, 

The CHI further reported that the Trust post investigation had 

guidelines in place that were being adhered to governing 

administration of pain relieving medicines to older patients. 

adequate policies and 

the prescription and 

[.~.~.~.~.~.~.~.~.~.~.~.~[a~[~..~.~.~.~.~.L.~.~.~.L.~.~.~.j to conduct a statistical analysis of the mortality rates at GWMH, 

including an audit/review of the use of opiate drugs. 

On Monday 16th September 2002 staff at GWMH were assembled to be informed of the 

intended audit at the hospital by [~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~.e_-i~.A_-i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i!, Immediately following the meeting 

nurse [.-._-._-._-..-._-._-~.-.0_-~_-~..-A_-._-._-..-._-._-._-.] (who had been employed at GWMH since the late 1980s) handed 

to hospital management a bundle of documents. 

The documents were copies of memos letters and minutes relating to the concerns of 

nursing staff raised at a series of meetings held in 1991 and early 1992 including :- 
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¯ The increased mortality rate of elderly patients at the hospital, 

¯ The sudden introduction of syringe drivers and their use by untrained staff, 

¯ The use of Diamorphine unnecessarily or without consideration of the sliding scale of 

analgesia (Wessex Protocol). 

Particular concerns regarding the conduct of [.~.~.~.~._C~5..a_~.~.~.~.~.~] in respect of prescription 

and administration of Diamorphine. 

Nurse [~_~.~_-~._~.~_-~_~_~_~_~j disclosure was reported to the police by local health authorities and a 

meeting of senior police and NHS staff was held on 19th September 2002 the following 

decisions being made:- 

¯ Examine the new documentation and investigate the events of 1991. 

[] Review existing evidence and new material in order to identify any additional 

[] 

[] 

viable lines of enquiry. 

Submit the new material to experts and subsequently to CPS, 

Examine individual and corporate liability, 

A telephone number for concerned relatives to contact police was issued via a local media 

release. 

Third Police Investi,qation 

On 23rd September 2002 Hampshire Police commenced enquiries. Initially-relatives of 62 

elderly patients that had died at Gosport War Memorial Hospital contacted police voicing 

standard of care concerns (including the five original cases) 

In addition i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~#[~_~~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i] during his statistical review of mortality rates at 

GWMH identified 16 cases which were of concern to him in respect of pain management. 

14 further cases were raised for investigation 

members between 2002 and 2006, 

through ongoing complaints by family 

A total of 92 cases were investigated by police during the third phase of the investigation, 

6 
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A team of medical experts (key clinical team) were appointed to review the 92 cases 

completing this work between September 2003 and August 2006. 

The multi-disciplinary team reported upon Toxicology, General Medicine, Palliative 

Care, Geriatrics and Nursing. 

The terms of reference for the team were to examine patient notes initially 

independently and to assess the quality of care provided to each patient according to 

the expert’s professional discipline. 

The Clinical Team were not confined to looking at the specific issue of syringe 

drivers or Diamorphine but to include issues relating to the wider standard and duty 

of care with a view to screening each case through a scoring matrix into 

predetermined categories:- 

Category 1- Optimal care. 

Category 2- Sub optimal care. 

Category 3- Negligent care. 

The cases were screened in batches of twenty then following this 

experts met to discuss findings and reach a consensus score. 

process the 

Each expert was briefed regarding the requirement to retain and preserve their 

notations and findings for possible disclosure to interested parties. 

All cases in categories 1 and 2 were quality assured by a medicaVlegal expert, 

[~-_C.-~-_e.-~-~i to further confirm the decision that there was no basis for further 

criminal investigation. 

Of the 92 cases reviewed 78 failed to meet the threshold of negligence required to 

conduct a full criminal investigation and accordingly were referred to the General 

Medical Council and Nursing and Midwifery Council for their information and 

attention. 

’7 



GMC100106-0034 

Fourteen Category 3 cases were therefore referred for further investigation by police. 

Of the fourteen cases, four presented as matters that although potentially negligent 

in terms of standard of care were cases where the cause of death was assessed as 
entirely natural. Under these circumstances the essential element of causation could 

never be proven to sustain a criminal prosecution for homicide. 

Notwithstanding that the four cases could not be prosecuted through the criminal 

court they were reviewed from an evidential perspective by an expert consultant 

Geriatrician [~]~]~]~£-_~i~[A.-]~]~]~] who confirmed that the patients were in terminal end 

stage of life and that in his opinion death was through natural causes, 

Accordingly the four cases ...Were released from police investigation in June 2006:- 

" Code A 

The final ten cases were subjected to full criminal investigation upon the basis that 

they had been assessed by the key clinical team as cases of ’negligent care that is 

to day outside the bounds of acceptable clinical practice, and cause of death 

unclear.’ 

The investigation parameters included taking statements from all relevant heatthcare 

staff involved in care of the patient, of family members and the commissioning of 

medical experls to provide opinion in terms of causation and standard of care. 

The expert witnesses, principally [[[[[[[].c_-i~[e_-i~[[[[.-_[-_i[] (Palliative care) and ~:::-~] 

[[[[~..~[~[~[[[i] (Geriatrics) were provided guidance from the Crown Prosecution 
Service to ensure that their statements addressed the relevant legal issues in terms 

of potential homicide. 

The experts completed their statements following review of medical records, all 

witness statements and transcripts of interviews of [_~.i~_-.e_~.~_~_~i and L._._.c_..o_d_.e_..A_._._.i the 
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healthcare professionals in jeopardy. They were also provided with the relevant 

documents required to put the circumstances of care into ’time context’ The reviews 

were conducted by the experts independently. 

Supplementary expert medical evidence was obtained to clarify particular medical 

conditions beyond the immediate sphere of knowledge of [.~.~_~_~.~._a.~.~._~.~.~_~_] and 

A common denominator in respect of the ten cases was that the attending clinical 

assistant was i .............. _.C_..o._d._.e_..A_ ............... i who was responsible for the initial and continuing 

care of the patients including the prescription and administration of opiate and other 

drugs via syringe driver. 

[.~.~.~.~._C~,~..a_~.~.~.~.~.~i was interviewed under caution in respect of the allegations, 

The interviews were conducted in two phases, The initial phase was designed to 

obtain an account from [~i~i~i~i.-_C.-.~.-_e.-.~-i~i~i~ii in 

patients, [[i[i[i[i[.C_-i~[.e_-i~i[i[i[i[} responded during 

prepared statements and exercising her 

asked. 

respect of care delivered to individual 

these interviews through provision of 

right of silence in respect of questions 

During the second interview challenge phase (following provision of expert witness 

reports to the investigation team)[[i[i[i[i~i.0_-d_-i~i.A_-.[i[i[i[} exercised her right of silence refusing 

to answer any questions. 

Consultant i ............... .C._o._d_.e_._A_ ............. jwas interviewed in respect of 2 cases ([iiiiii#~iX_-iiiii_-] and 

[[i[i[i~-~a_-ie_-i[A_-i[i[i[) following concerns raised by expert witnesses. [_-~..~.~_-~.~_~j answered all 

questions put. 

Full files of evidence were incrementally submitted to the Crown Prosecution Service 

between December 2004 and September 2006 in the following format:- 

¯ Senior Investigating Officer summary and general case summary. 
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Expert reports, 

Suspect interview records. 

Witness list. 

Family member statements. 

Healthcare staff statements. 

Police officer statements. 

Copy medical records. 

Documentary exhibits file. 

Additional evidence was forwarded to the CPS through the compilation of generic 

healthcare concerns raised by staff in terms of working practices and the conduct of 

particular staff, 

The ten category three cases were:- 

1. ~[i[i~i[~_~_i~[~[i[i[i[~~. Admitted to GWMH 21st October 1999, diagnosed multi- 

infarct dementia, moderate/chronic renal failure, Died [ ............................ .C__o._.d_.e_._.A_ ............................. 

after admission cause of death recorded as Bronchopnuemonia and 

G Io me ru Io nep h ritis. 

2. [~--~i~-;~ ............... i83y_..~. Admitted to GWMH 22nd February 1996 with head injury 

/brain stem stroke, She had continued pain around the shoulders and arms for which 

the cause was never found. Died [i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~�_-._-.o_-~e_-i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~ii after admission cause of 

death recorded as Cerebrovascular accident. 

3. [~.~_a[4-~ ........... i~i 91 vrs, Admitted to GWMH 3rd September 1999 with fraclured 

neck of the femur, .hypothyroidism, asthma and cardiac failure. Died 

[_-._-._-..-._-._-.C_-~_-.#_-._-._-..-._-.j after admission cause of death Bronchopnuemonia. 

CodeA    i. 74 yrs. Admitted to GWMH 14th October 1998 with fractured left 

humerus i .......................................................... ................... ~-~i-~-~ ................... .]Died L~.~..~..~..~..~..~..~..~..~..~..~..~.#~#~.e.~.-A--..~..~..~..~..~..~..~..~..~..~..~-..~.] after admission 

cause of death recorded as congestive cardiac failure and renal/liver failure. 

10 
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5. L ........... _Code A    192 ryz~. Admitted to GWMH 26th March 1999 with a fractured neck 

of the femur. Died [IIIIIIIIIIIII-~IIIII_�.-_~I.a.-I~II~IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII] after admission cause of death recorded 

as cerebrovascular accident. 

6. i_~.~_~_~#.~_a~..A_~_~j84 yrs, Admitted to GWMH 18th August 1998 with a fractured neck of 

the femur, diarrhea atrial fibrillation, ischemic heart disease dehydrated and 

leg/buttock ulcers, Died [[~[~[~[~[~[~[~[~[~-.~[~[.~_0_~i.~_A.-~[~[~[~[~[~[~[_[~[~[~[~ after admission cause of death 

recorded as bronchopneumonia. 

] 82 yrs. Admitted to GWMH 5th January 1996 with Parkinsons 

disease he was physically and mentally frail immobile suffering depression. Died iC°deAj 

[~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~-~e_-i~.A_-i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i[i~i~i~i~i] after admission cause of death recorded as 

bronchopne umonia, 

8. [i[i[i[i[i[i[i[.c_-..-.o_-~[.e_-i~[i[i[i[i[i[i! 99~._@._.y_~, Admitted to GWMH 3rd June 1997 with many medical 

problems, diabetes, congestive cardiac failure, confusion and sore skin. Died i~_~.0_..:’, 

,[~[~[~[~[~[~[~[~-_�.-~-_e.-~.-.A.-~[~[~[~[~[~[~[~! after admission cause of death recorded as congestive cardiac 

failure. 

9. [~-_i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~~#[i-_.~..-.~-_i~i.-.~! 6~.~-Yrs. Admitted to GWMH 23rd August 1999 with morbid 

obesity oellulitis arthritis immobility and pressure sores. Died [.[.[.[.[.[.[.[.[.[.[.C.-.~[.a_-.~[~.[.[.[.[.[.[.[.[.[.] 

[~&[~°~.~.i after admission cause of death recorded as myocardial infarction, 

admission cause of death recorded as bronchopneum0nia. 

[_~_~.~.~_~_~.~.~_~_~C.~.#_~.~_~_~.~.~_~_~.~.~_~_~j provided extensive evidence in respect of patient care 

concluding with particular themes ’of concern’ in respect of the final 10 category ten 

cases including:- 

’Failure to keep clear, accurate, and contemporaneous patients records which 

report the relevant clinical findings, the decisions made, the information given 

to pa tients and any drugs or other treatment prescribed’ 
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o ’Lack of adequate assessment of the patient’s condition, based on the history 

and clinical signs and, if necessary, an appropriate examination’ 

¯ ’Failure to prescribe only the treatment, drugs, or appliances that serve 

patients’ needs" 

’Failure to consult colleagues Including:- 

L ........ .c_..o._d..e_...A_ ......... i - orthopaedic surgeon, microbiologist 

[--..--..-....~.--..--..-....~..-c~-..a..~-~.--A..~..~.--..--..-....~.--..--..j- general physician, gastroenterologist 

..................................... ] - general physician, cardiologist 

Code ~ -haemat°/°gist 

i - psychogeria trician 

[-_.-_.-..-..-_~-.O..-~-~.-.~-_.-_.-..-..j- general physician/palliative care physician 

Many of the concerns raised by [~-_�.-~~i were reflected by expert 

Geriatrician i .............. _c_..o..d_e._.A.. .............. i and other experts commissioned, the full details 

being contained within their reports. 

There was however little consensus between the two principal experts i ........ c_.?.~_.$. ....... 

and :::::::::::::::::::::: as to whether the category 3 patients were in irreversible end 

stage terminal decline, and little consensus as to whether negligence more than 

minimally contributed towards the patient death. 

As a consequence Treasury Counsel and the Crown Prosecution Service 

concluded in December 2006 that having regard to overall expert evidence it 

could not be proved that Doctors were negligent to criminal standard. 

]2 
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Whilst the medical evidence obtained by police was. detailed and complex it did 

not prove that drugs contributed substantially towards death. 

Even if causation could be proved there was not sufficient evidence to prove that 

the conduct of doctors was so bad as to be a crime and there was no realistic 

prospect of conviction. 

Family group members of the deceased and stakeholders were informed of the 

decision in December 2006 and the police investigation other than referral of case 

papers to interested parties and general administration was closed. 

16th January 2007. 
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From: 

Sent: 

To: 

Cc: 

Subject: 

[ Code A ] 

20 June 2008 13:52 

Dear i~#~_~_fi.i and [~._;.~.~_~.] 

Thank you for your messages. I’ve phoned Eo,o4and left a message for him to phone me back, 
so when I speak to him rll let him know a letter is on its way and he can stand his Counsel 
down. 

Thanks for letting me know. 

From: i ........................... _c._°..d.e_._A_ ........................... 
Sent: 20 June 2008 13:41 

¯ ..................... ..................... 
Cc:i ~,,I’UU~ /"~ 

Su bject: RE: 

t._._C._o..d..e._A_._.~ 

A letter will be sent to lan today confirming our reasons for postponing the case. 

i.£ __Omd__.e__m__Amj 

From: ( m~ m~ mm~ mm ~ m~ m~ mm~ mm ~ m~ m~ mm~ mm ~ m~ m~ mm~ mm ~ m~ m~ mm~ mm m~mm~mm~ mm ~ m~ m~ mm~ mm ~ m~ m~ mm~ mm ~ m~ m~ mm~ mm ~ m~ m~ mm~ mm ~ m~ mj 

Sent: 20 Jun 2008 13:18 
To: [ ................................................................ ~sa~:A- ................................................................ i 
Subject: RE: ~_~_~.6.~a_~T.X._~_~_., 

l._c._o~t~_mjCan you confirm so that []i#~.k_-i]]can call [i;_;’~~;J- I have stood down our Counsel so 
I am taking it as pretty definite. 

[~_~_~-_~]we are working on a letter to ~_i~~;jwhich I hope will go today 

Partner 
for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

Consider the environment, think before you print! 

Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP Portland Tower Portland Street Manchester M1 3LF 

Tel+44 (0)161 238 4900 Fax+44 (0)161 237 5357 E-mail i~fo@,ff’,;,;,com 

Web v~’ww ff~ corn CDE823 
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FFW does not accept service of documents by e-mail for Court or other purposes unless expressly agreed in 
writing beforehand. For service to be effective, the sender must receive an express acknowledgement of receipt 
from the person intended to be serv’ed. 

This e-mai! may contain privileged and confidential information. If you receive it in error please tell the 
sender and do not copy, distribute or take any action in reliance upon it. You should ensure this e-mail 
and any attachments are virus free. E-mail is not a 100% virus-free or secure medium It is your 
responsibility to ensure that viruses do not adversely affect your system and that your messages to us 
meet your own security requirements. We reserve the right to read any e-mail or attachment entering or 
leaving our systems without notice. 

Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (registered 
number OC3/8472) and is regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority. A list of its members and their 
professional qualifications is available at its registered office, 35 Vine Street, London, EC3N 2AA 
We use the term partner to refer to a member of Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP, or an employee or 
consultant with equivalent standing and qualifications. 

From:[ ........................................................... i~-&a-~ ;~- .......................................................... i 
Sent: Friday, June 20, 2008 12:04 plVl 
To: [ ......................................... ~;~i;~-;~ ......................................... i 
Subject: [--d-g~-~-~--i 
Importance: High 

Hello again 

I have just spoken to .’,---6~,a;~,---iabout the postponement of [_._._.C_.o_.d_.e_._A._._._j hearing. He is still 
waiting for official confirmation that the Sept - Nov hearing dates are definitely being 
vacated so he can stand down his counsel. 

Please could you confirm this is definitely the case? I don’t mind phoning him back, but I 
wanted to be absolutely 100% certain before getting back to him. 

Many thanks 

Adjudication Co-ordinator 
GMC Manchester 

This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential and intended solely for 
the use of the individual or entity to whom they are addressed. If you have received 
this email in error please notify gmc@gmc-uk.org 

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

13 June 2008 17:02 

Code A , 
Just to let you know she called today in reply to my letter. We have decided to proceed by 
meeting again in London on Wednesday next week to finalise her statement. This seemed the 
best investment of time in all the circumstances. 

Partner 
for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 
dd: [ .............. ~S~~~,- .............. i l m: [~_�.-~.~_A.-~] 

Consider the environment, think before you print! 

Field FisherWaterhouse LLP Portland Tower Portland Street Manchester M1 3LF 

Tel+44 (0)161 238 4900 Fax+44 (0)161 237 5357 E-mail info~frw.com 

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

iiiiiiiiiiiiiii _6.  Xiiiiiiiiiiiii on behalf of The Empanelment 

Team 

12 June 2008 10:12 

A d j u d i c a t io n L is tin 8 s; [..~..~.-~.-~..~..~.-~.-~..~..~.-~.-~..~..~.-~.-~..~..~#-~.#~.~..~.~.~..~..~.~.~..~..~.-~..~..~.~.~..~..~] 

The Empanelment Team; [.[.[.[.[.[.[.[.[.[.[.[.[.[.[.#~6_~~.~.[.[.[.[.[.[.[.[.[.[.[.[.[.] ................... .................. 

I have checked out dates with the Panel and they are all fine, so I will wait to confirm. The only 
request I had was from the [[~S~#i[]to have 13 November as non-sitting, is anyone able to say 
whether this will be possible? Or could it be bought up in the next telephone conference? 

The i_._._c..o..~.e_.~_._.ihas also asked for the names of Counsel and legal assessors if anyone has those? 
If its too early to pass this information on I am happy to tell him so. 

Many thanks 

From: iiiiiiiiiiiiii.-_Ci i  i&iiiiiiiiiiiiii On Behalf Of Adjudication Listings 

Sent: 10 June 2008 15:32 

Cc: Adjudication Listings; The Empanelment Team; ~_._~i~i~i~i~i~] 

Subject: RE: [._._.C_.o_.d_.e_._A._._.i 

Dear all 

Just to confirm that the hearing for [[~_[[i has provisionally been extended by a further 2 

weeks and will now run until 14 November 2008 (i.e. 49 sitting days - 8 October is a non-sitting 
day). 

Defence need to check Counsel availability and will confirm this with the GMC solicitors within the 
next couple of weeks. I will let you know if anything changes, and if there are any updates after 
the further telecon scheduled for 1 July 2008. 

Many thanks 

Code A 
Adjudication Co-ordinator 
GMC Manchester 

Tel:i ......... C_.o_.d_ e_._A._ ........ 

From: 
Sent: 05 June 2008 09:27 
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Cc: Adjudication Listings; The Empanelment Team 

Subject: RE: [_._._C._o..d._e._.A_._.j 

We are so overlisted those first two weeks in November we will almost certainly have to move cases 

anyway, so to be honest we might as well just add a bit more in and get it all done in one go. It’s probably 
easier than Barton going part heard and trying to find suitable dates for that to conclude. 

Listings - to note for telecon 

Empanelment - to be aware of this possibility - if it is agreed we will confirm immediately. 

Sent: 04 Jun 2008 18:38 

TO: [ ................................................................ Code A 

Subject: 

Hello 

This case is currently listed from 8 September to 31 October 2008. 

I discussed with Adjudication last week that we may need to extend the hearing by two weeks 
and I was advised that if we extended the current hearing by two weeks it would involve moving 
two other cases, alternatively we could reserve some space in February so that the hearing could 
go part heard. 

I discussed this with [~@~iand he is favour of extending the current hearing by two weeks, 
although he appreciates that it will have an impact on other cases. 

There is a telecon for this case next Wednesday and we intend subject to any comments by you 
to request the extension at that time. 

L££.,~_.Aj 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

i 

08 July 2008 14:30 

[ ........................... -~a;~-~- ...................... 
Letter to witnesses re IOP.DOC 

DOCS 7829895 1.DOC 

Hi iCode Ai 

Could you just have a quick look at this letter before I print a zillion times for all the relatives! 

Thanks 

Code Ai 
il Solicitor 

for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 
dd i .............. .C._o._d._e._.A_ .............. 

Mobile [~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~~ ~-~ ~ ~ ~ ] 

Consider the environment, think before you print! 

Field FisherWaterhouse LLP Portland Tower Portland Street Manchester M1 3LF 

Tel+44 (0)161 238 4900 Fax+44 (0)161 237 5357 E-mail info~f-rw.com 

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
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Witness/family member Our ref: 

Your ref: 

9_o._a~ ....... I 
Assistant Solicitor 

i Code A 
(Direct Dial) 

8 July 2008 

Dear Mr 

.c_.o_#e_.O_._._.i- Interim Orders Panel 

As you will be aware from my previous correspondence with you the GMC Fitness to Practise 

Hearing previously scheduled to start in September 2008 has been postponed pending the outcome of 

the proposed Inquest. 

The GMC have therefore referred the matter to be considered by the Interim Orders Panel (IOP). 

Cases are referred to the Interim Orders Panel (IOP) where the doctor faces allegations of such a 

nature that it may be necessary for the doctor’s registration to be restricted whilst the allegations are 

resolved, for the protection of members of the public or in the public interest or in the interests of the 

doctor. 

As well as the protection of the public, the "public interest" includes preserving public trust in the 

profession and maintaining good standards of conduct and performance. 

The IOP may make an order suspending a doctor’s registration or imposing conditions upon a doctor’s 

registration for a maximum period of 18 months. Alternatively, they may decide to take no action. 

The IOP hearing in [i~i~i~.~}~i~i~] case has been scheduled for Friday 11 July 2008. It will be a private 

hearing. 

Witnesses are not called to give live evidence at an IOP hearing. The GMC will present evidence to 

the Panel regarding the charges that we propose to include at the Fitness to Practise Hearing, this will 

include expert reports and medical records. ~_;._-.k_-i_-i_-ii will be legally represented at the lOP and will 

have the chance to make submissions in her defence opposing the imposition of any interim order. 
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I will write to you again after the hearing to inform you of the outcome. 

If you have any further queries then please do not hesitate to contact me. 

Yours sincerely 

for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

7829895 vl 2 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

08 July 2008 15:00 

RE: Letter to witnesses re IOP.DOC 

Sorry for making you do unnecessary work but i ~-~-~-ihas decided that we should not tell the 
relatives about the lOP hearing. 

Sent: 08 Jul 2008 14:30 

Subject: Letter to witnesses re TOP.DOC 

Hi 

Could you just have a quick look at this letter before I print a zillion times for all the 
relatives! 

Thanks 

Code A 
L ........................ Jl Solicitor 
for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

Consider the environment, think before you print! 

Field FisherWaterhouse LLP Portland Tower Portland Street Manchester M1 3LF 

Tel+44 (0)161 238 4900 Fax+44 (0)161 237 5357 E-mail info@f~.~.com 

Web w~vffw.com CDE823 

FFW does not accept service of documents by e-mail for Court or other purposes unless expressly agreed in ~iting 
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

In reply please quote: VB/2000/2047/02 

Confidential: First Class 

Hampshire PCT 
Omega House 
112 Southampton Road 
Eastleigh 
Hants SO50 5PB 

GMC Reference Number: ~]_-.A_-._-._] 

I am writing to let you know that the Case Examiner appointed by the Registrar has 
considered information received by the GMC from Hampshire Constabulary about 
[~_�.-~.-_A.-~] that suggests her fitness to practise may be impaired. 

The Case Examiner, under Rule 8(6) of the General Medical Council (Fitness To Practise) 
Rules 2004, considers that i Co,~eA ishould be invited to appear before the Interim Orders 
Panel (lOP). The lOP will consider whether it is necessary for the protection of members of 
the public, or is otherwise in the public interest, or in her own interests, that an interim 
order should be made suspending her registration, or imposing conditions upon her 
registration, for a period not exceeding eighteen months. 

Please note that matters before the lOP remain confidential until after the hearing has 
taken place and remain confidential if no order has been imposed. 

You will be notified of the outcome of the hearing in due course. Please contact me on the 
telephone number below if you have any questions. 

Yours sincerely 

Case Presentation Team 
Fitness to Practise Directorate 

Direct Line:[ ........... ;~-~,-a-~-;~ ........... i 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

09 July 2008 11:02 

..................... .................... 
~]~]~]~]k_-i]i- signed reports 

DOCS_7836578_1.DOC; DOCS_7836598_1.DOC; 

DOCS_7836961_1.DOC; DOCS_7836937_1.DOC; 

DOCS_7836921_1. DOC; DOCS_7836897_1. DOC; 

DOCS_7836806_1.DOC; DOCS_7836741_1. DOC; 

DOCS_7836779_1.DOC; DOCS_783673 I_I.DOC; 

DOCS_7836724_1. DOC; DOCS_7836630_1. DOC 

Dear [.c._o.9_e..A.j 

Please find attached electronically signed copies of [ .......... 6~)~1~~,- .......... j reports as requested. 

Many thanks 

Paralegal 
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
free. E-mail is not a 100% virus-flee or secure medium. It is your responsibility to ensure that viruses do not adversely 
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
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Version 3 of complete report 21 May 2008- [.~.~_~_~.~.~.}.~.}._-~_~.~.~_~_~.~.~ 

SUMMARY OF CONCLUSIONS: 

Li’~]~]?~-_~~jcoae A a 79 year-old gentleman, suffers from long-standing 
Parkinson’s disease with multiple complications followed by a fairly rapid decline in 
health leading to his first admission to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital on 21st 
July, 1998 and a final admission 21st September, 1998. 

[~I~I~I~I~I~I~I~I~-_.O_-~I~.A_-.~I~I~I~I~I~I~I~} is an example of a complex and challenging problem in 
geriatric medicine. He suffered from multiple chronic diseases and gradually 
deteriorated with increasing medical and physical dependency. It is always a 
challenge to clinicians to identify the point at which to stop trying to deal with each 
individual problem or crisis, to an acceptance the patient is dying and that symptom 
control is appropriate. 

However there are a number of areas of poor medical practice and also 
deficiencies in the use of the drug chart at the Gosport War Memorial Hospital. 

1. INSTRUCTIONS 

To examine the medical records and comment upon the standard of care afforded 
to the patient in the days leading up to her death against the acceptable standard of 
the day. Where appropriate, if the care is felt to be sub-optimal, comment upon the 
extent to which it may or may not disclose criminally culpable actions on the part of 
individuals or groups. 

2. ISSUES 

Was the standard of care afforded to this patient in the days leading up 
to her death in keeping with the acceptable standard of the day. 
If the care is found to be suboptimal what treatment should normally 
have been proffered in this case. 

3. CHRONOLOGY/CASE ABSTRACT. (The numbers in brackets refer to the 
page of evidence). 

3.1 During the 1980’s [~i~i~i~i~i~~}~.[i~i~i~i~i~] noted a tremor in his left hand and by 
1987 a clinical diagnosis of Parkinson’s disease had been made and he had 
been started on Sinemet a drug specifically for the treatment of Parkinson’s 
disease (445). He then remains on Sinemet in one form or another for the 
rest of his life. In 1992 another drug called Selegiline is added to his 
Sinemet (445). His only previous problem had been a lumbar spinal fusion 



GMC100106-0056 

Version 3 of complete report 21 May 2008 

following a war accident (375) that left him with chronic back pain and foot 
drop. 

3.2 In 1992 he had a percutaneous nephrolithotomy for kidney stones. (9). 
During that admission he was written up for Omnopon 10 - 20 mgs and 
received a dose of 20 mgs (12). There were no ill effects. 

3.3 He was assessed in December 1994 (439 and 441) for declining mobility. He 
was noted to have a weight of 102 kgs, a mental test score of 10 out of 10, 
and a Waterlow score of 13 (391) suggesting some dependency. His wife 
had died in 1989 (439). His Barthel was 17 (433) some help needed was 
with dressing. The problems were assessed to be due to be Parkinson’s 
disease, a weak leg from his war injury and obesity. 

3.4 He was followed up in 1995 with a diet and change to his Sinemet regime in 
the Day Hospital. He was also treated with Ranitidine and Gaviscon, 
presumably for acid reflux (425) and was on regular Co-proxamol for pain 
(425). Subsequently Enalapril was started for hypertension (399 and 417). 
In March 1995 his weight was 99.4 kgs (407) and he was discharged shortly 
after from the Day Hospital (400). 

3.5 In September 1997 the GP requests a domiciliary visit (379). He notes that 
he has been diagnosed with diabetes and was now losing weight (379). His 
Parkinson’s disease has deteriorated and he is now getting dystonic 
movements. Dystonic movements are writhing and jumpy movement that 
occur as a side effect of drug therapy in people who have had Parkinson’s 
disease for many years. These movements often occurs at times of peak 
drug levels and may alternate with periods of severe stiffness and immobility 
at times of low drug levels. It was also noted that he had lost some lower 
body strength (379). He was now spending most of his time in his chair 
(379). His drugs included the regular analgesia, Solpadol (381). 

3.6 An assessment in September 1997 (375, 377) finds he has weak lower limbs 
and has difficulty in transfers. He can walk indoors slowly with sticks. He 
has a poor appetite and daily home care. He is documented to have very 
weak flexion and extension of the left hip, wasting of the left quadriceps and 
left foot drop (377). It is suggested that he comes to the Day Hospital for 
physiotherapy. His weight in October 1987 (629) is 84 kgs. However in 
November 1987 he cancels further appointments (355). In September 1997 
his white cell count is 4.0 and his platelet count is 112. It is likely that his 
haematological abnormalities date from this time. 

3.7 In March 1998 he is seen again in outpatients with new episodes of 
shortness of breath (139 - 141). The diagnosis is not clear but was thought 
possibly to be cardiac in nature. However a chest x-ray (519) was normal. 
There is no further investigation of this problem. One note suggests that he 
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3.8 

3.9 

3.10 

3.11 

3.12 

3.13 

had just moved to a nursing home (141). 

In June 1998 he is seen at the Merlin Park Residential Home by 
following a GP request (345). He is noted to have significant weight loss, is 
transferring very unsteadily, is occasionally breathless and has had two falls 
in the home. He remains on a five times a day dose of his Sinemet and is 
also on Amlodipine, Diazepam and drugs for constipation. Examination (349) 
finds that he has markedly dystonic movements and records that the home 
had noticed visual hallucinations after he moved in. [.-.#_~_-¢~.~.~feels that he is 
on too much Levodopa (the main drug in Sinemet). She feels the Sinemet is 
causing his dystonic movements, too low a blood pressure on standing 
leading to falls, and his hallucinations. The notes state that L ........... _c_.°_..d_e_..A._ ........... 
never agreed with this diagnosis. [~i~)~.~] also feels that he is depressed 
(349). 

On 22nd June 1998 he is brought to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital by 
Social Services as he was refusing to stay at Merlin Park (343). He is 
described as a difficult and unhappy man (59). No acute health problems 
are found (343). Social Services place him in the Alvestoke Nursing Home 
(341). 

On 6th July 1998 he is seen again at the Gosport War Memorial Hospital 
(339) and is noted to have decreased mobility and his weight has now 
decreased to 68.7 kgs. He is not happy with his new nursing home 
placement. His functional status has declined and his Barthel is 9/20 (334). 
His blood count that day shows a normal haemoglobin but a white cell count 
of 2.7, platelets of 103 (650). The reduced white count particularly his 
neutrophil count and reduced platelets count is thought to be due to "likely 
myelodysplasia known since February 1997" (68). This was never confirmed 
with specialist haematologist investigation. 

On 8th July he is seen by ii[i[i[i[i[i[~_~_~-.~[i[i[i[i[i] a psychiatrist and is thought to be 
depressed (117). Other problems including his Parkinson’s disease and his 
myeloproliferative disorder are noted (115). 

On 20th July his care is discussed with [.-._8._-~,).-~_~.~ in the Day Hospital (111 and 
113). It is thought his Parkinson’s disease is stable but because of concern 
about his weight loss, he is referred for a speech and language assessment, 
which subsequently occurs on 27th July (101). This finds he has difficulty in 
initiating swallow but there is no aspiration. This likely to be a complication 
of his Parkinson’s disease. 

On 21st July he is admitted to Mulberry Ward with depression (323) his 
weight is 65.5 kgs (303) a bed sore is now noted (293) he is thought to have 
dementia (67) and there is a documented mental test score in June of 23 out 
of 29 on the Folstein Mini Mental State Examination (343). He is found to be 
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constipated (289) is restless and demanding at night (271) (269), nursing 
notes comment that he can be awkward and difficult (242). Waterlow 
scores are recorded on a number of occasions, all between 19 and 20 
suggesting very high risk of further pressure sore development (309 and 
310). He is documented to have various urinary tract infections including 
proteus (207) and enterococcus on two occasions (211) (205). On 
admission his white cell count is 2.9 neutrophil count 1.4 and platelet count 
of 97 (201). On 12th August his white count is 3.5 his neutrophil count 1.8 
and platelets 135. The blood form states "known myelodysplasia" (193). On 
admission his albumin is 26 (185) his urea is 6 and his creatinine 59, his 
prostatic-specific antigen is 6.4 (179) normal is less than 4. This raised level 
is not investigated any further, it might represent either benign prostate 
disease or early prostatic cancer. 

During his admission to Mulberry ward he has a fall on the 24th July (70). He 
is described as quite demanding, wanting staff to come and see him every 
few minutes (70), he is depressed and tearful on 24th July (71), he is rude 
and abusive to a member of staff on 26th July (72) and apologises later in the 
day (73). [~-_a}~_X.-~i sees him on 27th July (74) and finds that there were no 

rd particular new problems. He is still low in mood on 3 August (79) calling 
out for assistance quite a lot (80). He needs a lot more assistance on 10th 

th August (83). On 17 August he became noisy, shouting for help and very 
abusive, refusing medication (85). He is assessed for a further move to the 

th Thalassa Nursing Home on 17 August (86). He is again confused in the 
th th middle of the night on 18 August (87). On 25 August it is noted that he 

has not passed much urine (90). Blood tests carried out on 26th August 
(175) find a Sodium 134, Potassium 5.1, Urea 28 and Creatinine 301. He 
has gone into acute renal failure and is examined and found to have a large 
palpable bladder (90). He is catheterised. On 28th August there is a 
significant improvement in his renal function, Sodium 140, Potassium 4.1, 
Urea 15.6, Creatinine 144 (173). By the time of his discharge to his current 
usual medication of Sinemet, pain killers and anti-hypertensive drugs; 
Mirtazapine (an anti-depressant), Carbamazepine 100 mgs nocte, Triclofos 
20 mls nocte and Risperidone 0.5 mgs early evening, have all been started 
as psychotropic medication to help control his mood and agitation (161 and 
163). 

He is seen by [121~_;.~_;.2.X_-121i on Mulberry Ward on 27th August the day before his 
discharge, the day after he has had a catheter put in. She finds him much 
better in mood and eating better with a weight of 69.7 kgs (327). There were 
2 litres of urine passed after he was catheterised (91). He cannot wheel 
himself but ~-~;~i~;-~-i is happy for him to be discharged to the Thalassa 
Nursing home with a follow up in the Day Hospital on 14th September. He is 
then discharged to the Thalassa Nursing Home on 28th August. 
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On 11th September (99) he is seen by the Community Psychiatric Nurse who 
says that he has settled well into the Thalassa Nursing Home and his mood 
seems good. 

On 14th September he is seen in the Gosport War Memorial Day Hospital his 
weight is 68.6 kgs (323), brighter and says he is eating not too badly (459). 
His blood pressure is a little low at 108/58 and his pulse is 90 (323). There is 
no comment on his pressure sore although, he is subsequently given a 
prescription for Metronidazole from "a swab to the sores on your bottom" 
(317). He is presumably still catheterised. 

He appears to have a routine appointment at the Day Hospital on 17th 
September (908) for therapist assessment. It is noticed that the pressure 
sore is exudating markedly. During this session it is recorded that he would 
not comply with dressings and then would not wake up after bed rest. He 
was refusing to eat or drink and expressing a wish to die. The nursing notes 
state that he is seen by [[~[~-_d[_~[_X.-~[](909) who thinks he may need admission on 
Monday when reviewed again. I have not found any medical notes relating 
to this. 

On 21st September (642) he is again seen in the Day Hospital by 
(909). He is recorded to be very frail with his tablets not swallowed and in his 
mouth. He has a very offensive large necrotic sacral ulcer. His weight is 69 
kgs (642). A care plan is made by [[~[~-_d[_~[_X.-[[](643) to stop unneeded drugs, to 
admit to hospital for treatment of the sacral ulcer, to nurse on the side, for a 
high protein diet and for Oramorph prn for pain. The notes state the nursing 
home should keep the bed open for the next three weeks at least and the 
prognosis is poor (643). 

He is taken to Dryad Ward (645) and seen by L._._._c._o.#~_~._._.jwho says to make 
comfortable, give adequate analgesia and that "1 am happy for the nursing 
staff to confirm death". The next medical note (which is out of sequence 
(644)) on 24th September, states, "remains very poorly, Son has visited 
again today and is aware of how unwell he is. Analgesia is controlling pain 
just. I am happy for the nursing staff to confirm death". 

25th September i ....... _.c_.9_d_e_..A_ ...... j wrtes, "rema[n_._S_.y_.e_._r)L.p_.o_._o._[!y_.~on syringe driver 
for TLC". There is then a nursing note on [ .......... .c_9,d.e_._.A.. .......... i the patient died at 
23.25 on []]]]~[e.[.~]]]]] and the final medical note is on 28th September 
saying "death certificate discussed with [[#~_-�~_~#_-.] 1 - Bronchopneumonia, 2 - 
Parkinson’s Disease, Sacral Ulcer". 

The nursing notes are more detailed on 21st September. He is admitted 
(867) but at 20.30pm is noted to have remained agitated and was pulling off 
his dressing (880). Syringe driver is commenced "as requested" and he is 
peaceful. On 22nd September the Son is told that the Diamorphine pump 



GMC100106-0060 

Version 3 of complete report 21 May 2008 

3.23 

3.24 

3.25 

3.26 

3.27 

3.28 

3.29 

I Drug 

has been "started for pain relief and to allay his anxiety". His Barthel is 0/20 
(873) and Waterlow 20, suggesting high risk. The patient is recorded as 
"stating he had HIV disease" and trying to remove his catheter. 

23rd September (868) it is recorded that he is chesty overnight and Hyoscine 
is added. The Son and wife are angry that a syringe driver was commenced 
and the nurses "explain it was to control pain". He is agitated at night that 
evening (876). 

On 24th September the night staff and the day staff report pain and in the 
notes his Midazolam is increased to 80 mgs a day and his Diamorphine to 
40 mgs. The nursing notes record that [.~.~~�_~S.~;~~.~_~] saw the Son, confirming 
the medical notes (643). 

On 25th September Midazolam is continued at 80, he is on Diamorphine 60 
mgs and is recorded as being peaceful (876). Finally on 26th September the 
notes record his Diamorphine is increased to 80 mgs and Midazolam to 100 
mgs. 

Drug Chart Analysis: 

His original drug chart on admission to the ward on 21st September (752) 
prescribes Oramorphine 2.5 - 10 mgs orally 4 hourly, he receives 5 mgs at 
14.50pm on 21st and 10 mgs at 20.15pm. He is also written up (753) for all 
his current anti-Parkinsonian and anti-psychotic medication but the notes 
demonstrate that on some dates the drugs are missing and on almost all 
occasions he is too ill to be able to take the medication on 21st _ 24th 
September. 

Diamorphine is 20 -200 mgs subcutaneously in 24 hours is written up on 
(presumably) the 21st September (756) and on the 21st at 23.10pm, 20 mgs 

nd is started. On 22 September 20.29pm, 20 mgs is started and on 23rd 
th September at 9.25am, 20 mgs is started. On 24 40 mgs is started in the 

syringe driver at 10.55am, on 25th 60mgs is in the syringe driver (837) and 
on 26th 80 mgs. 

Midazolam 20 - 80 mgs is written up on 21st September (756) and 20 mgs is 
given on 21st, 22nd and 23rd. On the 23rd though, this is increased to 60 mgs 
then 80 mgs on the 24th. He receives another 80 mgs on 25th and 100 mgs 
written up in 24 hours on 26th (second drug chart 837). 

Hyoscine 200 - 800 micrograms sub cut in 24 hours is written up 400 
micrograms are given on 22nd and 23re September and 800 micrograms on 
24th. This is then re-prescribed. Hyoscine 80 - 2 grams sub cut in 24 hours 
(837) and he receives 1,200 micrograms on 25th and 26th. 

I Date prescribed I Prescribed as I Prescriber I Given 
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Oramorphine 

Co-proxamol 

Diamorphine 

Midazolam 

Diamorphine 

Midazolam 

21/09 

14/09 

? 
?21/09 

?21/09 

25/09 

25/09 

2-5 - 10 mgs 
Oral 
4 hourly PRN 
2 tabs 
6 hourly 
Regular 

20 - 200 mgs 
S/C in 24 hours 
Regular crossed 
out and PRN 
written 

20 - 80 mgs 
S/C in 24 hours 
Regular crossed 
out and PRN 
written 

40 - 200 mgs 
S/C in 24 hours 
Regular 
20 - 200 mgs 
S/C in 24 hours 
Regular 

Code 

21/09 1450 5 mgs 
21/09 2015 10mgs 

14/09 
17/09 
21/09 

Other 
21/09 
22/09 
23/09 

23/09 
24/09 

21/09 
22/09 
23/09 

23/09 
24/09 
25/09 
26/09 

25/09 
26/09 

1200 (? in day 
1200 hospital) 
1800 

doses missed 
2310 20 mgs 
2029 20 mgs 
0925 20 mgs 

"discarded" 
2000 20 mgs 
1055 40 mgs 

then 60 mgs 
2310 20 mgs 
2020 20 mgs 
0925 20 mgs 

"discarded" 
2000 60 mgs 
1055 80 mgs 
1015 60 mgs 
1150 80 mgs 

1015    80 mgs 
1150 100 mgs 

4 TECHNICAL BACKGROUND / EXAMINATION OF THE FACTS IN ISSUE 

4.1 

4.2 

This section will consider if there are any actions so serious they might 
amount to gross negligence or any unlawful acts or deliberate unlawful 
killing in the care of i       Code A      i Also if the actions or 
omissions by the medical team, nursing staff or attendant GP’s 
contributed to the demise of [~i~i~i~i~i~i~.o_-~i~.A_-.~i~i~i~i~i~i in particular, whether 
beyond reasonable doubt, actions or admissions more than minimally, 
negligently or trivially contributed to death. 

itwo main problems were lumbar spinal fusion as a 
result of a war injury, which left him his weakness in his lower legs and 
his progressive neurological disease, Parkinson’s disease. Parkinson’s 
disease is a degenerative disease of the central nervous system, which 
causes tremor, body rigidity and akinesia (stiffness in movement). It was 
first noted in 1980 presenting with a tremor, he was certainly on 
treatment by 1987. The natural history is often a good response to 
treatment over 5 years and then gradual increasing problems. Late 
Parkinson’s disease becomes increasingly difficult to control with drugs; 
the patients get difficulty in swallowing, severe constipation, and often in 
later stages a dementing illness. 
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4.5 

4.6 

4.7 

4.8 

4.9 

There are complications with the drugs as the disease progresses, as the 
drugs are harder to keep in an effective therapeutic range. Too much 
and the patients get marked writhing or shaking movements call 
dystonias, too little and the patient may cease up completely. The 
longer-term side effects of the drugs also include postural hypotension 
(loss of blood pressure when standing, leading to falls) and mental state 
deterioration, including hallucinations. To try and combat this, complex 
regimes are used with multiple doses at different times of days, 
sometimes combined with other drugs. There is no cure for the 
condition. 

In 1992 he is troubled with kidney stones but has an uneventful 
operation. 

In 1994 he has a decline in his conditions with reduced mobility. This is 
a multiple factorial problem caused by his Parkinson’s disease, weak 
legs as a result of his war injury and his obesity of 102 kgs. He is now 
living alone as his wife had died in 1989. He uses an electric wheelchair 
effectively and his Barthel is 17 but most of the help he currently needs is 
with dressing. 

Further problems occur include hypertension, which is treated in 1995, 
and diabetes mellitus (high blood sugar), which is diagnosed later in the 
year. 

By September 1987 he is getting considerable problems in managing his 
mobility as well as his Parkinsonian drug regime with significant dystonic 
movements. He is now on multiple drugs to treat his various medical 
conditions. He is referred to the Day Hospital for more physiotherapy to 
try and support him and to change his drug regime but he cancels further 
appointments in November 1997 (355). 

By March 1998 (141) when he is seen in the Day Hospital within the 
Outpatients it mentions that he was now in Solent Cliff Nursing Home, 
though when seen in June 1998 (345) he has moved to the Merlin Park 
Residential Home. Throughout this gentleman’s last illness there is a 
pattern of him being persistently dissatisfied with the care he receives, 
either in hospital or in the various homes he is cared for in, leading to 
multiple moves. This often complicates assessment as one institution 
never gets entirely used to him, his management and his behaviour. 

By June 1998 there is now a very marked change in his health. There 
has been massive weight loss from 102 kgs in 1994 (441), 84 kgs in 
October 1997 (629) to 68.7 kgs documented by July 1998 (339). He is 
walking very unsteadily, is having falls in the home, having hallucinations 
at night, he is depressed and has marked dystonic movements. He is 



GMC100106-0063 

Version 3 of complete report 21 May 2008 

4.10 

4.11 

4.12 

4.13 

4.14 

not happy with the suggestion that he actually needs less medication 
rather than more to help manage his condition. 

Whether the result of genuine unhappiness with the home or depression 
on top of what is now probably becoming an early dementing illness (his 
mental test score on 22nd June (343) was 23/29), he refuses to stay at 
Merlin Park. Social Services become involved and he is seen in the Day 
Hospital when no new acute problems on top of his known chronic 
problems are detected. Social Services manage to place him in the 
Alvestoke Nursing Home (341). 

However, he is not happy at all with this placement when he is seen in 
the Day Hospital on 6th July 1998 (339). The plan is to investigate his 
weight loss and to reduce his Sinemet treatment. His Barthel is now 
9/20. A further medical complication that has developed, probably since 
early 1997 (68), is that he has an abnormality of his full blood count with 
a reduced white cell count and a reduced platelet count. This suggests a 
problem with his bone marrow. Although the blood film say this is likely 
to be myelodysplagia (a pre-malignant condition of the bone marrow 
where there is partial bone marrow failure, but it has not progressed to 
Leukaemia) no definitive haematological investigations appear to have 
been undertaken. The main effect of this condition is he is likely to be 
much more susceptible to infections. 

He is seen by the psychiatric team on 8th July (117) and then is admitted 
st to hospital on 21 July to Mulberry Ward with a primary diagnosis of 

depression, probably on top of an underlying mild dementing illness (67). 
For the first time a bed-sore is noted in the nursing notes (293) although 
this is not commented on in the medical clerking that was undertaken on 
admission (66). 

There is no doubt that there has been a very significant decline in this 
gentleman’s general health. He has now lost over 40 kgs of weight, 
including 25% of his body weight in the last year. He had rapidly 
declining mobility, an early bedsore, he has started to develop mental 
impairment and his Parkinson’s disease has become increasingly difficult 
to manage. 

Admission is characterised by descriptions of restless and demanding 
behaviour and occasionally aggression. I suspect he has a low-grade 
delirium (delirium is acute confusion on top of, in this case, an early 
underlying dementing illness). Probably being caused by a combination 
of his drugs and the urinary tract infections that are documented on serial 
urine samples. He is started on drugs for his (understandable) 
depressive illness, which in themselves may complicate his drug regime. 
Finally he is treated with major tranquillisers to try and control his moods 
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4.20 

and behaviours. 

The outcome of this admission is that he is now on multiple medications 
to try and control multiple symptoms. Yet there is very little improvement 
or change in his behaviour, as noted in the nursing cardex. 

He is planned to the Thalassa Nursing home on 28th August as his 4th 

residential move of the year. However, on the 25th August he is noted to 
be passing less urine and a blood test on 26th August shows that he has 
gone into quite significant acute renal failure. On examination he is 
found to be in retention of urine and is catheterised and two litres of urine 
is passed (91). 

The retention of urine in itself is likely to have had multi-factorial causes, 
including the drugs he was on, his proven urinary tract infections and he 
may also have had an undiagnosed prostatic problems based on a raised 
PSA (179). However, he responds well to catheterisation and his renal 
function is dramatically improved by 28th when he is discharged, with a 
Urea of 15.6 and a Creatinine of 144 (173). 

Following discharge things appear to go not too badly, the CPN seeing 
him on 11th September (99) states that his mood seems good and he is 
settled well. On 14th September when he is seen in the Day Hospital, his 
weight remains unchanged on 68.6 kgs (323) "he is brighter and says 
eating not too badly" (459). However, his blood pressure is rather low on 
14th September at 108/58 (323) and the pressure sore must be causing 
concern as a swab is sent (317). 

He then has a routine review, for a therapist assessment on 17th 
September. The nursing notes give a clue that he is quite unwell that 
day (908 and 909), they refer to the pressure sore now exudating 
markedly, he would not comply with his dressings, he would not wake up 
after bed rest and was refusing to eat or drink. He was apparently 
expressing a wish to die. This suggests to me he was acutely delirious 
again and the underlying aetiology could well be sepsis from pressure 
sore or sepsis (which is very common) from his urinary tract after a 
recent catheterisation. The nursing notes say that he is seen by the 
consultant but I was not able to find any medical notes. The nursing 
notes suggest that [~-_a}~_X.-~]considered that she needed to review him on 
21st and might need admission at this stage. It is below normal 
acceptable good medical practice to not make a record when seeing a 
patient, particularly if there has been a significant change in their 
condition. 

::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::: is reviewed again on 21st September (642) when he has 
rapidly deteriorated, is very ill and very frail. He has an offensive large 

10 
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necrotic sacral ulcer and is not able to swallow with tablets in his mouth. 
He is admitted to hospital appropriately. [~i#~#~_i~i~iasked for a 
management plan, including nursing him on his side, a high protein diet, 
Oramorph PRN for pain and writes to the nursing home to keep the bed 
open for three weeks at least, the prognosis is poor. 

This gentleman is very seriously ill, with multiple problems and has been 
in decline for at least three months. The consultant has to make a 
judgement whether these are easily reversible problems, which would 
need intensive therapy, including drips and surgery to the pressure sore 
in an acute hospital environment or whether this is likely to be the 
terminal event of a progressive physical decline. 

In my view the combination of acute problems on top of his known 
progressive chronic problems, including the large necrotic pressure ulcer 
would mean that active treatment in an acute DGH was very likely to be 
futile and therefore inappropriate. It was appropriate to admit him into a 
caring environment for pain relief and to observe and provide 
symptomatic support. In my experience it is unusual for a consultant to 
write "poor prognosis" in the notes unless they believe the patient is 
terminally ill and death is likely to be imminent. 

He is admitted to the ward, [ coaeA isees him and writes, "make 
comfortable" in the notes (645). As the patient has just been seen and 
examined by a consultant who has made a care plan, I think it is 
reasonable for no further clerking or examination to have been carried 
out, although most doctors would automatically do that, if briefly, so that 
they know the baseline of the patient. As suggested Oramorphine is 
written up and[ ............ .C..o_d_..e..A_. ........... i receives two doses on 21st. 

However, a syringe driver has also been written up on admission (756) 
for Diamorphine and Midazolam. There is nothing in the medical notes 
that specifically explain why was it written up, when the drugs should be 
started or what dose. It was not part of [~i~i~_-,~i~i~i~management plan. It 
would be normal medical practice to write a comment on such 
management plan in the notes. 

The nursing notes state that he remains agitated, pulling off his dressings 
later in the day (880). A decision is made late on the 21st , with the drugs 
written up (who decides?) to start him on Diamorphine 20 mgs with 20 
mgs of Midazolam in a syringe driver. No justification for starting the 
syringe driver is made in the medical notes, which are inadequate with no 
entries on the 22nd and 23rd. 

The dose of Diamorphine is within an acceptable starting range for 
patients in pain. Midazolam is also widely used for terminal restlessness; 

11 
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the dose prescribed is from 5 - 80 mgs per 24 hours. The starting dose 
is within the range of 5 - 20 mgs per 24 hours that is acceptable for older 
patients (Palliative Care. Chapter 23 in Brocklehurst’s Text Book of 
Geriatric Medicine 6th Edition 2003). Diamorphine is compatible with 
Midazolam and can be mixed in the same syringe driver. 

By 22nd he is clearly delirious (867) and is now totally dependent with a 
Barthel of 0/20. There does not appear to have been very good 
communication with the Son as anxieties are raised about his 
management (868). The dose of Diamorphine and Midazolam remain 

nd         rd unchanged on 22 and 23 , although he is a little agitated at night on 
rd                                                              th 23 (876) and both day and night staff report pain on 24 (869). At this 

stage Diamorphine is increased to 40m mgs and the Midazolam to 80 
mgs. In my view, the increased dose of Diamorphine prescribed was 
appropriate, however the four-fold increase in Midazolam 20 mgs on the 
23re to 80 mgs on the 24th appears excessive without explanation in the 
medical notes. 

4.28 

4.29 

After the pain on 24th there is no further distress noted in either the 
medical notes (645) or the nursing notes (869). However, the drug chart 
is rewritten and now allows a possible dose of Midazolam up to 200 mgs 
a day, outside of a normal prescription range.. 

The dose of Diamorphine is then increased on both the 25th and 26th’ to 
60 then 80 mgs (837) and Midazolam is increased again on 26th 

September to 100 mgs. There is no justification given for either these 
changes in the nursing or the medical notes, nor at any stage is it 
possible to tell from the notes whether the decision to change the drug 
dosages was a medical or a nursing decision or which doctor or nurse 
made that decision. 

4.30 In my view from the information available in the notes, the dose of 
Midazolam was excessive on 25th and 26th and the medication may have 
slightly shortened life. However, I cannot find evidence to satisfy myself 
to the standard of"beyond reasonable doubt". I would have expected a 
difference of at most, no more than a few hours to days if a lower dose of 
either or both of the drugs had been used instead during the last few 
days. 

5. OPINION 

5.1 i~~_~.~_~_~~J is an example of a complex and challenging problems in 
geriatric medicine. He suffered from multiple chronic diseases and gradually 
deteriorated with increasing medical and physical dependency. It is always 
a challenge to clinicians to identify the point to stop trying to deal with each 
individual problem or crisis, to an acceptance the patient is now dying and 
that symptom control is appropriate. 

12 
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5.2 

5.3 

5.4 

In my view many aspects of [~.-_0.~_e.-~_A.-~i medical care were managed 
appropriately. The use of a syringe driver as part of his terminal care was 
appropriate. 

However, there are a number of areas of poor medical practice, in particular: 

¯ The failure to make a medical note when seen by [~)[_~i~] on the 17th 

September. 
¯ The failure to record in the medical notes the reason for the decision to 

start the syringe driver, and whether that was a medical decision. 
¯ The failure to record reassessments on the 22nd and 23re September. 
¯ The failure to record in the medical notes the reason for a 4 fold increase 

in Midazolam to 80 mgs on the 24th September from 20 mgs on the 23re 

September. 
¯ The failure to record in the medical notes the justification for the 

increased dose of Diamorphine and Midazolam on the 25th and 26th 

September. 
¯ The failure to record if doses changes were a medical or nursing 

decision. 
¯ The prescription of a dose range up to 200 mgs a day of Midazolam. 

There are also deficiencies in the use of the drug chart at the Gosport Warm 
Memorial Hospital, in particular: 

¯ The failure to date prescription of Diamorphine and Midazolam on the 
first drug. 

¯ The use of the regular side of the drug chart for ’PRN’ prescription, when 
actually they should have been regular prescription anyway. 

¯ The prescription of a large range of a controlled drug (see my generic 
report). 

¯ The failure to cross out drugs on the regular side of the drug chart when 
no longer required. 

¯ The failure to write dosages of controlled drugs in words and figures as 
well as total dosages to be given. 

EXPERTS’DECLARATION 

I understand that my overriding duty is to the court, both in preparing 
reports and in giving oral evidence. I have complied and will continue to 
comply with that duty. 
I have set out in my report what I understand from those instructing me 
to be the questions in respect of which my opinion as an expert are 
required. 
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10. 

I have done my best, in preparing this report, to be accurate and 
complete. I have mentioned all matters, which I regard as relevant to the 
opinions I have expressed. All of the matters on which I have expressed 
an opinion lie within my field of expertise. 
I have drawn to the attention of the court all matters, of which I am 
aware, which might adversely affect my opinion. 
Wherever I have no personal knowledge, I have indicated the source of 
factual information. 
I have not included anything in this report, which has been suggested to 
me by anyone, including the lawyers instructing me, without forming my 
own independent view of the matter. 
Where, in my view, there is a range of reasonable opinion, have 
indicated the extent of that range in the report. 
At the time of signing the report I consider it to be complete and 
accurate. I will notify those instructing me if, for any reason, I 
subsequently consider that the report requires any correction or 
qualification. 
I understand that this report will be the evidence that I will give under 
oath, subject to any correction or qualification I may make before 
swearing to its veracity. 
I have attached to this report a statement setting out the substance of all 
facts and instructions given to me which are material to the opinions 
expressed in this report or upon which those opinions are based. 

10. STATEMENT OF TRUTH 

I confirm that insofar as the facts stated in my report are within my own knowledge I 
have made clear which they are and I believe them to be true, and the opinions I 
have expressed represent my true and complete professional opinion. 

Signature: Date: 9 July 2008 
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SUMMARY OF CONCLUSIONS 

[~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~�_-~._ai~[#i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i was an 88-year-old lady admitted to the Queen Alexandra 
Hospital following a crisis at home on the 9th October 1999. She has symptoms of 
confusion and aggression on a background of known chronic renal failure, IgA 
Paraproteinaemia, Hypothyroidism and a dementing illness. There was little 
improvement in the Queen Alexandra Hospital and she was transferred to the 
Gosport War Memorial Hospital on 21st October for continuing care. 

In the Gosport War Memorial Hospital she deteriorates over the first two weeks in 
November and by 19th November is terminally ill. She receives palliation including 
subcutaneous Diamorphine and Midazolam and dies L ................ ................. i. 

However there were significant failings in the medical care provided to 
as well as deficiencies in the use of the drug chart at Gosport War Memorial 
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

page of evidence) 
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3.1 

3.2 

3.3 

3.4 

3.5 

3.6 

3.7 

3.8 

In March 1998 (120)[ ....... ~-~;~i;;;~ ....... iwas seen in a geriatric outpatient 
department with cellulitis, mild hypothyroidism, mild CCF, haemoglobin of 13 
(317) and a creatinine of 90 (337). 

In December 1998 she was seen in an orthopaedic clinic (102) and was 
found to be clinically fit for a knee replacement. 

In March 1999 her haemoglobin was 12.8 (311) and her creatinine in 
February was 143 (325). 

In April she was seen by a consultant geriatrician where she was found to be 
"moderately frail" although also noted to be "bright mentally" (84). Her 
weight was 58.8 kgs (144), her haemoglobin 11.5 (307) and a creatinine 151 
(84). 

She was referred to a renal physician and was also seen by a haematologist 
between June 1999 and September 1999. In June 1999 (60) her creatinine 
was 160, her haemoglobin 11.2 (297), herweight was 55.4 kgs (151). In 
July 1991 (50) the haematologist found 6% plasma cells and an albumen of 
22 (52), immune paresis (70) and suggested a watch and wait approach. In 
September 1999 her renal physician noted that she had chronic renal failure 
with small kidneys and nephrotic syndrome with marked oedema. It was 
thought likely that this was on a background of progressive 
glumerulonenephritis (60) and she had an incidental IgA paraproteinaemia. 
Her Creatinine was 192 and her haemoglobin 10.5 (295). 

On 9th October, she was admitted to the Queen Alexandra Hospital following 
a social crisis at home as [ ....... ~-ga-~~.- ...... i lived with her daughter and son-in-law. 
[~_;.-_d_;.-~-_~J son-in-law had cancer and her daughter could no longer cope. 
There was a story of confusion and aggression, which was suggested, had 
become worse prior to her admission. The clinical diagnosis was of a 
possible urinary tract infection, with an underlying dementing illness. 
However, [ ....... ;~-ga-;-;~ ....... i was never documented to be pyrexial (256) and the 
mid-stream urine sample had no growth (367). There is no full blood count 
available in the notes for the 9th October. The admission clerking, which 
would be expected to be available, either before page 31 or around pages 
157 and 158 also appears to be missing from the notes. 

On the 12th October (31) she is noted to be distressed and agitated and 
undergoes a CT scan of her head, which shows 
involutional changes only (24). She receives a single dose of Haloperidol 

th (160) (267). On the 13 October her haemoglobin is 10.8 with a white cell 
count of 14.5 (293). 

On the 15th October she is noted to be wandering (166) on the same day 
she is assessed by ~_~a[[~.~.~.’_.’, Clinical Assistant for the Mental Health Team 
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3.9 

3.10 

3.11 

3.12 

3.13 

3.14 

3.15 

3.16 

who noted the history of confusion and disorientation and a 10 months 
history of mental deterioration (28). She was confused and disorientated but 
no longer aggressive. She was now mostly co-operative and friendly but 
tended to get lost, he also noted she was deaf. Her Mini Mental Test Score 
was 9/30, indicating moderate to severe dementia and he suggested that 
she would need ongoing institutional care. On the 18th October her 
creatinine was 201 (171). 

On 20th October, there is a letter of an assessment from a Iocum consultant 
geriatrician (20). Who notes that she can stand, may have had a urinary 
tract infection on top of her chronic renal failure and that she was quite alert. 

She is then transferred to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital with a 
discharge summary (24) that states she has chronic renal failure, 
paraproteinaemia, multiple infarct disease and an Abbreviated Mental Test 
Score of 3/10. 

On 21st October she is transferred to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital 
and is for "continuing care" (154). Her Barthel dependency is noted to be 8 
with a Mini Mental Score of 9/30. [--iS-;-a-;-Z,--~ incorrectly writes that she has 
’Myeloma’ (154)in the notes. 

On 25th October she is mobile unaided, washes with supervision, remains 
confused. 

On the 1st November she is quite confused (155) and is wandering. On the 
9th November investigations show haemoglobin of 9.9, white cell count of 
12.6 (289) and a creatinine of 200 (349). An M.S.U reported on 11th 
November (363) shows no growth. 

15th November she is noted to be very aggressive, very restless (155) and 
"is on treatment for a urinary tract infection". However, it is noted that the 
MSU from 11th November showed no growth. The medical note for the 15th 
is unsigned, I presume to be 

18th November (156) she is seen by the mental health team who note that in 
their view that "this lady has deteriorated and become more restless and 
aggressive, is refusing medication and not eating" but also noted "her 
physical condition is stable". She is put on the waiting list for Mulberry Ward. 
Creatinine on 16th November is 360 and a potassium 5.6 (349). 

19th November there has been marked deterioration over night. The notes 
state "confused, aggressive, Creatinine 360, Fentanyl patch commences 
yesterday, today further deterioration in general condition needs subcut 
analgesia with Midazolam. Son seen and aware of condition and diagnosis, 
hence make comfortable. I am happy for nursing staff to confirm death" 
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(156). The nursing notes (222) confirm marked deterioration over last 24 
hours. "Chlorpromazine given IM. 9.25. Subcut syringe commenced 
Diamorphine 40 mgs and Midazolam 40 mgs, Fentanyl patch removed. Son 
seen by [._._._c._o.~_e._~._._.j at 13.00 and situation explained to him. He will contact 
his sister regarding and inform her of .’[-~ipoor condition. 20.00 daughter 
visited and seen by [._._._C._o.#_?_._A._._.j. Nocte: peaceful night syringe driver 
recharged at 07.25." 

3.17 20th November the nursing notes (223) state, "condition remains poor, family 
have visited and are aware of poorly condition. Seen by i_~_~.~_-~~_~_~#.~_~_-_~i 
Nocte: peaceful night extremities remain oedematous, skin mottling, syringe 
driver changed at 07.15. Dose of Diamorphine 40 mgs. Midazolam 40." 

3.18 i .......... .C_o_..d..e_._A._ .......... i Nursing notes (223), "condition continues to deteriorate 
slowly. Asked to see at 20.30 hours patient died peacefully" 

3.19 Barthel scores are recorded on 21st October 8; 31st October 16, 17th 
November 10; 14th November 10; 21st November 1 (202) Her weight on 21st 

October was 52.5 kgs (200). 

Drug Chart analysis: 1 dose of Haloperidol was given in the Queen 
Elizabeth hospital on the 13th October (269). Drug chart at Gosport showed 
a single dose of Chlorpromazine given at 08.30 on 19th November (277) 
confirming the nurses’ cardex. 

The patient had received regular doses of Thioridazine (often given for 
th                              th confused behaviour) from the 11 November up unto 17 November (277). 

A small dose of prn 2.5 - 5 mgs Oramorphine had been written up on 
admission to Gosport but had never been prescribed. Hyoscine had also 
been written up and not prescribed. 

Trimethoprim (for a presumed urinary tract infection)is prescribed on 11th 
November (277 & 276) and continued until 15th November. A 25-microgram 
patch per hour of Fentanyl is written up on the 18th November and a single 
patch is prescribed at 9.15 on 18th November (276). The evidence from the 
nursing cardex is that the Fentanyl patch is removed on the morning of the 
19th (223) at 12.30 (275) 3 hours after the time the subcutaneous infusion 
was started. 

A new drug chart is written up on 19th November for Diamorphine 40 - 80 
mgs subcut in 24 hours and Midazolam 20 - 80 mgs subcut in 24 hours. 
The drug card (279) confirms that 40 mgs is put into the syringe driver at 

th th s~ 09.25 19 , 7.35 on 20 and 7.15 on 21 and 40 mgs of Midazolam at each 
of those times. All other drugs had been stopped. 

Drug 
Oramorphine t Date prescribed 

t Prescribed as t Prescriber 
Given 

21/10 10 mgs in 5 mls iCodeAi --- 
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Fentanyl 

Diamorphine 

Midazolam 

18/11 

19/11 

19/11 

2.5- 5 mls PRN 
25 tJg [Code AI 
Skin - 3 days 
Regular 

POSSIBLE NEW DRUG CHART 
40 - 80 mgs 
S/C in 24 hours 
Regular Code 

80 - 120 mgs ............... 
S/C in 24 hours 
PRN 

18/11 0915 

19/11 0925 
20/11 0735 
21/11 0715 
19/11 0925 
20/11 0735 
21/11 0715 

40 mgs 
40 mgs 
40 mgs 

40 mgs 
40 mgs 
40 mgs 

4. TECHNICAL BACKGROUND / EXAMINATION OF THE FACTS IN ISSUE 

4.1 This section will consider whether there were any actions so serious that 
they might amount to gross negligence or any unlawful acts, or deliberate 
unlawful killing in the care of [~i~i~i~.e_-i~.A_-i~i~i~i]. Also whether there were any 
actions or omissions by the medical team, nursing staff or attendant GP’s 
that contributed to the demise of [ ...... ~-ga-~~.- ...... ~ in particular, whether beyond 
reasonable doubt, the actions or omissions more than minimally, negligibly 
or trivially contributed to death. 

4.2 In particular I will discuss: 
a) whether it was appropriate to decide on 19th November that [~.~.~] 
was terminally ill and if so whether symptomatic treatment was appropriate 
and 
b) whether the treatment that was provided was then appropriate. 

4.3 i.~.~_~_~.~.§.~._~_~.~J had progressive mental and physical deterioration starting in 
January 1999. Before that she had had relatively minor medical problems, a 
normal haemoglobin and creatinine and was put on a waiting list for a knee 
replacement at the end of 1998. Orthopaedic surgeons do not generally list 
people for knee replacements if they look or are significantly frail. Such 
patients tend to make poor functional recoveries. 

4.4 ~~.-_~ physical deterioration can be marked by her slowly falling 
haemoglobin from 13 in 1998 (317) to 9.9 (289) in November 1999. Her 
albumin also falls and is documented at 22 in July 1999 (52) then extremely 
low at 18 (349) on admission to Gosport. At the same time her creatinine 
rises over the course of the year from 90 in 1998 to 160 in June 1999 and 
around 200 on admission to the Queen Alexandra Hospital in October 1999. 
The physicians, including the renal physician and the haematologist that she 
saw, all conclude this was a progressive problem with no easily treatable or 
remedial cause. The small kidneys shown on ultrasound usually suggest 
irreversible kidney pathology. I would agree with that assessment. 

4.5 The history taken by the mental health team from her daughter, also 
describe mental deterioration and increasing confusion over the course of 
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4.6 

4.7 

4.8 

the year. Such confusion is often missed in hospital appointments, although 
the comment that she did not bring her drugs or know what drugs she was 
taking in September 1999 (40) is a marker of probable mental impairment. 
The notes fail to come to any definitive diagnosis as to whether this is 
Alzheimer’s disease or vascular dementia. This is difficult and cannot be 
criticised. It is probably more likely to be vascular dementia on its basis of 
its moderately rapid progression, and that she had another systematic illness 
going on identified by the renal physician as probable glomerulonenephritis. 

When admitted to the Queen Alexandra Hospital with significant behavioural 
problems the original working assumption was that this was an acute event, 
caused by a probable underlying infection. However, no infection was ever 
demonstrated on the investigations ordered, and no pyrexia was identified, 
although the admission notes are missing. It is likely that her behaviour had 
gradually been deteriorating, the crisis then occurred with the social crisis in 
her family. Admitting patients acutely to hospital will often exacerbate 
confusion in an already underlying dementing illness. 

The natural history of most dementia’s is of some fluctuation on a downward 
course, both in terms of symptoms and progression of the underlying 
disease. When seen by the mental health team on 15th October (28), though 
her behaviour was not seriously disturbed at that time, they documented a 
mini-mental state examination of 9/30 indicating moderate to severe 
underlying dementia. The mental decline had been rapidly progressive over 
the same year, as had her physical decline. Although she received 
Haloperidol at Queen Alexandra, and Thioridazine at Gosport I think it is 
unlikely that any therapeutic intervention significantly altered the progression 
of either her mental or her physical deterioration. 

On admission to Gosport [ coaeA iwrites in the notes that the patient has 
Myeloma (a malignant disease) rather than the Paraproteinaemia (a pre- 
malignant condition) that has actually been diagnosed. She may have 
mistakenly believed that she had a progressive cancer as well as her 
dementia and renal failure. This (not uncommon mistake by non-specialists) 
might have influenced the management of care, by making [ CodeA ithink 
the patient had an untreated malignant condition. 

There is no physical examination of the patient on admission, or if there was, 
it is not recorded in the notes. 

When transferred to the Gosport Hospital on 21st October, probably to 
await nursing home placement, she had a number of markers suggesting 
a very high risk of in-hospital death. She had been in hospital over two 
weeks, the longer you are in hospital the more likely you are to die in 
hospital. She had a possibility of delirium on top of a rapidly progressive 
dementing illness, again a marker of high in-hospital mortality and finally, 
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4.9 

4.10 

4.11 

4.12 

she had an extremely low albumin of 18, probably one of the strongest 
markers of a poor outcome. Serum albumin is an indirect marker of 
nutritional status, in particular a marker of protein metabolism. A low 
albumin and poor nutritional status makes a patient highly susceptible to 
infection, pressure sores and an inability to cope with the physiological 
stresses. 

On 25th October she appears to be stable in the ward environment at 
Gosport, however, by the 1st November there has been a deterioration 
and she is noted to have become quite confused and is wandering again. 

On admission under the routine drugs that were prescribed, it is noted 
that both Hyoscine and a dose of Diamorphine were written up prn. No 
explanation of this management decision is made in the notes, nor has 
any pain been recorded in the notes. 

There are no medical notes between the 1st November and the 15th 
November at which time she is noted to be very aggressive and very 
restless, there must have been clinical deterioration over that period of 
time. Blood tests are sent on 9th November (289) and an MSU has also 
been sent and reported on 11th November (363) although this is normal. 
It is unlikely that these tests would have been done if there had not been 
a significant change in her condition. Indeed, it appears that she was put 
on antibiotics for a presumed (subsequently proved mistakenly) urinary 
tract infection. Either the tests and antibiotics prescription were 
undertaken without seeing the patient, or the patient was seen and no 
record was made in the notes. Both would be poor medical practice. 

The drug chart analysis also demonstrates she was now receiving 
regular Thioridazine, an anti-psychotic medication which is often 
prescribed for significantly disturbed behaviour in older patients. The 
change in behaviour noted, the new medication started, the antibiotics 
prescribed (277,276) and the blood and urine tests carried out (289,363) 
all suggest a significant change in condition. Yet the lack of medical 
notes makes a proper assessment of the situation difficult and is poor 
clinical practice. 

The simple investigations and pragmatic management does not work 
though. By 18th November she has deteriorated further, is very restless 
and confused and is now refusing medication. Further blood tests have 
been carried out on 16th November that now show that creatinine has 
almost doubled to 360 and her potassium is 5.6. She is now in 
established acute on chronic renal failure. A patient who is already frail 
and running with a creatinine of over 200 can extremely rapidly 
decompensate and become seriously ill. On 19th November there is 
further marked deterioration overnight. 
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4.15 

4.16 

There is no doubt this lady is now very seriously ill. The question that 
would have to be answered between the 15th and 19th,was this a further 
acute event that could be easily reversed. The straightforward 
investigations had been performed and the decision would presumably 
be to have to return the lady to the District General Hospital for further 
investigation and management, possibly even on a high dependency 
unit. The other possible decision to be made was that this was a 
progression of a number of incurable problems and actually she was 
terminally ill. In these circumstances the decision would then be to 
decide what form of symptomatic or palliative care was most appropriate. 

:::::::::::::::::::::::: was seen by i.:_-~_~.?~_:#.:~on 15th and [--~-ga-;-~,--~may have seen 
her on the on 18th’ the day Fentanyl was started. This should be clarified 
as no clinical note is made on the 18th. This is poor practice. 

It may have been in the mind of the doctor who (possibly) saw her on 18th 
that she probably was terminally ill. Evidence for this is that she started 
her on a Fentanyl patch on top of the regular Thioridazine, which she 
was already receiving. However, the logic of starting the Fentanyl patch 
is not explained in the notes, and the psychiatric doctor who saw her the 
same day thought her physical condition "was stable". Further Fentanyl 
is a slow release opioid analgesic, which the BNF states it is not suitable 
for acute pain or when rapid changes in analgesia are required. The 
reason is that although Fentanyl 25 is the equivalent of 90 mgs of 
Morphine a day it will take several days to get to a steady state drug leve. 
However, the normal starting dose of Morphine for pain is 30 - 60 mgs a 
day thus the lack of explanation for the choice of Fentanyl, or the dose 
chosen, in a patient without documented pain is poor clinical practice. 

It is my opinion, certainly by the 19th November, this lady was terminally 
ill and it was a reasonable decision to come to this conclusion. However, 
it is possible that her more rapid deterioration was due to the use of 
Fentanyl on top of her other medical problems. Equally not all clinicians 
would come to exactly the same conclusion and some might have 
referred her back to the DGH when a creatinine of 360 was noted on 16th 
November. However, on balance I believe that many clinicians would 
come to the same conclusion after a month in hospital. 

Having made the decision that the lady was terminally ill, the next 
decision was whether or not to offer palliative care. [ coaeA iwas 
reported as extremely restless and aggressive and in some distress. 
my view it would now be appropriate to provide high quality palliative 
care. 

In 
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4.17 She is then written up for Diamorphine and Midazolam by subcutaneous 
infusion and the Fentanyl patch prescribed the previous day is removed. 
There was a three-hour overlap in the prescription of these drugs but this 
is unlikely to have had a major clinical effect. There is also a discussion 
regarding her status with a member of her family. There appears to be 
no dissent as to the appropriateness of her proposed care with either the 
nurses or the family. 

4.18 Two drugs are used, Diamorphine and Midazolam intravenous infusion 
pump. The main reason for using both was terminal restlessness. There 
is no doubt that Midazolam is widely used subcutaneously in doses from 
5 - 80 mgs per 24 hours. The dose of Midazolam used was 40 mgs per 
24 hours, which is within current guidance although many believe that 
elderly patients may need a lower dose of 5 - 20 mgs per 24 hours 
(Palliative Care. Chapter 23 in Brocklehurst’s Text Book of Geriatric 
Medicine 6th Edition 2003). 

4.19 The addition of Diamorphine is more contentious. Although there was 
serious restlessness and agitation in this lady, no pain was definitively 
documented and Diamorphine is particularly used for pain in terminal 
care. Diamorphine is compatible with Midazolam and can be mixed in 
the same syringe driver. However, despite the lack of pain Diamorphine 
is widely used, and believed to be a useful drug, in supporting patients in 
the terminal phase of restlessness. One study of patients on a long stay 
ward (Wilson J.A et al Palliative Medicine 1987; 149 - 153) found that 
56% of terminally ill patients on a long-stay ward received opiate 
analgesia. The dose of Diamorphine actually prescribed was 40 mgs. 
The normal starting dose for pain, of morphine, is 30 - 60 mgs and 
Diamorphine subcutaneously is usually given at a maximum ratio of 1:2 
(i.e. 15 - 30 mgs). [ ...... ._C._o.~_.e_._A._._._.i was prescribed on an unusually high 
starting dose of Diamorphine although probably equivalent to the dose of 
Fentanyl already started. There is no explanation of this decision in the 
notes. 

4.20 24 hours later [12121212.�_-~I_-.A_-1212121i is reported to be comfortable and without 
distress, she finally dies approximately 58 hours after starting the mixture 
of Diamorphine and Midazolam, and as far as can be deciphered from 
the notes, without distress. 

4.21 The prediction how long a terminally ill patient will live is virtually 
impossible and even palliative care experts show enormous variation 
(Higginson I.J. and Costantini M. Accuracy of Prognosis Estimates by 4 
Palliative Care teams: A Prospective Cohort Study. BMC Palliative Care 
2002 1:1.) I believe that it is certainly possible; that without any 
treatment, considering her creatinine of 360 on 16th November, she 
would have been dead on the i~.~_~_~i 
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4.22 There is no explanation in the notes for the apparently high doses of 
drugs used to relieve her symptoms considering her age of 88 years and 
her previous lack of use of analgesia. It is possible that the medication 
did shorten her life by a short period of time but she was also out of 
distress for the last 58 hours. 

5. OPINION 

5.1 _�_e_~.e_._A_ ............. i presents an example of the most complex and 
challenging problems in geriatric medicine. This incluluded progressive 
medical and physical problems causing major clinical and behavioural 
management problems to all the care staff she comes into contact with. 

5.2 However there were significant failing in the medical care provided to 
[~d_~~_i~.i~_i-J, in particular: 

¯ The failure to undertake a physical examination of the patient on 
admission to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital, or if it was 
undertaken the failure to record in the notes. 

¯ The prescription of PRN Oramorphine in admission to the Gosport 
War Memorial Hospital in a patient with no recorded pain or condition 
likely to need Oramorphine. 

¯ The failure to see the patient between the 1st- 15th November yet to 
order blood tests and antibiotics, or if she was seen, to make a record 
in the notes. 

¯ The failure to make any medical notes or explanation on the 18th 
November as to why Fentanyl was started and why the dose chosen 
was used. 

¯ The failure to provide any explanation for the use of Diamorphine and 
the choice of an apparently high starting dose in the syringe driver. 

5.3 There was also deficiencies in the use of the drug chart at the Gosport 
War Memorial Hospital, in particular: 

¯ The ’Regular’ prescription of Fentanyl is never crossed off the drug 
chart although replaced by the syringe driver. 

¯ Prescribing a range of doses of both Diamorphine and Midazolam on 
the regular side of the drug chart. 

¯ The failure to write dosages of controlled drugs in words and figures 
as well as total dosages given. 

6. EXPERTS’DECLARATION 

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
complete. I have mentioned all matters which I regard as relevant to the 
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
I have not included anything in this report which has been suggested to 
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

[.~.~.~.~.~.~.o_-a_-.~..~.~.~.~.~.~.~i a 74 year old gentleman with known[_~_~_~.i_~_~..~_-~..i~._~_~.i_~_~_~j liver 
disease who was admitted with a complex and painful fracture of the left upper 
humerus. His physical condition deteriorates at first in hospital, with alteration in 
mental state, renal impairment and subsequent gross fluid retention. He then 
starts to improve and is transferred to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital for 
further assessment and possible rehabilitation or continuing care. He is started 
on regular oral strong opiate analgesia for pain in his left arm and rapidly 
deteriorates and dies within [~.d_i~i~] of admission. 

There is evidence of both poor, and in my view negligent, medical practice at 
the Gosport War Memorial Hospital. The use of the drug chart is also 
significantly deficient. 

1. INSTRUCTIONS 

To examine the medical records and comment upon the standard of care 
afforded to the patient in the days leading up to his death against the acceptable 
standard of the day. 

2. ISSUES 

2.1. 

2.2. 

Was the standard of care afforded to this patient in the days 
leading up to his death in keeping with the acceptable standard of 
the day. 
If the care is found to be suboptimal what treatment should 
normally have been proffered in this case. 

3    CHRONOLOGY/CASE ABSTRACT. (The numbers in brackets refer to 
the page of evidence in the police files). 

3.1 EI~I~I~I~.~}~I~I~I~I~] a 74 year old gentleman in 1998 attended Queen 
Alexandra Hospital, Portsmouth A&E Department on the 21st 
September 1998 (125-127) with a fracture of the left femoral head 
and tuberosity (169). 

3.2 [[[[#.~.~.~.~_~[[~]had suffered many years before with Malaria and 
Diphtheria (143)[ ................................................. ~S~I-~-J~- ................................................ 
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3.3 

3.4 

3.5 

3.6 

3.7 

hospital with a fall, epigastric pain and was found to have 
evidence of[_ .......... ._C._.o_._d._e._._.A_ ........... iliver disease (129). During the 1997 
admission, an ultra sound showed a small bright liver compatible 
with cirrhosis and moderate ascites (129). His Albumin was very 
low at 19 (150) and a bilirubin was 48 (129). All these are markers 
of serious alcoholic liver disease with a poor long term prognosis. 
His weight was 100 kgs (152). There is no record of follow up 
attendance. 

When he attends A&E it is originally intended to offer him an 
operation on his arm, which he refuses. However, he is kept in 
A&E overnight for observation (161-2). It becomes apparent by 
the next day that he is not well, is vomiting (163) and he is 
needing Morphine for pain (11). His wife is on holiday (11) and it 
is not thought possible for him to go home so he is transferred on 
22nd September to the Care of the Elderly team at the Queen 
Alexandra Hospital (163). 

The day after admission he is no longer thought fit enough to have 
an operation on his arm, although he would now be prepared to. 
He is recognised to have been an extremely heavy drinker with 
considerable oedema and abdominal distension on admission 
(167). He has abnormal blood tests on admission including a mild 
anaemia of 10.5 with a very raised mean cell volume of 113 and 
his platelet count is reduced at 133 (239). Five days later his 
haemoglobin has fallen to 9.7 and the platelet count has fallen to 
123 (237). There are no further full blood counts in the notes, 
although his haemoglobin was normal with haemoglobin of 13 in 
1997 (241). 

He is noted to have impaired renal function with a Urea of 6.7 and 
a Creatinine of 185 on admission (209) and on 25th September 
Urea of 17.8 and a Creatinine of 246 (203). He is started on 
intravenous fluids on 27th September (12) and his renal function 
then continues to improve so that by the 7th October both his Urea 
and Creatinine are normal at 6.1 and 101 (199). 

His liver function is significantly abnormal on admission and on 
29th his albumin is 22, his bilirubin 82 (he would have been 
clinically jaundice) there is then little change over his admission. 

th On the 7 October is albumin is 23 and his bilirubin also 82 (199). 
His AST is 66 (171). 

His vomiting within 24 hours of admission may have been due to 
alcohol withdrawal but he had also been given Morphine for pain 
(11). He is started on a Chlordiazepoxide regime (11) as standard 
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3.10 

3.11 

management plan to try and prevent significant symptoms of 
alcohol withdrawal. This has some sedative effects as well. 

His physical condition in hospital deteriorates at first. He is noted 
to have considerable pain for the first 2 - 3 days, he is found to 
have extremely poor nutritional intake and has eaten little at home 
(12). His renal function deteriorates as documented above. He is 
communicating poorly with the nursing staff (28) and is restless at 
night on 30th September (30). His Barthel deteriorates from 13 on 
23rd September to 3 on the 2nd October (69), his continued 
nutritional problems are documented by the dietician on 2nd 

October (16). In the nursing cardex he is vomiting, he has 
variable communication problems, he is irritable and cross on 1st 
October (30). On 4th October (16) his arm is noted to be markedly 
swollen and very painful and it is suggested he needs Morphine 
for pain (31). The following day he knocks his arm and gets a 
laceration (16). 

There is ongoing communication with his family which is 
complicated by inter-family relationships between his first wife’s 
family and his current wife. The plan by 6th October is that he will 

need nursing home care when he leaves hoStPhital and his Barthel 
at this stage is 5 (16) (69). However on the 5 the nursing cardex 
note that he is starting to improve (32) although, he remains 
catheterised and has been faecally incontinent on occasion. 

On 7th October is now more alert and is now telling the staff that 
he wishes to return home (17). The nursing staff notes that he is 
now much more adamant in his opinions (33). However on 8th he 
had refused to wash for 2 days (18). He is then reviewed at the 
request of the medical staff by a psycho-geriatrician. The opinion 
is that he has early dementia, which may be alcohol related and 
depression. He is noted to be difficult to understand with a 
dysarthria (117-118). He is started on Trazodone as an 
antidepressant and as a night sedative, he is still asking for 
stronger analgesics on 8th October (35). The letter also mentions 
(429) "rather sleepy and withdrawn .......... his nights had also 
been disturbed." 

On the 9th October an occupational therapy assessment is difficult 
because he is reluctant to comply and a debate occurs about 
whether he is capable of going home (19). By the 12th October 
(21) his Barthel has improved to 7 (69) so Social Services say that 
he no longer fits their criteria for a nursing home and he should 
now be considered for further rehabilitation (21). The nursing 
cardex notes that his catheter is out (35) he is eating better but he 
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still gets bad pain in his left arm (36). His arms, hands and feet 
are noted to be significantly more swollen on 12th October (36). 
His weight has now increased from 103 kgs on 27th September to 
114 kgs by 14th October (61,63). However his Waterlow score 
remains at "high risk" for all his admission (71). A decision is 
made to transfer him for possible further rehabilitation, although 

th the medical review on 13 October states in view of the medical 
staff and because of his oedematous limbs, he is at high risk of 
tissue breakdown. He is also noted to be in cardiac failure with 
low protein and at very high risk of self neglect and injury if he 
starts to take alcohol again. He currently needs 24 hour hospital 
care (21 ). 

On 14th October he is transferred to Draed Ward and the notes 
(179) say "for continuing care". The notes document the history of 
fractured humerus, his alcohol problem, current oedema and heart 
failure. No examination is documented. The notes state that he 
needs help with ADL, he is incontinent, Barthel 7, he lives with his 
wife and is for gentle rehabilitation. I am unable to read four 
words. The single word on the line above incontinence, two words 
after lives with wife (this may be a street address) and the word in 
front of gentle mobilisation. 

The next medical notes (179) are on 16th October and state that 
he had declined overnight with shortness of breath. On 
examination he is reported to have a weak pulse, unresponsive to 
spoken orders, oedema plus plus in arms and legs. The diagnosis 
is "? silent MI, ? liver function" and the treatment is to increase the 
Frusemide. The nursing cardex for 14th October confirms he was 
seen by [~i~i~i_-.A_-i~i~ii that Oramorphine 10 mgs was given and he 
was continent of urine. On 15th October the nursing notes (265) 
state commenced Oramorphine 10 mgs 4 hourly for pain in left 
arm, poor condition is explained to wife. The evidence from [c.-i0~i~] 
i._._._c._o.#_e._~._._iwife ([ .......... -&;;~-~. ........ ~[) is that he looked dreadful and was 
incomprehensible at lunchtime on the 15th October, a very 
significant change from the morning of the 14th. 

On 16th in the nursing cardex he is "seen by [i[i[i[i[i#_-~[~[~[i~[i[i[i[i~ am as 
deteriorated overnight, increased Frusemide". The nursing care 
plan (278), states for 15th October, settled and slept well, 
Oramorphine 20 mgs given 12 midnight with good effect, 
Oramorphine 10 mgs given 06.00 hours. Condition deteriorated 
overnight, very chesty and difficulty in swallowing medications. 

th Then on 16 it states has been on syringe driver since 16.30 
hours. From the analysis of the drug chart, [ Co,~eA ireceived the 
Oramorph at midnight on 15th and then 06.00 hours 10 mgs 
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Oramorph on 16th. 

The next medical note is on 19th October which notes that he had 
been comfortable at night with rapid deterioration (179) and death 
is later recorded at 23.40 hours and certified by Staff Nurse 
Collins. The nursing cardex mentions a bubbly chest late pm on 
16th October (265). On the 17th Hyoscine is increased because of 
the increasing oropharyngeal secretions (265). Copious amounts 
of fluid are being suctioned on 17th. He further deteriorates on 18th 
and he continues to require regular suction (266). The higher 

th dose of Diamorphine on the 18 and Midazolam is recorded in the 
nursing cardex (266). 

Two Drug Charts: (see table). The first is the Queen Alexandra 
drug chart (106-116). This records the regular laxatives, vitamins 
and diuretics given for his liver disease. The reducing dose of 
Chlordiazepoxide stops on 30th September for his alcohol 
withdrawal and the Trazodone started for his mild depression and 
night sedation. In terms of pain management Morphine, slow IV or 
subcutaneous 2.5 - 5 mgs written up on the prn side and 5 mgs 
given on 23re September and 2.5 mgs twice on 24th September. 
Morphine is also written up IM 2 - 5 mgs on 3re October and he 
receives 2.5 mgs on 3re and 2.5 mgs on 5th. He is also written up 
for prn Codeine Phosphate and receives single doses often at 
night up until 13th October but never needing more than 1 dose a 

th th day after 25 September. Regular Co-dydramol starts on 25 
th September until 30 September when it is replaced by 4 times a 

day regular Paracetamol which continues until his transfer. 

In summary, his pain relief for the last week in the Queen 
Alexandra is 4 times a day Paracetamol and occasional night time 
dose of Codeine Phosphate. 

The second drug chart is the drug chart of the Gosport War 
Memorial Hospital (258-263). His diuretics, anti-depressant, 
vitamins and laxatives are all prescribed regularily. The regular 
Paracetamol is not prescribed but is written up on the as required 
(prn) part of the drug chart. This is never given. Regular 
prescriptions also contains Oramorphine 10 mgs in 5 mls to be 

th given 10 mgs 4 hourly, starting on 15 October (261). 10 mgs is 
given at 10 am, 2pm and 6 pm on 15th, 6am, 10 am and 2 pm on 

th                                                                              ¯ 16 . A further dose of 20 mgs at night given at 10 pm ~s given at 
10 pm on 15th October. Although these prescriptions are dated as 
given on the 15th October it is not clear if they were written up on 
the 14th or 15th. 
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3.17 On a further sheet of this drug chart (262) regular prescription has 
been crossed out and prn written instead. Oramorphine, 10 mgs in 
5 mls, 2.5 - 5 mls 4 hourly is then prescribed on this sheet. It is 
not dated but it would appear 10 mgs is given at 2.45 on 14th 

October and 10 mgs at midnight on 14th October. Further down 
this page Diamorphine 20 - 200 mgs subcut in 24 hours from 
Hyoscine 200 - 800 micrograms subcut in 24 hours, Midazolam 
20 - 80 mgs subcut in 24 hours are all prescribed. It is not clear 
what date these were written up. The first prescription is 16th 
October and the 20mls of Diamorphine with 400 micrograms of 
Hyoscine are started at 16.10. On 17th October, 20 mgs of 
Diamorphine, 600 micrograms of Hyoscine are started at 5.15 and 
the notes suggest that what was left in the syringe driver at that 
stage was destroyed (262). At 15.50 hours on 17th October, 40 
mgs, 800 mgs of Hyoscine and 20 mgs of Midazolam are started 
and on 18th 60 mgs of Diamorphine, 1200 micrograms of Hyoscine 
(a new prescription has been written for the Hyoscine) and 40 mgs 
of Midazolam are started in the syringe driver at 14.50 and again 
the notes suggest the remainder that was previously in the syringe 
driver is destroyed. 

Drug Date prescribed Prescribed as Prescriber Given 
Morphine 22/09 2-5 mgs ? 23/09 1540 5 mgs 

IV/SC (at QAH) 24/09 0615 2.5mgs 
PRN 24/09 0645 2.5mgs 
4 hourly 

Morphine 03/10 2-5 mgs ? 03/10 2319 2.5 mgs 
I/M (at QAH) 05/10 0200 2.5 mgs 
PRN 
4 hourly 

Codeine 23/09 30mgs ? 23/09 2 doses 30 mgs 
Phosphate 6 hourly (at QAH) 24/09 3 doses 30 mgs 

PRN 25/09 1 dose 30 mgs 
CoDydramol 25/09 2 tabs ? 25/09 3 doses 

6 hourly (at QAH) 26/09 - 29/09 4 doses 
Regular each day then stopped 

Codein ." 8/10 15-30 mgs ? 08/10 
Phospt ate 4 hourly (at QAH) 09/10 1 dose 

PRN 12/10 each day 
13/10 

Paracetamol 30/09 TT ? 30/09 - 06/10 
6 hourly (at QAH) Many missed doses until 
Regular the 07/10 - 14/10. 4 

doses a day 
Never given Paracetamol 

Oramorphine 

14/10 

Undated but 
probably 14/10 

1 gram 
4 hourly, PRN 
2.5-5mls of 10 
mgs in 5mls 
4 hourly, PRN 
(regular crossed 
out) 

(at GWMH) 

(at GWMH) 

14/10 1445 10mgs 
14/10 2345 10mgs 
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Oramorphine 

Oramorphine 

Diamorphine 

Midazolam 

15/10 

15/10 

Undated, possibly 
16/10 but might 
well have been 
14/10 

Undated, possibly 
14/10; or 16/10 or 
17/10 

10mgs 
4 hourly 
regular 

20mgs nocte 
Regular 
20 - 200mgs 
S/C in 24 hours 
PRN 
(Regular crossed 

out) 
20-80 mgs 
S/C in 24 hours 
PRN 
(Regular crossed 

out) 

Code 

15/10 1000 10mgs 
15/10 1400 10mgs 
15/10 1800 10mgs 
16/10 0600 10mgs 
16/10 1000 10mgs 
16/10 1400 10mgs 

No further prescription 
recorded by drug chart. 
But prescription not 
crossed off or stopped 
15/10 2200 20 mgs 

16/10 1610 20mgs 
17/10 0515 20mgs 
17/10 1550 40mgs 
18/10 1450 60mgs 

17/10 1550 20mgs 
18/10 1450 40mgs 

4. TECHNICAL BACKGROUND / EXAMINATION OF THE FACTS IN ISSUE 

4.1 

4.2 

4.3 

This section will consider whether there were any actions so 
serious that they might amount to gross negligence or any 
unlawful acts, or deliberate unlawful killing in the care of [i~_~i~.~i-.i 
[i~i~_i~i~i~ Also whether there were any actions or omissions by the 
medical team, nursing staff or attendant GP’s that contributed to 
the demise of [ .......... ~1~-~-~. .......... i in particular, whether beyond 
reasonable doubt, the actions or omissions more than minimally, 
negligibly or trivially contributed to death. 

The principle underlying medical problem in [---6;;;~~--i is his 
i.-..-.~.~_-.A.-..-._-.i liver disease. There is no doubt that he had 
hepatocellular failure based on long-standing alcohol abuse, with 
evidence at least back to his admission in 1997 where he has 
evidence of portal hypertension giving him a significant ascites. 
He also at that stage had a low albumin and a persistently raised 
bilirubin, hall-markers of a poor medium to long-term prognosis. 

The presenting problem on admission was his complex fracture of 
his left upper arm, which ideally would have had an operative 
repair. First he refuses this, and then by the time he agrees it his 
physical status has significantly deteriorated to a point that he was 
not fit for an anaesthetic. He gets continual pain from this arm 
throughout his admission. His admission treatment is strong 
opiate analgesia; this is then replaced by regular oral mild opiate 
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4.5 

4.6 

4.7 

analgesia and finally by regular Paracetamol supplemented by 
mild oral opiate analgesia (Codeine Phosphate) at night. There is 
no doubt though that he does have continuing pain from this arm. 

His health deteriorates for at least the first 7 - 8 days after his 
admission. He develops impaired renal function; there is evidence 
of change in mental state with comments on poor communication, 
sleepiness, irritability and restlessness, and "dysarthria". There 
are a number of possibilities for this. The first possibility is that he 
is having alcohol withdrawal, combined with the sedative effect of 
Chlordiazepoxide to prevent marked symptoms of alcohol 
withdrawal delirium. The psycho-geriatrician wonders if he has 
alcohol related dementia plus some depression. I believe it is very 
likely that he has early hepatic encephalopathy, a change in 
mental state that goes with hepatic failure. This includes disturbed 
consciousness with sleep disorder, personality change and 
intellectual deterioration. It is often precipitated by acute events 
including gastro-intestinal blood loss and drugs, in particular 
opiates. There is other evidence of major impairment to his liver 
function including a reduced platelet count, (suggesting an 
enlarged spleen due to portal hypertension), his bilirubin which is 
significantly higher than his previous admission and his persistent 
very low albumin. His haemoglobin does fall during admission. It 
is possible that he has had a small gastro-intestinal bleed at some 
stage but this is not pursued. 

Despite all of this, there is a an improvement in his condition 
recorded in both his better functioning on the ward with the 
nursing staff, his greater alertness and communication 
improvement. The fact that his catheter can be removed and he 
becomes continent and that his overall measured functional status 
through the Barthel score improves to a point that Social Services 
will no longer place him in a nursing home, although he clearly 
needs nursing care. However, his weight dramatically increases 
by 11 kgs during his admission and this will be almost entirely fluid 
retention going to his abdomen, legs and potentially his chest. 
This is not adequately managed medically. 

He is transferred on 14th October for ongoing assessment, 
possible rehabilitation and decisions about long-term care 
arrangements. No examination has been recorded on admission 
by the medical staff. Not even a basic clinical examination has 
been undertaken or if it has, was not recorded. 

The only management that is really needed at this stage is to 
continue the management that was ongoing from the Queen 
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Alexandra Hospital while carefully addressing the fluid balance 
problems. However the regular oral analgesics that he was on are 
not written up regularly, no explanation is given for this. Strong 
opioid analgesia is written up and two doses of 10 mgs 
Oramorphine are given on the day of transfer, the 14~n October. At 
the Queen Alexandra Hospital the single doses on the 3rd and 5th 
October had been at 2.5 mgs. Regular Oramorphine to a total 
dose of 50 mgs is then given on the 15th October. It is now being 
given regularly and it is not clear whether the original intention to 

th give it regularly was from the admission on the 14 , though the 
prescription is clearly written and starts at 10 am on 15th. There is 
no documentation in the nursing or medical notes to suggest the 
patient was seen by a doctor on 15th when the decision to start the 
regular dose of Morphine appears to be made. 

The decision to give Morphine on the 14th and then the regular 
Morphine, at this dose, on 15th October is crucial to the 
understanding of this case. ". ..... the effects of hepatitis or 
cirrhosis on drug deposition range from impaired to increased drug 
clearance in an unpredictable fashion ...... the oral availability for 
high first class drugs such as Morphine ..... is almost double in 
padents with cirrhosis compared to those with normal liver 
function. Therefore the size of the oral dose of such drugs should 
be reduced in this setting" (Harrison). In my view the decision to 
give the significant doses of Morphine on the 14th then the regular 
oral doses of high oral doses of strong opiates on 15th was 

negligent. The appropriate use of weaker analgesics had not 
been used, though these had apparently controlled his symptoms 
the previous week in the Queen Alexandra Hospital as he had not 
received strong opioid analgesia after the 5th October. The dose 
of Morphine used, particularly in the presence of severe liver 
disease, was very likely to have serious implications (see para 
4.4). 

By the 16th October there has been a very significant clinical 
deterioration overnight and [_-.-_._-c_-~.#_-._-._-.] is examined by [iiiii] 
[_-._-._-.C~.0_-.d_-.~.~.A_-._-._-.]. He is noted to be unwell and unresponsive to spoken 
orders. While it is possible that [._._..C_o_.d_..e._A_._._.ihas gone into heart 
failure due to his salt and water retention documented previously, 
his unresponsiveness is almost certainly, in my view, to be 
because of a direct cerebral effect of the Morphine or that he is 
being precipitated again into Hepatic Encephalopathy (see para 
4.4). The situation may or may not have been still reversible on 

th 16 October but he was probably now entering a period of 
irreversible terminal decline. However, it would still have been 
appropriate to have obtained senior medical opinion as to whether 
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4.11 

5.1 

other management should be considered. In my view, the failure 
to obtain senior medical opinion was poor clinical practice. This 
criticism could be made of E ....... 8;~-,~-4,-~- ....... ~on the 16th October and 
certainly of C.~.#-_~,)~.~.~.~j on th~-’~~-tr~i-~-;~-~ patient was seen by ~.:_i] 
[.~~.~.-.~.] on the 15th October (as suggested by her statement to the 
police). The situation was unrecoverable by the 17th October. 

On the afternoon of the 16th he is started on a syringe driver. 
Although prescribed by [ co,~e~, ithere is nothing in the notes to 
document the decision to start is a medical or nursing decision. 
He is started on a syringe driver containing Diamorphine and 
Hyoscine. Diamorphine, Hyoscine (and Midazolam) are all 
compatible in the same syringe driver. Hyoscine is particularly 
useful for patients with a large amount of secretion as is 
documented in this case. The increase in dose of Hyoscine on the 
17th was an appropriate decision. When starting Diamorphine in a 
syringe driver it is conventional to do it at a dose of 2 or 3 to 1 i.e. 
at most half the dose of Diamorphine in the syringe driver than 
was being given orally. On 15th October 50 mgs in total of 
Oramorphine was prescribed, it was reasonable to start 20 mgs in 
the syringe driver on 16th October. The dose of Diamorphine is 
increased on both 17th and 18th and Midazolam is started on 17th. 
Apart from comments about secretions in the nursing cardex, 
there is no rationale for the increase in dose of Diamorphine or the 
addition of Midazolam provided in either the medical or nursing 
notes. It is not clear whether the decision to increase the dose is 
a medical or nursing decision. I have indicated in section 3 that 
there are significant problems with the use of the drug chart in 
Gosport which seems to have been used in an irregular fashion. 

It is my view the regular prescription and dosage of Oramorphine 
was unnecessary and inappropriate on the 14th and 15th October 
and in a patient with serious hepatocellular dysfunction was likely 
the major cause of the deterioration, in particular in mental state, 
on the 15th and the 16th October. In my view it is beyond 
reasonable doubt that these actions more than minimally 
contributed to the death of 

OPINION 

[_-..-._-._-._-..-._-.#_-~.-~_-~_~~_-._-._-..-._-._-._~ is a 71 year old gentleman with known severe 
alcoholic liver disease who was admitted with a complex and painful 
fracture of the left upper humerus. His physical condition deteriorates 
at first in hospital, with alteration in mental state, renal impairment and 
subsequent gross fluid retention. He then starts to improve and is 
transferred to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital for further 
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5.3 

assessment and possible rehabilitation or continuing care. He is 
started on regular oral strong opiate analgesia for pain in his left arm 
and rapidly deteriorates and dies within 5 days of admission. 

There is evidence of poor medical practice at the Gosport War 
Memorial Hospital. In particular: 

¯ The lack of a documented medical examination on admission to 
the Gosport War Memorial Hospital. 

¯ The failure to continue his oral analgesic regime on admission. 
¯ The decision to use strong opiate based analgesic on the 14th 

October and at a dose higher than previously needed in the 
Queen Alexander Hospital. In my view a negligent decision that 
formed a major contribution to the clinical documentation that 
occurred over 15th-16th October. 

¯ The failure to realise the potential risks of using strong opiate 
analgesia in the presence of liver failure. 

¯ The failure to document any reason for starting regular 
Oramorphine on the 15th October. 

¯ The failure to investigate the possible causes of his deterioration 
on 15th and 16th October, or to consider that they might be 
reversible. 

¯ The failure to ask for a senior medical opinion certainly on the 15th 
October and possibly on the 16th October (also see my generic 
report). 

¯ The failure to document in either the medical or nursing notes the 
reasons for the decision to start the syringe driver on the 16th 

October. 
¯ The failure to document any reason for the increased dose of 

Diamorphine and Midazolam in the syringe driver on the 17th and 
18th, and whether that was a medical or nursing decision. 

The use of the drug chart in the Gosport War Memorial is significantly 
deficient. In particular: 

¯ The prescription of a large range of a controlled drug (see my 
generic report). 

¯ The misuse of both the "PRN" and regular sides of the drug chart. 
¯ The failure to cross out drugs on the regular side of the drug chart 

when no longer required. 
¯ The failure to write dosages of controlled drugs in words and 

figures as well as total dosages to be given. 
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

Signature: 

Code A 
Date: 9 July 2008 

12 
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SUMMARY OF CONCLUSIONS 

[~i~i~i~i~.#~a_~i_X._-i~i~i~i~i~ an elderly lady who was admitted to Queen Alexander Hospital in 
February 1998. She was subsequently transferred to the Gosport War Memorial 
Hospital with a terminal illness almost certainly a carcinoma of the lung on a 
background of other chronic diseases including stroke and cardiac disease. 

Her investigations and management were appropriate to her condition while in the 
Queen Alexandra Hospital. 

The use of the drug chart in the Gosport War Memorial Hospital was seriously 
deficient. 

There is inadequate documentation of clinical review of the patient in particular on 
3rd March and inadequate documentation regarding decision making to start the 
syringe driver. This represents poor medical practice. 

1. INSTRUCTIONS 

To examine the medical records and comment upon the standard of care afforded 
to the patient in the days leading up to her death against the acceptable standard of 
the day. 

2. ISSUES 

2.1. Was the standard of care afforded to this patient in the days leading 
up to her death in keeping with the acceptable standard of the day? 

2.2. If the care is found to be suboptimal what treatment should normally 
have been proffered in this case? 

3. CHRONOLOGY/CASE ABSTRACT. (The numbers in brackets refer to the 

page of evidence). 

3.1. [~i~i~.O_-i~#~i~ii was an 88 year old lady at the time of her final admission 
to hospital on 6th February 1988. 

3.2. She lived in a residential home for a number of years and was 
reported as being independent in 1995 (32). During 1995 she had 
been admitted to hospital with chest pain (28) left ventricular failure in 
atrial fibrillation (22) and Digixon toxicity (14). At the time of her 
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3.3. 

3.4. 

3.5. 

3.6. 

3.7. 

3.8. 

admission with Digixon toxicity she had also been noted to have a 
transient impairment of renal function (14). 

L._._.C_._o._d._~._A._._.j was admitted to hospital on the 30th March 1997 (10) with 
confusion, right sided weakness and a probable dysphasia caused by 
a probable stroke (90) (112), however she improved rapidly and her 
comprehension was good and she was much less confused by the 
time of her discharge back to her residential home on 6th May 1997 
(116). 

The next documented hospital admission was 6th February 1998 
when she was admitted to Victory Ward from home (157) (medical 
notes 246). The notes document that she had several days of rapid 
deterioration but she had been depressed for the last few weeks, 
increasingly withdrawn and had been started on Sertraline, an anti- 
depressant (246). Investigations showed a modestly raised urea of 
8.4 (247), a low albumin of 30 (247) and a white cell count of 13. 

Further investigations showed an abnormal chest x-ray that was 
thought to be a very suspicion of a carcinoma of bronchus (248) 
confirmed by an x-ray report (240). A decision is made not to 
bronchoscope her (249) and on 15th February there is a discussion 
with the son about the diagnosis (249). She has a documented fall 
on the ward (250) and the medical notes confirm her continued 
confusion. There is a good summary in the notes on 19th February 
(252) confirming that she is sleepy but responsive, incontinent of 
urine and faeces and has a low MTS (252-3). 

On 25th February she is confused with some agitation (254) and the 
medical notes document that she has started on Thioridazine 
because of her anxiety and distress. 

The nursing notes confirm her rapid physical decline during her time 
after admission. Her Barthel falls from 13 on admission to only 4 on 
23re February (162). Her Waterlow score also rises from 11 to 20 on 
21st February (164). She has very little food intake during her 
admission (204-217). There is continual evidence from the nursing 
notes of anxiety, fear and variable confusion (180, 183, 184). She is 
catheterised, leaking faeces, frightened and agitated on 23re February 
(189). 

On 27th February she is transferred to Dryad Ward (254). The notes 
document her diagnosis of Ca Bronchus made on a chest x-ray on 
admission; she is generally unwell and off legs; and needs help with 
eating and drinking, and has a Barthel of 0. The notes also state that 
the family have been seen and are aware of prognosis and that 
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3,9, 

3.10. 

3.11. 

3.12. 

3.13. 

[_~_d.~.~._;.~~is happy for the nursing staff to confirm death (255). Needs 
hoisting and opiates commenced. 

On 28th February (255), [--~-;;;:i;~[i[] is confused, agitated particularly at 
night but not in pain. Medical notes say for regular Thioridazine 
(412). The next medical notes are 2nd March: there has been "no 
improvement on the major tranquilisers. I suggest adequate opiates 
to control fear and pain". A further note on 2naMarch by a different 
doctor says "spitting out Thioridazine, quieter - now on sub-cut 
Oramorphine". "Fentanyl patch started today. Agitated and calling 
out even when staff present". "Diagnosed carcinoma bronchus 
?Cerebral metastases". Continue Fentanyl patches. The son is seen. 
The next note in the medical section is on ~[i[i~[.O_-~i_;.[.A_-.[i[}and states the 
patient continues to deteriorate and died peacefully at 2130 hours. 
Death verified and signed by the staff nurse. 

Drug Cardex. The drug chart before transfer to the Gosport War 
Memorial Hospital (234) shows that Thioridazine 10mgs was given 3 

th th times a day on 25 and 26 February. 

The drug chart at Dryad (222-224) demonstrates that on the once 
only prescription side that Diamorphine 5mgs was given at 0800 and 
1500 mgs - date not visible on photocopies. On the PRN part of the 
drug chart Thioridazine 25mgs sub-cut is written up on 27th February 
and prescribed on 28th February at 1300. Oramorphine 10 mgs of 

th 10ml is written up on 27 February and a single dose of 5mgs given 
th nd on 28 February. Fentanyl patch 25 mgs is written up on 2 March 

nd and prescribed once on 2 March at 0800. There is no 
documentation if this ever removed. 

On the regular side of the drug chart, Digoxin, Frusemide, Ramipril, 
Sotalol and Sertraline are written up and then crossed off and never 
given. Thioridazine is written up on 28th February and prescribed 
twice a day on 1st and 2nd March. Heminevrin is written up on 28th 

February and given once in the evening on 28 February and once on 
1st March. Diamorphine 20-200 mgs sub-cut in 24 hours is 
prescribed on the regular prescription part of the drug chart which has 
been crossed out and PRN written. Hyoscine 200-800 mcgs in 24 
hours and Midazolam 20-80 mgs sub-cut in 24 hours are also written 
up in the same way. I could not identify which day these 
prescriptions were written but 20 mgs of Diamorphine with 20mgs of 
Midazolam were both started in a syringe driver at 1050 am on 3rd 

March. 

All the prescribing of opiates on Dryad Ward appear to be in [~_:.:.i~_] 
[.~[~[~.~_",. handwriting. 
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TABLE 

Drug 

Diamorphine 
5mg 

Thioridazine 

25mg 

Oramorphine 

10 mgs in 

10 mls 

Fentanyl 

25mgs x 5 days 

Diamorphine 20 
- 200 mg 

S/C in 24 hours 

Midazolam 20 - 
80 mg 

S/C in 24 hours 

Date Prescribed 

? Date 

27th February 

27th February 

2nd March 

? Date 

? Date 

Prescribed as 

Once only 

PRN 

PRN 

PRN 

"PRN" 

Regular 
prescription 
crossed out 

"PRN" 

Regular 
prescription 
crossed out 

Prescriber 

Code A 

.................... -.’ 

Given 

0800 am ? date 

1520 am ? date 

1300 am 

28th Feb 

5mg 28th Feb 

0800 am 

2nd March 

20 mg 1050 am 

3rd March 

20 mg 1050 am 

3rd March 

4. TECHNICAL BACKGROUND / EXAMINATION OF THE FACTS IN ISSUE 

4.1. This section will consider there were any actions or omissions by 
the medical team, nursing staff or attendant GP’s that contributed 
to the demise of ~_A.-~i in particular, whether beyond 
reasonable doubt, the actions or omissions more than minimally, 
negligibly or trivially contributed to death. 

4.2. [_-._-.~.a_-}._-~~._-.i was an elderly frail lady with multiple pathology having 
documented evidence of cardiac and cerebro vascular disease 
with intermittent confusion diagnosed previously. 



GMC100106-0096 

Report Version 3 by ~-i~i~i~}?_;.~i~i~1i- February 22 2008 

4.3. The final admission seems to have been preceded by fairly rapid 
physical decline. The diagnosis of probable carcinoma of the lung 
was made on radiological grounds on her admission to the Victory 
Ward. This was an appropriate diagnosis and would explain her 
rapid physical decline. A decision was made not to bronchoscope 
which would have been extremely difficult and an unlikely to have 
changed management in any way. This was also appropriate. 

4.4. The nursing cardex and medical notes confirm her rapid physical 
and mental deterioration after admission. The objective evidence 
from both her decreasing Barthel, increasing Waterlow 
dependency and her rapidly falling albumin are all signs of a 
rapidly deteriorating condition, and compatible with a diagnosis of 
carcinoma of lung. 

4.5. Although it is not specifically mentioned in the medical notes it is 
clearly documented in the nurses’ notes that before transfer the 
she is for palliative care (at 157). 

4.6. It was decided to transfer to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital to 
be nearer her son. There is a good summary of her problems 
written in the notes shortly prior to transfer (252). 

4.7. On admission to Dryad Ward there is a very basic summary of the 
condition and dependency of L_._.c_._o._d_.e_._A._._.i but in view of the clear 
understanding that she was for palliative care and the good 
summary in the notes just prior to transfer I do not think that this 
was an unreasonable summary. 

4.8. During her stay in the Queen Alexander Hospital and the Gosport 
War Memorial Hospital she continues to be frightened, agitated 
and confused. She is started on a major tranquiliser 
(Thioridazine) before transfer and this continued after transfer. 
The continued notes on 2nd March suggests that this drug 
management regime which then included Heminevrin was not 
being successful. All these symptoms are compatible with 
someone rapidly deteriating with carcinoma of lung, and probably 
also indicate mild delirium. A psycogeriatric opinion would not be 
needed in these circumstances. 

4.9. The medical notes on the 27th February (254) state that opiates 
have been commenced but it is not clear though from the drug 
chart what this is referring to unless she received two doses of 
Diamorphine on the 27th, however, the photocopy is inadequate 
(222) to determine if this was the case. She receives a single 
dose of 5mg Oramorphine on 28th February and the next opiate 
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4.10. 

4.11. 

4.12. 

4.13. 

5. OPINION 

5.1. 

documented in the drug chart is the Fentanyl patch on 2nd March 
(222). 

There is no doubt in my mind that this lady was rapidly 
deteriorating and dying and that in view of her failure to get 
adequate palliation from a regular major tranquiliser for her 
continued distress and agitation that it was appropriate to start a 
regular opiate by a syringe driver. It was also evident that she 
was not able to take her tablets orally (255). 

Clinically it is slightly surprising that she was started with Fentanyl 
as this is likely to take 24 hours to have a maximal affect and that 
it might have been more clinically appropriate to start a syringe 
driver on 2nd March. 

Diamorphine 20mgs in 24 hours and Midazolam 20mg in 24 hours 
was then started on 3re March. It is not clear if the patient was 
seen by a doctor on 3re March. It is not clear when the 
prescription was written up and if the decision to start 
Diamorphine and Midazolam on 3re March was a medical or 
nursing decision. It is also not clear from the notes whether the 
Fentanyl patch was removed. 20mgs of Diamorphine by 
subcutaneous infusion is equivalent to oral morphine at 10mgs 
every 4 hours. In my opinion this would be high but not an 
unreasonable dose in somebody where there was a good reason 
to start an opiate and there had been an inadequate response to 
the Fentanyl in the previous 24 hours. Midazolam is a sedative 
which can be suitable for a very restless patient and is usually 
initially given in a dose of 20 - 80 mgs in 24 hours although some 
believe the dose should be much lower (5 - 20 mgs) in older 
people but particularly the most frail. 

In my view a dose of Diamorphine and Midazolam was on the 
high side but within written clinical guidelines such as the British 
National Formulary. However, if the Fentanyl patch was 
continued there would have been a risk of over sedation for 
example causing unnecessary respiratory depression. The 
medical notes are inadequate to make an assessment as to 
whether the doses that were given were appropriate to her 
condition or excessive. 

[~i~?i.e~_~-2~], an an 88 year old lady was admitted to Queen 
Alexander Hospital in February 1998 subsequently transferred to the 
Gosport War Memorial Hospital with a terminal illness almost 
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5,2, 

5,3, 

5,4, 

certainly a carcinoma of the lung on a background of other chronic 
diseases including stroke and cardiac disease. 

Her investigations and management were appropriate to her 
condition while in the Queen Alexandra Hospital. 

The use of drug charts in The Gosport War Memorial Hospital is 
seriously deficient. In particular: 

¯ The use of the regular side of the drug chart for a PRN 
prescription. 

¯ The prescription of a large range of controlled drugs (in particular 
diamorphine) on a PRN basis. 

¯ The failure to write dosages in words and figures as well as total 
dosages to be given. 

There is inadequate documentation of medical review of the patient. 
In particular: 

¯ The failure to record who made the final decision to start the 
syringe driver on the 3rd of March. 

¯ The failure to record the clinical condition of the patient that led to 
that decision. 

¯ The failure to document how the final starting dose of the drugs in 
the syringe driver was made, in particular why the dose used was 
chosen. 

¯ The failure to record in the medical or nursing notes if the Fentanyl 
patch was removed or the reason for not removing it. 

¯ The failure to document relevant medical or nursing assessments 
to check on possible side effects (for example oversedation) with 
the high starting dose of both Diamorphine and Midazolam used. 

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

7. STATEMENT OF TRUTH 

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

[~#~]~.X_~!, a 92 year old lady with severe end-stage Alzheimer’s disease who was 
certainly entering the terminal phase of her disease at the time of her admission 
with pyrexial illness, possibly a UTI, on 31 July 1998. 

Her investigations and management in the Queen Alexandra Hospital were 
generally acceptable. It was appropriate to transfer her to the Gosport War 
Memorial Hospital. 

The documentation of her medical care was inadequate and in my view 
unacceptable medical practice in the Gosport War Memorial Hospital. 

The use of the drug chart in the Gosport War Memorial Hospital is also significantly 
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

page of evidence except for two unnumbered pages which are referred to as 

UN). 

3.1. [i~i~i~i2.�_-i_;._ai_;.].A_-i~i~i~i~iwas a 92 year old lady at the time of her death in the 
Gosport War Memorial Hospital on i .............. _c._.o_._d_e._..A_ ............. i. 

3.2. [.~.~.~.~.~_~;.a.;~~.~.~.~.~.] main problem was progressive dementia presumably of 
the Alzheimer’s type. In 1992 her dementia was already known (243) 
and she was having problems with wandering (164). She started to 
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3.3. 

3.4. 

3.5. 

3.6. 

3.7. 

have respite care for her dementing illness in 1994 (189). Depixol 
was already started in 1995 (186). By 1996 she was having 
problems with aggressive behaviour (201) and was subsequently 
started on Carbamezepine as well as her major tranquilisers to help 
try and manage her behavioural problems (207). Eventually she 
ended up in a specialist psychiatric residential home by the summer 
of 1997. As she continued to have regular Depixol injections through 
1998 although on 21st July the dose was reduced because of 
reported sleepiness (221). This appeared to be her last dose of 
Depixol, which was subsequently withdrawn by the psycho-geriatric 
team on 6th August (222). This was as a result of a visit by the 
community psychiatric nurse, part of the psycho-geriatric team, who 
saw the patient on Daedalus Ward. The psycho-geriatric team also 

th either saw the patient or contacted the ward on 12 August (222). 

From a medical as opposed to psychiatric perspective there had been 
a number of problems including rectal bleeding in 1993 and 1994 and 
known diabetes, controlled by diet since at least 1995 (381). She had 
a previous pneumonectomy many years before for possible 
tuberculosis. In 1995 she had problems with an oesophageal 
stricture (201) and was put on long term Omeperazole. 

On 31 st July 1998 she was admitted as an emergency to the Queen 
Alexander Hospital. The letter from the admitting GP (69) states that 
she had had a urinary tract infection and had fallen the night before 
and was now refusing fluids. Medical clerking (85-86) notes that Mrs 
Wilkie was pyrexial but there were no other specific abnormalities 
apart from conjunctivitis noted on examination. The diagnosis was of 
a urinary tract infection which had not responded to oral antibiotics. 

Various investigations are undertaken but her blood tests are normal 
(87) and a sample of urine from her catheter grows nothing (101). 
Her blood glucose is appropriately requested, she is thought to be 
diabetic but was never measured or reported (91). She is known to 
have a long term catheter (24, 86). There is no biochemical evidence 
of dehydration with a normal sodium urea and creatinine (91). 

The nursing notes also document her admission pyrexia and 
undertake a nutritional assessment which show that she is at high 
risk (33, 34). She is also noted to be almost completely dependent 

st th with a Barthel score of 1 on 31 July and a 2 on 5 August (22). The 
temperature chart shows that she becomes apyrexial by 1st August 
(39). 

On the 3rd August she is apyrexial and is on subcutaneous fluids but 
had 500 mls of oral intake the previous day. The plan was to stop the 
subcutaneous fluids (88). 
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3.8. 

3.9. 

3.10. 

3.11. 

3.12. 

3.13. 

3.14. 

The nursing notes demonstrate that she has settled by 1st August 
(24) and also comments that she is sleeping well on 3rd August (23). 

The next medical notes are on the unnumbered sheets where 
[.~.~,~.g..~i is seen by a consultant, [~_~-_a~_;~;~ion 4th August. However, this 
history sheet is marked GWM. It is difficult to be certain but I assume 
this was added when the patient was transferred to the Gosport War 
Memorial Hospital on 6th August because Mrs Wilkie must have been 
seen on 4th August in the Queen Alexander Hospital. 

[2~2~?.1)_-_;~2i refers as diagnosis - see problem sheet, I believe this is the 
sheet (83) which summarises the problems as dementia, urinary tract 
infection, dehydration and catheterised. [._.__C._o..d..e_._A._._.i notes summarise 
the very severe dementia and dependency and the current functional 
status. The plan is then made to continue the oral antibiotic, to 
continue the subcutaneous fluids (although it had already been 
decided the day before to stop these) (88) and states the overall 
prognosis as poor and that [~i~i~�_-.~i~i~i~iiis now too dependent to return 
to her residential home. She is therefore to be transferred to 
Deadalus Ward for continuing care, observation and possible 
placement, although she does ask that her bed is kept at the 
residential home for a further period. [.-.~_-.;.~a.-;_~.~ confirms the do not 
resuscitate status of [~i~i~.�_-.~i#~i~i~ii (UN) previously made by the medical 
team in the Queen Alexander Hospital (88). 

::::::::::::::::::::: s transferred on 6th August. There is a very brief note in 
the medical notes that she is to continue the Augmentin. There is no 
evidence that she is on subcutaneous fluids at that time or that any 
subcutaneous fluids are given at the Gosport War Memorial Hospital. 

On 10th August, the consultant, [:i:.~?))i~.::-jreviews ::::::::::::::::::::: and notes 
that she has improved a little and that she is now eating and drinking 
better but remains very confused and highly dependent. The request 
is that the residential place is given up, and a plan is made to review 
in a month’s time the possibility of a long term nursing home 
placement. 

The next medical note is on [~_~.:.~..~i.~_:~.:_~_iin i: ...... C_._o..d..e__A. ....... ihandwriting 
which states marked deterioration over the last few days. 
Subcutaneous analgesia commenced yesterday, family aware and 
happy. Someone has written in a different handwriting "syringe 
driver" on the photocopied page. 

The final note is on L._._._.C_..o._d._.e_...A_. ..... iat 1830 where charge nurse confirms 
death. The family were present. 
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3.15. 

3.16. 

3.17. 

3.18. 

3.19. 

Nursing notes at the Gosport War Memorial state that on admission 
that she is for assessment and observation (115) and document that 
she has a Waterlow score of 15 on admission which is high risk (123) 
and "does have pain at times" (117). Although the signature is 
unreadable in the medical notes, the nursing contact record (125) 
confirms that it was a ii~ii~_~_.~-~i] who admitted [._._._C_.o_..d._e._..A._._._i into the 
Gosport War Memorial Hospital on 6th August. The contact record 
also states that on 17th August that her condition has generally 
deteriorated over the weekend, the daughter seen and aware that 
mum’s condition is worsening, agrees active treatment not 
appropriate and to use syringe driver. [~.~}-~-~i is in pain. The 
notes also comment that there is some food and fluid intake up until 
18th August (129). 

There is a single drug chart (57-64) that goes from her admission on 
31st July to [_~_~i#_~i~_~~_._~]" 

The PRN side, a Promazine syrup 25mgs orally is prescribed as is 
magnesium hydroxide neither of which are given. Haloperidol 2.5 - 
10 mgs subcutaneously is also prescribed and single dose of 2.5 mgs 
is given at 2045 on 1st August in the Queen Alexander Hospital. 

Regular prescriptions of Prozac, Co-danthramer, Zopiclone, 
Lactulose and Augmentin are written up. Zopiclone and Co- 

th danthramer certainly continue until 15 August and the Augmentin 
until 9th August. 

Diamorphine 20 - 200 mgs subcut in 24 hours is written up on the 
daily review prescriptions part of the drug chart together with 
Hyoscine 20 - 80 micrograms subcut in 24 hours and Midazolam 20 
- 80 mgs subcut in 24 hours although there is nothing to say which 
days the prescriptions was written up. However, Diamorphine 30 
mgs and Midazolam 20 mgs appear to have both been started at 

th 1350 in a syringe driver on 20 August and the same does re- 
prescribed on 21 st August. 
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TABLE 

Drug 

Diamorphine 

20 - 200 mgs 

Midazolam 

20 - 80 mg 

Date Prescribed 

No date 

No date 

Prescribed as 

Daily review 
prescriptions 

Daily review 
prescriptions 

Prescriber 

i Code A 

Given 

30 mgs 20/08 

30 mgs 21/08 

20 mgs 20/08 

20 mgs 21/08 

4. TECHNICAL BACKGROUND / EXAMINATION OF THE FACTS IN ISSUE 

4.1. This section will consider there were any actions or omissions by 
the medical team, nursing staff or attendant GP’s that contributed 
to the demise of[ ...... -~;;a;~, ....... i in particular, whether beyond 
reasonable doubt, the actions or omissions more than minimally, 
negligibly or trivially contributed to death. 

4.2. ii[i[i[i#~[a[~i~i[i[i~vas a very elderly lady with severe end-stage 
Alzheimer’s disease. This disease is documented in the notes for 
at least 6 years with increasing behavioural problems requiring 
both pharmacological intervention and specialist residential care. 

4.3. She also had a number of medical problems in particular her 
oesophageal stricture and diabetes although this diagnosis was 
completely ignored in her final admission. Although her admission 
to Queen Alexander is presented as an acute UTI there had 
probably been a longer period of deterioration. The GP’s letter 
documents weight loss and her dose of Depixol had been reduced 
10 days earlier because of sleepiness. However, there is no 
doubt she was pyrexial on admission and her condition had 
significantly deteriorated to the point where she could not be 
managed in the residential home. 

4.4. She was appropriately investigated and treated with antibiotics 
and subcutaneous fluids in the Queen Alexander Hospital and 
becomes apyrexial. She is seen by a consultant Geriatrician who 
makes an adequate assessment and arranges for [ ...... ~;~;;4---]to 
be transferred to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital for a period 
of observation to determine a final outcome. 

4.5. The consultant states the prognosis is poor, this usually means 
that the expected outcome is the patient is not going to leave 
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4.6. 

4.7. 

4.8. 

4.9. 

4.10. 

hospital and really is in the terminal phase of their illness. 
Although it is quite appropriate to have a plan that should that not 
be the case a long term nursing placement might be needed as 
she was not far too dependent to return to her residential home. I 
believe this was all appropriate management. 

The patient is transferred to Gosport War Memorial on 6th August 
and the admission clerking is unacceptably brief. Indeed it is not 
clear the admitting doctor, a [._._.c_.o_~.e_.~_._.isaw the patient although the 
nursing cardex does refer to "clerked in". It is impossible from the 
notes to make a judgement of the clinical status of i222~.;_~Efi222] on 
arrival. 

However, she is reviewed by .’[.~#.~.~.~.~_~] on 10th August who does an 
assessment and this would suggest that she is now clinically 
stable as [~}~_X.-~]remarks "eating and drinking better". The plan 
is to review progress in a month’s time. 

There is n.o._’Lh_.i_.n_.g_._f._u_~_h._~r in the medical notes until the day of her 
death, the [_._._C_..o.__d._.e_.._A_._.jwhich states a marked deterioration over 
the last few days. Her syringe driver had been started the day 
before. 

There are clues in the nursing records that deterioration must 
have started several days before, for example in the contact 
record on 17th August (125) states her condition has generally 
deteriorated over the weekend, however, there is no evidence at 
all that this lady was seen by the medical staff, or if they did, no 
record has been written in the notes. However, it is also 
impossible to tell from the notes whether the nursing staff 
informed the medical staff that there had been any change in 
condition. 

A syringe driver is started on 20th August. There is absolutely no 
documentation as to the clinical reason to do this. There is one 
comment in the nursing notes about pain at times (1 17) but no 
evidence from the drug chart of any other analgesia apart from the 
syringe driver is needed or used. In my view the failure to 
document any medical reasons for her deterioration or why she 
was started on a syringe driver is unacceptable medical practice. 
I cannot exclude the possibility that she needed symptom 
palliation during her last few days but there is no evidence that I 
can find in the medical or nursing notes to justify use of the 
syringe driver. 
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OPINION 

Diamorphine 30 mgs in 24 hours and Midazolam 20 mgs in 24 
hours were started on 20th August. The prescriptions are not 
dated so it is impossible to tell when they were originally written, it 
is also impossible to tell who made the final decision to start the 
Diamorphine on 20th August or indeed who chose the starting 
dose of 30 mgs when 20 mgs was the lowest dosed prescribed. 

30 mgs of Diamorphine by subcutaneous infusion is equivalent to 
oral morphine at 15 mgs every 4 hours. In my view this is an 
unnecessarily high dose for someone who has received no 
previous opiate analgesia or indeed any other analgesia. 
Midazolam is a sedative which can be suitable for a very restless 
patient and is usually initially given in a dose of 20 mgs in 24 
hours although some believe the dose should be much lower (5- 
20 mgs in older people, in particularly the most frail). There is 
nothing in the notes to explain why it was thought that both 
Midazolam and a high dose of Diamorphine were required in this 
patient. In my view the doses of Diamorphine and Midazolam 
were unacceptably high as a starting dose from the evidence 
available in the notes. There would have been a very significant 
risk of over sedation, for example causing respiratory depression, 
impaired conciousness and a possibility of shortening her life by 
some hours or days. 

C~#~#~.X_~!0 a 92 year old lady with severe end-stage Alzheimer’s 
disease who was certainly entering the terminal phase of her disease 
at the time of her admission with pyrexial illness, possibly a UTI, on 
31 July 1998. 

Her investigations and management in the Queen Alexandra Hospital 
were generally acceptable. It was appropriate to transfer her to the 
Gosport War Memorial Hospital. 

The documentation of her medical care was inadequate and in my 
view unacceptable medical practice in the Gosport War Memorial 
Hospital. In particular: 

¯ The lack of a documented medical assessment on admission. 
¯ The lack of any medical records after 10th August until the day of 

her death. 
¯ The lack of any description of why she was deteriorating sometime 

after 10th August. 
¯ The failure to explain why a syringe driver was required for 

symptom control. 
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¯ The lack of any written justification of the doses of Diamorphine 
and Midazolam actually used in the syringe driver. 

¯ Any observations to look for possible side effects of the high 
doses of Diamorphine and Midazolam used. 

¯ Inability to tell from the notes who made the final decision to start 
the syringe driver and the dose to be used. 

The use of the drug chart in the Gosport War Memorial Hospital is 
also significantly deficient. In particular: 

¯ The prescription of a large range of a controlled drug (in particular, 
Diamorphine) in the "daily review prescriptions" side of the drug 
chart. 

¯ The failure to write dosages of controlled drugs in words and 
figures as well as the total dosages to be given. 

¯ The failure to date the prescriptions of Diamorphine, Hyoscine and 
Midazolam. 

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

i~’_~_-.122~i~_2222~i was a 72 year old lady with known bowel disease, cardiac disease 
and chronic abdominal pain who was admitted with severe left hemiplegia, 
probable myocardial infarction and continued myocardial ischemia. 

She has a difficult and complex admission to the Haslar and was lucky to survive 
immediate admission. 

There is some evidence of poor medical practice in Haslar. 

Documentation and management of her medical care was inadequate and in my 
view unacceptable medical practice in the Gosport War Memorial Hospital. 

The use of the drug chart in the Gosport War Memorial Hospital is also significantly 
deficient. 

1. INSTRUCTIONS 

To examine the medical records, and comment upon the standard of care afforded 
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
page of evidence. For the three volumes: number / 1, number / 2 and 
number / 3) 

3.1. [i~i~i~i~i~i###~.x_-i~i~i~i~i~ijwas a 72 year old lady at the time of her death in the 
Gosport War Memorial Hospital on 22 May 1999. She had a long 
past medical hist.gry including diverticular disease diagnosed in 1982 
(24/1), appendisectomy in 1967, various arthritic pains, atrial 
fibrilation from 1994 (854/2), asthma needing inhalers and a gastric 
ulcer in 1994 (753/2). 
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However as a result of abdominal pain she undergoes a Sigmoid 
colectomy in 1995. This is complicated by what is eventually found to 
be an colo-vaginal fistula and she undergoes a further laparotomy 
(135-36/1) after which she is very ill and needs a period of time in the 
intensive care unit. However, she does eventually return home 
although continues to get chronic abdominal pain with normal 
investigations (113/1) including a normal CT (121/1) and is finally 
referred to the pain clinic for her chronic abdominal pain although she 
does not receive the appointment before her final admission to 
Hasler. 

26th April 1999 she is admitted acutely to Hasler Hospital through the 
A&E department for both the onset of a left hemiplegia together with 
constant chest pain (114-117/1). The medical notes document her 
stormy admission (174-205/1). On 28th April she has chest pain with 
both EGC and cardiac enzyme abnormalities (179/1) suggesting an 
acute myocardial infarction and is admitted to the coronary care unit. 
Subsequently she has probable aspiration pneumonia on 30th April 
(183/1) and possibly a further MI, certainly with more chest pain on 
5th May (192/1 ). 

Nursing notes confirm her serious condition. On 5th and 6th May she 
is agitated and distressed needing doses of Diamorphine. On 6th 

May she is seen by [~.-_0.-_~l~.-_~j (194/1) who finds her extremely unwell 
and certainly not fit for rehabilitation or transfer to the Gosport War 
Memorial Hospital. She has more chest pain on 10th May (197/1) and 
the family are seen on 12th May and the poor prognosis is explained 
(200/1). On 12th May she is reviewed by ~_ai~.~i.] (67/1) who notes 
she has a dense flaccid hemiplegia and very dysarthric speech 
although she can obey simple commands. She is tolerating naso- 
gastric feeding but because of her recent chest pain was certainly not 
stable for transfer yet. 

The nursing notes said that she was stressed and agitated on 15th 
May (95/1) and required subcutaneous Diamorphine, however, on 

th 16th May (98/1) she slept well without it. On 17 May she is very 
demanding and continually disturbing other patients with calling out. 
On 18th May she has general aches and pains despite regular Co- 
codamol, although on 19th May (91/1) she is settled and slept all 
night. Her blood tests confirm her poor health with a very low 
albumin of 23 and a raised white cell count of 16 (201/1) on 13th May. 
She remains pyrexial on 17th May with crepitations at her left base 
and an albumin of 22 and a white cell count of 14 (203/1). 

She is transferred after discussion with the Gosport War Memorial 
Hospital (GWMH). But the transfer letter written on the 19th (69/1) 
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fails to mention that she is receiving regular Co-dydramol, although it 
does state she is on Diamorphine 5 mgs subcutaneous PRN for pain. 

The drug chart from Haslar appears on pages (71-72/1) and (550- 
560/2). She is written up for Diamorphine 2.5mg IV 4hourly PRN on 
the lS’ May, changed to 5mg SC PRN from the 13th May and receives 
12 doses in total between the 5th of May and the 16th May. She is 
also written up for Co-codamol 2 tablets QDS on the 26th April and 
receives regular doses until the 29th April. Co-dydramol is started on 
the 17th May and continues until the 19th. According to the drug chart 
no drugs of any sort are given on the morning of the 20th May, the 
day she is transferred. 

The medical receiving notes on 20th May (20/3) comprise a brief 
summary starting with "transfer to Daedalus Ward 555K". It 
documents that she had a left dense hemiplegia, her past medical 
history and her current Barthel. Her examination is recorded. So 
there is no other medical note and the next note is a nursing note on 
22nd May verifying death by a nurse. I do not understand the 555K 
note. 

The nursing cardex records her transfer at 1340 on 20th May. It 
records her NG feeding and slurred speech but Mrs Stevens 
appeared quite alert and aware of her surroundings (26/3). A Barthel 
is recorded at 1 (32/3), a Waterlow of 25 (30/3) and an abbreviated 
mental test score of 4 out of 10 (33/3). The nursing contact sheet 
starts on 21st May (34/3) at 1130. It is possible that the contacts 
sheet for the 20th May is missing. This sheet records that "now on 
regular (4 hourly Oramorphine 10 mgs in 5 mls)". At 1800 she has 
been "uncomfortable despite 4 hourly Diamorphine. Husband seen 
and care discussed, very upset, agreed to commence syringe driver 
at an equivalent dose to Oramorphine with Midazolam, aware of poor 
outlook but anxious that medication given should not shorten her life. 
At 1945 commenced syringe driver". On 22nd May condition 
deteriorating, very bubbly, on Hyoscine 800 mgs added to 20 mgs of 
Diamorphine and 20 mgs Midazolam. With Hyoscine increased to 
1600 is very bubbly at 1020 (35/3). 

The handling profile (42/3) under the client risk factor ’pain’ states 
"abdominal pain". The nursing care plan of 20th May (58/3) 
documents problems with the nasal gastric tube and the night care 
plan (60/3) states that on 20th May, Oramorphine 2.5 mls given as per 
cardex, complaining of pain in stomach and arm. 

The drug chart has Oramorphine in 10 mgs in 5 mls, oral 5 mgs 4 
st hourly enough to start on 21 May, however, only two doses are 

given at 1000 and 1400 and the other doses are omitted. It also has 
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Oramorphine 10 mgs in 5 mls for 10 mls nocte to start on 21st May 
also written as a regular prescription but again this is never given. 
Oramorphine 10 mgs in 5 mls orally 2.5 - 5 mls 4 hourly as required 
is written up on 20th May, 5 mgs are given on 4 doses as documented 
in Table 1. Diamorphine 20 - 200 mgs SIC in 24 hours is written up 
on 20th May on the as requiredpart of the drug chart and started at 
1920 on 21st May, 0830 on 22n’~ May and restarted again with the 
increase of dose of Hyoscine at 1030 on 22nd May. Midazolam 20 - 
80 mgs subcut in 24 hours in written up on 20th May as required and 
20 mgs is started at 1920 on 21st May at 0800 on 22nd May and again 
restarted at 20 mgs at 1030 on 22nd May. 

TABLE 1 

Prescribed as Prescriber Drug 

Diam o}-phin e 

2.5 mg IV PRN 01/05 

changed to: 

5mg SC PRN 13/05 

As required 

Oramorphine 

10 mgs in 5 mls 

For 10mls nocte 

to start 21/05 

Oramorphine 

10 mgs in 5 mls 

Oral 5 mls 4 hourly 

to start 21/05 

Oramorphine 

Regular 

Regular 

As required 

Code A i 

Given Doses 

05/05 xl 

06/05 x2 

08/05 x2 

09/05 xl 

10/05 xl 

12/05 xl 

13/05 xl 

15/05 x2 

16/05 xl 

Never given 

21/05 1000 10mgs 

21/5 1400 10mgs 

(other doses not given) 

20/05 1430 5 mgs 
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10 mgs in 5 mls 

Oral 2.5 - 5 mls 

20/05 4 hourly 

Diamorphine 

20 - 200 mgs 

S/C in 24 hours 

20/05 

Midazolam 

20 - 80 mgs 

S/C in 24 hours 

20/05 

(PRN) 

As required 

(PRN) 

As required 

(PRN) 

i Code A 

20/05 1830 5 mgs 

20/05 2245 5 mgs 

21/05 0735 5 mgs 

21/05 1920 20 mgs 

22/05 0830 20 mgs 

22/05 1030 20 mgs 

21/05 1900 20 mgs 

22/05 0800 20 mgs 

22/05 1030 20 mgs 

4. TECHNICAL BACKGROUND / EXAMINATION OF THE FACTS IN ISSUE 

4.1. This section will consider if there were any actions or omissions 
by the medical team, nursing staff or attendant GP’s that 
contributed to the demise of [ ......... -~;;J;~,- ......... i, in particular, whether 
beyond reasonable doubt, the actions or omissions more than 
minimally, negligibly or trivially contributed to death. 

4.2. [i~i~i~i~i#~i~e_-i~i~i~i~i~was 72 at the time of her final admission to the 
Gosport War Memorial Hospital although she had long standing 
cardiac and gastrointestinal problems and had been very seriously 
ill needing intensive care during 1995. She also had chronic 
unexplained abdominal pain and with recent negative 
investigations she had been referred to a chronic pain clinic for 
management. 

4.3. However, her acute admission was with a severe and dense left 
sided stroke on 26th April. She had also had constant chest pain 
that day and when she had further chest pain on 28th April, it 
seems likely that she had a definite myocardial infarction 
simultaneously with her stroke. She then suffered from probable 



GMC100106-0114 

.C_£.d_#_._A._._._i Report Version 3 by [ Code A i- April 1 st 2008 

aspiration pneumonia and was extremely ill for several days 
including having further chest pain. 

4.4. Nursing and medical notes document that the family is seen and 
indeed the medical staff think that it is likely that she is going to 
die. Certainly she is restless and distressed and in my view 
probably clinically unstable certainly until 17th May as she still had 
abnormal signs in her chest, pyrexial and had a raised white count 
with a very low albumin. There is to be no doubt that her 
prognosis was extremely poor both from the likelihood of surviving 
or even getting significant improvement from her stroke. 

4.5. During her admission to Hasler she is written up on the PRN side 
of the drug chart for 2.5 ms IV then 5 mgs SC PRN of 
Diamorphine. This would be a standard regime for people 
suffering myocardial infarction with recurrent cardiac pain. The 
drug is given on a number of occasions in Haslar sometimes for 
pain and sometimes for non-specific distress, judging from the 
nursing cardex. It would be perfectly appropriate to use this dose 
of Diamorphine if she was getting recurrent pain as it would not be 
possible to intervene in other ways because of her stroke. It 
seems likely that a clinical management decision (not recorded) 
was made on the 17th May to stop using Diamorphine and restart 
a regular oral analgesic, Co-dydramol, given via the NG tube. No 
further doses of Diamorphine are given in Haslar after 00.10 early 

th on the morning of the 16 May. 

4.6. She is seen on two occasions by Geriatricians, who both think she 
was unstable at that time and not yet suitable for transfer. I would 
strongly agree. Indeed there is then a further a discussion before 
it is agreed that she will go to the GWMH. In my view she was 
likely to be still unstable and it will have been clinically prudent to 
keep her for another week in Haslar. There can be no doubt that 
she is getting continued pain. She is written up for 6 hourly Co- 
dydramol which she received 4 times a day for the 2 days before 
her transfer to GWMH. 

4.7. The drug chart appears to show poor prescribing practice at 
Haslar as the dose of Diamorphine is not written in words as well 
as figures nor is the total dose to be given written on the drug 
chart. There is no evidence she was given her regular medication, 
including oral analgesia, on the morning of her transfer and the 
Co-dydramol is not mentioned on the transfer letter. 

4.8. There is a summary of the clinical problems functional status upon 
arrival at GWMH but it is not clear from the notes whether the 
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patient was examined, and if she was, the examination was not 
recorded. There is no medical assessment on whether or not she 
is pain, and if she is in pain why she is pain, nor of her clinical 
status upon arrival in particularly as she had been so ill recently. 
In my view this is poor clinical practice. 

She is not written up for the Co-dydramol that she was on 
regularly at Haslar although it was not mentioned in the transfer 
letter. On the PRN part of the drug chart doses of Oramorphine 
are written up orally and a large range of Diamorphine and 
Midazolam is written up as required There is no documentation in 
the medical notes at Gosport War Memorial Hospital as to why 
these drugs were written up upon admission without apparently a 
clinical assessment of her pain or clinical status. Nor is there any 
explanation of why no other analgesics apart from strong opiates 
were prescribed. One note in the nursing cardex refers to 
abdominal pain which of course may have been the same pain 
that she had for many years prior to her admission. In general the 
Diamorphine she had received at Hasler had been for chest pain 
and further angina. There is no evidence in the medical or 
nursing cardex that she has any acute cardiac problems or angina 
in GWMH. In my view this management was poor clinical practice 

She receives her first dose of Oramorphine at 1430, only 45 
minutes after the nursing cardex records her arrival and then 
receives a further 3 doses until the morning of 21st. It is not clear 
whether it was a nursing or medical decision to actually give the 
Oramorphine. 

On 21 st May a decision is made that she is dying and she should 
be for symptom control with a syringe driver. Including the two 

st doses given on the morning of 21 May she had received in total 
40 mgs of Oramorphine in a 24 hour period. In these 
circumstances and assuming the patient was still distressed then 
it would be reasonable to start with 20 mgs of Diamorphine in a 
syringe driver over 24 hours. However, in my view it is 
unacceptable clinical practice to give the doses of Oramorphine in 
the first 24 hours after her arrival and start the syringe driver 
without making and recording a clinical assessment in the medical 
notes. 

There are significant irregularities with the drug charts. 
Oramorphine has been written up on the regular side of the drug 
chart but not actually prescribed with no note to say why. A large 
range of Diamorphine is written up on the PRN part of the drug 
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OPINION 

chart before it is required and it is not written in words or figures 
nor is the total dose written. 

Midazolam is a sedative which can be suitable for very restless 
patients and is usually given initially in a dose of 20 mgs in 24 
hours although some people believe the dose should be much 
lower (5 - 20 mgs in older people, in particular the most frail). 
There is nothing in the notes to explain why it was thought that 
both Midazolam and Diamorphine were required in this patient. In 
my view the regular doses of Oramorphine and then the syringe 
driver together with the 20 mgs of Midazolam would have given a 
risk of over sedation for example causing respiratory depression 
in this lady who already had severe heart, lung and neurological 
disease. 

i_~_~.~_~#_~.~a_~_~~_~_~_~j was a 72 year old lady with known bowel disease, 
cardiac disease and chronic abdominal pain who was admitted with a 
severe left hemiplegia, probable myocardial infarction and continued 
myocardial ischemia. 

She has a difficult and complex admission to the Haslar and was 
lucky to survive immediate admission. 

There is some evidence of poor medical practice in Haslar. In 
particular: 

¯ Use of the drug chart in Hasler with the failure to write controlled 
doses of drugs in word and figures as well as the total dosages to 
be given. 

¯ The apparent failure to give her regular medication, including oral 
analgesia, on the morning of her transfer to the GWMH. 

¯ The failure to document the regular Co-dydramol in the transfer 
letter. 

¯ The early transfer of a patient who had been seriously ill and 
clinically unstable to the short period before transfer. 

Documentation of her medical care was inadequate and in my view 
unacceptable medical practice in the Gosport War Memorial Hospital. 
In particular: 

Lack of a documented medical assessment on admission. 
Lack of any recorded assessment of her clinical condition and in 
particular her source of pain. 
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¯ Starting regular opioid analgesia within an hour of admission and 
a syringe driver within 24 hours of admission ,without any medical 
records of justification for either regular strong opioid analgesia or 
a syringe driver. 

¯ The failure to prescribe any analgesia other than the strong opiate 
analgesia on admission to the GWMH. 

¯ The lack of a written justification requiring both Diamorphine and 
Midazolam in the syringe driver. 

5.5. The use of the drug chart in the Gosport War Memorial Hospital is 
also significantly in deficient. In particular: 

¯ The failure to give regularly the drugs prescribed on the regular 
side of the drug chart without explanation in medical or nursing 
notes. 

¯ Prescription of a large range of a controlled drug in the "as 
required" side of the drug chart. 

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
Where, in my view, there is a range of reasonable opinion, I have 
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

iiiiiiii.e_. i  i iiiiiii was a 92-year-old lady admitted to the Haslar Hospital on 19th 

March 1999 following a fall. She undergoes an operation for a proximal femoral 
fracture and then transferred to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital on 26th March 
1999. She is known to have become increasingly frail with poor eyesight, 
depression and mild memory impairment. 

In the Gosport War Memorial Hospital she is in continual pain for which no definite 
diagnosis is made. She develops a wound infection and then deteriorates rapidly 
and receives pain relief and palliation for her terminal decJ!._n._.e_.~._i._n._.c_.[.u_._d_i._n._g’ 

subcutaneous Diamorphine and Midazolam and dies on 

However there were failings in the medical care provide to [[i[i[i[i~-_O.-~i~[~[i[i[i[ii also 
deficiencies in the use of the drug chart at the Gosport War Memorial Hospital 

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

Was the standard of care afforded to this patient in the days leading up to 
her death in keeping with the acceptable standard of the day. 
If the care is found to be suboptimal what treatment should normally have 
been proffered in this case. 

3. CHRONOLOGY/CASE ABSTRACT. (The numbers in brackets refer to the 
page of evidence; ’M’ in front are the microfilm notes). 

3.1 At the time of her death in 1999 L ........ ..C..o_d_.e_..A_ ......... iwas a 92-year-old lady. She 
had been previously noted to have a stress fracture of her right hip, not 
needing operative intervention in 1981. (M38). She was also noted to have 
Paget’s disease in her pelvis in 1988 (M39). She had a probably myocardial 
infarction in 1989 (M6). In 1997 she had been seen by a [ Co,~eA i a 
Consultant Psycho-Geriatrician, for depression (144). He also noted poor 
eyesight (145). At that time she was on an anti-depressant and was noted 
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3.2 

3.3 

3.4 

3.5 

3.6 

3.7 

to have a normal mini-mental test score of 27/30 (148). She was followed 
up by a Community psychiatric nurse over the following year who believed 
that she was now showing evidence of memory impairment (152) (158). 

Enid Spurgin was admitted to the Haslar Hospital on the 19th March1999 
following a fall, was diagnosed as having a proximal femoral fracture, treated 
by an operation "a dynamic hip screw", on 20th March 1999 (20). The notes 
for Haslar are not currently available to me, the only information is the hand 
written one page summary that says post operatively she can be mobilised 
from bed to chair with two nurses and can walk short distances with a 
Zimmer frame. It noted she has been incontinent at night and has a small 
sore on the back of her right leg, which is swollen. This letter states that the 
only medication she is on is Paracetamol prn. The only nursing information 
from Haslar is an admission assessment and pressure sore assessment on 
19th March (64 & 66). 

The next medical notes we have until her death, are written on a single page 
from Gosport Hospital (24). This states that the patient was transferred to 
Dryad Ward on 26th March, with a history of a fractured neck of femur and no 
significant past medical history. The medical notes state she was not weight 
bearing, she was not continent, tissue paper skin. The medical plan was 
"sort out analgesia". 

The next medical note is on the 7th April, "still in a lot of pain and very 
apprehensive. MST increased to 20 mgs bd yesterday, try adding 
Flupenthixol. For x-ray of right hip as movement still quite painful - also 
about 2" shortening right leg." 

The next medical note is 12th April, "now very drowsy (since Diamorphine 
infusion established) reduced to 40 mgs per 24 hours, if pain recurs increase 
to 60mgs". Able to move hips ? (illegible) pain, patient not rousable. Final 
note is dated 1.15 am [.__C.£._d._e._...A_._i Died peacefully. 

Nursing notes from i~i~i~i~i~i~i_~i~i~i~i~ii admission on 26th March continually refer 
to pain. The first night she has difficulty in moving, Oramorphine is given 
(80). The admission care plan mentions she was experiencing a lot of pain 
and movements (84). The desired outcome is "to eliminate pain if possible 
and keep [_c..o..~_.~icomfortable, which should facilitate easier movement and 
mobilisation". 27th March, "is having regular Oramorphine but still in pain" 
(84). 28th March (84)"has been vomiting with Oramorph, advised by [~iii~Ai 
[._-~..X._-.i to stop Oramorph is now having Metoclopramide three times a day 
and Co-dydramol". 

On 29th (85) pain needed to be reviewed and on 31 st March 10 mgs bd of 
MST (Morphine slow release tablets) is documented. "! ...... _C_.£.d._e_._A._ ....... i walked 
with the Physiotherapist but was in a lot of pain". She was still having pain 
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3.9 

on 1st and 3rd April (85). 

On 4th April (86) it is noted that the wound is now oozing serous fluid and 
blood. On 7th April, it is documented that she was seen by C_~.~_-a_~_~.[~who 
thought the wound site was infected and started i ....... _.C_.o_._d._e._._A._ ...... ion 
Metronidazole and Ciprofloxacin (both antibiotics) (107). On the 8th April, 
her MST is increased to 20 mgs bd, on 9th it is documented that she should 
remain on bed rest until [-8;~-,~-~-~.-] had reviewed the x-ray of the hip. 

[~i~i~i~.e_-i~.A_-i~i~i~i] clinically deteriorates significantly on the 11th April. She is now 
very drowsy and unrousable at times and refusing food and drink (107). The 
wound looks red and inflamed and feels hot (107). As recorded in the 
nursing notes [~.-_a~-_~-_~iis seen by [[I[I#[~I_-.A_-I[I[](107), and a decision is 
made to commence a syringe driver. There is no record in the medical 
notes. 

3.10 

3.11 

3.12 

3.13 

3.14 

3.15 

3.16 

The patient is seen by [-8;~-,~-4,-~.--ion the afternoon of the 12th (108) the 
Diamorphine dosage is reduced. Early morning of [_._C_..o..d_e_...A._.i death is 
confirmed (108). 

Dependency is also confirmed by a Waterlow score of 32 on the 26th March 
(i.e. very high risk for pressure sores) (92) and a Barthel of 6/20 on 29th 

March (94) and 5/20 on 10th April (94). 

Drug management in Gosport concentrating on the use of analgesia: 

At the point of admission Oramorphine 10 mgs in 5 mls (2.5 - 5 mgs 4 
hourly prn) is written up on the "as required" part of the drug chart. Two 
doses in total are documented to have been given on 31 st March and the 
11th April. 

On the regular prescription Oramorphine 2.5 mgs 4 hourly and 5 mgs at 
night is written up, first dose given by 10 am on 26th March (125). This is 
then changed to 5 mgs four hourly with 10 mgs at night up until 28th March, 
then the Oramorphine is then discontinued and Co-dydramol 2 tablets 6 
hourly written and prescribed from 28th March- 1st April (125). 

Metoclopramide 10 mgs three times a day is written up continuously from 
28th March to 11th April, but is only actually given to the patient intermittently. 
Morphine slow release tablets 10 mgs bd (MST) are written up on 31st March 
and given to 6th April. MST 20 mgs bd is written up on 6th April and given to 
11th April. A double dose of MST (one 10 mgs and one 20 mgs) is given on 
the morning of the 6th April. 

Ciprofloxacin 500 mgs bd is written up on 7th April and continued until 11th 
April and Metronidazole 400 mgs bd is also written up on 7th April and given 
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to 11th April. (134) 

Finally, Diamorphine 20 - 100 mgs is written up on 12th April. 80 mgs in a 
syringe driver started at 8 am and according to the drug chart "dose is 
discarded at 16.40 hours and reduced the dosage to 40 mgs in 24 hours". 
The pump is discontinued at 1.30 am on the patient’s death on [i~i~�_-.~.a_-i_~i~i~i~i 
Midazolam 20 - 80 mgs is written and is prescribed. 20 mgs put in the 
syringe driver at 8 am. It appears this was increased to 40 mgs at 16.40 
hours and discontinued at 1.30 am on L...C_£d_._e_._A_.!, 

Drug 
Oramorphine 

Oramorphine 

Oramorphine 

Oramorphine 

Date prescribed 
26/03 

26/03 

26/03 

27/03 

Prescribed as 
10 mgs in 5 mls 
2.5 - 5 mls oral 
PRN 
10 mgs in 5 mls 
2.5 oral 
4 hourly 
Regular 
10 mgs in 5 mls 
5 mgs oral nocte 
Regular 
10 mgs in 5 mls 
5 mgs oral 
4 hourly 
Regular 

Oramorphine 27/03 10 mgs in 5 mls 
10 mls oral nocte 
Regular 

Co-dydromol 27/03 or 28/03 (?) TT 6 hourly oral 
Regular 

Morphine 
MST 

Morphine 
MST 

Diamorphine 

31/03 

06/04 

12/04 

12/04 Midazolam 

NEW CHART 
10 mgs bd 
Oral 
Regular 

20 mgs bd 
Oral 
Regular 

NEW CHART 
20 - 200 mgs 
SC in 24 hours 
Regular 
20 - 80 mgs 
SC in 24 hours 
Regular 

Prescriber Given 
31/03 1320 5 mgs 
11/04 0715 5mgs 

Code A 

Code 

iCodeAi 

27/03 1515 5 mgs 
27/03 1800 5 mgs 
Then crossed off 

27/03 2200 10 mgs 
Then crossed off 

27/03 0600 10 mgs 
27/03 1000 10 mgs 
27/03 1400 10 mgs 
28/03 0600 10 mgs 
28/03 1000 10 mgs 
3 doses missed with no 
explanation. Crossed off. 
27/03 2200 20 mgs 
Crossed off 

Regular doses 4 x a day 
until 1200, 31/08 when 
no further doses given. 
Crossed off 

Started 31/03, 0930 and 
given regularly until last 
dose 06/04, 0800 
crossed off 

Started 06/04, 0800 
given regularly until last 

dose 11/04, 2000. 
Never crossed off 

12/04 0800 80 mgs 
12/04 1640 changed 
to 40 mgs 
12/04 0800 20 mgs 
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
unlawful killing in the care of[ ........ .c__o._d_.e_._.A- ........ 

i Also whether there were any 
actions or omissions by the medical team, nursing staff or attendant GP’s 
that contributed to the demise of ii~i~i~i~_i~#~4~i~i~i~ii in particular, whether 
beyond reasonable doubt, the actions or omissions more than minimally, 
negligibly or trivially contributed to death. 

4.2 It is difficult to provide a comprehensive opinion in the absence of the 
Haslar notes and the very sparse nature of the Gosport notes. 

4.3 [~.~_~_~i a very elderly lady of 92 years, had a number of chronic 
conditions including poor eyesight, depression, mild memory impairment, 
ischaemic heart disease, previous fracture of her right hip and known 
Paget’s disease of her pelvis. She had a fall at home resulting in a 
further proximal femoral fracture and required a dynamic hip screw. This 
would have been a more complex procedure because of the previous 
fracture and the possibility that there was Paget’s disease in her femur. 
However, from the one page summary from Haslar, it would appear that 
she was making reasonable progress at the point of transfer to Gosport. 
The prognosis in a 92 year old lady with her previous problems, that she 
would be likely to return to independent existence at home, would 
already be extremely low. 

4.4 The problem documented in Gosport on the point of admission is 
continued pain, this is difficult to reconcile with the one page summary 
from Haslar, which says thati ....... ..�_0_d_.e_._A_. ...... i is purely on intermittent 
Paracetamol. There are various possibilities. She may have been 
undertreated for pain in Haslar, she may have had a dislocation in the 
ambulance transferring her (this does occur), she may have been starting 
to develop infection in the wound or she may have had some other 
orthopaedic problem that was not picked up between leaving Haslar and 
arriving in Gosport. I was also unable to find any report of the x-ray that 
was taken at Gosport on 7th April. 

4.5 The medical assessment undertaken in Gosport was inadequate. There 
is no record of a significant history or general examination being 
performed, or if it was it was not recorded. No assessment or 
explanation at all is sought for why this lady is in pain, particularly if she 
had not been in pain in Haslar. The major gaps in the written notes 
particularly on admission represent poor clinical practice. 
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4.6 

4.7 

4.8 

4.9 

However, it was appropriate to provide pain relief to a patient with 
unresolved pain. Normally this would be done in a stepwise fashion, 
starting with the milder pain killers, such as the Paracetamol, she was 
already on in Haslar. Then to stronger oral medication (such as 
moderate opioids) and then to stronger opioid analgesia. However, she 
is started on a regular dosage of stronger opioid analgesia immediately 
from the point of her admission into Gosport. The reason for this is not 
documented and represents poor clinical practice. 

The nursing notes document that her pain does not settle and is 
considerably interfering with her attempts at rehabilitation. She is then 
troubled with vomiting and the opioid analgesia is in fact stopped and 
replaced with oral co-dydramol (a moderate oral opioids). Her vomiting 
does apparently settle but her pain continues, so she is restarted on a 

S~ strong opioid analgesia on 31 March. 

She is seen by a consultant on 7th April, who is appropriately concerned 
that there is continuing pain and arranges for an x-ray. The failure to 
follow up this investigation is poor medical practice There is no record of 
the result of this x-ray in the notes. However, there appears to be a 
working assumption that she may have a wound infection and following 

intervention is appropriately started on antibiotics. On 1 lth April 
there is a rapid deterioration in her condition. This is documented in the 
nursing notes but there is no medical note made on the 1 lth April. The 
nursing notes suggest that she was seen by [ ..... ._c._o.~.e.A._._.3on 11th April, and 
a decision was made to start a syringe driver. However, I do wonder if 
this is incorrect and that she was seen early in the morning of 12th April 
as a syringe driver starts at 8am and not on the 11th April. No medical 
note is made by [i~i~i_~i_-.A_-i~i~iion either the 11th April or the 12th of April, this 
is poor medical practice. 

In view of the clinical deterioration on 11th April, despite the patient 
receiving appropriate antibiotics, I believe it was appropriate to start a 
syringe driver as she was drowsy and unrousable at times, as there is no 
doubt in my view that [~.~.~_-#.~-~.~.~#_~_~.~.iwas now dying. The likeliest cause is 
an unresolved infection in the wound and in her hip but the original cause 
of the pain remains undiagnosed. The opportunity for any possible 
remediation is well past at this stage. Diamorphine is then written up, 
prescribed at 80 mgs per 24 hours. The prescription in the notes was 20 
- 200 mgs of Diamorphine in 24 hours and it is not clear whether [~_~,_-i.~’i 
[~S~~-~i or the nurse in charge choose the dose of 80 mgs. At that time 

_.C_£_d._e._._A_ ...... j was on 20 mgs twice a day (i.e. 40 mgs total) of Morphine 
Sulphate, slow release although received 45 mgs in total on the 11th 
April. Diamorphine subcutaneously is usually given at a maximum ratio 
of 1 - 2 (i.e. up to 20 mgs Diamorphine in 24 hours for 40 mgs of 
Morphine) (Wessex Guidelines). However, her pain was not controlled 
and it would have been appropriate to give a higher dose of 
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Diamorphine. Conventionally this would be 50% greater than the 
previous days, (Wessex Guidelines). Some people might give up to 
100%. Thus a maximum starting dose of Diamorphine of 40 mgs in 24 
hours would seem arguable. [~i~i~i~.e_-i~.A_-i~i~i~iiwas prescribed 80 mgs which 
in my view was excessive, thus poor and negligent medical practice. 
This was reduced to 40 mgs after the intervention of the consultant Lt~:_’iiii 
i_c._o.~_~.~_~, some 8 hours later. This was an appropriate intervention. 

Midazolam was also added to the infusion pump on 12th April. 
Midazolam is widely used subcutaneously in doses from 5 - 80 mgs for 
24 hours and is particularly used for terminal restlessness. The dose of 
Midazolam used was originally 20 mgs for 24 hours which is within 
current guidelines. This was increased to 40 mgs later in the day, which 
although remains within current guidelines, many believe that elderly 
patients may need a lower dose of a maximum 20 mgs in 24 hours 
(Palliative Care. Chapter 23 in Brocklehurst Text Book of Geriatric 
Medicine, 6th edition, 2003). There is no assessment or justification for 
this decision in the medical notes, nor is it possible to tell if this is a 
medical or nursing decision. Morphine is compatible with Midazolam and 
can be used in the same syringe driver. 

4.11 As i~.~_~_~i is thought to have been excessively sedated and the 
dose of Diamorphine is reduced on 12th April, thus the decision to 
increase the dose of Midazolam at the same time seems inexplicable. 

[~i~i~i~.~.e_-i~A_-i~i~i~i] dies on the ~._C__o..d__e._.A._.i. 

4.12 

The prediction of how long a terminally ill patient will live is virtually 
impossible and even palliative care experts show enormous variation 
(Higginson I J and Costantini M. Accuracy of Prognosis Estimates by 4 
Palliative Care teams: A prospective cohort study. BMC Palliative Care 
2002 1:1.) 

In my view the dose of Diamorphine used on 11th was inappropriately 
high, however, I cannot satisfy myself to the standard of "beyond 
reasonable doubt" that this had the definite effect of shortening her life in 
more than a minor fashion of a few hours. I understand the cause of 
death on the death certificate was Cerebrovascular Accident. There is 
nothing in the medical notes to substantiate this diagnosis which is 
misleading and probably inaccurate. 

5. OPINION 

5.1 [~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~iipresents a common problem in geriatric medicine. A very 
elderly lady with a number of chronic conditions is becoming increasingly 
frail and has a fall leading to a proximal femoral fracture. The prognosis 
after such a fracture, particularly in those patients with impairments of daily 
living before their fracture is generally poor, both in terms of mortality or in 
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terms of morbidity and returning to independent existence. Up to 25% of 
patients in such a category will die shortly after their fracture from many 
varied causes and complications. 

5.2 However there were failings in the medical care provide to [~-_0.-~i in 
particular: 

¯ The failure to undertake a clinical assessment of i~_~i_~_~#_~i on 
admission to Gosport War Memorial Hospital. 

¯ The failure to make any diagnosis or assessment of the cause of pain on 
admission and until 7th April. 

¯ The prescription on admission, without explanation, of strong opioid 
analgesia, when apparently she had only need Paracetamol in Hasler. 

¯ The failure to follow up the xray undertaken on the 7th April. 
¯ The failure to document the reason for starting the syringe driver. 
¯ The failure to explain in the notes the decision to start with 80 mgs of 

Diamorphine in the syringe driver, in my view a negligent decision. 
¯ The failure to explain the decision to increase the dose of Midazolam at 

the same time as the Diamorphine is reduced on the 12th April. 
¯ The failure to record a reason to give 2 doses of MST on the morning of 

the 6th April. 
¯ Reporting the cause of death as ’Cerebrovascular Accident’, without any 

clinical evidence. 

5.3 There are also deficiencies in the use of the drug chart at the Gosport War 
Memorial Hospital, in particular: 

¯ The failure to give regularly prescribed dose of Oramorphine, without 
explanation. 

¯ The failure to cross off the MST from the regular drug chart on the 1 lth 
April. 

¯ The use of the regular side of the drug chart for variable doses of drugs 
given in the syringe driver. 

¯ The failure to write dosages of controlled drugs in words and figures as 
well as the total to be given. 

6. EXPERTS’ DECLARATION 

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

_.c_.£_d_.e_..A_ ................... iwas a 67 year old gentleman with a number of chronic 
problems, in particular, gross (morbid) obesity. He is known to have had leg ulcers 
and is admitted with a common complication of severe cellulitis. His immobility and 
infection leads to significant and serious pressure sores in hospital. He develops a 
probable gastric or duodenal ulcer (again common in patients who are seriously ill), 
which continues to bleed slowly, then has a massive gastro-intestinal haemorrhage 
in the Gosport War Memorial Hospital which is eventually the cause of death. 

However there were failings in the medical care provided to i .............. .c_°_..d.e__A.. .............. iand 
also deficiencies in the use of the drug chart at the Gosport War Memorial Hospital. 

1. INSTRUCTIONS 
To examine the medical records and comment upon the standard of care afforded 
to the patient in the days leading up to his death against the acceptable standard of 
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
his death in keeping with the acceptable standard of the day. 
If the care is found to be suboptimal what treatment should normally have 
been proffered in this case. 

3. CHRONOLOGY/CASE ABSTRACT. (The numbers in brackets refer to the 
page of evidence). 

3.1 [~~~_.~j a sixty seven year old gentleman in 1999 was 
admitted as an emergency on the 6th August 1999 to Portsmouth 
Hospitals NHS Trust following an attendance at A&E (40,42). 

3.2 [[i[i[i[i#_-,~[~[~[i~[i[i[i[i~ had suffered from gross (morbid) obesity for many years, he 
had also had venous leg ulceration for at least five years (44), he was 
hypertensive and had a raised prostatic specific antigen, suggesting 
prostatic pathology. (8) 

3.3 Following a fall at home he was completely immobile on the floor and two 
ambulance crews were needed to bring him to accident and emergency 
(42). He was currently receiving District Nursing three times a week for 
leg ulcer management (255). He had become increasingly immobile 
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3.4 

3.5 

3.6 

3.7 

3.8 

complicated by the fact that his wife who lived with him and provided care 
was being investigated for breast cancer. The admission clerking 
showed that he not only had leg ulcers but he had marked cellulitis, was 
pyrexial and in atrial fibrillation. Cellulitis was both in his groin and the 
left lower limb (45). He was totally dependent needing all help (143) with 
a Barthel of 0 (163). His white cell count was significantly raised at 25.7 
(48), his liver function tests were abnormal with an AST of 196 and his 
renal function was impaired with a urea of 14.9 and a creatinine of 173 
(47). These had all been normal earlier in the year. He was treated with 
intravenous antibiotics (45)in a special bed (187). 

He appeared to make some progress and on 9th August his cellulitis was 
settling (48). A Haemolytic Streptococcus sensitive to the penicillin he 
had been prescribed was identified (225). On 11th August the nursing 
cardex (134) stated that there appeared to have been a deterioration of 
his heel ulcers with a "large necrotic blister on the left heel". His 
haemoglobin on 12th August (211) was 13.5. 

On 13th August white count was improved at 12.4 (50,52), his U’s and E’s 
were normal and the notes recorded a planned transfer to the Gosport 
War Memorial Hospital on 16th August. 

Later on the 13th black bowel motion is noted but the doctor who 
examines him records a brown stool onlYih It is not clear whether he has 
had a gastro intestinal bleed (52). On 16 August no comment is made 
on the possible gastrointestinal (G.I) bleed, but on 20th August his 
haemoglobin is noted to be 12.9 (53) no further black stools have been 
reported so he is planned for transfer on 23re August. Albumin at this 
stage is now reduced at 29 (190). 

On 17th August sacral sores are now noted in the nursing cardex (118) 
which by the 20th are now recorded as "deep and malodorous" (125). 

He is transferred to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital on 23rd August 
(54). A brief history and examination is undertaken which notes that 
there was a history of possible melaena, the clinical examination 
recorded suggests that he is stable. Blood tests are requested for the 
next day. The drug chart (168) suggests that his weight is 148 kgs but it 
is not clear if this is an estimate or a measurement. He is very 
dependent with a Barthel of 6 and a Waterlow score of 18, putting him in 
high risk. His haemoglobin on 24th is 12 (207). The nursing cardex on 
the 24th notes the multiple complex pressure sores on both the buttocks 
and the sacrum (96-100). 
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3.9 

3.10 

3.11 

3.12 

3.13 

On 25th August the nursing cardex reports that he is passing blood 
rectally and also vomiting (62, 82). 

On 26th August L_._._c._o.#_e._~._._.j is asked to see him and records that he is 
clammy and unwell. (55) The notes suggest that he might have had a 
myocardial infarction and suggests treating him with Diamorphine and 
Oramorphine overnight. It records that as an alternative there might be a 
G.I. bleed but this is recorded as unlikely because he has not had 
haematemesis. It also notes that he is not well enough to transfer to an 
acute unit and he should be kept comfortable, including "1 am happy for 
the nursing staff to confirm death". His Clexane (an anticoagulant given to 
prevent pulmonary embolus) is now stopped. The nursing cardex (62) on 
the same day records further deterioration throughout the day with pain in 
his throat and records a verbal request for Diamorphine. A full blood 
count is taken (this fact is not recorded in the notes) but the result is filed 
in the notes recording a haemoglobin markedly reduced at 7.7 (205). It 
also states "many attempts were made to phone Gosport War Memorial 
Hospital but no response from switchboard". These significant results are 
not commented on at any stage in the nursing or clinical notes. 

On 27th August (63) the nursing notes record some improvement in the 
morning but discomfort in the afternoon especially with dressings. On 
28th August both the medical (55) and the nursing records (63) are noted 
to be very poorly with no appetite. Opiates are to continue over the 

th th weekend. 29 August he is sleeping for long periods (63) and on 30 he 
is still in a very poor clinical condition but eating very small amounts of 
diet. He is re-catheterised the same day (55). 

On 31st he is recorded as passing a large amount of blood rectally (83) 
and on the 1st September (55 and 64) he is reviewed by a consultant 
ii~i~iwho notes that he is continuing to pass melaena stool, there are 
pressure sores across the buttocks and posterior aspects of both thighs, 
he is now significantly confused. [~i~.-_A.-~i records that he should be for 
TLC only and that his wife is now aware of the poor prognosis. Nursing 
notes (64) note that the dose of drugs in the syringe driver should be 
increased; the previous doses were not controlling his symptoms. The 

nd nursing notes of the 2 September (62) record the fact the Diamorphine 
is again increased on the 2nd to 90mgs and on [~-_o.-_~_e.-~] he dies at 
13.50 in the afternoon (55, 64). 

Drug Chart review: There are two drug charts. Chart 1 (174-178) 
confirms his original admission to Portsmouth Hospital Trust in particular 
the appropriate use of the antibiotics, Penicillin, Flucloxacillin and the 
prescription of the anticoagulant Clexane. This goes from 6th August - 
23rd August. Paracetamol is the only analgesic given in Portsmouth. 
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3.14 The second drug chart (168-172) goes from his admission to t..h_._e__.G_._.o_._Sport’ 

War Memorial Hospital on 23rd August to his death on the i Code A 

The once only part of this drug chart on 26th August states Diamorphine 
IM 10 mgs verbal message given 18.00 hours. Then apparently two 
days later on 28th August, Diamorphine IM 10 mgs signed 
This is never given, this may be a retrospective attempt to legitimise the 
prescription given verbally 2 days before. 

3.15 On the ’as required’ part of the drug chart only Gaviscon and 
Temazepam are written up. On the regular side of the drug chart 
Doxazosin, Frusemide, Clexane (until 25th August) Paracetamol, 
Magnesium, Metoclopramide and Loperamide are all written up. Though 
some of these drugs like the Magnesium appear to have been given in a 
"as required" fashion. Oramorphine (171) though written up regularly is 
never given. Diamorphine 40 - 200 mgs subcut in 24 hours is prescribed 
on the 26th (171) and appears to have been given as 40mgs on 30th’ 

31st, 1st changed to 60 mgs on 1st September and 90mgs on 2nd 

September. The drug chart is extremely confusing (171) as these 
prescriptions have not been properly put in the day and date boxes 
required, and the nursing staff appear to be putting two days of 
prescribing into a single day box. Midazolam 20 - 80 mgs subcut in 24 
hours is written up and Midazolam is probably given 20 mgs on the 30th 

th and 31 August, 40mgs on 1st September, changed to 60mgs on 1st 
nd September and given 80mgs on 2 September. 

3.16 On the next regular page of the drug chart (172) Oramorphine 10-20mgs 
4 hourly is written up and is signed up to have been given for 4 doses 
daily on 27th, 28th and 29th August, with two further doses in the morning 
of the 30th August. I cannot tell from the drug chart whether 10mgs or 
20mgs is actually given. Oramorphine is written up 20mgs at night and 

th     th     th th given on 26 , 27 , 28 and 29 August. Hyoscine is written up but never 
given, although it is prescribed as a regular prescription. 

Drug 
Diamorphine 

Diamorphine 

Oramorphine 

Oramorphine 

Date prescribed 
’verbal message’ 

28/08 (?) 

26/08 

26/08 

Prescribed as 
10 mgs I/M start 
Once only part of 
drug chart 
10 mgs I/M start 
Once only part of 
drug chart 
10 mgs 
4 hourly oral 
Regular 
10 mgs in 5 mls 
10- 20 mgs oral 
Regular 

Prescriber 

Code A i 

Given 
26/08 1800 

Never given 

Never given 
Never crossed off 

27/08 4 doses 
28/08 4 doses 
29/08 3 doses 
30/08 2 doses to 10am 
(Actual dose given never 
recorded) 
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Oramorphine 

Diamorphine 

Midazolam 

26/08 

26/08 

26/08 

10 mgs in 5 mls 
20 mgs nocte 
Regular 

40 - 200 mgs 

Code A SIC in 24 hours 
Regular 

26/08 2200 
27/08 2200 
28/08 2200 
29/08 2200 
Never crossed off 
Not given until 30/08 
30/08 1445 40 mgs 
31/08 1545 40 mgs 
01/09 1545 40 mgs 
changed to: 
01/09 1915 60mgs 
02/09 1540 90 mgs 
Not given until 30/08 
30/08 1445 20 mgs 

20 - 80 mgs 
S/C in 24 hours 
Regular 31/08 1545 20 mgs 

01/09 1545 40 mgs 
changed to: 
01/09 1915 60mgs 
02/09 1540 80 mgs 

4. TECHNICAL BACKGROUND / EXAMINATION OF THE FACTS IN ISSUE 

4.1 This section will consider whether there were any actions so serious that 
they might amount to gross negligence or any unlawful acts, or deliberate 
unlawful killing in the care of L~#,~,a;;4- ............... ~ Also whether there 
were any actions or omissions by the medical team, nursing staff or 
attendant GP’s that contributed to the demise of [~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~.C_-i~.e_-i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~ii, in 
particular, whether beyond reasonable doubt, the actions or omissions 
more than minimally, negligibly or trivially contributed to death. 

4.2 ~e_~_X.-~i had a number of chronic diseases prior to his terminal 
admission. The most serious was his gross (morbid) obesity which led to 
severe immobility and non-healing leg ulcers. 

4.3 He then develops an infection (cellulitis) of his leg ulcers which has 
spread to his groin causing his high white count, his pyrexia, then his 
total immobility requiring appropriate admission to the Portsmouth 
Hospitals NHS Trust. On admission he is recognised to be at high risk of 
pressure sore development and appears to have been put on a special 
bed. He is put "not for resuscitation" on the 1 lth August. This would 
have reflected the medical futility of trying to undertake resuscitation but 
would have had no implication for any other medical treatment or 
decision. 

4.4 He appears to make reasonable progress from the point of view of his 
cellulitis and is treated with appropriate antibiotics, however is noted to 
have developed buttock and sacral pressure sores by 17th August which 
are in a serious condition by 20th August. 
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4.5 

4.6 

4.7 

4.8 

In the meantime, a black stool is noted on 13th August and the question 
of whether this is melaena (blood leaking from the upper gastro-intestinal 
tract which turns black when passing through the gastro-intestinal tract) 
and whether he has a gastric or duodenal ulcer. Normally this would be 
investigated with an endoscopy. However this would be quite a major 
procedure on such a dependent gentleman. Although in retrospect it is 
easy to say that this was the first bleed, it would not have been clear at 
the time, the lack of further melaena and the fact that haemoglobin does 
not significantly fall over the next week, suggests that conservative 
management was appropriate. However, he is not put on any 
prophylactic anti-ulcer medication and his anticoagulant is continued. In 
retrospect both of these decisions may have contributed to his 
subsequent problems. 

He is transferred to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital on 23rd August. 
The prognosis for a patient with gross obesity, who is catheterised, and 
who has recent deep and complex pressure sores is terrible. In my 
experience such patients often deteriorate despite the best efforts of staff 
and die in hospital. He is clerked on admission and appropriate 
investigations carried out including haemoglobin which is now 12. 
Although by itself this is a normal haemoglobin his level of haemoglobin 
has very slowly drifted down and again in retrospect suggests that he 
was starting to bleed slowly. 

On 25th August the nursing staff note that he is passing blood rectally and 
he is vomiting, although the medical staff do not appear to have been 
asked to seem him, or if they do, no notes are written and no 
examination is undertaken. However on the 26th August he is seen when 
he is unwell, very cold and clammy. [ Co,~eA i suggests the likeliest 
diagnosis is a myocardial infarction, although appropriately she does 
think of a gastro-intestinal bleed. No examination is recorded in the 
notes, nor are some simple and appropriate investigations undertaken 
(for example an ECG), to try and differentiate these two problems. 
However a blood count is sent to the laboratory and haemoglobin has 
now fallen to 7.7. [i~i~i~i~i~_-,~i~i~i~i~i~ has had a massive gastro-intestinal 
bleed, this is now a re-bleed and in itself would be a marker of significant 
risk of death. Proven re-bleed needing more than 4 units of blood would 
in a previously fit patient over 65 be an indication for an emergency 
operation. However as the laboratory cannot inform the hospital of this 
result, no-one would appear to have brought it to medical or nursing 
attention. 

Despite this there is an important decision to be made on the 26th 

August. Whatever the cause, L._._._C._o._d._~_._A._._._iidentifies that the patient is 
seriously ill and the acute problems whether a G.I. bleed or a myocardial 
infarction would not be appropriately managed in a community hospital. 
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4.9 

4.10 

[._._._C._.o_~.e_._.A_._._.i makes the decision that the patient is too ill for transfer and 
should be managed symptomatically only at Gosport. In my view this is a 
complex and serious decision that should be discussed with the 
consultant in charge of the case as well as with the patient and their 
family if possible. I can find no evidence of such a discussion in the 
notes. It is my view however, that in view of his other problems it is 
within boundaries of a reasonable clinical decision to provide 
symptomatic care only at this stage. The chances of surviving any level 
of treatment, including intensive care unit and surgery were very small 
indeed. 

[_-._-._-._-.~.a_-.~._-A_-._-._-._-._-.i deteriorates further in the evening and is prescribed a single 
dose of Diamorphine as a result of a verbal request. In paragraphs 5.13 
- 5.16 I have identified significant failings in the way the drug chart has 
been used and written up. Controlled drugs are given on at least one 
occasion based on a verbal request and the prescription apparently 
written 2 days later. Regular drugs are written up and never given. The 
drug chart is used in a most irregular fashion and I do not believe that the 
standards of medical prescribing or nursing delivery meet the 
expectations of regulations on the prescription in the use of controlled 
drugs. 

From the 26th August [.~.~.~.~.~.~.~.~.~.~.i is slowly deteriorating and after a 
th single dose of Diamorphine, then from the evening of 26 August, 

receives regular Oramorphine, then Diamorphine, and Midazolam until 
his death. Both Oramorphine and Diamorphine while specifically 
prescribed for pain are commonly used to manage the stress and 
restlessness of terminal illness. Diamorphine is compatible with 
Midazolam and in itself is particularly used to terminal restlessness, and 
can be mixed in the same syringe driver. It is very difficult to assess the 
actual starting dose of Oramorphine from the notes and he appears to 
receive either 60mg or 100mg in total on the 27th. Calculating the dose 
would be complicated in this case due to his the massive obesity which 
might well effect the oral dose required, together with his serious 
pressure sores which might have been extremely painful on being 
dressed. However, there is no documentation in the notes to justify the 
decision as to why opioid drugs are actually started, or the choice of 
starting dose, nor is any pain problem or assessment mentioned. Indeed 
it is not clear if the decision to start the syringe driver is a medical or 
nursing decision. This lack of documentation is poor medical practice. 

He appears subsequently to have been started on 40mgs of Diamorphine 
in 24 hours together with 20mgs of Midazolam. The dose of sic 
Diamorphine is usually given in a ratio of 1:2, so 30mg might have been 
the equivalent of the dose of 60mg of Oramorphine. However I can find 
no evidence in the notes that there were any significant side effects from 
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4.11 

the Oramorphine or the Diamorphine, and his symptoms do seem 
relatively well controlled as described in the nursing notes. 

He is reviewed by a consultant i_.-..~._~_]..~.~#.~..] on 1 st September where it has 
now become absolutely clear that it is a gastro-intestinal haemorrhage 
which is causing his death on top of his other problems. [~_~_X.-~] is 
happy with the management and later in the day the Diamorphine is 
increased as the previous dose is aparently no longer controlling his 
symptoms. However, the dose of Midazolam is increased from 20 mgs 
to 60 mgs over 28 hours between 30th August and the 1st September. It 
is not clear if this is a medical or nursing decision and no record is made 
in the notes. This.!_s._.,p_o_._0.r_._.m_...e__d!..�_a_.l practice. Further increase of 50% in 
dosage occurs on i ......... _.C_._o._.d_._e._._A._ ......... i and he dies the following day. 

4.12 In my view a death certificate should read: 
la Gastro-intestinal haemorrhage 
2 Pressure sores and morbid obesity 

The police report states that the cause of death on the death certificate 
was ’myocardial infarction’. If so this was inaccurate and misleading. 

5. OPINION 

5.1 i ................. ~S-~i~-~- ................. i was a 68 year old gentleman with a number of chronic 
~Si:~5151~~-,-i-i~-15-~~t]~5(Jl-~~-, gross (morbid) obesity. He is known to have had leg 
ulcers and is admitted with a common complication of severe cellulitis. His 
immobility and infection leads to significant and serious pressure sores in 
hospital. He develops a probable gastric or duodenal ulcer (again common 
in patients who are seriously ill), which continues to bleed slowly, then has 
massive gastro-intestinal haemorrhage in the Gosport War Memorial 
Hospital which is eventually the cause of death. 

5.2 However there were failings in medical care provided to (i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i_a.~~#i~i~i~i~i~i~i~i~ 
in particular: 

¯ Gastro-intestinal haemorrhage is suspected in Portsmouth but although 
never disproven he is continued on an anticoagulant. 

¯ The failure to have a medical assessment, or to record one if it 
happened, after a gastro-intestinal bleed is recorded by the nursing staff 
on 25th August. 

¯ The failure of [~i~i_~i_-.A_-i~i~]on the 26th August to undertake investigation to 
exclude the first diagnosis made (myocardial infarction) and the failure to 
review the investigation that was undertaken, the full blood count. 

¯ The apparent failure of the Gosport War Memorial Hospital switchboard 
to answer calls. 
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¯ The failure to ask for senior medical opinion at the time of a complex and 
serious medical decision on the 26th August. 

¯ The failure to document any reason for both starting regular opioid 
medication and possible high starting dose of Oramorphine on the 27th 

August. 
¯ The failure to document any reason to start the syringe driver on the 30th 

August and whether that was a medical or nursing decision. 
¯ The failure to record any need for the 300% increase in Midazolam 

dosages between 31st August and the evening of 1st September. 
¯ Writing myocardial infarction not gastro-intestinal haemorrhage as the 

cause of death on the death certificate. 

5.3 There are also deficiencies in the use of the drug chart at the Gosport War 
Memorial Hospital, in particular: 

The prescription of Diamorphine by verbal message. 
The regular prescription given for regular Oramorphine, which ~s never 
crossed out. 
The failure on 29th August to give a regular dose of Oramorphine, without 
explanation. 
The failure to give Diamorphine and Midazolam for the 26th, when written 
up as a regular prescription. 
The failure to cross off the regular dose of Oramorphine on the 30th 

August. 
The failure to record any of the actual doses of Oramorphine given 
between 27th and 30th August. 
The use of the regular side of the drug chart for variable doses of drugs 
given in the syringe driver, and the failure to rewrite prescriptions when 
changing doses. 
The failure to write dosages of controlled drugs in words and figures as 
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

 -ode A--= 
[[i[i[i[i[i[i[.�_-i~[.e_-i~i[i[i[i[i[i[}presents an example of a common, complex problem in geriatric 
medicine. A patient with one major progressive and end stage pathology (a 
dementing illness) develops a second pathology, has surgery, has a complication 
after that surgery, has more surgery and gradually deteriorates and dies. 

However there were significant failings in the medical care provided to [~_C.-~-_e.-~.-_A.-~i 
i_._._C._.o_~_.e_._A._._.i as well as deficiencies in the use of the drug chart at the Gosport War 
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
page of evidence, the numbers with ’H’ in front are the Haslar notes). 

3.1 ~._-._-i_-._-i_-._-._-.iwas a 91 year old lady and in 1998 was admitted as an 
emergency on 29th July 1988 to the Haslar Hospital (H39). 

3.2 She had had a progressive dementing illness documented as short term 
memory loss in 1988 (435), a mental test score of 4/10 in 1994 (443) and a 
mental test score of 0/10 in 1996 (451). She was admitted to the Glen 
Heathers Nursing Home in 1994 (202) and was moderately dependent with 
a Barthel of 11/20 at that time (200). She was seen by a psycho-geriatrician, 

[_._._.c_.o_#.e_.~_._._j, who in 1998 found that she had end stage dementia (473). The 
nursing home noticed that she was wandering and very frail in July 1998 
(563). The nursing home notes document multiple falls. 
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3.3 

3.4 

3.5 

3.6 

3.7 

3.8 

3.9 

On admission to the Haslar Hospital, a fractured neck of femur is diagnosed 
and she is treated with a right hemi-arthroplasty (H50). Recovery is 
complicated by agitation. She is seen by ~i#~.X_i~] on 3re August (23) who 
notes her long standing dementia. He finds her pleasant, co-operative, with 
little discomfort on passive movement and she should be transferred to the 
Gosport War Memorial hospital to see if it was possible to remobilise her 
(466,467). 

Her drug charts in Haslar Hospital show that no regular pain killer is given 
during her first admission (H110), although Diclofenac was prescribed but 
not given. She does receive intravenous morphine 2.5. mgs on 31st July, 
then single doses on the 1st and 2nd August (H114). She then receives 
regular Co-codamol orally, although it is written up Prn, until 7th August. After 
this date there appears to be no further painkillers given. 

The nursing cardex in Haslar (H152, H167) does not mention any pain 
during her recovery. 

She is transferred to Gosport War Memorial Hospital on 11th August and 
seen by [._._._c._o.~_e._~._._.j (29) who notices her previous hysterectomy in 1953, her 
cataract operations, her is deafness and that she has "Alzheimer’s Disease". 
She records that her impression is of a frail demented lady who is not 
obviously in pain. Despite the statement in the notes, there is no other 
evidence of a clinical examination, or any record, if it was undertaken. There 
is also no mention of pain in the medical notes until after her hip dislocation. 
She mentions that her Barthel score is 2 (heavily dependent), she transfers 
with a hoist. She also states "1 am happy for nursing staff to confirm death". 

The next medical note on 14th August and states that sedation/pain relief has 
been a problem, screaming not controlled by Haloperidol and very sensitive 
to Oramorphine (29). Fell out of chair last night, right hip shortened and 
internally rotated, daughter aware and not happy. Is this lady well enough 
for another surgical procedure? She has an x-ray that notes the hip is 
dislocated and is transferred back to the Haslar Hospital. 

The nursing notes for this first admission to Gosport War Memorial Hospital 
state that she had a Barthel of 3/20 on admission (40). Is highly dependent 

th with a Waterlow score of 27 (41). The nursing care plan for the 12 (49) 
mentions that Haloperidol was given because she woke from sleep very 
agitated. It mentions that on the 13th August Oramorphine is given at 21.00 
(50). It mentions an x-ray needed the following morning. On 14th August 
pain is mentioned in the right leg in the nursing cardex (50). find no other 
mention of pain in the nursing cardex. 

Oramorphine 10 mgs in 5mls (62) is written up prn on admission to Gosport 
Hospital, two doses are given on 1 lth August, one dose 12th August, one 
dose 13th August in the evening (as confirmed in the nursing cardex) and 
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3.10 

3.11 

3.12 

one dose on 11th August in the morning (as confirmed in the nursing cardex). 
Also on the prn side of the drug cardex on admission to Gosport on the 11th 
August, Diamorphine 20 - 200 mgs is prescribed subcutaneously but never 
given. Hyoscine 200 - 800 mgs and Midazolam 20 - 80 mgs in 24 hours 
subcutaneously are both written up on 11th August. Neither of these two 
drugs are given until her subsequent return from Haslar. 

On 14th August she is transferred back to Haslar where a dislocation of a hip 
is confirmed by x-ray (H67) and is reduced under sedation (H67). She has 
an uneventful recovery and is transferred back to Gosport War Memorial on 
17th August. Discharge summary mentioning Haloperidol, Lactulose, Co- 
codamol and Oramorphine 2.5 - 5mgs for pain (H79), although the 
Oramorphine was never given in Haslar. 

~.~.~.~i writes in the notes on the 17th August after her re-admission to the 
Gosport War Memorial Hospital to continue Haloperidol and only give 
Oramorphine if in severe pain (30), and that she wishes to see the daughter 
again. There is no record of any assessment of [ .......... ~s,~,~x- .......... imental or 
physical state on transfer except a statement ’now appears peaceful’. Yet 

th the nursing cardex 17 August says patient distressed and appears to be in 
pain (45). In the afternoon of 17 August, states, in pain and distress, 
agree with daughter to give her mother Oramorphine 2.5 mgs in 5 mls". It is 
possible [ co,~e,~ i only saw the patient after she had been given 
Oramorphine. Due to the pain, a further x-ray is ordered and no dislocation 
is seen (46) (75). 

On 18th August, i Co,~eA notes the patient is still in great pain, nursing is a 
problem, she suggests subcutaneous Diamorphine, Haloperidol and 
Midazolam and that she will see the daughters. The nursing cardex records 
the decision to pain control by syringe driver (46). She then receives 
Diamorphine 40 mgs daily in a syringe driver, with Haloperidol 5 mgs and 20 
mgs Midazolam until her death on 

3.13 An unusual feature of the original Gosport War Memorial Drug Chart (64) is 
that Oramorphine 2.5 mgs 4 hourly was written up on the regular 
prescription side on the 11th August, together with 5 mgs at night regularly. 
It then has the letters prn against both of these prescriptions which make no 
sense(62). 

Drug 
Oramorphine 

Date prescribed 
11/08 

Prescribed as 
10 mgs in 5 mls 
2.5 - 5 mls 
4 hourly 
Oral 
PRN 

Prescriber 

L_._.c_ o_ d_.e_..A_._.i 

Given 
11/08 ? 
11/08 1145 
12/08 0815 
12/08 2050 
14/08 1150 
17/08 1300 
17/08 ? 
17/08 ? 
17/08 2030 

10 mgs 
10 mgs 
10 mgs 
10 mgs 
10 mgs 

5 mgs 
5 mgs 
5 mgs 

10 mgs 
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Diamorphine 

Midazolam 

"PRN" 
Oramorphine 

"PRN" 
Oramorphine 

Diamorphine 

Haloperidol 

11/08 

11/08 

12/08 

12/08 

18/08 

18/08 

20 - 200 mgs 
S/C in 24 hours 
PRN 

20 - 80 mgs 
S/C in 24 hours 
PRN 

10 mgs in 5 mls 
2.5 mgs oral 
4 hourly 
Regular 
10 mgs in 5 mls 
5 mgs oral nocte 
Regular 
40 - 200 mgs 
S/C in 24 hours 
Regular 

5 -10 mgs 
S/C in 24 hours 
Regular 

Code A 

18/08 ? 10mgs 
18/08 0400 10 mgs 

Never given 

18/08 1145 20mgs 
19/08 1120 20mgs 
20/08 1045 20 mgs 
21/08 1105 20mgs 
Never given or crossed 
off 

Never given or crossed 
off 

18/08 1145 40mgs 
19/08 1145 40mgs 
20/08 1045 40 mgs 
21/08 1105 40mgs 
18/08 1145 5mgs 
19/08 1145 5mgs 
20/08 1045 5 mgs 
21/08 1105 5mgs 

4. TECHNICAL BACKGROUND / EXAMINATION OF THE FACTS IN ISSUE 

4.1 This section will consider whether there were any actions so serious that 
they might amount to gross negligence or any unlawful acts, or deliberate 
unlawful killing in the care of ~~_.-~ Also whether there were 
any actions or omissions by the medical team, nursing staff or attendant 
GP’s that contributed to the demise of [:~:~:~:~:~:::~:_-.A_-:~:~:~:~:~:~:i in particular, 
whether beyond reasonable doubt, the actions or omissions more than 
minimally, negligibly or trivially contributed to death. 

4.2 [ [: [: [: [: [.c.-~:~]:~: .-_A.-: [: [: [: [: ] was suffering from the terminal stage of a dementing 
process, probably Alzheimer’s disease. This is reflected in the 
comments earlier in 1998 by a consultant psycho-geriatrician that she 
had end stage disease and the well-documented progression of this over 
many years. Despite this though, she was still able to get around in the 
nursing home and as is often the case, even with the best forms of 
monitoring, having multiple falls. 

4.3 As a result of one of these, she suffers a fractured neck of femur. Sadly 
this is very common, it is also common for the original fall to lead to a 
partial fracture which is not diagnosed and then only subsequently 
sometimes hours, sometimes days later, does it become a clinically 
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4.4 

4.5 

4.6 

4.7 

obvious fractured neck of femur. Patients with dementia and fractured 
neck of femur are often missed in hospitals as well as in nursing homes, 
even by the most astute of staff. 

She has a successful hemi-arthroplasty in Haslar, receives pain relief but 
does not need any pain relief for the 3 days on 7th - 10th August. She 
remains highly dependent though with a Barthel of 3/20. Although she is 
described as weight bearing in Haslar, the Barthel describes no mobility 
at all as does the fact that a hoist is needed for transfer at Gosport War 
Memorial. Many patients with severe dementia, never walk again after a 
fractured neck of femur and indeed the mortality rate in the months after 
a fractured neck of femur is extremely high, particularly in the very elderly 
and those with mental impairment. 

However, she survives the first operation and is seen by i co,~eA i 
Consultant Geriatrician who believes that she should be transferred to 
Gosport War Memorial to see if any mobility can be regained. This is not 
unreasonable; it may make her new placement in a nursing home easier 
if she is able to have some increase in independence. 

When she is transferred to Gosport War Memorial Hospital she is seen 
by [ co,~eA iwho fails to record a clinical examination apart from a 
general statement she is a frail and demented lady. However, she does 
state she is not obviously in pain. Despite this, she has written up her 
drug charts for both low dose of Oramorphine and a high dose of 
Diamorphine. I can find no clinical justification for these decisions in the 
notes. If she was worried about pain and feared that it would be hard for 
the nursing staff to get hold of the doctor, then it would be reasonable to 
write up a prn of a mild pain killer such as Paracetamol and possibly 
doses of weak Opioid if simple analgesia did not work. L._._._c._o.~_e._~._._.jalso 
writes up on the regular prescription side a significant dose of 
Oramorphine, although this has prn put next to it. I believe all this 
prescribing to be very poor, and in my view negligent, medical practice. 

In paragraph 15 of[ ....... .C..o.#_.e_..A_._._.,~ police statement (12 June 2001) she 
states "Given my assessment that she was in pain I wrote a prescription 
for a number of drugs on the 11th August, including Oramorph and 
Diamorhine". I can find nothing in the notes to support this statement. 

In the same report (paragraph 22) L._._._c._o.#_e._e._._.jstates referring to her 
readmission on the 17 August that I was not aware that she had been 
having intravenous Morphine at the RHH until shortly before her 
transfer". I can find no evidence to support this statement in the Hasler 
notes. The only intravenous Morphine she received in Hasler was 
around the time of the first operation, the last dose given on 2nd August. 
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4.8 

4.9 

4.10 

Oramorph is actually given by the nursing staff on 11th, 12th and 13th, 
certainly prior to the definite diagnosis of the dislocation. I can find no 
justification for giving the drugs in the medical or nursing notes. The 
comment on the 14th August that pain relief has been a problem, 
probably relates to the dislocation after the fall on the 13th. If no reason 
can be documented or proven, then this is certainly very poor drug 
prescribing and management. Indeed to prescribe a controlled drug 
without a clinical indication must be considered negligent in my view. 

She is identified as having had dislocation of hip by the 14th August. This 
probably resulted from the documented fall and is not uncommon in frail 
older people after a fractured neck of femur repair. The Oramorphine 
that had been given might have contributed in part to this, though she 
was also on major tranquillisers and suffering from severe dementia. All 
of which makes such an outcome more likely. 

She then returns to Haslar Hospital. The dislocation is reduced under 
intravenous sedation, and she is then returned back to Gosport War 
Memorial. She is never right from the moment she returns. She is now 
documented to be in significant pain. No cause for this pain is suggested 
in the notes. In my view it would have been appropriate for [~-_4~-_~jto 
discuss ~~_A.-_.-~.-_~i with the surgical team at Haslar Hospital, or with 
her consultant, to decide if anything further should be done at this stage. 
Unfortunately, not only is the mortality high after a single operation in a 
patient with end stage dementia but having a further operation is often an 
agonal event. The cause of her pain remains unexplained and when 
seen on the 17th by [i[i[i~[~[~[i~[i[i~ is "now appears peaceful". It is possible 
[~i~_i~.~13 only saw her after she had been given Oramorphine, if this is the 
case it would be poor medical practice, as she would not have been 
reassessed as to the medical cause of her pain and distress. 

However it seems to me that it would be not unreasonable at this stage if 
nothing more can be done medically, to provide palliative care and pain 
relief. Diamorphine is specifically prescribed for pain and is commonly 
used for pain in terminal care. Diamorphine is compatible with 
Midazolam and can be mixed in the same syringe driver. Diamorphine 
subcutaneously after oral morphine, is usually given at a maximum ratio 
of 1 - 2 (i.e. up to 10 mgs Diamorphine in 20 mgs of Oramorphine). The 
maximum amount of Oramorphine she had received in 24 hours was 45 
mgs prior to starting the syringe driver pump. Thus if her pain was not 
controlled, it would be appropriate to give a higher dose of Diamorphine 
and by convention this would be 50% greater than the previous days 
(Wessex Guideline) but some people might give up to 100%. A starting 
dose of Diamorphine of 20 - 40 mgs in 24 hours would seem 
appropriate. [~_~_~;~] was prescribed 40 mgs, which in my view is 
just within prescribing guidelines yet seem high for someone who had 
been identified as "sensitive to Oramorph" by [._._._c._o.#~_~._._.jon the 14th 
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4.12 

4.13 

August (29). 

Midazolam is widely used subcutaneously in doses from 5 - 80 mgs for 
24 hours and is particularly used for terminal restlessness. The dose of 
Midazolam used was 20 mgs for 24 hours which is within current 
guidance, although many believe that elderly patients may need a lower 
dose of 5 - 20 mgs per 24 hours (Palliative Care. Chapter 23 in 
Brocklehurst’s Text Book of Geriatric Medicine 6th Edition 2003). 

It was documented that [._-._-._-._-._-.t__-~a_-~..x._-._-._-._-._-.i is peaceful on this dose in the 
syringe driver and a rattly chest is documented in the medical notes on 
21st prior to her death (30). 

I understand the post mortem and the cause of death said: 
la Bronchopneumonia. 
In my view the correct Death Certificate would have said: 
la Fractured Neck of Femur 
2 Severe dementia. 
There is no doubt that after people have been dying over a number of 
days, if a post mortem is performed, then secretions and changes of 
Bronchopneumonia are often found in the lungs as the very final agonal 
event. This allows clinicians to put the phrase "Bronchopneumonia" on 
the death certificate. 

5. OPINION 

5.1 [~.-_C.-~.-_e.-_~-_~i presents an example of a common, complex problem in 
geriatric medicine. A patient with one major progressive and end stage 
pathology (a dementing illness) develops a second pathology, has surgery, 
has a complication after that surgery, has more surgery and gradually 
deteriorates and dies. 

5.2 However there were significant failings in the medical care provided to 
i~_~._~e_~i in particular: 

¯ The failure to undertake a clinical examination, or to record it if it was 
undertaken on admission to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital. 

¯ The PRN prescription of strong opioid analgesic on admission to the 
Gosport War Memorial Hospital without any explanation. 

¯ The use of strong opioid analgesia on the 1 lth, 12th and 13th of August 
without any explanation. A decision that might have contributed to her 
hip dislocation. 

¯ The failure to write up milder analgesic PRN on first admission to the 
Gosport War Memorial Hospital. 

¯ The possible evidence that~~.x_~]was only reviewed medically 
after receiving further doses on Oramorphine on her readmission to the 
Gosport War Memorial Hospital on the 17th August. 
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¯ The failure to ask for specialist advice as to the cause of the continuing 
pain after the re-operation and second admission to the Gosport War 
Memorial Hospital. 

5.3 There were deficiencies in the use of the drug chart at the Gosport War 
Memorial Hospital, in particular: 

¯ The prescription of a large range of PRN Diamorphine on the PRN side 
of the drug chart. 

¯ The "PRN" Oramorphine on the ’Regular’ side of the drug chart, which is 
never given or crossed off. 

¯ The prescription of a large range of a controlled drug (Diamorphine) on 
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
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10. I have attached to this report a statement setting out the substance of all 
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

[_-._-._-._-._-._-._-�_-.~~_-._-._-._-._-._-._~ was an 83 year old gentleman with a long recurrent 
history of severe depression resistant to treatment. This was 
complicated by drug induced parkinsonism and subsequent mental 
and physical frailty and dependency. His admission to the Gosport 
War Memorial Hospital Mental health beds on the 29th November and 
subsequent transfer to a medical bed on the 5th January 1997 was the 
end point of these chronic disease process. He continues to 
deteriorate and dies on the [~i~i~i~i~i~i~#~~.~i~i~i~i~i~i~i. 

However there were significant failings in the medical care provided to 
[~I~I.-.�~I~I~I~] and also deficiencies in the use of the drug chart at the 
Gosport War Memorial Hospital 

1. INSTRUCTIONS 

To examine the medical records and comment upon the standard of care 
afforded to the patient in the days leading up to his death against the 
acceptable standard of the day. Where appropriate, if the care is felt to be sub- 
optimal, comment upon the extent to which it may or may not disclose 
criminally culpable actions on the part of individuals or groups. 

2. ISSUES 

Was the standard of care afforded to this patient in the days leading up 
to his death in keeping with the acceptable standard of the day. 
If the care is found to be suboptimal what treatment should normally 
have been proffered in this case. 

3. CHRONOLOGY/CASE ABSTRACT. (The numbers in brackets refer to 
the page of evidence, M = microfilm notes) 

3.1 

3.2 

3.3 

[~_~_~;~i had a very long history of depression as clearly set 
out in a summary (13). In 1959 he had reactive depression, it 
occurred again in 1967. In 1979 he had agitation and in 1988 
agitated depression. 

He had a further long admission with agitated depression in 1992 (8) 
complicated by an episode of cellulitis (30). This culminated in an 
admission to long-term residential care in January 1993 (34). He had 
further admissions to hospital under the care of the psychiatric team 
including June 1993 (37) when some impaired cognition was noted. In 
1995 there was a home visit for further psychiatric problems (42). 

In 1995 (44) there was a change in behaviour; loss of weight and 
increased frailty was noted. He was falling at the residential home. 
He was expressing grief, frustrations and aggression. At this time his 
psychiatric medications included Diazepam, Temazepam, 
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3.4 

3.5 

3.6 

3.7 

3.8 

3.9 

Thioridazine, Sertraline, Lithium, and Codanthrusate for constipation. 
His other problems were hypothyroidism and Parkinsonism with a 
tremor. (Note: this was not Parkinson’s disease but tremor, rigidity 
and akinesia which looks similar to Parkinson’s disease but is actually 
as a result of long-term anti-psychotic medication). 

On 29th November 1995 he was admitted under the psychiatrist [i_:.~.~_-~ 
Li_c.-_o.-_a.-.~-_A.-~i(46) to Gosport War Memorial Elderly Mental Health beds. His 
mental test score was documented at 8/10 (50). He was discharged 
back to residential home on 24th October (46) with a continued 
diagnosis of depression (56). However, his very poor mobility and 
shuffling gate was noted (57). 

On 13th December 1995 he was re-admitted (62) to mental health 
beds at the Gosport War Memorial under i_._._.c_.o_~.e_.~_._.j stating 
"everything is horrible", he was verbally aggressive to the staff and 
was not mobilising and staying in bed all day. He felt hopeless and 
suicidal. (62). 

On 22nd December, diarrhoea started and he also had chest symptoms. 
It was thought he had a chest infection, and was treated with 
Erythromycin, (64). On 27th December he was "chesty, not himself", and 
his bowels were causing concern. The physiotherapist noted that he 
had signs in his chest (65). A second course of a different antibiotic 
(Cephalosporin) was prescribed (81). The nursing cardex documents 
that he started becoming faecally incontinent on 20th December and 
then had further episodes of diarrhoea (140). It is also noted that by 
1st January (147) he was drowsy with very poor fluid intake. 

On 2nd January 1996 [_._c._o.#_e._~._i consultant geriatrician was asked to. see 
(66) and on 3re January he was noted to be clinically deteriorating with 
poor food intake (66), albumin of 27 (67). An abdominal x-ray on 27th 

December describes possible "pseudo-obstruction" (116). This is a 
condition when the large bowel fails to work and starts to dilate, usually in 
patients who have multiple illnesses including Parkinsonism, electrolyte 
imbalance, infections, antibiotics and other drugs. Prognosis is often 
poor and depends on resolving the underlying causes. 

On 4th January 1996 [--~-~-~-~-~,--~ is seen by [i~_~i_~i~i~i Consultant 
Geriatrician who noted severe depression, total dependency, 
catheterisation, lateral hip pressure sores and hypoproteinaemia. (67). 
He states that the patient should be moved to a long-stay bed at the 
Gosport War Memorial Hospital and that his residential home place 
should be given up as he was unlikely to return. On 5th January he is 
transferred to Dryad Ward for "long-term care" (151). ~.~.~4_-._~jalso states 
(5M) "[._._._.C_.o_.d_._e._.A_._._.i is aware of the poor prognosis". 

Medical notes after transfer (13M and 15M). On 5th January a basic 
summary of the transfer is recorded, no clinical examination is either 
undertaken or recorded. 

On the 9th January increasing anxiety and agitation is noted and the 
possibility of needing opioids is raised. The nurses cardex on 9th said 
that he is sweaty and has "generalised pain" (25M). On 10th January 
a medical decision is recorded "for TLC". In the medical discussion 
(13M) with the wife also apparently agrees "for TLC". I am not sure of 
the signature of 10th January in the medical notes (13M). The nursing 
cardex records they commenced Oramorph and that [~_~_~_~i is 
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3.11 

3.12 

3.13 

3.14 

aware of the poor outcome (25M). 

On 15th January the nursing notes document that a syringe driver has 
been commenced (25M) and by the evening the patient is unresponsive 
(26M). However on 16th January there is some agitation when being 
attended to and Haloperidol is added to the syringe driver (26M). On the 
17th the patient remains tense and agitated, (27M) the nursing cardex 
states that ~_-.X_-i_-i_-] attended, reviewed and altered the dosage of 
medication. The syringe driver is removed at 15.30 hours and the notes 
say "two drivers" (27M). 

The next medical note is on 18th January, eight days after previous note 
on 10th January. This states further deterioration, subcut analgesia 
continues .... try Nozinan. On 20th January the nursing notes state that 
i._._.C_._o._d..e.__A._._.i was contacted regarding the drug regime and there was a 
verbal order to double the Nozinan and omit the Haloperidol (28M). This 
is confirmed in the medical notes on 20th January (15M). The medical 
notes on 21st January state "much more settled", respiratory rate of 6 per 
minute, not distressed and on [.~.~#.~.~-~..~_~_~.~jthe date of death is verified by 
Staff Nurse [.~}.~.] in the medical notes (15M). 

Note: Nozinan is a major tranquilliser similar to Chlorpromazine but 
more sedating. It is usually used for patients with schizophrenia and 
because of its sedation is not usually used in the elderly, though it is 
not completely contraindicated. Used subcutaneously in palliative 
care for nausea and vomiting at a dose of 25 - 200 mgs for 24 hours 
although British National Formulary states that 5 - 25 mgs for 24 
hours can be effective for nausea and vomiting with less sedation. 

Drug Chart Analysis: 

On 5th January at transfer (16M), ~~.~.~.] is written up for the 
standard drugs that he was on in the mental health ward including his 
Sertraline and Lithium (for his depression) Diazepam (for his agitation) 
Thyroxine for his hypothyroidism. The drug chart also had 
Diamorphine 40 - 80 mgs subcut in 24 hours, Hyoscine 200 - 400 
micrograms subcut in 24 hours and Midazolam 20 - 40 mgs subcut in 
24 hours. Midazolam 80 mg subcut in 24 hours written up but not dated 
and never prescribed. (18M) 

On 10th January, Oramorph 10 mgs per 5 mls is written up for 2.5 mls 
four hourly and prescribed on the evening of 10th and the morning of the 
11th. On the 11th Oramorph 10 mgs per 5 mls is written up to be given 
2.5 mls 4 hourly 4 times a day with 5 mls to be given last thing at night. 
This is then given regularly between 11th and up to early morning on 
15th January. This is a total daily dose of 30 mgs of Morphine (19M). 
The Lithium and Sertraline are crossed off after the 10th January. 

Diamorphine 80 - 120,, mgs subcut in 24 hours is written up on 11th 
January "as required as is Hyoscine 200 - 400 micrograms in 24 
hours, Midazolam 40 - 60 mgs in 24 hours. 80 mgs of Diamorphine 
together with 60 mgs of Midazolam are then started by syringe driver on 
the morning of the 15th January and re-started on both the mornings of 
the 16th and 17th January. (18M). On 16th January Haloperidol 5 mgs - 
10 mgs subcutaneous for 24 hours is written up, prescribed over 24 
hours on both 16th and 17th, 1 am not clear if this was mixed in the other 
syringe driver or was the "second pump" referred to in the nursing 
cardex. (20M and 27M) 
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Diamorphine 120 mgs subcut in 24 hours is then prescribed on 18th 
January, together with Hyoscine 600 mgs subcut in 24 hours. The 
drug charts (20M) show this starting on the morning of 17th January 
and at 08.30 hours. If this correct there may have been up to three 
syringe drivers running, one with Diamorphine 80 mgs, one with 
Diamorphine 120 mgs in and one with the Haloperidol. The reason 
for this confusion needs clarification, but is possibly a nursing error 
with the drug chart. 

The subsequent drug charts all appear to be missing for the final 6 
days, however the nursing notes (27M, 28M and 29) suggest that there 
was a fairly constant prescription of 120 mgs of Diamorphine 24 hours, 
Midazolam 80 mgs 24 hours, Hyoscine 1200 mgs, Haloperidoi 20 mgs 
and Nozinan 50 mgs. On the 20th there was no Haloperidol and the 
Nozinan was increased 100 mgs a day. This is still the prescription on 
23rd January (27M). 

Drug 
Oramorphine 

Diamorphine 

Midazolam 

Diamorphine 

Midazolam 

Midazolam 

Oramorphine 

Oramorphine 

Diamorphine 

Date prescribed 
10/01 

11/01 

11/01 

? 16/01 

11/01 

11/01 

18/01 

Prescribed as 
10 mgs in 5 mls 
2.5 mls, 4hrly oral 
Regular 

40 mgs S/C in 
24 hours 
Regular 

Prescriber 

Code Ai 

L ............. 2 

NEW DRUG CHART 
20 - 40 mgs S/C 
in 24 hours 
Regular 
80- 120 mgs 
S/C in 24 hours 
PRN 
40 - 60 mgs 
S/C in 24 hours 
PRN 
80 mgs S/C in 
24 hours 
PRN 
10 mgs in 5 mls 
Oral 2.5 mls 
4 hourly 
Regular 
10 mgs in 5 mls 
Oral 5 mls nocte 

120 mgs 
S/C in 24 hours 

CodeAi 

J 

Given 
10/01 2200 
11/01 0800 
(never crossed out) 

Never given or crossed 
off 

Never given or crossed 
off 

15/01 ? 80 mgs 
16/01 0815 80 mgs 
17/01 ? 80 mgs 
15/01 ? 60 mgs 
16/01 ? 60 mgs 
17/01 ? 60 mgs 
Never given 

Regular doses 4 times a 
day until 0600 on 15/01 
No further doses 
Not crossed off 
11/01 - 15/01 2200 
No further doses 
Not crossed off 
"17/01" 0830 120 mgs 
(probably 18/01) 

4. TECHNICAL BACKGROUND AND EXAMINATION OF THE FACTS IN 

ISSUE 

4.1 This section will consider if there are any actions so serious they 
might amount to gross negligence or any unlawful acts, or 
deliberate unlawful killing in the care of ~._-._-i_-._-i_-._-._-.i Also if 
the actions or omissions by the medical team, nursing staff or 
attendant GP’s contributed to the demise of i---4:-~;~-;7: ..... i in 
particular, whether beyond reasonable doubt, the actions or 
omissions more than minimally, negligibly or trivially contributed to 
death. 
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4.2 

4.3 

4.4 

4.5 

4.6 

4.7 

4.8 

4.9 

4.10 

4.11 

4.12 

In particular I will discuss a) whether [._-._-.#~_-X_-._-._-.i had become terminally ill 
and if so whether symptomatic treatment was appropriate and b) whether 
the treatment provided was then appropriate. 

~-i_-.:i~:~:i:i:ii has an unfortunate long history of depression, which had 
become more difficult and complex to manage and increasingly distressing 
in terms of his agitation related to his depressive symptomatology. 

He had many treatments including high levels of drug treatment over many 
years and many episodes of electro convulsive treatment (ECT). 

The complex and unresolved psychiatric problem led to a requirement to 
move to a residential accommodation in 1993. However he had further 
relapses and problems in 1995. A change occurred by September 1995 
where the residential home was now noticing weight loss, increasing frailty 
and falls. Although a subsequent admission only came to the conclusion 
that he was depressed I have no doubt that his terminal decline was 
starting from that time. 

By October 1995 he had extremely poor mobility and a shuffling gate. 
When re-admitted in December is aggressive, essentially immobile and 
extremely mentally distressed alongside his increasing physical frailty. 

It is impossible in retrospect to be absolutely certain what was causing his 
physical as well as his mental decline. It may be that he was now 
developing cerebrovascular disease on top of his long standing drug 
induced Parkinsonism together with his persistent and profound depression 
agitation. It is not an uncommon situation for people with long standing 
mental and attendant physical problems, to enter a period of rapid decline 
without a single new diagnosis becoming apparent. 

His deterioration is complicated by a probable chest infection (64, 81), 
which does not respond particularly well to appropriate antibiotic and 
physiotherapy treatment. He also has bowel complications attendant on all 
his other medical and drug treatment (116). 

[._._._C._o._d._e._._A._._.i psychiatric service asked [i~_~i_~i~i~i Consultant Geriatrician, to see 
the patient on 2nd January and he is actually seen on 4r’ January 1996. 
[;;;;~-~-~:idescribes a very seriously ill gentleman. His comments that a long- 
stay bed will be found at the Gosport War Memorial and that he is unlike to 
return to his residential bed, reflect the fact that it was probably in his 
mind that this gentleman was probably terminally ill. 

[--~-~ae-~,--] is then transferred to Dryad Ward and is apparently seen by [~::::,i 

[.~_~~i A short summary of his problems is written in the notes but no 
physical examination, if undertaken, is documented. The lack of an 
examination, or record of an examination, if undertaken, would be poor 
clinical practice. 

It remains clear from the nursing record that he remains extremely frail with 
very little oral intake on 7th January (25M). When seen again by [_._._.c_.o_~.e_.~_._._j 
on 9th, there is the first note suggesting that Opiates may be an appropriate 
response to his physical and mental condition. 

It is my view that this gentleman by this stage had come to the end point of 
a series of mental and physical conditions and that his problems were 
now irreversible. The decision that he was now terminally ill and for 
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4.13 

4.14 

symptomatic relief seems to have been made appropriately with both the 
family and the ward staff and there was no disagreement with this decision. 

This is indicated in the medical notes by the comment "for TLC" (13M) 
together with the statement that it was discussed with the wife "for TLC" 
(note TLC. tender loving care). Beyond the statement in the medical 
notes that the patient was "for TLC" there is no specific justification 
given for the Oramorph, in particular, to be started. The notes are at best 
very sparse making a full assessment of [ ....... _c._o.~_e._~ ....... i mental and physical 
state extremely difficult. In particular, there is a failure to offer any detailed 
assessment of the pain, agitation or distress he was in that would allow an 
objective view on his symptoms and prognosis. The lack of documentation 
is likely to mean that these detailed assessments did not take place. 

On the 10th Oramorphine was started. Oramorphine and Diamorphine are 
particularly used for pain in terminal care. The nursing notes document that 
he had some pain; but most of his problems appeared to be restlessness, 
agitation and mental distress. However, despite the evidence of serious 
pain, morphine like drugs are widely used and believed to be useful 
drugs in supporting patients in the terminal phase of the restlessness and 
distress that surrounds dying. I would not particularly criticise the use of 
Oramorphine in conjunction with his other psychiatric medication at this 
stage. The decision is to stop non-palliative drugs like Sertraline was 
reasonable. 

In my previous report for the police (31st Jan 2005) I wrote in paragraph 
6.14: 

"The Drug Chart analysis (para. 5.12) described Diamorphine, 
Hyoscine and Midazolam all written up to be prescribed with a dosage 
range. This is quite common clinical practice, the aim of which is to 
allow the nursing team to have some flexibility in the management of a 
patient needing symptom control at the end of their life without having 
to call a doctor to change the drug charts every time a change in 
dosage is needed to maintain adequate palliation." 

As this could be misunderstood I wish to make it clear that this refers 
to the practice of allowing on the PRN side of the drug chart a small 
dosage range of a drug to be available for breakthrough pain or 
distress, as is normal in palliative care practice. It is not to support 
either (a) writing up large dosage ranges of drugs, or (b) the use of 
PRN side of the drug chart for prescription for syringe driver, both of 
which are poor medical practice. 

4.15 The dose of Oramorph given from the early morning of 15th January was 30 
mgs of morphine a day (see paragraph 3.13) (19M). On the 15th a syringe 
driver is started containing 80 mgs Diamorphine and 60 mgs of Midazolam. 
If a straight conversion is being given from Morphine to Diamorphine then 
you normally as a maximum halve the dose i.e. 30 mgs of Oramorphine 
might be replaced by 15 mgs of Diamorphine (Wessex protocol). If you are 
increasing the dose because of breakthrough agitation or pain then it 
would be normal to increase by 50% each day, some clinicians might 
increase by 100%. This would suggest that the maximum dose of 
Diamorphine to replace the stopped Oramorphine would be 30 mgs of 
Diamorphine in 24 hours. Starting 80 mgs of Diamorphine is 
approximately three times the usual expected dose. No justification is 
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provided in the notes for starting at approximately 3 times the dose. 

I believe the dose of Oramorph originally prescribed between 11’" and 15th 
January was appropriate if [~#~_X.-~]was terminally ill by that stage. 
However, no justification is given within the notes for originally writing up 
the higher than usual doses of Diamorphine and Midazolam on 11th 
January, the same time as the Oramorph was started, nor indeed is any 
rationale made in the medical or nursing notes on the decision to 
commence the syringe driver on the 15th January. This lack of medical 
documentation is poor clinical practice, and without justification of the 
dosage used is likely to have been negligent clinical practice. Although the 
nursing cardex suggests it was [~.~-~j decision to start the syringe 
driver on the 15th (25M), nothing is recorded in the medical notes. 

4.16 

4.17 

Midazolam was also started at a dose of 60 mgs per 24 hours. The main 
reason for using this is terminal restlessness and it is widely used 
subcutaneously in doses from 5 - 80 mgs per 24 hours for this purpose. 
Although 60 mgs is within current guidance, many believe that elderly 
patients need a lower dose of 5 - 20 mgs per 24 hours. This would again 
suggest that the patient was being given a higher starting dose of 
Midazolam then would usually be required for symptom relief. Where 
clinicians significantly deviate from standard clinical practice, it is poor 
clinical practice not to document that decision clearly. 

The nursing notes documented anxiety, agitation and generalised pain 
for which the Midazolam and the strong opioids (Oramorph and 
Diamorphine) were started. Midazolam is often used for the 
restlessness of terminal care and although Oramorphine and 
Diamorphine are usually used for severe pain, in clinical practice it is 
often used as well for the severe restlessness of terminal care. One 
study of patients on a long stay ward (Wilson J.A et.al. Palliative 
Medicine 1987:149-153) found that 56% of terminally ill patients on a 
long-stay ward receive opioid analgesia. Hyoscine is also prescribed 
in terminal care to deal with excess secretions which can be 
distressing for both patient and carers. I believe this was appropriately 
prescribed and given. 

Diamorphine is compatible with Midazolam and can be mixed in the same 
syringe driver. Based on the evidence suggesting unusually high dosage of 
these medications being used I have considered whether there was 
evidence in the notes of any drug complications, in particular whether 
giving three times the normal starting dose for both Diamorphine and 
Midazolam together caused excessive sedation or other side effects that 
might be considered negligent. I was only able to find two pieces of 
evidence. The first was a statement in the nursing notes (26M) that by the 
evening that the syringe driver was started, the patient was unresponsive. 
The aim of palliative care is to provide symptom relief not possible over 
sedation leading to unconsciousness. However, this did not continue 
and [i~i~i~i_-.A_-i~i~iiwas noted to be more alert and agitated again on the 
16th. 

4.18 

Secondly on the 21st January (15M) a respiratory rate of 6 per minute 
is noted suggesting some possible respiratory depression. 

A further drug, Nozinan, a sedating major tranquilliser is added to the drug 
regime, 50 mgs a day on the 18th January and increased to 100 mgs a 
day on the 20th January. Though this is within the therapeutic range in 
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4.19 

palliative care, 25 - 200 mgs a day when it is used for nausea and 
vomiting, the BNF advises 5 - 20 mgs a day and that the drug should 
be used with care in the elderly because of sedation. 

The rationale for starting Nozinan appears to be the fact that the 
patient had become unsettled on Haloperidol (a different sort of major 
tranquilizer) and Nozinan is more sedating that Haloperidol. A verbal 
order to increase the dose of Nozinan from 50 to 100 mgs is 
documented in the medical notes (M15). This suggests that the 100 
mgs was not actually written up within the Drug Charts, which if true, 
would be poor clinical practice. The absence of the drug charts makes 
this harder to determine. 

The prediction of how long a terminally ill patient would live is virtually 
impossible and even palliative care experts show enormous variation 
(Higginson I.J. and Constantini M. Accuracy of Prognosis Estimates by 4 
Palliative Care Teams: A prospective cohort study. BMC Palliative Care 
2002 1:21). The combination of the high doses of Diamorphine, the high 
doses of Midazolam and the high doses of Nozinan are in my view likely to 
have caused excessive sedation beyond the need the symptom control in 
this dying man. In my view the medication is likely, but not beyond 
reasonable doubt, to have shortened life. However, I would have expected 
this to have been by no more than hours to a few days had a lower dose of 
all, or indeed any, of the drugs been used instead. 

5. OPI 

5.1 

5.2 

NION 

~_~_-.~~3 was an 83 year old gentleman with a long recurrent 
history of severe depression resistant to treatment. This was 
complicated by drug induced parkinsonism and subsequent mental and 
physical frailty and dependency. His admission to the Gosport War 
Memorial Hospital Mental health beds on the 29th November and 
subsequent transfer to a medical bed on the 5th January 1997 was the end 
point of these chronic disease process. He continues to deteriorate and 
dies on the [~_~_~.~_~_~_~._~_~_~._-~._~.~_~_~_~.~j. 

However there were significant failings in the medical care provided to 
[i#_.o_-.d_-~i~ii in particular: 

The failure to undertake a physical examination of the patient on 
admission to the medical ward at the Gosport War Memorial 
Hospital, or if it was undertaken, the failure to record in the notes. 

¯ The prescription of a high dose of Diamorphine (40 - 80 mgs) on 
the PRN part of the drug char ton admission, without explanation. 

¯ The failure to document a detailed assessment of his pain and 
distress in the notes prior to starting regular opioid treatment. 

5.3 

The use of approximately 3 times the usual expected daily dose of 
Diamorphine when starting the syringe driver, together with a dose 
of 60 mgs of Midazolam, without any explanation in the notes, in my 
view negligent clinical practice. 

There were also deficiencies in the use of the drug chart at the Gosport 
War Memorial Hospital, in particular: 
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¯ The failure to cross off the regular prescription of Oramorphine and 
Diamorphine when rewritten on the 11th January and on the 15th 
January. 

¯ The use of the PRN side of the drug chart to write up regular 
syringe driver medication for PRN use. 

¯ The failure to date several prescriptions. 

¯ Inaccurate information on the drug chart for the prescription of the 
Diamorphine on the 18th January. 

¯ The failure to write dosages of controlled drugs in words and 
figures as well as total dosages given. 

6. EXPERTS’ DECLARATION 

10. 

I understand that my overriding duty is to the court, both in 
preparing reports and in giving oral evidence. I have complied and 
will continue to comply with that duty. 
I have set out in my report what I understand from those 
instructing me to be the questions in respect of which my opinion 
as an expert are required. 
I have done my best, in preparing this report, to be accurate and 

complete. I have mentioned all matters which I regard as relevant 
to the opinions I have expressed. All of the matters on which 1 
have expressed an opinion lie within my field of expertise. 

I have drawn to the attention of the court all matters, of which I am 
aware, which might adversely affect my opinion. 
Wherever I have no personal knowledge, 1 have indicated the 

source of factual information. 
I have not included anything in this report which has been 
suggested to me by anyone, including the lawyers instructing me, 
without forming my own independent view of the matter. 
Where, in my view, there is a range of reasonable opinion, I have 

indicated the extent of that range in the report. 
At the time of signing the report I consider it to be complete and 

accurate. 1 will notify those instructing me if, for any reason, I 
subsequently consider that the report requires any correction or 
qualification. 

1 understand that this report will be the evidence that I will give 
under oath, subject to any correction or qualification I may make 
before swearing to its veracity. 

I have attached to this report a statement setting out the 
substance of all facts and instructions given to me which are 
material to the opinions expressed in this report or upon which 
those opinions are based. 

7. STATEMENT OF TRUTH 

I confirm that insofar as the facts stated in my report are within my own 
knowledge I have made clear which they are and I believe them to be true, 
and the. opinions I have expressed represent my true and complete 
professional opinion. 
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Code A 
Signature: Date:9 July 2008 
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SUMMARY OF CONCLUSIONS 

¯ ’[’_~_-.~?’.e_~#~.-’_~] was an 83 year-old lady admitted to the Haslar Hospital on 5th 

February 1996 following a fall and then transferred to Gosport War Memorial 
Hospital on 26th February 1996. She had long-standing problems with diabetes, a 
peripheral neuropathy, poor eyesight and registered blind. After admission she is 
found to be doubly incontinent, totally dependent with a probable quadriplegia, 
constant pains down her shoulders and arms and is found to have serious and 
unexplained abnormalities in various blood tests. 

In the Gosport War Memorial Hospital, she fails to make any improvement, 
deteriorates with a bed sore that eventually becomes black and blistered. She 
receives pain relief and palliation for her deteriorating phy_s._!_c_.a_.[._.c_._o._.n_.d_.!.t_!_o._.n_., including 
subcutaneous Diamorphine and Midazolam and dies on L ......... _C_.£_d_..e.__A_ ......... 

The expert opinion is: 

~’_-._-i_-._-._-._-._-.] provides an example of a very complex and challenging 
problem in geriatric medicine. It included multiple medical problems and 
increasing physical dependency causing very considerable patient distress. 
Several doctors, including Consultants, failed to make an adequate assessment 
of her medical condition. 

There are particular significant concerns about the medical management in the 
Gosport War Memorial Hospital, and significant failings in the use of the drug 
charts at Gosport War Memorial Hospital. 

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

2,1, Was the standard of care afforded to this patient in the days leading up 
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
page of evidence, the numbers with ’H’ in front are the Haslar notes, ’M’ in front 
are the microfilm notes). 

3.1 

3.2 

The Gosport notes record that [ CoaeA iwas an insulin dependent 
diabetes mellitus since the1940’s (53). She is referred to the Diabetic 
Service because of more troublesome hypoglycaemia in 1984 (65). In 1985 
she is known to have a mild peripheral neuropathy (73). Her weight in 1988 
is 85 kgs (73) and in 1987 her weight is 89 kgs (77). By 1988 she has very 
poor eyesight (47M). She is also documented to have high blood pressure 
in 1986 (29). 

[~i~i~i~i~i~�_-~i_ai~[#i~i~i~i~i~i~iwas admitted to Haslar hospital on 5th February 1996 
through A&E having had a fall at home (H15, H16). She is recorded as 
having right shoulder tenderness (H25) is moving all four limbs and her 
cervical spine is thought to be normal, written as (CX spine,/) (H16). The 
notes record that x-rays were taken of her skull and both shoulders (H24). 
In a subsequent neurological examination, she is noted to have reduced 
power 3/5, cannot move her right fingers and has an extensor right plantar 
(H24). A Barthel on the 5th (H631) is recorded as 5/20. 

Her past medical history is noted as insulin dependent, diabetes mellitus for 
54 years (age 29) appendicectomy and a hysterectomy. She is noted to 
have previous collapses in the past (H47) but without weakness, although 
her clerking in 1995 (H48) suggested that she might have had some sensory 
loss and a mild diabetic peripheral neuropathy. Her Barthel in 1995 was 
14/20 (H495) and she was able to mobilise at that stage with a walking stick 
(H497). She had diabetes, eye disease, was registered blind in 1988 (H 97). 
She had hypoglycaemic episodes going back many years (H 71) and 
pneumonia in 1985 (H317). 

On transfer to the ward, both her legs are noted to be weak 4/5 (H35) no 
sensory loss is noted. The notes also state she does not normally go 
upstairs and her bed is downstairs (H29). However, her son stated that a 
large pool of blood was found at the top of the stairs (H23). She apparently 
goes out once a week with her son and is forgetful but not confused (H39). 

Following admission, she is seen by a physiotherapist (157) who notes pain 
in both shoulders, can only stand with two people and is now having to be 
fed, washed and dressed, when previously independent. 
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3.3 

No further neurological examination is recorded by the Haslar medical team 
and she is referred to [~.;_i)_~_;~i~i on 13th February (H159). [.~.~~,~)-..d_.~.~.) actually 
sees her and confirms that she still has bilateral weakness of both arms and 
legs (H163) and finds that her left plantar is extensor (H163) confirmed in his 
letter (H253) but is not sure about the right plantar which has previously 
been found to be extensor. 

The importance of this finding is that it suggests that she has a bilateral 
neurological event in the brain, brain stem or spinal cord somewhere above 
the thoracic spine. 

L._._.C_._o._d._e._._A._._.i records "probable brain stem CVA". ....... "she has had her neck x- 
rayed, I assume it was normal" (H167). I was unable to find any x-ray 
request recorded in the notes for a cervical spine, nor any reports of an x-ray 
of a cervical spine or indeed reports on the x-rays that were recorded as 
being requested (i.e. the skull and shoulder x-rays). 

[_._._.C_.o_.a_.e_.~_._j notes her mild anaemia of 9.7 with an MCV of 76.5 (H17) and says 
that he will consider investigation into anaemia later (H164). Abnormal 
blood tests are also available in the notes on 9th February (H609) an albumin 
of 32, a Gamma GT 128 and Alkaline Phosphatase of 362. No 
investigations are done to determine whether these are a hepatic effect of 
her diabetes or other problems with the raised alkaline phosphatase 
potentially coming from a fracture. 

[i[i[i[i#~[.X_-i:i[i[] letter says [~#~_-.~_-.~]will be transferred for rehabilitation as 
soon as possible although his written notes say that "I’m not sure she will be 
able to get back home, but we’ll try." She is transferred on the 22nd February 
1996 to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital. 

On the 20th February [ .......... ~ga;;~- .......... ]is again seen by a physiotherapist 
(H165), her bilateral shoulder pain is again documented and she needs two 
to transfer. Reviewing her drug charts (H684 and H690) she receives 
regular analgesia comprising Co-proxamol and Dihydrocodeine all through 
her admission. 

::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::: is transferred on the 22nd February 1996 to the GWMH. The 
medical notes in Gosport (45M) 22nd February 1996 state that she "fell at 
home from the top to the bottom of the stairs and had lacerations on her 
head". It also states that she has severe incontinence and leg ulcers. Once 
in Gosport there is no apparent examination of the patient and no 
examination recorded. In some of the nursing cardex there is a series of 
assessments confirming that this lady is highly dependent. She has no 
mobility and bed rest is maintained all through her stay (100 -101). She has 
leg ulcers both legs (107 - 109). She is catheterised throughout, although 
there is no suggestion that she had a catheter prior to her admission to 
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hospital (111). She has a sacral bed sore noted; "a red and broken sacrum 
on 21st February" (115) and this progresses to a black and blistered bed sore 
on the 27th February (115). She is thought to be constipated on 
assessment, then continually leaks faeces throughout her admission (119). 

3.4 

3.5 

3.6 

3.7 

3.8 

3.9 

Barthel is documented at 4/20 on 22nd February (165) (i.e. grossly 
dependent). Her mental test score is normal 10/10 on the same date (165). 
Lift handling score (171) also confirms high dependency. 

Investigation tests reported on 23rd February 1996 find that she has a normal 
haemoglobin of 12.9 with a slightly reduced mean cell volume of 75.6 and 
gross thrombocytopenia ( a low platelet count) of 36,000 (57M). The report 
on the film (58M) shows that this is a highly abnormal full blood count with 
distorted red blood cells and polychromasia. A repeat blood film is 
suggested. This is repeated on 27th February (57M) and thrombocytopenia 
is now even lower at 22,000. The urea is normal at 7.1 on 23re February but 
has increased and is abnormal at 14.6 on 27th February (187). Her alkaline 
phosphatase is 572 (over 5 times the upper limit of normal) her albumin is 
low at 32 (187). No comment is made on any of these significantly abnormal 
blood tests in any of the Gosport notes, though the low platelet count is 
noted in nursing summary on 23re February (151). The platelet count had 
been normal at 161 on admission to the Haslar (H17). 

An MSU (59M) sent on 5th February showed a heavy growth of strep faecalis 
there are no other MSU or other blood culture results in the notes. 

Medical progression (documented on pages 45M and 46M) is of 
catheterisation and treatment for a possible U.T.I on 23re February. On 26th 

February, [.~.~._�.~;.~.~.~.~i records that the patient is not so well, also that Mrs 
..c_._o._d..e_._A_ ....... i’bottom was very sore needs Pegasus mattress institute, SIC 

analgesia if necessary". The family were seen regarding progress. Nursing 
cardex reports (153) a meeting with the son occurred on the 24th February 
and state "son is happy for us just to make [’.~_-._-._-.:.#_s._a..~._x._-._-..’._-._-._-icomfortable". 
"Syringe driver explained". 

The medical notes on 5th March say "deteriorated over the I.a_..s_t._.f_.e_._.w_._.d__.a_ys..., 
in some pain, therefore start subcutaneous analgesia." On [_._..C._o_._d..e.__A_._.i 
"analgesia commenced, comfortable overnight I am happ._y.~o_._r._.t_h_._e._._r~ight staff 
to confirm death". It is then confirmed at 21.28 hours on [._._C._.o_._d._e._..A._._.i 

The nursing care plan first mentions significant pain on 27th February (95) 
and describes pain on most days up until 5th March where the pain is 
uncontrolled and the patient is distressed, at which point a syringe driver is 
commenced (97). On 6th March pain is controlled. 
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3.10 Drug management in Gosport. I shall concentrate on the use of analgesia. 
Throughout the patient received appropriate doses of insulin, Co-amilofruse 
(a diuretic), Digoxin, Iron and steroid inhalers up unto the last twelve hours. 
She also received a course of Trimethoprim (an antibiotic) between 23rd and 
27th February. 

3.11 Morphine slow release (MST)tt67M)was started at 10 mgs bd on the 24th 
February and is given until 26 February when MST 20 mgs bd (145)is 
started, this continues until the 3re March. On 4th March Oramorph 30 mgs 
bd is written up and given during 4th March (139). On 5th March 
Diamorphine is written up 100 - 200 mgs subcut in 24 hours (137). 100 mgs 
is prescribed and started at 08.30 in the morning, together with Midazolam 
40 mgs (137) (61M). Midazolam had been written up at 40 - 80 mgs subcut 
in 24 hours. Diamorphine and Midazolam pump is filled at 09.45 hours 
(61 M) on 6th March together with another 40 mgs of Midazolam. 

3.12 When admitted into hospital Dihydrocodeine PRN for pain had been written 
up together Hyoscine. Diamorphine 80 - 160 mgs subcut in 24 hours was 
written up on 26th February together with Midazolam 40 - 80 mgs in 24 
hours subcut, but these drugs were never prescribed (141). 

3.13 The notes document (for example page 65M) [-8;~-,i;-~.-]was the consultant 
responsible for this patient although the patient only appears to have been 
seen medically at any stage by [ Code A _~ and a different consultant,zo_,..z_.,’ ..... 
L._c._o.#_e._~,j saw the patient in the Haslar Hospital. 

Drug 
Dihydrocodeine 

Diamorphine 

Midazolam 

MST 

MST 

Oramorphine 
SR Tablets 

and MST (in 

Date prescribed 
22/02 

26/02 

26/02 

24/02 

Probably 26/02 

04/03 

Prescribed as 
TT oral Qds, 
PRN 

80 - 160 mgs 
S/C in 24 hours 
PRN 
40 - 80 mgs 
S/C in 24 hours 
PRN 
10 mgs oral 
b.d 
Regular 
20 mgs oral 
b.d 
Regular 

NEW PRESCRIPTION 
30 mgs oral 
b.d 
Regular 

Prescriber 

Code Ai 

CHART 

LC_.?..d_e._A..i 

Given 
22/02 - 24/02 
03/03 

24/02 2 doses 
25/02 2 doses 
26/02 am only 
26/02 pm dose 
27/02 2 doses 
28/02 2 doses 
29/02 1 dose 
01/03 2 doses 
02/03 2 doses 
03/03 2 doses 

04/03 2 doses 
05/03 not given but 

prescription not 
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same prescription 

box) 
Diamorphine 

Midazolam 

05/03 

05/03 

100-200 mgs 
S/C in 24 hours 
Regular 
40 - 80 mgs 
S/C in 24 hours 
Regular 

05/03 
06/03 

05/03 
06/03 

crossed out. 

0830 100 mgs 
0845 100 mgs 

0830 40 mgs 
0845 40 mgs 

4. TECHNICAL BACKGROUND / EXAMINATION OF THE FACTS IN ISSUE 

4.1 This section will consider whether there were any actions so serious that 
they might amount to gross negligence or any unlawful acts, or deliberate 
unlawful killing in the care of [i~i~i~i~i~i~.�_-~i_a.~~#i~i~i~i~i~i~i Also whether there were 
any actions or admissions by the medical team, nursing staff or attendant 
GP’s that contributed to the demise of [ ....... ~;~~- ......... ~i in particular, 
whether beyond reasonable doubt, the actions or omissions more than 
minimally, negligibly or trivially contributed to death. 

4.2 In particular I have discussed: 
a) Her medical conditions 
b) Whether she had become terminally ill during her admission 
c) Whether the treatment that was then provided was appropriate. 

4.3 [[~[~[~[~[~.a_~]_X.-~[~[~[~[~[j had a number of serious underlying medical conditions. 
The most serious of which was her insulin dependent diabetes mellitus 
going back to the 1940’s complicated by hypoglycaemia’s, which had led, 
to falls on previous occasions, peripheral neuropathy which may also 
contribute to falls and with a combination of diabetes and other 
processes she had become registered blind. She also had documented 
frailty prior to admission, for example, already having moved her bed 
downstairs with an exercise tolerance of 10 yards with a stick. Her son 
was documented to do her shopping (11). However, she was still living 
alone, was only documented to have stress incontinence (11) and was 
cognitively intact (MTS 10/10) (165). 

4.4 She was then admitted to Haslar Hospital having had a fall, which was 
from the top to the bottom of the stairs. No explanation is given as to 
how she was at the top of the stairs, if she was already set up with her 
bed downstairs at home. Following this she is documented both at the 
assessment at Haslar Hospital and then on admission to Gosport 
Hospital as being severely dependent. She cannot use her arms 
properly, her hands and wrists are noted to be weak and she cannot 
stand and walk, she is so incontinent she needs a catheter and she has 
continual faecal leakage. Barthel is 4/10. I believe this lady was 
misdiagnosed and had quadriplegia from a high cervical Spinal cord 
injury secondary to her fall. This diagnosis appears to have been missed 
by all the doctors who saw her. Although the A&E notes in Haslar state 
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"cervical spine normal" (H18), presumably on clinical, not x-ray, grounds. 
Also ~).;_~_X.-~2~i mistakenly believes she had her neck x-rayed and it was 
normal (H163). No-one checks this statement is correct. 

4.5 Other on-going serious medical problems have also not been explained. 
She has a documented low platelet count on admission to Gosport, 
which on repeat is extremely low and at a level that makes life 
threatening bleeding at any time quite probable. The blood film is also 
highly abnormal which suggests that there is now some systemic illness 
going on, probably involving this lady’s bone marrow. In the absence of 
infection or a likely drug culprit, then cancer involving the bone marrow 
would be a possibility. She also has a very rapidly rising alkaline 
phosphatase, which suggests either liver, or bone pathology. No other 
information is now available that would help me clarify this further. 

I would have expected that these very abnormal blood tests would have 
been reviewed and commented on by the doctor in charge of the case. 
There is no point in undertaking investigations if the results are ignored. 
The blood results appear to be complex to interpret and I would have 
expected a clinical assistant or General Practitioner to have taken advice 
from the consultant in charge of the case as to their relevance and 
whether further action was required. If further discussion did take place 
or the results were properly looked at, this is simply not recorded in the 
notes. 

4.6 Other evidence that this lady was frail and ill is provided by the pressure 
sore which appears to deteriorate during admission and a low albumin 
documented on admission. 

4.7 In my view this lady received a negligent medical assessment in both 
Haslar and Gosport. In particular the cervical spine xrays, if undertaken, 
were not checked or reported in Haslar, she was not examined on 
admission to Gosport, or if she was it was not documented in the notes. 
Thus no medical explanation beyond the "possible brain stem CVA" is 
made. This would not explain all her physical symptoms, or her profound 
neurological deficit. Also no medical diagnosis was made for pain that 
she continually complained of down her arms, which again would fit with 
a high cervical Spinal cord fracture or similar injury. Also, no attempt was 
made to determine why this lady had a very low platelet count and rising 
alkaline phosphatase. Without making an adequate medical assessment 
it is impossible to plan appropriate management. The lack of an 
adequate medical assessment and adequate documentation make it very 
difficult to be certain as to what treatment should normally have been 
given. 



GMC100106-0164 

Version 6 of complete report- May 26 2008 

4.8 There can be no doubt though that the family, L._._._c._o.#~_6._._.j and the nursing 
staff all recognised this lady was seriously ill. Although the doctors fail to 
come to a diagnosis and therefore could not determine whether there 
was any treatable underlying problem. Evidence for this is that there was 
already discussion, within 2 days of admission, with the family about 
prognosis for recovery and how best to manage her illness. A syringe 
driver was already being discussed with the family on 24th February. 
Indeed all the markers of illness I have found, suggest this lady was very 
seriously ill. 

4.9 Even if a high cervical Spinal cord fracture had been diagnosed, the 
potential for neurosurgical intervention in an elderly lady with diabetes is 
low and treatment with prolonged immobilisation has a very high mortality 
rate in itself. The unexplained low platelet count also suggests other 
significant serious pathology, which was never diagnosed, more complex 
in a patient who needing all care with leg ulcers and pressure sores. In 
my view, there were only two options by 24th February, a) to get a further 
specialist opinion or b) treat symptomatically and provide palliative care. 

4.10 In view of the complexity of the medical problems, it would have been 
wise and appropriate to have obtained a further specialist opinion, 
probably from the consultant in charge of the case before deciding this 
lady was definitely terminally ill. I can see no evidence in the notes that 
this was considered. 

It was appropriate though to provide pain relief for someone who was 
both in pain and distressed with loss of totally bodily function. To start 
MST at a normal low dose on the 24th February was appropriate. 

4.11 If the pain was not resolved, increasing the dose to 20 mgs bd on both 
the 26th February adding the Oramorph 30 mgs bd on 4th March were all 
appropriate symptomatic responses. 

4.12 An unusually large dose of Diamorphine (80 - 160 mgs subcut in 24 
hours) is written up on the 26th February on the PRN section of the drug 
chart. Midazolam 40 - 80 mgs subcut is also written up PRN. Although 
never given, there is no justification in the notes for why such an 
apparently large dose of Diamorphine was written to be given if needed. 

4.13 I have little doubt this lady was moving to a terminal phase of her illness 
by the 5th March. There had been no improvement in her quadriplegia, 
she remained faecally incontinent, the nursing cardex documents 
increasing pain, her platelet count has fallen further and her urea has 
doubled to 14.6 (187). At this stage a decision to start Diamorphine 100 
mgs once a day subcutaneously and 40 mgs once a day Midazolam is 
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4.14 

4.15 

4.16 

4.17 

4.18 

made. 

Midazolam is widely used subcutaneously in doses from 5 - 80 mgs for 
24 hours and is particularly used for terminal restlessness. The dose of 
Midazolam used was 40 mgs for 24 hours, which is within current 
guidance, although many believe that elderly patients may need a lower 
dose of 5 - 20 mgs per 24 hours. (Palliative Care. Chapter 23 in 
Brocklehurst Text Book of Geriatric Medicine, 6th Edition 2003). 

The Diamorphine was specifically prescribed for pain and is commonly 
used for pain in terminal care, Diamorphine is compatible with Midazolam 
and can be mixed in the same syringe driver. The dose of Diamorphine 
actually prescribed was 100 mgs in 24 hours. At that time [_~_-..~.~_~_a..~;.~i_~_~,~.~_~[.~.~i 
was receiving 60 mgs a day of Oramorphine. Diamorphine 
subcutaneously is usually given at a maximum ratio of 1:2 (i.e. up to 30 
mgs of Diamorphine in 24 hours for 60 mgs of Oramorphine). (Wessex 
Guidelines). However if her pain was not controlled and it would be 
appropriate to give a higher dose of the Diamorphine. Conventionally 
this would be 50% greater than the previous days; (Wessex Guidelines) 
some clinicians might give up to 100%. Thus a starting dose of 
Diamorphine of 45 - 60 mgs in 24 hours would seem appropriate. [~[o.-.,;.~_;.i 

¯ ’,..~.2-~_-.;.?~;_-$.~.Z.’ actually was prescribed a dose of 100 mgs of Diamorphine, in 
my view excessive. 

Diamorphine is compatible with Midazolam and can be used in the same 
syringe driver. It is documented above though that she received a 
significant dose of Midazolam and an excessive, and in my view, 
inappropriately large dose of Diamorphine. Together these drugs are 
likely to have caused excessive sedation and respiratory depression. 
However there is no evidence in the notes to prove these complications 
occurred. 

[~.a_~_X.-~j is documented to be comfortable on the 6th and dies 

approximately 36 hours after the Midazolam and Diamorphine pumps 
were started. 

The prediction of how long a terminally ill patient will live is virtually 
impossible and even Palliative Care experts show enormous variation 
(Higginson I J and Costantini M. Accuracy of Prognosis Estimates by 4 
Palliative Care teams: A prospective cohort study. BMC Palliative Care 
2002 1:1.) 

The doses of Diamorphine used, in conjunction with a significant dose of 
Midazolam, was in my opinion excessively high. However, I can not find 
evidence to satisfy myself the standard of "beyond reasonable doubt", 
they had the definite effect of shortening her life in more than a minor 
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fashion of a few hours to a few days. 

,5. OPINION 

5.1 [..--..--..--..--..--..--..--..--..--¢262#.;--~.--..--..--..--..--..--..--..--..~ provides an example of a very complex and challenging 
problem in geriatric medicine. It included multiple medical problems and 
increasing physical dependency causing very considerable patient distress. 
Several doctors, including Consultants, failed to make an adequate 
assessment of her medical condition. 

5.2 There are significant concerns about the medical management of [~i~iii~.i 
[_-._-._-�~.-~.-~_-._-.~, in particular: 

¯ The failure of doctors in both Haslar and Gosport to consider other 
possible neurological causes for her problems or to obtain expert 
neurological advice. 

¯ The failure of doctors in Haslar to follow up the reports on the Cervical 
Spine xrays, if they were actually undertaken. 

¯ The failure to examine or record the examinations of [ .......... ~;~i~-~: .......... ]on 
admission to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital, and therefore missing 
the opportunities to review her diagnoses. 

¯ The failure to consider the implications of abnormal blood tests requested 
in the Gosport War Memorial Hospital. 

¯ The failure of [._._._c._o.~_e._~._._.j to get further advice from her consultant on the 
24th February. 

¯ The prescription of a large range and a very large minimum dose of 
Diamorphine (80 mgs) on the PRN side of the drug chart on the 26th 

February. 
¯ The lack of a through recorded assessment of pain before starting 

regular strong opioid analgesia or the syringe driver (see generic report). 
¯ The use of Diamorphine at a dose of 100 mgs in 24 hours on the 5th 

March, in my view an excessive dose. 

5.3 There are also significant failings in the use of the drug chart at Gosport War 
Memorial Hospital, in particular: 

¯ The failure to cross out the regular prescription of MST when replaced by 
other medication. 

¯ The prescription of a large range of controlled drugs on both the PRN 
and regular sides of the drug chart (see generic report). 

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

[~#~-,~-~-~.---7 an 84-year-old lady with a number of chronic diseases, suffers a fall 
and a fractured neck of femur in August 1998. She is admitted to hospital and 
has operative treatment but develops post-operative complications including 
chest infection, chest pain and confusion at night and subsequently deteriorates 
and dies in the Gosport War Memorial Hospital. 

In my view a major problem in assessing this case is the poor documentation in 
the Gosport Hospital in both the medical and nursing notes, making a 
retrospective assessment of her progress difficult. However, I believe the 
overall standard of medical care is the Gosport War Memorial Hospital to be 
negligent. The use of the drug chart was also significantly deficient. 

1. INSTRUCTIONS 
To examine the medical records and comment upon the standard of care 
afforded to the patient in the days leading up to her death against the 
acceptable standard of the day. Where appropriate, if the care is felt to be sub- 
optimal, comment upon the extent to which it may or may not disclose criminally 
culpable actions on the part of individuals or groups. 

2. ISSUES 

2.1. 

2.2. 

Was the standard of care afforded to this patient in the days 
leading up to her death in keeping with the acceptable standard of 
the day. 
If the care is found to be suboptimal what treatment should 
normally have been proffered in this case. 

3. CHRONOLOGY/CASE ABSTRACT. (The numbers in brackets refer to the page of 
evidence, the numbers with ’H’ in front are the Haslar notes). 

3.1 _c._.odeA ;an 84-year-old lady in 1998, was admitted as an 
emergency on 5th August 1998 to the Haslar Hospital (H52). 

3.2 In 1982 she had been diagnosed with osteoarthritis (211). In 1989 
she was noted to have varicose leg ulcers (73) and in 1990 was 
documented as having gross lipodermatus sclerosis (239). In 1993 
she had problems with left ventricular failure, atrial fibrillation, aortic 
sclerosis and during that admission had a bout of acute renal failure 
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with her urea rising to 25.7 (60). Her Barthel was 18 in 1993 (179). 

3.3 In 1995 she was admitted with an acute arthritis and was noted to 
have a positive rheumatoid factor (30) and a positive ANF. She had 
mild chronic renal failure, which was noted to be worse when using 
non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (31) her creatinine rose to 178 
when Brufen was introduced (69). Her mental test score was 10/10 
(70) but she did have some mobility problems and was seen by an 
Occupational Therapist and a Physiotherapist (93) (164). 

3.4 In 1997 she was under the care of the Dermatologist with 
considerable problems from her leg ulcers and she was now having 
pain at night and was using regular Co proxamol (239). In 1998 she 
was seen by a Rheumatologist who thought she had CREST 
syndrome including leg ulcers, calcinosis, telangiectasia, and 
osteoarthritis, (353). 

3.5 On 29th June 1998 she was admitted to the Gosport War Memorial 
Hospital under the care of her GP Dr North (300). The medical 
clerking is virtually non-existent (75), simply saying that she was 
admitted for her leg ulcer treatment and her pulse, blood pressure 
and temperature being recorded. It was noted that she was having 
continual pain and Tramadol 50 mgs at night was added to her 
regular 3 times a day Co proxamol. (197) She was seen by a 
Consultant Dermatologist during this admission (76). 

3.6 The nursing cardex showed that she was continent with no confusion 
(298) however; she was sleeping downstairs (299). Her Barthel was 
12 (314) and her Waterlow pressure score was 16 (high risk). She 
appears to have been discharged home. 

3.7 She was admitted to the Haslar Hospital on 5th August having fallen 
and sustained a fractured neck of femur. This is operated upon 
successfully. By the 8th she is noted to be short of breath and 
probably in left ventricular failure with fluid overload (H63). Her renal 
function has deteriorated from a urea of 16 and a creatinine of 119 on 
admission (H9) to a urea of 25 and a creatinine of 127 (H68) by the 
10th. Certainly on the 10th she appear unwell (H17) and it was not 
clear if this was a possible myocardial infarction or a chest infection 
(H17). However a chest x-ray is thought to show a chest infection 
and she is treated with regular Augmentin, an antibiotic (H69). On 
11th her white count is significantly raised at 18.8 (H96). She has a 

2 
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mild anaemia post operatively of 10.5 (H92) her haemoglobin was 
normal on admission at 13.1 (H16). 

3.8 On 13th August she is found to be brighter and sitting out and walking 
short distances with frame (H18) and this functional improvement 
continues, documented in the notes up to 17th August (H18). 
However, she is noted to have had an episode of chest pain on 15th 
August (H75). Initial cardiac enzymes were normal (H103) on the 16th 

August and non-diagnostic on the 10th August (H109). But there is no 
doubt that her ECG changes between her admission ECG (H86) and 
the ECG(s) on 13th August and 15th August (H80 and H78). This is 
not commented on in the notes. 

3.9 The nursing cardex shows that she is unsettled most nights, for 
example, 10/8 (H166), 13/8 (H168), 16/8 (H170) and on the night 
before discharge from Haslar on 17 August she settled late after 
frequent calling out". The nursing notes also show that she had a 
continuing niggling pyrexial and was still significantly pyrexial the day 
before discharge (H137). It also documents that on the day of 
transfer to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital, she has increased 
shortness of breath and oxygen is restarted (H171). 

3.10 Her drug chart shows that she receives low molecular weight Heparin 
as a prophylaxis against deep venous thrombosis (Calciparine) from 
admission until discharge. Diamorphine 2.5 mgs IV is giving as a 
single dose on 5th August (H128). Co-proxamol is given from 5th -- 8th 

August (H128) and then replaced by Paracetamol written up on the 
’as required’ part of the drug chart, which she receives almost every 
day, until the 16th August (H175). The discharge letter mentions her 
regular drugs of AIIopurinol, Bumetanide, Digoxin and Slow K, but 
does not mention any analgesia (H44). 

3.11 She is seen by [~-_a~_~-_.~] on 14th August (25-26). She notes that 
[.~.~;.~i_;~~.i appetite is poor, is in atrial fibrillation and may have Sick Sinus 
Syndrome ( an irregularity of cardiac rhythm). She has been 
dehydrated, hypokalaemic, and has a normochromic anaemia. She 
notes her leg ulcers and her pressure sores. She agrees to transfer 
her to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital and is uncertain as to 
whether there will be significant improvement. 

3.12 She is admitted to Dryad Ward on 18th August (77) and the medical 
notes states that she had a fractured neck of femur and a past 

3 
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medical history of angina and congestive cardiac failure. The rest of 
the medical notes, note that she is continent, transfers with two, 
needs help with ADL’s, a Barthel of 6. The management plan is "get 
to know, gentle rehabilitation". The next line states "1 am happy for 
the nursing staff to confirm death". The next and final line in the 
medical notes (77)is a nursing note from [~~~~]that [~.~_~_-~i 
had died 3eacefully at 18.25 hrs. 

3.13 The nursing care plan, on admission, noted her pressure sores (375), 
her leg ulcer care (377) and notes that she communicates well (387) 
but does have some pain (387). 

3.14 On 18th August the nursing continuation notes state that she awoke 
distressed and anxious and was given Oramorphine (388), it states 

th that she was very anxious and confused at times. On 19 August it 
said that she was comfortable at night, settled well, drowsy but 
rousable. Syringe driver satisfactory. On 20th August it stated 
continued to deteriorate. The nursing summary (394) states on 18th 

th August, pleasant lady, happy to be here. On 19 August at 11.50 am 
she complains of chest pain and looks "grey around mouth". 
Oramorphine is given. She is noted to be very anxious and the doctor 
is notified. The pain is apparently only relieved for short period and 
she is commenced on a syringe drive. 

On 20th August she continued to deteriorate overnight, the family 
have been informed and "very bubbly". On 21st August she 
deteriorates slowly. 

3.15 Drug Chart Review: Admission on 18th August, Digoxin, Slow K, 
Bumetanide and AIIopurinol are written up as per the discharge note 
from Haslar (369). On the ’as required’ part of the drug chart (369) 
Oramorphine 10 mgs in 5 mls, 2.5 - 5 mgs is written up together with 
Temazepam. No Temazepam is given but 3 doses of Oramorph are 
given, one on the 18th August and two doses on 19th August. 

3.16 On 19th August (368) Diamorphine 20 - 200 mgs sub cut in 24 hours 
is written up 20 mgs is started on 19th August, 20 mgs is started on 
20th August, then discarded, and 40 mgs started, on 21st August 60 
mgs is started. Hyoscine 200-800 micrograms subcut in 24 hours is 
also prescribed on 19th August. 400 micrograms is started on 20th 

August and replaced later in the day by 800 micrograms, which is 
continued on 21st August. Midazolam 20 - 80 mgs subcut in 24 hours 
is written up and 20 mgs prescribed on 20th August, replaced later in 
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the day by 40 mgs and finally by 60 mgs on 21st August. 

Drug Date prescribed Prescribed as Prescriber Given 
Diamorphine 05/08 2.5- 5.0 mgs ? 05/08 1300 2.5 mgs 

IV/I/M (at Hasler) 
PRN 

Co-proxamol 06/08 T-TT ? 06/08 2 doses 
oral hourly (at Hasler) 07/08 3 doses 
PRN 

Paracetamol 08/08 1 gram ? 1 or 2 doses most days 
oral (at Hasler) 08/08 - 16/08 
PRN 

Oramorphine 18/08 

Diamorphine 

Midazolam 

10 mg in 5 mls 
oral 
2.5 - 5 mls 
4 hourly 
PRN 
20 - 200 mgs 
SC in 24 hours 
Regular 

20-80 mgs 
S/C in 24 hours 
PRN 
Regular 

L.c_£~_e._&j 

(GWMH) 

(GWMH) 

(GWMH) 

18/08 1415 5mgs 
19/08 0015 10mgs 
19/08 1150 10mgs 

19/08 1600 20 mgs 
20/08 0915 20 mgs 

stopped and restarted 
20/08 1630 40 mgs 

stopped and restarted 
21/08 0735 60 mgs 
19/08 1600 20 mgs 
20/08 0915 20 mgs 

stopped and restarted 
20/08 1630 40 mgs 

stopped and restarted 
21/08 0735 60 mgs 

4. TECHNICAL BACKGROUND / EXAMINATION OF THE FACTS IN ISSUE 

4.1 This section will consider whether there were any actions so 
serious that they might amount to gross negligence or any 
unlawful acts, or deliberate unlawful killing in the care of !_.C_..o._d._e...A..i 

i-_~.~i_~_i~.i Also whether there were any actions or omissions by the 
medical team, nursing staff or attendant GP’s that contributed to 
the demise of [~I~I~.�_-.~I#~I~I~], in particular, whether beyond 
reasonable doubt, the actions or omissions more than minimally, 
negligibly or trivially contributed to death. 

4.2 had a number of chronic diseases prior to her terminal 
admission following a fractured neck of femur. She had cardiac 
disease with known atrial fibrillation, aortic sclerosis and heart 
failure, documented in 1993. She also had not just osteoarthritis 
but an auto-immune arthritis that was thought variously to be 
either rheumatoid arthritis or variant auto-immune arthritis (the 
CREST syndrome). She also had problems as a result of her 
long-standing varicose swelling of her lower limbs, with many 
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4.3 

4.4 

4.5 

4.6 

years of unresolved and very painful leg ulcers. Finally she had 
impaired renal function, developed mild acute renal failure when 
she was given on occasion, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. 

She is admitted by her GP into a GP bed consultant ward in June 
1998. Beyond measuring her blood pressure, there is no medical 
clerking and the medical notes are rudimentary at best. 
Significant information is available from the nursing cardex, which 
confirms that she is continent and there is no confusion. However, 
she does have some dependency with a Barthel of 12. Her pain 
relief is increased by adding Tramadol (an oral opiate like drug) to 
her Co proxamol and she is able to be discharged home, having 
been seen by the Dermatologist. 

She subsequently has a fall and suffers a fractured neck of femur. 
She is admitted to the Haslar Hospital for operative repair. There 
is always a very significant mortality and morbidity after fractured 
neck of femurs in old people, particularly in those who have 
previous cardiac and other chronic diseases. 

She is clearly unwell on 10th August, this is thought to have 
probably have been a chest infection and she is treated 
appropriately with antibiotics. However, her pyrexia never actually 
settles prior to discharge. She also suffers from at least one other 
episode of chest pain, again no diagnosis is come to in the 
medical notes, although her ECGs do appear to have changed 
during her admission, suggesting that this was either coronary 
event, including a possible heart attack or even a possible 
pulmonary embolus, despite her prophylactic anti-DVT therapy. 

She is documented to be confused on many evenings, including 
the evening before transfer from Haslar to Gosport War Memorial 
Hospital. There may be multiple reasons for this, simply having an 
operation after a fractured neck of femur can cause acute 
confusion which is more obvious in the evenings. Chest infections 
and cardiac events can also cause acute confusion. She was on 
regular oral Co proxamol and Tramadol prior to her admission. 
The Tramadol was not continued and the Co proxamol was 
replaced after a few days with Paracetamol which she does 
receive on a regular basis for pain, although it is not clear whether 
this is pain from her leg ulcers or her chest. It is therefore possible 
that she is also getting drug withdrawal symptoms and this is a 
further contributing factor to cause her restlessness and confusion 
at night. 

6 



GMC100106-0174 

Version 4 of complete report 15 May 2008 

4.7 

4.8 

4.9 

4.10 

She is seen by [~_~] who does a thorough assessment and 
arranges for an appropriate transfer to Gosport War Memorial 
Hospital. [-~;~i~-~:-i does not mention pain management as an 
issue. It is clear though from the notes that on the day of transfer 
she is still not right. She had been pyrexial the day before, she 
had been confused the night before transfer and she is more 
breathless needing oxygen on the day of transfer. It might have 
been wiser not to transfer her in this unstable clinical state. 

When she is transferred to the Gosport War Memorial Hospital 
she is seen by [ CodeA ]who fails to record a clinical examination, 
apart from a statement regarding her functional status, that she is 
catheterised, needs two to transfer and needs help with ADL and 
documents a Barthel of 6. An opportunity to assess her apparent 
unstable clinical state appears to have been missed. The nursing 
cardex states the Bartel is 9 (373) and that in the nursing cardex, 
she can wash with the aid of one and is independent in feeding. 

The continuation notes of [~_~_~;~](77) then mention 
rehabilitation with a statement about being happy for the nursing 
staff to confirm death. There are no further medical notes at all 
and in view of the subsequent changing clinical condition 

th documented in the nursing cardex on 19 August and that the 
nurses contacted the doctor (394) this is a poor standard of care. 
It also makes it very difficult to assess whether appropriate 
medical management was given to [ ...... .c_.o_~.~_._._.i 

On admission the regular drugs being prescribed at Haslar were 
continued but the Paracetamol and Tramadol she had received in 
the Gosport War Memorial Hospital only a month before were not 
prescribed, nor was any other milder analgesia such as 
Paracetamol. The only analgesia written up was Oramorphine on 
the ’as required’ part of the drug prescription. While it is probably 
appropriate for somebody who might have been having episodes 
of angina and left ventricular failure while in Gosport to have a 
Morphine drug available for nurses to give, it is very poor 
prescribing to write up no other form of analgesia, particularly if a 
doctor is not on site. The nursing staff could have no alternative 
but to go straight to a strong opioid analgesia. On her first night 
she is documented as anxious and confused. This is then treated 
by giving her two doses of Oramorphine despite there being no 
record in the medical or nursing cardex that it was pain causing 
this confusion. It should be noted this was probably no different 
from her evenings in Haslar which did not need any specific 
medication management. She also had Temazepam available on 
the drug chart to be used as a night time sedative if needed. In 
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4.11 

4.12 

4.13 

4.14 

4.15 

my view this is poor nursing and medical care in the management 
of confusion in the evening. 

On 19th August an event happened at 11.50 in the morning with 
the nursing notes recording that she had marked chest pain and 
was grey around her mouth. This could have been a heart attack, 
it could have been a pulmonary embolus, it could have been 
another episode of angina, it could simply have been some non- 
specific chest pain. No investigations are put in train to make a 
diagnosis, she does not appear to have been medically assessed, 
or if she was it was not recorded in the notes and would be poor 
medical practice. However, if the patient was seriously distressed, 
it would have been appropriate to have given the Oramorphine 10 
mgs that was written up on the ’as required’ side of the drug chart. 
The first aim would be to relieve distress while a diagnosis was 
made. 

Later on 19th August s syringe driver is started containing 
Diamorphine 20 mgs and 20 mgs of Midazolam. The only 
justification for this is recorded in the nursing notes (394) where it 
says pain is relieved for a short period. I am unable to find any 
records of observations, for example, pulse or blood pressure 
while the patient continues to have pain. 

The syringe driver is continued the next day and Hyoscine is 
added and the dose of Diamorphine, Midazolam and Hyoscine all 
increase during the afternoon of the 20th and again when the 
syringe driver is replaced on 21st. [._._._�.o.#_?_..A._._._;’dies peacefully on 

Diamorphine is specifically prescribed for pain, is commonly used 
for pain in cardiac disease as well as in terminal care. 
Diamorphine is compatible with Midazolam and can be mixed in 
the same syringe driver. Diamorphine subcutaneously after oral 
morphine is usually given at a maximum ratio of 1 to 2 (up to 10 
mgs of Diamorphine for 20 mgs or Oramorphine). She had 
received 20 mgs of Oramorphine on 19th and appears to have 
been in continuing pain so I think it is probably reasonable to have 
started with 20 mgs of Diamorphine in the syringe driver over the 
first 24 hours. 

Midazolam is widely used subcutaneously as doses from 5 - 80 
mgs per 24 hours and is particularly used for terminal 
restlessness. The dose of Midazolam used was 20 mgs for the 
first 24 hours, which is within current guidance, although many 
believe that elderly patients need a lower dose of 5 - 20 mgs per 
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24 hours (palliative care). (Chapter 23 in the Brocklehurst’s Text 
Book of Geriatric Medicines 6th Edition 2003). The original dose of 
Diamorphine appeared to be for continued chest pain. It is 
unusual to use continuous Diamorphine for chest pain without 
making a specific diagnosis. It is possible the patient had had a 
myocardial infarction and was now in cardiogenic shock. In that 
case it would be very reasonable to use a syringe driver and 
indeed to add Midazolam and Hyoscine over the subsequent 48 
hours. This can only be supposition without adequate 
documentation. 

4.16 In my view it is impossible from the notes to determine the cause 
of death and a Coroner’s Post Mortem should have been held. 

5. OPINION 

5.1 i~.~-a-~-~,---] an 84-year-old lady with a number of chronic diseases, 
suffers a fall and a fractured neck of femur in August 1998. She is 
admitted to hospital and has operative treatment but develops post- 
operative complications including chest infection, chest pain and 
confusion at night and subsequently deteriorates and dies in the 
Gosport War Memorial Hospital. 

5.2 In my view a major problem in assessing this case is the poor 
documentation in Gosport Hospital in both the medical and nursing 
notes, making a retrospective assessment of her progress difficult. 
However, I believe the overall standard of medical care in the Gosport 
War Memorial Hospital to be negligent, in particular: 

¯ The lack of any documented medical examination on admission, in 
a patient that appeared to be clinical unstable. 

¯ The failure to prescribe milder oral analgesia on admission to the 
Gosport War Memorial Hospital. 

¯ The use of Oramorphine for ’anxiety and confusion’ on the first 
night in the Gosport War Memorial Hospital. 

¯ The apparent failure to attend the patient when she developed 
chest pain and became unwell on the 19th August. 

¯ The failure to attempt to make any diagnosis or assessment of the 
change in condition on 19th August. 

¯ The decision to start a syringe driver on the 19th August without 
any record of the medical justification. 

¯ The failure to record any justification for the decision to increase 
the doses of Diamorphine and Midazolam on the 20th and 21st 
August. 

5.3 The use of the drug chart was also significantly deficient, in particular: 
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¯ The prescription of a large range of a controlled drug (see my 
generic report). 

¯ The failure to date prescriptions on the regular side of the drug 
chart. 

¯ The failure to cross out and rewrite prescriptions on the regular 
side of the drug chart when changing controlled drug dosages. 

¯ The failure to write dosages of controlled drugs in words and 
figures as well as total dosages to be given. 

5.4 Without a proven diagnosis, it is possible that the combination of 
Diamorphine and Midazolam together with the Hyoscine in a syringe driver 
contributed in part to [ ....... _c._o.~_e._~ ....... ]death. However, I am unable to satisfy 
myself to the standard of beyond reasonable doubt that it made more than a 
minimal contribution. 

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

Dear [~_-o_ ~], 

11 July 2008 16:07 

Further to our recent telephone conversation, below are the conditions which our Interims Order 
Panel has imposed on [. ..... .c_9_~.$_._._.j 
Registration today for a period of 18 months. 

1.     You must notify the GMC promptly of any professional appointment you accept for which 
registration with the GMC is required and provide the contact details of your employer and the 
PCT on whose Medical Performers List you are included. 

2.     You must allow the GMC to exchange information with your employer or any organisation 
for which you provide medical services. 

3.     You must inform the GMC of any formal disciplinary proceedings taken against you, from 
the date of this determination. 

4. You must inform the GMC if you apply for medical employment outside the UK. 

You must not prescribe diamorphine and you must restrict your prescribing of 
diazepam in line with BNF guidance. 

6.     You must provide evidence of your compliance with condition number 5 to the GMC prior 
to any review hearing of this Panel. 

7.     You must inform the following parties that your registration is subject to the conditions, 
listed at (1) to (6), above: 

a. Any organisation or person employing or contracting with you to undertake medical work 

b. Any Iocum agency or out-of-hours service you are registered with or apply to be registered 
with (at the time of application) 

c. Any prospective employer (at the time of application) 

d. The PCT in whose Medical Performers List you are included, or seeking inclusion (at the time 
of application) 

e. Your Regional Director of Public Health. 

Yours sincerely 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Attachments: 

[ .............................. e6;~’~,- ............................. i 

11 July 2008 15:55 

[-_~.~]new conds 11 July 2008.doc 

Dear All, 

The lOP has imposed conditions on [’_._._._c..o._~e_.6 ...... jregistration. Minutes attached. 
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Interim Orders Panel 

11 July 2008 

The Panel has carefully considered all the information before it today, 

including the submissions made by [~i~i~i~i~i~.e_-i~.A_-i~i~i~i~i~i] on behalf of the General 

Medical Council (GMC), those made on your behalf by [~_~.~_~e_~] and the 

documentation provided. The Panel has noted that your case was previously 

considered by the former Interim Orders Committee on four occasions and no 

order was made. However, the Panel has considered your case in the light of 

the submissions and information presented to it today. 

In accordance with Section 41A of the Medical Act 1983, as amended, the 

Interim Orders Panel has determined that it is necessary for the protection of 

members of the public, in the public interest and in your own interests to make 

an order imposing conditions on your registration for a period of 18 months as 

follows: 

1.    You must notify the GMC promptly of any professional 
appointment you accept for which registration with the GMC is required 
and provide the contact details of your employer and the PCT on 
whose Medical Performers List you are included. 

2.    You must allow the GMC to exchange information with your 
employer or any organisation for which you provide medical services. 

3.    You must inform the GMC of any formal disciplinary proceedings 
taken against you, from the date of this determination. 

4.    You must inform the GMC if you apply for medical employment 
outside the UK. 

5.    You must not prescribe diamorphine and you must restrict your 
prescribing of diazepam in line with BNF guidance. 

6.    You must provide evidence of your compliance with condition 
number 5 to the GMC prior to any review hearing of this Panel. 
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7.    You must inform the following parties that your registration is 
subject to the conditions, listed at (1) to (6), above: 

a. Any organisation or person employing or contracting with 
you to undertake medical work 

b. Any Iocum agency or out-of-hours service you are registered 
with or apply to be registered with (at the time of application) 

c. Any prospective employer (at the time of application) 

d. The PCT in whose Medical Performers List you are included, 
or seeking inclusion (at the time of application) 

e. Your Regional Director of Public Health. 

In reaching its decision to place conditions on your registration, the Panel 

bore in mind that it is not its function to make findings of fact or to decide on 

the veracity of the allegations. The Panel has, however, given such weight as 

it considers to be appropriate to the allegations that you face. 

In reaching this determination, the Panel has considered the information 

received initially from the Hampshire Constabulary concerning your alleged 

inappropriate prescribing for a number of patients at Gosport War Memorial 

Hospital and the investigations into their deaths. The Panel has noted from 

the overview of the Police investigation contained in the statement of 

[~~.~.~-~.a-~~~j dated 16 January 2007, that the Crown 

Prosecution Service has decided not to proceed with a criminal prosecution. 

However, the Panel has noted the criticisms in respect of your prescribing and 

record keeping contained in the report by ~’_-._-._-._-._-.~~, an expert 

commissioned by the GMC. 

The Panel has also taken account of the information that the GMC has 

referred your case for a hearing by the Fitness to Practise Panel into 

allegations that your prescribing in relation to 12 patients at Gosport War 

Memorial Hospital was inappropriate. The Panel has noted that the GMC has 

decided to postpone the Fitness to Practise hearing until the outcome of the 

Coroner’s inquest into the deaths of 10 patients at Gosport War Memorial 
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Hospital, eight of which are the subject of the Fitness to Practise hearing. The 

Panel notes that the inquest is expected to take place in the autumn of 2008. 

[~.-_a~-_&-_~i submitted that, in view of the serious concerns raised in 

relation to your prescribing, and the potential for risk to members of the public, 

or the public interest, it would be appropriate for the Panel to make an order 

imposing conditions on your registration. [~i~i~i~i~i~.e_-i~.A_-i~i~i~i~i~ii submitted that the 

public interest includes the maintenance of public confidence in the 

profession. 

The Panel also considered [~.-_C~§~_A.-_~i submission that there is no new 

information before the Panel today which justifies the imposition of an interim 

order. ~~_A.-~_.-i submitted that although the allegation formulated by the 

GMC now relates to 12 patients rather than the five patients who were the 

subject of the investigation when the Interim Orders Committee last 

considered your case in October 2004, the position has not altered. 

~_~_A.-~i pointed out that you have continued to work as a general 

practitioner for the past four years and there have been no com plaints about 

your practice. 

The Panel had regard to the information that you entered voluntarily into an 

agreement with the Fareham and Gosport Healthcare Trust (the Trust) in 

which you gave an undertaking that you would not prescribe benzodiazepines 

or opiate analgesics with effect from 1 October 2002. The Panel has received 

a letter dated 9 July 2008 from [~--.~--.~~a-.~...A-.~-~--.--.~~i 

[.~.~.~.~.~.~.~.~.~.~._~_~#.~.-_~.~.~.~.~.~.~.~.~.~.~.] at the Hampshire NHS Primary Care Trust (Hampshire 

PCT). [.~_~_~_~.~_~_-.,__-~._A_~_~.~_~_~] states that she has been closely monitoring your 

prescribing of benzodiazepines and opioid analgesics since your undertaking 

to restrict your prescribing of diazepam and diamorphine and confirms that 

you have maintained your compliance with the voluntary agreement which 

has been in place since October 2002. 

While the Panel notes your compliance, it is concerned that the agreement is 

voluntary and that there are no formal arrangements in place to monitor your 
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continued compliance. Given that this is not the first time that your 

prescribing has been queried and that there are to be inquests in respect of 

ten of the patients concerned, public confidence in the profession could be 

undermined if you were left in unrestricted practice in the meantime. The 

Panel considers that it is necessary for the maintenance of public confidence 

in the medical profession for the GMC to exercise control over your 

compliance with restrictions on your prescribing. 

Taking all the information into account, the Panel is satisfied that there may 

be impairment of your fitness to practise which poses a real risk to members 

of the public and which may adversely affect the public interest and, after 

balancing your interests and the interests of the public, the Panel has 

determined to impose an interim order to guard against such a risk. 

The Panel has taken account of the issue of proportionality and has balanced 

the need to protect members of the public, the public interest and your own 

interests against the consequences for you of the imposition of conditions on 

your registration. Whilst it notes that the above conditions restrict your ability 

to practise medicine, the Panel considers that the conditions are necessary to 

protect members of the public and the public interest whilst these matters are 

resolved. It is therefore satisfied that the imposition of the above conditions 

on your registration is a proportionate response to the risks posed by your 

remaining in unrestricted practice. 

In deciding on the period of 18 months, the Panel has taken into account the 

uncertainty of the time needed to resolve all the issues in this case. 

The order will take effect today and will be reviewed within six months, or 

earlier if necessary. 

Notification of this decision will be served upon you in accordance with the 

Medical Act 1983, as amended. 
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From: 

Sent: 11 July 2008 16:06 

To: 

Subject: RE: 

[~_~_~i~ihas confirmed that we should now let the families know, so I would be grateful if you would 
inform them. 

From: [ .................................... ~S~i~-~ ................................... i 
Sent: 11 Jul 2008 16:00 
To:i ........................... ~;~i;~-~ ........................... i 
Subject: RE: 

Thanks i~_~i- I was just on the phone to [~#~i~~iwho was telling me all 
about it. Would you like me to write out to family members/witnesses to let them know?? 

Good result! 

L._._._.c_.o_£.e_.~ ...... JI Solicitor 
for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

Mob e i ......... .C_ .o_ .d_ e_ . _A. ......... i 

Consider the environment, think before you print! 

Field FJsherWaterhouse LLP Portland Tower Portland Street Manchester M1 3LF 

Tel+44 (0)161 238 4900 Fax+44 (0)161 237 5357 E-mail info~ffw.com 

Web www,ffw.com CDE823 

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
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From ." i .......................................................... iSS~i~-~ ......................................................... 
Sent: Friday, July 11, 2008 3:55 plVl 
To." 
Subject: 

Dear All, 

The lOP has imposed conditions on ~._-._-.~_~.~._£._-._-._-i registration. Minutes attached. 

LC._.o.d._e._.A_.i 
This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential and intended solely for the 
use of the individual or entity to whom they are addressed. If you have received this 
email in error please notify £mc@£mc-uk.or£ 

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
email in error please notify £mc@~mc-uk.or~ 

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

Sent: 11 July 2008 16:21 

To: 

Subject: RE: 

As the hearing was held in private we can’t give them the minutes. 

However, the actual conditions will appear our website so you can disclose them if you consider it 
appropriate. 

Sent: 11 Jul 2008 16:14 

Subject: RE: 

Great - I will draft a letter - would you like the actual decision to go out with it? It has missed the 
post tonight so will go out on Monday 

Have a good weekend 

.C_._o._d._e._A._ ....... il Solicitor 
for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

Sent: Friday, July 11, 2008 4:06 PM 

Subject: RE: 

[ _Cg_d_e_A_ j 

[~_;.a_~.~.jhas confirmed that we should now let the families know, so I would be grateful if you would 
inform them. 

Lc_o_.d_.e_Ai 

Sent: 11 Jul 2008 16:00 
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Subject: RE: 

Thanks i.-~.-~_i~} I was just on the phone to [~i~~iwho was telling me all 

about it. Would you like me to write out to family members/witnesses to let them know?? 

Good result! 

_C._o._d._e._.A_ ....... ] Solicitor 
for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 
dd [.~.~.~.~.~6_~_~.~~.~.~.~.~.i 

Consider the environment, think before you print! 

Field FisherWaterhouse LLP Portland Tower Portland Street Manchester M1 3LF 

Tel (0)161 238 4900 Fax (0)161 237 5357 E-mail info~frw.com 

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

From:i .................................................... i~l~-~- ....................................................... i 
Sent: Friday, July 11, 2008 3:55 PM 

To: i.~_~_~.~.~_~_~.~.~_-~½~.~.~_~_~.~.~_~_~.~.~J 
Subject: 

Dear All, 
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The lOP has imposed conditions on ~-~j registration. Minutes attached. 

Lc_~N 
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

16 July 2008 09:36 

Code A 
RE: [-_~.~]- relisting 

Hi, 

Adjudication is currently listing from Mid April onwards in London. 

L.C_.o_ d_.e_..A.j 

Sent: 15 Jul 2008 17:31 ¯ o= .................... ................... 
Cc:. 
Subject: ~’._C._o._~.e_._A._~- relisting 

I’ve just been speaking to [_~_~.5..~.~..~.~_~_~and we wondered - provisionally - what the listing 
potential for next year is like. He thinks 10/12 weeks should be the new listing and we 
were just wondering what the listings for London for next year are looking like? 

Thanks 

L._C._o._d..e_._A._j 

_c._o._d._e._.A_ ....... il Solicitor 
for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

dd L ............ C_..o..d_e_...A_ ............. 

Consider the environment, think before you print! 

Field FisherWaterhouse LLP Portland Tower Portland Street Manchester M1 3LF 

Tel+44 (0)161 238 4900 Fax+44 (0)161 237 5357 E..mail info@~ffw.com 

Web ,~.~w’vv. ffvv.co m CDE823 

FFW does not a~ept seHice of documents by e-mail for Cour~ or other purposes unJe.~ expressly agreed in writing 
beforehand For ser,iic~ to be effective, the sender must receive an expres~ acknowledgement of receipt from the 
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

15 July 2008 15:09 

...................... .................... 
E~_g_~½~I~- letter from MDU 14 July 2008 

DOCS 7881180 1.PDF 

Hi E~i 

Please see the attached letter which we received today from the MDU. A number of points arise 
from it, which we need to address, and I would be grateful for your assistance. 

lOP 07/10/04 

Of these, only [--~:-~;~-~-Z--iis included in the DNOH and her records have been disclosed. 

investigated further and have disclosed her records. 

All of the others have been disclosed on 28 March 2008 in the unused material. 

However, I am not sure how these particular patients came to be in your possession in 2004. 
Perhaps you could check with i ..... ._C._o._d.e_._A._._._.~ These were not cases which the Police viewed as 
particularly more serious than others and have never formed part of the GMC investigation - it 
would be helpful to know what the selection process was. 

I also need to be sure that these were the records that were on the table (although never used) at 
the lOP. Although we have disclosed these records they have not been provided to us by the 
GMC and our copies came from the Police. 

What happened to your copies? Were they returned to the Police? 

Documents in the possession of the GMC 

I think that, given the contents of the MDU letter, it would be wise for an audit to be carried out of 
ALL information that is in your possession. We had been working under the assumption that we 
had everything that you have. However, this may not prove to be the case. 

To fulfil our disclosure obligations we do need to ensure that everything you have has been 
disclosed. 

One of our team would be happy to come and assist you with this (possibly lengthy) process, 
although it may be something which you would prefer your DPA team to handle as I imagine it 
would mainly involve searching your systems. 

At this juncture we only require a list of all documentation you have, we can then compare it with 
our records. If we are missing any documents then we will request copies. 
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The MDU refer to involvement revealed in September 2002 with the [~--~--~--~--~--~--~--~--~--£-~-~--~--~--~--~--~--~--~--~‘~f 

Public Health. Do you know / can you find out any more information about this please as we don’t 
know what this refers to. 

Police 

I have also asked the Police to provide a comprehensive list of all of the documentation they hold. 
As our investigation has progressed it has transpired that they have had to fill in some gaps and I 
want to double check that we have had everything they have that may be relevant to the 
investigation. 

FFW previous involvement 

E~i is pursuing this point with EI~I~I~I~_~I~I~I~I~I]- our initial view is that much of his work with the 
Police will be legally priveliged and therefore not disclosable. We will keep you informed on this 
point. 

Regards 

L Code A[ 

...... _.c_.o_~._~._~ ...... ]1 Solicitor 
for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

Mobile 

Consider the environment, think before you print! 

Field FisherWaterhouse LLP Portland Tower Portland Street Manchester M1 3LF 

Tel+44 (0)161 238 4900 Fax+44 (0)161 237 5357 E-mail info~v.com 

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

Field Fisher Waterhouse LI_P is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (registered number 
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
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e quote our reference when communicating with us about this matter 

..    ISPB/jh/0005940/Legal 

.~r ref: sic/00492-15579/6110481 vl 

14 July 2008 

Field Fisher Waterhouse 
Portland Tower 
Portland Street 
Manchester M1 3LF 

5 JUL 

THE 

MDU 
MDU Services Limited 

230 Blackfriars Road 
London 

SE1 8PJ 

The MDU 
DX149141 

Legal 
Blackfriars 5 

Legal Department of The MDU 

Telephone: 020 7202 1500 
Fax: 020 7202 1663 

Email: mdu@the-mdu.com 
Website www2he-mdu.com 

I write with reference to the disclosure of unused material in this matter and would be 
grateful for your assistance. 

I am bound to say that I have a number of concerns now about the question of disclosure 
in two particular regards. The first is the adequacy of the material made available to 
you by your Client to consider for the purpose of disclosure, and the second is material 
which your firm will in all probability hold in consequence of what I understand was its 
involvement in advising the Hampshire Police. 

With reference to the first matter, you will recall that you and I spoke on 30 June. t 
expressed my concern then that at the Interim Orders Committee Hearing on 7 October 
2004, a significant quantity of medical records in relation .to various patients was 
available for the Panel and parties to consider, having very recently been disclosed by 
the Hampshire Police. That material was not subsequently copied and made available to 
me, but clearly was available in the hands of your Client. 

Whilst it might be the case that this material is similar to the documentation you have 
recently disclosed as Unused Material, being medical records relating to patients in what 
might be described in the ’second tranche’ of Police Cases, that cannot be taken for 
granted, but in any event, this is material the existence of which does not appear to have 
been made known to you. Had you been aware of it, you would .presumably have 
disclosed it to me at a very much earlier stage. 

Further, in September 2002 it became apparent that there had been involvement in this 

matter, albeit on an indirect basis, from the [;i;i;i;i;i;i;i;i;i;�_-..~i~i~i-..~i;i;i;i;i;i;i;i;i;ii ~d indeed from one 

Ml)U Serviees Limited (MDUSL) is authorz~od aud regulated by the ~’mtnd,~l Sorviccs A uthoriO, h~ respect of insurance mediation ~tctivitios only. 

MDUSL ~ an ,~gont for 7Y~o ~lediea] DeTente Union Limited (the MDU). 7~0 MDU ~ not an ius~trauee company. The bene~L~, of nmmbersh]~ of the 

~WDU~t’e aH diseretiongo~ #~nd ~tre subject to the z~emoz’at]dum and Artiele,e of A,vsoeiatiot]. 

t~IDU Services Limited is registered In England 3967086. Regl~.tered Office: 2~,0 Bla~kfdars Road London SS~ 8PJ. 
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Our ref:    ISPB/jh/0005940/Legal 

Your ref: sic/00492-15579/6110481 vl 

14 July 2008 Page 2 of 3 

seem that your Clients may not have made you aware of the existence of documentation 
in this regard, as I am not aware that you have sought to disclose it to me as Unused 
Material or otherwise. 

You will appreciate that I am therefore profoundly concerned that through the non- 
provision of information to you, you may well have been prevented from carrying out 
your obligations to review material for the purposes of its production as Unused 
Material. 

I would be grateful if you could advise me of the position as soon as possible - specifically 
what investigation had been carried out in relation to documentation held by your 
Client, and if material has been withheld, how this has come about. 

I know you will appreciate that I am reluctant to make a Data Protection Act Application 
simply to secure material which ought to have been disclosed through the proper 
prosecution process. However, if the matter cannot be resolved, clearly I may be 
compelled to follow that through. 

With reference to the second issue, as you might anticipate, the Hampshire CID when 
investigating the deaths of patients at the Gosport War Memorial Hospital liaised with 
me in my capacity as [ ....... h-6-h-~;~- ...... i solicitor. The head of the Hampshire CID advised me 
that the Police were endeavouring to categorise cases in terms of their perceived level of 
concern, and that to do this they had retained experts to guide them. Having categorised 
the cases, they then chose to conduct interviews in relation to what they regarded as the 
more serious matters, with those cases being advised on by a further team of experts. 

My understanding is that the expert reports disclosed thus far will be effectively that 
second team of experts, but it would appear from the material made available to you, 
and indeed thence to me on [ CodeA i behalf that there has been no disclosure by the 
Police of material relating to the first part of the process. 

Indeed, my understanding is that this position will be well known to you. I gather that 
your firm was materially involved in assisting the Police in this regard. 

Whilst appreciating that the work carried out in this regard was of course for another 
client, nevertheless it remains as material in your possession which could have a 
relevance to ~i~i~ff.~_~.~.~i~i~i~i~J case, with material which could fall to be disclosed. 

I know it will be matter of agreement that the Attorney General’s Guidelines apply to 
you and your client in the prosecution of this case. It follows that there is the 
requirement to secure material which might be relevant, and it seems difficult to see 
how such documentation would not have a potential relevance in this matter. Clearly 
then you would need to consider the documentation in terms of its use or whether it 
would fall to be disclosed as unused material. 

Can I ask you to confirm if this exercise has been undertaken, and if not, that you will 
ensure that it is undertaken as soon as possible? 
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Our ref:    ISPB/jh/0005940/Legal 

Your ref: sle/00492-15579/6110481 vl 

14 July 2008 Page 3 of 3 

I would be grateful for a substantive respoi~se to these matters now as soon as possible, 

Yours sincerely 

Code A 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

22 July 2008 16:00 

Code A i 
RE: ~6~[~[~[~.-j - lette r from M D U 14 J u ly 2008 

Your email was discussed the Case review meeting last week. 

Documents in possession of the GMC 

It was decided that we will copy all the documents that we hold as papers files and on our 
computer systems to you. 

If after reviewing the paperwork you wish to disclose any of our internal correspondence, I will 
have to seek the advice of our Information Access Team before you can do so. 

lOP 2004 & Chief Medical 

I will need to discuss the issues raised with i._._._~:_.o_~_~_._A._._._iwho was on leave all of last week and is 
on leave today. If he cannot assist I may need to contact Eversheds for clarification. 

Sent: 16 Jul 2008 10:35 

T°:iC cc: ode A 
Subject: RE: [~_.~_~.~_i~]- letter from MDU 14 July 2008 

I will try to deal with the issues raised on Friday. 

Sent: 15 Jul 2008 15:09 
To: i Code A Cc:i .................................................................. 
Subject: [~]- letter from MDU 14 July 2008 
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Hi i.~_o.9_~.~j 

Please see the attached letter which we received today from the MDU. A number of points 
arise from it, which we need to address, and I would be grateful for your assistance. 

lOP 07/10/04 

With regard to his point about the papers from the lOP on 07/10/04 - the listed patients in 
the lOP records are [ ....................................................... ~-d-~~ ..................................................... ~ 

Of these, only [.~_-�_~~.~iis included in the DNOH and her records have been disclosed. 

[ ...... _C._?_~_~_.A_. ...... ]we investigated further and have disclosed her records. 

All of the others have been disclosed on 28 March 2008 in the unused material. 

However, I am not sure how these particular patients came to be in your possession in 
2004. Perhaps you could check with [.~.~.~.~.~.~.? These were not cases which the Police 
viewed as particularly more serious than others and have never formed part of the GMC 
investigation - it would be helpful to know what the selection process was. 

I also need to be sure that these were the records that were on the table (although never 
used) at the lOP. Although we have disclosed these records they have not been provided 
to us bythe GMC and our copies came from the Police. 

What happened to your copies? Were they returned to the Police? 

Documents in the possession of the GMC 

I think that, given the contents of the MDU letter, it would be wise for an audit to be carried 
out of ALL information that is in your possession. We had been working under the 
assumption that we had everything that you have. However, this may not prove to be the 
case. 

To fulfil our disclosure obligations we do need to ensure that everything you have has been 
disclosed. 

One of our team would be happy to come and assist you with this (possibly lengthy) 
process, although it may be something which you would prefer your DPA team to handle 
as I imagine it would mainly involve searching your systems. 

At this juncture we only require a list of all documentation you have, we can then compare 
it with our records. If we are missing any documents then we will request copies. 

The MDU refer to involvement revealed in September 2002 with the [._-._-._-._-..-~.#_-._-._-._-._-.] 

[..--..--..--..--..--..--..--..--..--~--~-~-;--~.--..--..--..--..--..--..--..--..-‘..’° Do you know / can you find out any more information about this 
please as we don’t know what this refers to. 

Police 

I have also asked the Police to provide a comprehensive list of all of the documentation 
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they hold. As our investigation has progressed it has transpired that they have had to fill in 
some gaps and I want to double check that we have had everything they have that may be 
relevant to the investigation. 

FFW previous involvement 

i~.~;~i is pursuing this point with i Code A "i - our initial view is that much of his work 
with the Police will be legally priveliged and therefore not disclosable. We will keep you 
informed on this point. 

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
attachments are virus flee. E-mail is not a 100% virus-free or secure medium. It is your responsibility to 
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
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LETTER TO GMC FROM 

Assistant Registrar 
Fitness to Practise Directorate 
5t~ Floor 
St James’ Building 
79 Oxford Street 
Manchester M1 6FQ 

Dear [_._..�.o,~_~_..A_._. j 

Interim Orders Panel Determination 

As you will be aware, I was the subject of an Order from the Interim Orders 
Panel on 11 July 2008. 

In compliance with condition 1, I write to advise you of the fact that I am a 
i~_~.~.~_~i in the Practice at the Forton Medical Surgery, VVhite’s Pace, Gosport, 
Hampshire. PO 12 3JP. 

I am on the Hampshire Primary Care Trust Performers List. 
For ease of reference, the contact details of the PCT are as follows: 
Hampshire NHS Primary Care Trust. 
Unit Three, Tidbury Farm, 
Bullington Cross, 
Sutton Scotney, 
Hampshire 
SO21 3QQ 

Yours sincerely 
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I have received the original document of which this is a copy on the date shown below. 

Signed ’ ¯ 

Date 

Registration number: i~.~-_0.-~-~i 
Reference: BR/ID/HI-197783948 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

21 July 2008 14:39 

.................................................. ................................................ 
Letter from Coroner -i_._._C...o_d_.e_..A._._.i 

DOCS 7912152 1.PDF 

Dear ~_~_;~_~i 

Please see the attached letter from the Coroner wanting to know who is attending the pre-inquest 
meeting on 14 August. We have not yet told him that we are instructed not to attend. This is 
because we are of the view that someone ought to attend this meeting as part of co-operating with 
the Coroner. 

I understand that [~~i does not want anyone to attend and I raised this with [~ilast 

week. We agreed that it might be something I or [i~i~i~i~_~i~i~i~i~]wanted to speak to [.~j~Tj~jabout so 
that we can understand the GMC’s views before we formally reply. ]i££~;~.4_i£~} has expressed 
surprise that we might not send anyone. Although I would entirely agree that we must leave the 
Coroner to run his inquests without any suggestion there is a connection between his work and the 
work of the GMC; he has invited us to attend and there are obviously listing issues. Also as you 
can see from the attached letter the Coroner would like us to share information with him and I will 
need your instructions on this. 

On a practical level I believe that on 14 August you are on leave, ~.-_6.~_~ihas a hospital 
appointment and I am due to be at the [i~i~i~]eview. I could attend or we could send an FFW 
colleague or perhaps [~.~, 

Perhaps we can discuss tomorrow? 

I Partner 
for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 
rid: I m: 

Consider the environment, think before you print! 

Field FisherWaterhouse LLP Portland Tower Portland Street Manchester M1 3LF 

Tel+44 (0)161 238 4900 Fax+44 (0)161 237 5357 E-mail info@~;.com 

Web V~A,W,L ffw.co m CDE823 

FFv~V does not aocep[ servi~ of documents by e-mail for Court or other purposes unless expressly agreed in writing 
beforehand. For service to be effective, the sender must receive an express acknowledgement of receipt from the person 
intended to be served, 

This eomail rnay contain privileged and confidential infermation, i~ you receive it in error please tell the sender and do 
not copy, distribute or take any action in reliance upon it. You should ensure this e-mail and any attachments are virus 
free. E-mail is not a 100% virus-free or secure medium. It is your responsibility to ensure that viruses do not adversely 
affec:~ your system and thai your messages to us meet your own security requiremen[s. We reserve the right [o read 
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
We use the term partner to refer to a member of Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP, or an employee or consultant wi[h 
equivalent standing and qualifications. 
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Her Majesty’s Coroner 
for Portsmouth and 
South East Hampshire 

Coroner’s Office 
Room T20 
The Guildhall 
Guildhall Square 
Portsmouth 
PO 1 2aJ 

Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 
Portland Tower 
Portland Street 
Manchester 
MI 3LF 

17th July 2008 

+ 8 JUL 

Dear [Z~7~-a_7+7~221 

Thank you for your letter of24m June 2008. 

I have noted all that you say and I await details of your representative at the Pre-inquest 
Hearing for 14th August 2008, 

You clearly have a list of all family members and witnesses involved in the GMC 
proceedings and it would be extremely helpful if you could let me have a copy of that to 
see if it accords with my list. 

I will obviously keep you informed of developments, 

Portsmouth anti South East Hampshire 

Hampshire 
County Council ~ Portsmouth 

CITY COUNCIL 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

28 July 2008 08:47 

............... .............. 
RE: Coroner’s meeting 

L _C_o._d._e._A. j, 

Noted with thanks. 

The disclosure request will have to wait until [~.;.~_~_~]returns. 

L.c_.o_ d_.e_..A._i 

Sent: 25 Jul 2008 17:08 
To:i ..................................................................................................................... 

cc.’ Code A 
Subject: Coroner’s meeting 

i~_[~_~ihas clarified with i_._.C_.o_d_~_..A._.ithat he would like someone to attend the pre-inquest 
meeting. 

We are arranging for i[~[~;_i~]to go as she has sufficient information about the case and will 
make a full note of the meeting. If there are issues for the GMC she can note these and 
we can discuss them with you on her return. 

I have asked i ......... ~;~;-~ ........ ~ to let the Coroner know next week. In relation to releasing a 
list of names as requested we may have to await .’,-6~~;~,-i return and indicate to the Coroner 
we are getting instructions. 

I Partner 
for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

Consider the environment, think before you print! 

Field FisherWaterhouse LLP Portland Tower Portland Street Manchester M1 3LF 

Tel+44 (0)161 238 4900 Fax+44 (0)161 237 5357 E-mail info ~=~.Pw.com 

Web w~’¢~L ffw.cc m CDE823 

FFCf does not accept service of documents by e-maiI for Court or other purposes unless expressly agreed in writing 
befol’ehand. For sewice to be effective, the sender must receive an express acknowledgement of i’eceipt from the 
person intended to be served. 

This e-mail may contain privileged and confidential information, if you receive it in error please tell the sender 
and do not copy, distribute or take any action in reliance upon it. You should ensure this e-mail and any 
attachments are virus free. E-mail is not a !00% virus-free or secure medium It is your responsibility to 
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
Su bject: 

28 July 2008 10:03 

FW: Press Cuttings - 28 July 2008 

Dear All, 

Please note below. 

Sent= 28 Jul 2008 09:57 

Subject= FW: Press Cuttings - 28 July 2008 

You may be interested in the "Broadcast Mentions" paragraph. 

GMC Legal 

From: ~ ............................................... Code A -~ 
Sent: 28 July 2008 09:53 
To: Press Cuttings 
Subject: Press Cuttings - 28 July 2008 

Press Cuttings Summary 
Monday 28 July 2008 

Direct Mentions 

Print Mentions 

The press office has placed a letter in The Times today, written by Paul Philip. The letter explains that it is unlikely 
that anonymous comments about doctors, such as those taken from a website (iwantgreatcare.org), could provide 
sufficient evidence in fitness to practise cases - but that doctors themselves may want to cite ’helpful ratings’ in their 
evidence. He stresses that it is up to the panel to decide what weight if any to give to such postings. 

The Times in Scotland interviews the son of the patient involved in Dr lain Kerr’s case. The son of ’Patient A’ is not 
named. He tells the paper that the doctors had been a tremendous support to his mother who held him in high regard. 
The doctor was suspended from practising for six months. 

Broadcast Mentions 
Peter Walsh, Chief Executive of Action Against Victims of Medical Accidents was interviewed on BBC Radio Solent 
about claims that patients at the Gosport War Memorial Hospital were given overdoses of pain killers. The charity is 
Appealing for families to contact them as they prepare a strategy for the pre inquest hearing. It was reported that 
there is an outstanding GMC case against the doctor at the centre of this but ten years later there are still unanswered 
questions. 

Letters pages and GMC published responses 
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See letter in The Times (above) 

Other News 

Keith Waterhouse in The Daily Mail agrees that doctors should have annual appraisals. He argues that MPs should 
receive the same treatment. 

An opinion piece in The Guardian by actor and writer Rebecca Font argues that the BMA should not allow doctors to 
appraise each other. She compares it to actors reviewing each other’s performances and says that hypochondriacs 
should be drafted in to do the assessments. 

Max Pemberton’s column in The Daily Telegraph reviews recent advice from NICE reminding doctors not to prescribe 
antibiotics for conditions caused by viruses. 

Headlines: 

Folder : Today’s cuttings 

Delivery date : 28/07/2008 to : 28/07/2008 

Sector : All 

Keywords : 

2. Doctors 

Daily Mail 

Delivery date : 28/07/2008 

Number of words : 560 

A test for ever~ MP to put up with 

1. GMC 

The Times 
Delivery date : 28/07/2008 

Number of words : 384 

’Doctor who helped my mother die is a decent soul’ 

2. Doctors 

The Guardian 
Delivery date : 28/07/2008 

Number of words : 682 
It’s all theatre 

1. GMC 

The Times 
Delivery date : 28/07/2008 

Number of words : 154 

Fitness to practise 

2. Doctors 

Daily Telegraph 

Delivery date:28/07/2008 

Number ofwords:636 

Fin~er on the Pulse 

Web links: 

National Newspapers: 
The Times 

The Independent 
The Guardian 
The Daily Tele,qraph 
The Daily Mail 
The Daily Mirror 
The Daily Express 
The Sun 
The Financial Times 
Online Media: 
The BBC 

Other Regular Newspapers: 
The Scotsman 
The Herald 
The Press & Journal 
The Manchester Eveninq News 
Irish News 
Belfast Tele,qraph 
News Letter 
South Wales Echo 
South Wales Eveninq Post 
Western Mail 

Medical Press: 
Pulse 
Hospital Doctor 
Doctor 
BMJ 
HSJ 
The Lancet 
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Channel 4 
Sky 

The Press Cuttinqs Website 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

28 July 2008 09:02 

................................................... .................................................. 
FW: [.~_[~~A_[]- letter from MDU 14 July 2008 

I have a how an opportunity to speak with i_c._o~.~, 

lOP 2004 

i-~-~;~;;~iadvises that although the documents which were available to the 2004 lOP were described 
as medical records they were really police files some of which contained medical records and 
some didn’t. 

He further advises that after the hearing these documents were given to Eversheds and we did 
not retain copies. Could you double check with i._._._C._o..d..e_A_._._.i and i ........ -~;~;~ ........ i of Eversheds that 
they have made full disclosure to you? 

i~.~[o_~-jhas no knowledge of the CMO being involved in this case, so the approach may have been 
at amore senior level so I’ll discuss with i._c.o_~_A_jwhen he returns. 

From: i ........................... ~-~)-6~;;~ .......................... 
Sent: 22 Jul 2008 16:00 ¯ 
CC: L .......................... 
Subject: RE: [~..;.~.~._~.~i - letter from MDU 14 July 2008 

[_..C._o._d._e...A_.-, 

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

I will need to discuss the issues raised with [ ...... C_ o_ .d_ ~, _A. ..... ]who was on leave all of last week and is 
on leave today. If he cannot assist I may need to contact Eversheds for clarification. 

L_C,9_d,_e._A,j 
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From: [ .......................... ~-~-~~ .......................... 
Sent: 16 Jul 2008 10::35 

To: i 
cc:i Code A 
Subject: RF: Lc_.o_.o_.e_.~j- letter from IVlDU 14 July 2008 

[._C._o.#~_A_.j, 

I will try to deal with the issues raised on Friday. 

L£gd_.e_.~j 

Sent: 15 Jul 2008 15:09 

Cc: L ......................................... 

Subject: i_~.~.~i_~_~i- letter from IVlDU 14 July 2008 

Hi E;~,~i 

Please see the attached letter which we received today from the MDU. A number of points 
arise from it, which we need to address, and I would be grateful for your assistance. 

lOP 07/10/04 

Of these, only [i~i~.�.-~i.-.A_-i~iiis included in the DNOH and her records have been disclosed. 

[ ....... .C..o._d._e...A_ ....... .’.,We investigated further and have disclosed her records. 

All of the others have been disclosed on 28 March 2008 in the unused material. 

However, I am not sure how these particular patients came to be in your possession in 

2004. Perhaps you could check with i._._._£.o_#_~_._A._._._.? These were not cases which the Police 
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

The MDU refer to involvement revealed in September 2002 with the i._-._-._-._-..-~.~_-._-._-._-._-.] 
E.~.~.~.~.~.~.~.~.~_~.~.~.~.~.~.~.~.~.-~. Do you know / can you find out any more information about this 
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

i~.~_~_~.j is pursuing this point with i~.~-~- our initial view is that much of his work 
with the Police will be legally priveliged and therefore not disclosable. We will keep you 
informed on this point. 

Regards 

Code A 
il Solicitor 

for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

dd [_~ .~ .~ _~ _~ .~ .-~ ~. ~~_-~..~ .~ _~ _~ .~ .~ _~ 

Consider the environment, think before you print! 

Field FisherWaterhouse LLP Portland Tower Portland Street Manchester M1 3LF 

Tel+44 (0)161 238 4900 Fax+44 (0)161 237 5357 E-mail 

Web ,,"~~ ~,~ ~! CDE~;. 
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

04 August 2008 17:25 

Code A i 
~c_-.o_~]- Disclosure to the Coroner 

You previously asked whether we could disclose the names of the family members and the 

witnesses in our case to the Coroner, Peter is of the view that we should disclose unless there is 
a legal reason why we shouldn’t. 

We would be grateful for your advice on this matter. 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Hi i_._C..o._d.e_._A._.i, 

CMO 

04 August 2008 17:19 

RE: [~-~:~]- letter from MDU 14 July 2008 

I’ve just spoken to E.~_:~.~_:ian d he has no knowledge of involvement by the CMO but he has asked 
me to double check with someone else which I will do so tomorrow. Bur if that proves fruitless, he 
asks that if we can seek any further information from the MDU about it. 

Paperwork 

Someone from my team has been copying the papers for days and they should be ready to send 
to you by Wednesday at the latest. 

Police list and lOP 

I note your comments. 

Sent: 04 Aug 2008 17:07 

To:i Code A Cc:i 

Subject: RE: k.c_o_d_e_._A.j- letter from MDU 14 July 2008 

Thanks for clarifying the position with the lOP papers. I will get in touch with i-~:;,-~]at Eversheds 
and doublecheck that they sent us everything in their possession (I am pretty confident that they 
did as their handover to us was extremely efficient). 

Re the [~~i I would be grateful if you could get any further information on this from [.~[~-~_~_~] I will 
ask for some further details from the defence that may then help us. 

I look forward to receiving copies of all of the documents that you hold, I appreciate that this will 
most likely be a massive job, do you have any idea when it may be ready? 

I have now received a list from the police of every document that they have ever had (it is a very, 
very long list!!!) so that we can satisfy the defence that they have received full disclosure from 
that angle. Although, we will have to spend quite a bit of time cross referencing the list with our 
papers to double check this ourselves. 

I have received another letter from the MDU, copy enclosed, where they have questioned why we 
informed witnesses re the lOP. I have discussed this with C~_~_~IL’.] and we will draft a response, 
basically saying that we were only telling them what was in the public domain upon your 
instruction. They have asked us to disclose all correspondence with witnesses and we will do so. 
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Thanks 

Code A 

i l Solicitor 
for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

dd i_-._-..-..-._-._-..-.#~d.~.~ ~.-..-._-._-..-..-.~ 

From: [ ............................................................ esa~;~- ............................................................ 

Sent: Monday, July 28, 2008 9:02 AM 

To: i 
cc:i Code A 
Subject: FW: [..c._o.Ae._A_.i- letter from MDU 14 July 2008 

[._C._o._d..e._A_.j, 

I have a how an opportunity to speak with 

lOP 2004 

[~e_-i_~iiadvises that although the documents which were available to the 2004 lOP were described 

as medical records they were really police files some of which contained medical records and 
some didn’t. 

He further advises that after the hearing these documents were given to Eversheds and we did 
not retain copies. Could you double check with [._._._C._o..d..e._A_._._.i and i ........ ~-~-~ ....... ~ of Eversheds that 
they have made full disclosure to you? 

[~e_-i_~i]has no knowledge of the[.c._o._d._e...A_ibe~ng involved in this case, so the approach may have been 
at amore senior level so I’ll discuss with i~.~_-4_~_~iwhen he returns. 

From: [ ......................... ~:~l-e-~ ......................... 
sent: 22 Jul 2008 16:00 
To: i 
cc:i Code A 
Subject: RE: [~_.~_~.~_i~i- letter from MDU 14 July 2008 

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

I will need to discuss the issues raised with i._._._~;_.o_~_~_._A._._._iwho was on leave all of last week and is 
on leave today. If he cannot assist I may need to contact Eversheds for clarification. 

From: 
Sent: 16 Jul 2008 10:35 
To:~ 

LC_._.°_._d._._e_._._A._._ 
Subject: RE: [~- letter from MDU 14 July 2008 

I will try to deal with the issues raised on Friday. 

L~.o_ d_e_.~j 

Sent: 15 Jul 2008 15:09 
To: ................................................................. ~ ’ _.c_._._o._ _.d_._.e_. _._A_ Cc: [ ........................................... 
Subject: [-~;~-~-Ki- letter from IVlDU 14 July 2008 

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
the lOP records are [~-~-~-~-~-~-~-~-~-~-~-~-~-~-~~~~] 
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Of these, only i~i~i~4~;.~i~ii is included in the DNOH and her records have been disclosed. 

iwe investigated further and have disclosed her records. 

All of the others have been disclosed on 28 March 2008 in the unused material. 

However, I am not sure how these particular patients came to be in your possession in 

2004. Perhaps you could check with ~-~-~’~_~;_~’_e~-~-~-~? These were not cases which the Police 
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
to us by the GMC and our copies came from the Police. 

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

The MDU refer to involvement revealed in September 2002 with the 
[.~.~_~_~.~.~_~_~.~.-~_-a_~;.~_~_~.~.~_~_~.~.~~, Do you know / can you find out any more information about this 
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

L-~_;_~.~_~i is pursuing this point with [~.~a~-~i- our initial view is that much of his work 
with the Police will be legally priveliged and therefore not disclosable. We will keep you 
informed on this point. 

Regards 
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Code A 
........................ J l Solicitor 
for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

dd [._-._-._-._-._-~.#_-._-._-._-._-.i 

Consider the environment, think before you print! 

Field FisherWaterhouse LLP Portland Tower Portland Street Manchester M1 3LF 

Tel (0)161 238 4900 Fax (0)161 237 5357 E-mail info~,ffw.com 

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

04 Ausust 2008 17:12 

..................................... .................................. 
RE: .’,--a-~-a-~-fi-i- letter from MDU 14 July 2008 

DOCS 8015854 1.PDF 

Sorry - forgot to attach the latest letter from the MDU for your information 

Code A 
Jl Solicitor 

for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

Sent: Monday, August 04, 2008 5:07 PM 
To: i Code A Cc:[ .................................................................. 
Subject: RE: [~_.~_~;_i~]- letter from MDU 14 July 2008 

Thanks for clarifying the position with the lOP papers. I will get in touch with [&-~;~~iat Eversheds 
and doublecheck that they sent us everything in their possession (I am pretty confident that they 
did as their handover to us was extremely efficient). 

Re thelcodeAi- I would be grateful if you could get any further information on this from i[#.-4~_i~ I will 
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

informed witnesses re the lOP. I have discussed this with [~.~iand we will draft a response, 
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

From: i Code A 

Sent: Monday, July 28, 2008 9:02 AM 

CC: .. ........................ 
Subject: FW: [~_,;_~_~i~{- letter from IVlDU 14 .July 2008 

L._C,_o,_d,_~_._A,_j 

I have a how an opportunity to speak with [_c._o!~.~, 

lOP 2004 

i~.~o_~-jadvises that although the documents which were available to the 2004 lOP were described 
as medical records they were really police files some of which contained medical records and 
some didn’t. 

He further advises that after the hearing these documents were given to Eversheds and we did 
not retain copies. Could you double check with [._-._-.~.;.~.-~._-._-.i and i ........ ~-~1~;-~ ....... 7 of Eversheds that 
they have made full disclosure to you? 

i~-o_~-jhas no knowledge of the~_~_~_~_~jbeing involved in this case, so the approach may have been 
at amore senior level so I’ll discuss with [~.~.~~_~jwhen he returns. 

t~_o.~_e.~j 

Sent: 22 3uI 200~ 1~:00 

Subject: R[: [{g_~.;_~j- letter from NDU 14 July 2008 

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

I will need to discuss the issues raised with L._._._c._o.-d_e._~._._.j who was on leave all of last week and is 
on leave today. If he cannot assist I may need to contact Eversheds for clarification. 

Sent: 16 Jul 2008 10:35 
To: F ......................... i 

Subject: RE: [~.~.~._~.] - letter from MDU 14 July 2008 

[ _C_o_d_e_A_ 

I will try to deal with the issues raised on Friday. 

Sent: 15 Jul 2008 15:09 ..................... ................... 
Cc:i ................................................................. 
Subject: LC_.o_d_.e_._A._i- letter from MDU 14 July 2008 

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
the lOP records are [~~~~;~/-~~~~i 

Code A 

Of these, only [-~-~)-~1-~;~--i is included in the DNOH and her records have been disclosed. 
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[_._._._C_.o_.d_e_._A. ...... jwe investigated further and have disclosed her records. 

All of the others have been disclosed on 28 March 2008 in the unused material. 

However, I am not sure how these particular patients came to be in your possession in 
2004. Perhaps you could check with [~_~;_~,---P These were not cases which the Police 
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

The MDU refer to involvement revealed in September 2002 with the [- ......... -e~;;~;~ .......... ] 
[.~.~.~.~.~.~.~.~.~_~.A_.~.~.~.~.~.~.~.~.-~, Do you know / can you find out any more information about this 
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

i~_~_~i is pursuing this point with [.~_~_~_~.6.~½~_~_~_~.~_.I- our initial view is that much of his work 
with the Police will be legally priveliged and therefore not disclosable. We will keep you 
informed on this point. 

Regards 
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i_-i_-i_-i_-i~ ~i_~i_-i_-i_-i_-i I Solicitor 
for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 
dd 

Mobile 

Consider the environment, think before you print! 

Field FisherWaterhouse LLP Portland Tower Portland Street Manchester M1 3LF 

Tel (0)161 238 4900 Fax (0)161 237 5357 E-mail info@ffw.com 

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
attachments are virus free. E-mail is not a 100% virus-flee or secure medium. It is your responsibility to 
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
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Please quote our reference ,vhen communicating with us about this matter 

Our ref:    ISPB/jh/0005940/Lega] 

Your ref: sic/00492-15579/6110481 vl 

31 July 2008 THE 

MDU 

Field Fisher Waterhouse 
Portland Tower 
Portland Street 
Manchester M1 3LF 

MDU Services Limited 
230 Blackfriafs Roa6 

London 
SE1 8PJ 

The MDU 
DX149141 

Legal 
Blackfriars 5 

Legal Department of The MDU 

Telephone: 020 7202 1500 
Fax: 020 7202 1663 

Email: mdu@the-mdu.com 
Website www.the-mdu,com 

Dear i Code 

General Medical Council - L ............. _C..?_d_.e_...A_ ............. 

It has come to my attention that you have written to at least one GMC witness advising 
that individual of the fact that the Interim Orders Panel made an order in relation to 
[._._.c_o_q~A._.j registration recently. In that letter you set out a number of the conditions 
imposed 

Whilst I reeognise some of the information is in the Public domain, this letter serves no 
helpful purpose at all in providing the witness with information which assists for 
example, in relation to the prospective listing of this case, or indeed providing 
information which it is in any way necessary for them to have as a witness in this case. 

I am bound to say the letter is hardly balanced. Had it been necessary to send any such 
letter, and clearly in my view it was not - mention might have been made of the fact that 
on four previous occasions the Interim Orders Committee had imposed no order 
whatsoever. Further, you did not choose to indicate that all the Order does is effectively 
formalise the voluntary arrangement [---~1,;~;-/, ..... i has had with the Primary Care Trust 

for many years. 

You have also failed to point out that the panel inade no finding of fact. As it stands, the 
letter might give the impression to a witness that there is some substance to the 
allegations against [ CodeA i in the sense that there had been some finding of fact, 
when of course the Interim Orders Panel makes no finding of fact at all. 

I am not aware of any previous case in which solicitors acting for the GMC have chosen 
to write to witnesses in such a fashion following the imposition of an Interim Order, and 
that of itself confirms that such a letter was at best ill advised. 

Can you please advise me of the following: 

1. To whom such letters have been written; 
2. Why such letters were ever considered appropriate at all; 

MDU Se±’viees Limited (JPIDUSL) is 8 ~thorised a~d regulated by the ~Yt~a~wiM S~rvicos A uthority i~ ~vspoct of it~s~rancc m~di~tio~ ac~i~tios only. 
I~DUSL is ,Tn llLtet~t for The McdicM Defence Union Limited (the MDU). The MDU is not a~ izlsurm]co comp~lly. T]}o be~ofits of membership of the 

MDU tu’e ~H diseretiot~aO’ ~md are s~tbjoet to the Memm’at~dm~ at~d Articles of Associa tion, 

MDU Services Limited is registered in England 3957086. Registered Office: 230 Blackfrlars Road London SE1 8PJ. 
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Our ref:    ISPB/jh/0005940/Legal 

Your ref: sle/00492-15579/6110481 vl 

31 July 2008 Page 2 of 2 

3, If such letters were written on instruction from your Client. 

Can you also please provide me with copies of all communications with witnesses and 
potential witnesses to date, including all notes of meetings/interviews, together with 
draft statements. 

Finally, I am concerned that I have not yet received a response to my substantive letter 
written a couple of week ago now in relation to inadequacies in the disclosure of unused 
information. Could I now please have a response to that letter. 

Code A 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

05 August 2008 15:43 

Code A 

Our paperwork on .=,---~-S-~-~-~,--i has been sent to you today by courier which you should receive 
tomorrow. 

There is some reference in the paperwork to th.e_.i_c_o_~.e_.~!n 2002 and I have put yellow stickers on 
the top of that correspondence and marked it ~._c.o_~.,.~ifor your convenience. 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

05 August 2008 16:24 

Code A 

L..C._o._d._e..A_.j, 

You will note from the exchange below, that we have note been able to find any other 
correspondence in 2002 from the [~e_-i_~ii other that what I have sent you today. 

From: i ..................... . .C_.o_d_.e_..A. ...................... j 
Sent: 05 Aug 2008 15:28 ¯ ............................................. ............................................. 
Cc: [ .................................................................................................................... ~,~!./Ut:~ ~’~ 

~ 
Subject: RE: .=,---6-~)-~-~-~,--i 

All, 

I’ve checked opce records for 2002 and there is no correspondence from [.T.T_T_T.~._T_T.T.T_Ti or 
iiii~.~_.~_.;_i~il]in respect of 

From: [ .......................... 6-5a-~-~ ......................... 
Sent: 05 August 2008 15:09 ¯ .................................................. ................................................. 
Cc:i ............................................................................................................................... 
Subject: RE: 

I’ve looked on livelink and nothing has shown up under [_~#_~_~.~_~jor [i]i]i]i]i]#i~_~i_~i~]i]i]i]i]i]iin respect of 
~_._._C..o._d.e_._A._._.~. 

~_~’e_-i_~;_’.’ has offered to look for a reference for any pre-livelink correspondence. 

General Medical Council 
London 

Tel: [.T_T_T.T.~_-~_~4~.-~_T.T.T_T~ 
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Sent: 05 August 2008 09:49 

Subject: FW: [_._.C_.o_.d_e_._A._._.i 

From: [ ........................... i~s-a~-~ ........................... 
Sent: 04 August 2008 18:06 

To:i ................... _£o,_d,_e,_,A_ .................... 
Subject: [._._.C_.o_d_.e_..A._._.i 

Hello [._~2_e.~_j 

I’m dealing with the above case. 

[._._..£_9_#_~_._A._._.] representatives have informed us that the [~_-o_~#~]had dealings with this case 
which were revealed in September 2002 would you or OPCE have any correspondence about 
this? 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

Code A 

05 August 2008:1.6:42 

Code A 
RE: L._._.c_ga_t.~_._._.i protocol call 

._C._o._d..e._A_.i 

Adjudication will offer times on the 15th to everyone shortly. 

[Code A i 

Sent: 31 Jul 2008 14:58 ¯ ......................... ........................ 
Cc:i ............................................................................. 
Subject: i---~-~;~;~--i protocol call 

Dear [.~._~.~i 

i~_~_~.;~_~_~.~_~j has suggested that we could try and have a further protocol call on Friday 15 
August. I have a hearing that day but will excuse myself to join the call if ~i_5.~[]is not 
available (I am away 16-31 August). 

This is the day after the pre inquest meeting and it would be good if we could begin to 
sketch out a timetable going forward. If we still do not know when the inquest will be we 
may want to cancel telecon and rearrange when we do. 

Can you see if your colleagues in Adjudication can set this up? 

Thank you. 

ii~i~i~i~_~_~_~_~g i~i~i~i I Partner 

for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

dd:i .............. _ .C_ .o_ d_ e_ . .A. .............. j I m: [~.~.-_~.~_~-_ _.~...-.~ 

Consider the environment, think before you print! 

Field FisherWaterhouse LLP Portland Tower Portland Street Manchester M1 3LF 

Tel+44 (0)161 238 4900 Fax+44 (0)161 237 5357 E-mail 

Web vvv~w ffw.com CDE823 

FFW does net accept se,wice of documents by e-mail for Co(irt or othel purpos,~s unl~: ~ ~: xpress y ~;,~Fe~: d in wdti~~g 
belorehand, For sewioe to be effedive, the ser~der must receive al~ oxpress ackno~A~!edgement of receipt fiom the 
peason ir~tended to be sen,,ed 
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

06 August 2008 11:40 

RE: [i--~-a-~-~--!, Re-Listing Telecon 

Annex A - Stage 1 Telecon Template.doc; Annex F - BT Meet 

Me Guide.doc 

Dear all 

Thank you for confirming your availability for the re-listing telecon for [--~-g~-~-~--i. 

I will schedule this for 10:00 on Friday 15 August 2008 and now attach the Stage 1 agenda 
and dial-in details for your ease of reference¯ 

Many thanks 

From: i ........................................ iS~-~i~-~ ....................................... -~ 
Sent: 05 August 2008 17:07 
To:I ............................ ~-~1~-/~ ............................ ’, 
Subject: RE: i_.~_i~3~i~i~ Re-Listing Telecon 

Dear L ._._C._o._d._e._.A_._._i 

Thanks for this. I had thought it would be good to see if we can secure a listing as soon as 
we can after the pre inquest review (on 14th August) - even if the hearing will be some time 
hence. That is of course assuming that the Coroner fixes the date for the inquest at the pre 
inquest review. 

I think i-~a.i~_., is away in the week of 18th August, so if we can go for 15th August that would 
be good. I had a commitment in the morning, but I have sorted that, and would be free for 
either time. 

Best wishes 

..... Original Message ..... 
From: ~ ............................................................. ~-~ ............................................................. I 
Sent: 05 August 2008 16:43 

...................... ..................... 
Cc:i .................................................................... _, 
Subject: ~-¥-g-~~--!, Re-Listing Telecon 

Dear all 

I understand from icoae~ithat you are ready to hold a re-listing telecon for the 
heann of CodeA ~ She sa~d ou ¯ g [ ................... ]. " y mentioned Friday 15August, and we 

th could hold this at either 10:00 or 11:00hrs on the 15 , and there is also good 
availability the following week. 

Please could you give me an idea of your availability for the telecon so that I 
can make the arrangements? 

Many thanks 



GMC100106-0238 

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

~mc@~mc-uk.or~ 

General Medical Council 

St James Buildings, 79 Oxford Street, Manchester, M1 6FQ 

Regents Place, 350 Euston Road, London, NW1 3JN 

The Tun, 4 Jacksons Entry, Holyrood Road, Edinburgh, EH8 8PJ 

Regus House, Falcon Drive, Cardiff Bay, CF10 4RU 

20 Adelaide Street, Belfast, BT2 8GD 

The GMC is a charity registered in England and Wales (1089278) and 

Scotland (SC037750) 

This email has been scanned by the MessageLabs Email Security 

System. 
For more information please visit http://www.messa~elabs.com/email 

The MDU - the UK’s leading medical defence organisation. 

This email may contain privileged and confidential information. If you are not the 

intended recipient and/or have received this email in error, please notify us by 

return email and delete it from your system immediately. 

MDU Services Limited (MDUSL) is authorised and regulated by the Financial 

Services Authority in respect of insurance mediation activities only. MDUSL is an 

agent for The Medical Defence Union Limited (the MDU). The MDU is not an 

insurance company. The benefits of membership of the MDU are all discretionary 

and are subject to the Memorandum and Articles of Association. 

Neither the MDU nor MDU Services Limited accept service of any documents by 

email or electronic means. 

MDU Services Limited is registered in England 3957086. Registered Office: 230 
Blackfriars Road London SE1 8PJ. 
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This email has been scanned by the MessageLabs Email Security System. 
For more information please visit http://www.messagelabs.com/email 
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GMC Pre-adjudication case management procedure 

Stage 1 Telephone Conference 

Case: 

Telephone conference date: 

Service Target Date: 
Target Listing Date: 

Annex A 

Areas to be covered 
Action Outcome/Time 

limit 

GMC to complete investigation 
Investigation may include:- 

witness statements 

expert reports 

obtaining medical records 

other- list 

GMC to disclose evidence and draft Notice of hearing 

Doctor to indicate timetable for preparation of defence 
Assuming disclosure of GMC takes place as it becomes available, 
how much time after final disclosure is required for preparation? 

Will any preliminary legal arguments be made at the hearing? 

If so, how much time is required? 

Will the health of the doctor be raised as an issue at the hearing? 

Date: 

Is a specialist adviser required? 

If so, which specialty 

Specialist advisers are normally requested where health or performance 
assessment reports will be considered 

Provisional hearing date 

Date: 

Date: 

Days: 

7. Date: 

Yes/No 

Yes/No 
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10. 

11. 

Time estimate 

This should take account of:- 
Presentation of GMC case (including x-examination of witnesses) 
Presentation of Defence Case (including x-examination of witnesses) 
Submissions on impairment and sanction 
Panel in camera time 
Long cases (over 30 days) - add 10% 

Location of hearing 

Does one or more party request a case review? 

If so, confirm which party or parties: 

GMC Doctor    Both 

Date and time of Stage 2 Case Review or telephone conference 

Days: 

Date: 

Time: 

Location: 
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GMC Pre-adjudication case management procedure 

BT MeetMe telephone conferencing - A step-by-step guide 

Annex F 

Participant passcode: 

MeetMe telephone no: 

7320458 

Date and time of telephone conference must be agreed in advance. 

At .............. the agreed time, ring the MeetMe telephone number - ~_._.C_£d_._e_._A_._. 
L Code A i 

You will be prompted to enter the participant passcode. 

Enter 7320458 and then a #. 

You may be prompted to give your name. Please do so, if asked, and 
accept the subsequent recording. 

Wait for the telephone conference to start. 

Points to note 

The telephone conference cannot begin until the GMC Adjudication 
Management Section listings officer (as Chair) has joined it. 

The cost to participants (doctor and/or legal representatives and GMC 
solicitors) will be that of a normal telephone call. All call costs will be 
borne by the GMC. 

It is important to call in at the agreed time so that we are efficient with 
time and money. 

Participants can use additional features during the telephone 
conference: 

*0 Signals BT co-ordinator for assistance; 

*4 Automatic volume equalisation (adjusts the volume of your line); 

*6 Mutes/unmutes your telephone line (useful for noisy 
connections). 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

08 August 2008 09:44 

i Code A 
i ~- Disclosure to the Coroner 

I have discussed your email with 

i~_~;~iconsiders that we are covered by section 35B (2) as this matter relates to [_._._.C_.o_d_.e_..A._._._j 
fitness to practise. Consequently we should disclose to the Coroner the requested information but 
inform the family members and witnesses that we have done so as a matter of courtesy. 

From: [ ...................................... e~;~~- ..................................... i 

Sent= 05 Aug 2008 17:16 

..................... .................... 
Subject= RE: i---~-~~4--~i- Disclosure to the Coroner 

iCode A i 

Having considered it further and discussed the idea with i~o.-_~iand [-~~~~--iwe think that 
as $35B really relates to disclosure about a practitioner’s ftp and because passing 
information to the Coroner is not strictly part of your statutory duty (which may affect the 
schedules which would apply under the Data Protection Act) we should probably get 
consent from the families - or offer to forward letters from the Coroner. We have therefore 
drafted the attached reply for your approval. 

Please let me have any comments and I will then try and get the letter out tomorrow. 

i l Partner 
for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

Consider the environment, think before you print! 

Field FisherWaterhouse LLP Portland Tower Portland Street Manchester M1 3LF 
Tel+44 (0)161 238 4900 Fax+44 (0)161 237 5357 E-mail info~¢~,.com 

Web ~w,;~; ffv~,corn CDE~23 

FI-%"V does not accept sewi~ of doc,4ments by e-mail for Court or othe~ purposes t~r~less expressly agreed in wdting 
beforehand For service to be e~edive, the sende~ mL~st re(x~ive an express acknowledgement of receipt frusta the 



GMC100106-0244 

person intended to be served. 

This e-mail may contain privileged and confidential information If you receive it in error please tell the sender 
and do not copy, distribute or take any action in reliance upon it. You should ensure this e-mail and any 
attachments are virus free. E-mai! is not a !00% virus-free or secure medium. It is your responsibility to 
ensure that viruses do not adversely affect your system and that your messages to us meet your own security 
requirements. We reserve the right to read any e-mail or attachment entering or leaving our systems without 
notice. 

Field Fisher Wa[erhouse I_LP is a limited liability partnership regis[ered in England and Wales (registered 
number OC318472) and is regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority. A list of its membe[s and their 
professional qualifications is available at its registered office, 35 Vine Street, London, EC3N 2AA 
We use the term partner to refer to a member of Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP, or an employee or consultant 
with equivalent standing and qualifications. 

Sent: Monday, August 04, 2008 5:25 PM 

;--~] cc: L_._._0_..a_._e_ ........ 
Subject: [_~]c.~_~;_~_~_]- Disclosure to the Coroner 

You previously asked whether we could disclose the names of the family members and the 
witnesses in our case to the Coroner, Peter is of the view that we should disclose unless there 
is a legal reason why we shouldn’t. 

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

05 Ausust 2008 17:16 

RE: C~_~-.o_~ - Disclosure to the Coroner 

Having considered it further and discussed the idea with [~o.-_~iand i;~;#~o.-_~;~we think that 
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

_C._?_~_?_.A_. ...... ~il Partner 
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

Web ~÷NJ.ffw.com CDE823 

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

CC: .. ....... 

Subject: [_.__C._o._d..e._A_._j- Disclosure to the Coroner 

L£.°.d_~_.&j, 
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You previously asked whether we could disclose the names of the family members and the 
witnesses in our case to the Coroner, [~_~;~;.gjis of the view that we should disclose unless there 

is a legal reason why we shouldn’t. 

We would be grateful for your advice on this matter. 

il Code A [ 

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

08 August 2008 10:00 

RE: [~7~i~_-~].;_~7~]- Disclosure to the Coroner 

Yes please. The purpose of the disclosure provisions is to enable co-operation and exchange 
of information between regulatory bodies and processes. If we were to put administrative 
obstacles in the way of helping out a coroner’s inquest directed by the Minster for Justice, we 
would be rightly criticised. 

The witnesses are unlikely to object to us acting in this way - I realise this cuts both ways in 
that we have nothing to lose by asking them for consent since it will in all probability be given 
and equally we are very unlikely to receive complaint about disclosure. Overall, I can’t see 
why we shouldn’t make the inevitable disclosure of this information as painless as possible so 
I suggest we go ahead as i_c._o.9_e.Nproposes. 

From: [ ...................................... _C.2_~.~_A_. ....................................... 
Sent: 08 August 2008 09:50 
To: i                  Code A 

Subject: Re: L._._C..o._d._e._.A_._.j - Dis¢IOSUFe to the CoFoneF 

[~.~.~.~_~] and I ~vere not convinced that a list of ~vitnesses’ names and addresses could really be 
said to relate to ~--ag~a;~---iftp ~vhich is ~vhy ~ve have advocated this approach of trying to be helpful 
but not directly disclosing. 

Can you reconfirm that the GMC still ~vant us to send the list to the Coroner? 

11 Partner 

for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 
dd: ~.-_.-_7_.-_7_.-_.-_.1 I m: ~’-_.-_.-_.-_.27~ 

Hello i.}.~}2,~ 

I have discussed your email ~vith [[~.@[~] 

[~Tg_)..}_-~_Tbonsiders that we are covered by section 35B (2) as this matter relates to [_._._.c_9.a_.e_._~_._._jfitness to 
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practise. Consequently ~ve should disclose to the Coroner the requested information but inform the 
family members and ~vitnesses that ~ve have done so as a matter of courtesy. 

LC._o..d. _e. _Aj 

From: i .................................................................................... Code A 
Sent: d 3 -?X-if~-2-6~)8-l-7fl-5 .................................................... ................... .................. 
Cc:i .............................................................. 
Subject: RE: [_._.c_£a_e_..A._._j - Disclosure to the Coroner 

[_c..o_a_~. N 

Having considered it further and discussed the idea with [&-;32;,i and i~i~_.;_~(h_.~i]we think that as $35B 
really relates to disclosure about a practitioner’s ftp and because passing information to the Coroner is 
not strictly part of your statutory duty (which may affect the schedules which would apply under the 
Data Protection Act) we should probably get consent from the families - or offer to forward letters from 
the Coroner. We have therefore drafted the attached reply for your approval. 

Please let me have any comments and I will then try and get the letter out tomorrow. 



GMC100106-0250 

for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 
dd: L.2.2.2.2.2.2.~_~;_~i.~;~2.2.2.2.2.2.2.i I m: L.T.T.T.T.T.T.2~.~;_~i_~~T.T.T.T.T.T.T.i 

Consider the environment, think before you print! 

Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP Portland Tower Portland Street Manchester M1 3LF 

Tel+44 (0)161 238 4900 Fax+44 (0)161 237 5357 E-mail info@ffw.com <mailto:info@ffw.com> 

Web www.ffw.com <http://www.ffw.com/> CDE823 

FFW does not accept service of documents by e-mail for Court or other purposes unless expressly 
agreed in writing beforehand. For service to be effective, the sender must receive an express 
acknowledgement of receipt from the person intended to be served. 

This e-mail may contain privileged and confidential information. If you receive it in error please tell 
the sender and do not copy, distribute or take any action in reliance upon it. You should ensure this e- 
mail and any attachments are virus free. E-mail is not a 100% virus-free or secure medium. It is your 
responsibility to ensure that viruses do not adversely affect your system and that your messages to us 
meet your own security requirements. We reserve the right to read any e-mail or attachment entering or 
leaving our systems without notice. 

Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales 
(registered number OC318472) and is regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority. A list of its 
members and their professional qualifications is available at its registered office, 35 Vine Street, 
London, EC3N 2AA. 
We use the term partner to refer to a member of Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP, or an employee or 
consultant with equivalent standing and qualifications. 

From: [ ......................................................... 
Sent: Monday, August 04, 2008 5:25 PM 

Cc:.. ....................... 
Subject: [~;~.E_}~_~2)~;~]- Disclosure to the Coroner 
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You previously asked whether we could disclose the names of the family members and the witnesses in 
our case to the Coroner,[.c_?_a.~_.ajis of the view that we should disclose unless there is a legal reason why 
we shouldn’t. 

We would be grateful for your advice on this matter. 

i._C.?.d_~._a.j 

This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential and intended solely for the use of the 
individual or entity to whom they are addressed. If you have received this email in error please notify 
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

The GMC is a charity registered in England and Wales (1089278) and Scotland (SC037750) 

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

07 August 2008 17:25 

Follow Up Flag: 
Flag Status: 

Follow up 

Completed 

Ok I’ve sent a reminder both by first class and special delivery asking him to respond by the 15 August. 

L.c_e~Ai 

Investigation Officer 
Fitness to Practise Directorate 
Direct D i al: [_-._-..-..-._-.~~_-..A..-._-._-..-..-.i 
Fax No: ’ ................................. i .......... _.C_..o._d._e._..A. .......... 
Emai]: [ .................. ..C._q_d_.e_._A- .................. 
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Sent: 07 August 2008 16:15 
To: T- ......................... L~~~-~. ......................... 
Subject: RE: ~-~~,--i 

Thanks for the update. 

Could you send [---~;~--ia further letter by special delivery and first class post and advise him that if he 
does not provide us with the name of his Consultant Psychiatrist we will seek an early review hearing of his 
lOP conditions. 

I would give him set deadline to reply. If he does not reply we will need proof that he has received the letter. 

Sent: 05 Aug 2008 11:17 

Subject: L._..c..?_a._e._.A_._._I 

As you know i~-5~i~-fi-i s required by his lOP conditions to be under the care of a treating psychiatrist. I have 
written to him four times(10 June, 7 July, 16 July and 24 July) to request information about his treating 
Psychiatrist. To date he has not responded, can you let me know what you would like me to do? 

Investigation Officer 
Fitness to Practise Directorate 
Direct 
Fax No: [_-._-._-..-._-_6._-O.:~_-~._-A.-._-._-._-..-.j 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

07 August 2008 08:41 

..................... .................... 
FW: [~i~~i~i~iJ- Disclosure to the Coroner 

DOC$ 8024770 1.DOC 

Please find attached letter to Coroner for your approval. We apologise 

for the previous omission. 

Kind regards 

for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

..... Original Message ..... 

From: 
Sent: Wednesday, August 06, 2008 6:34 PM 

oo: L._._.C..._o_.d._._e_._..A_._.i 
Subject: Re: iliii~i~.i~ii1i- Disclosure to the Coroner 

Could you attach and send the draft letter which I amended just before 
this email was sent. 
Thanks 

for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

..... Original Message ..... 
From: [ ................................................. -g8~ig~ .................................................. 

2-I 
CC: [_E _O._..~._ _e_...~_ _.i 

Sent: Wed Aug 06 18:23:52 2008 

Subject: RE: Disclosure to the Coroner 

There are no letters attached. 
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Sent: 05 Aug 2008 17:16 

Subject: RE: [._._.c_.o_.a_~.~_._i- Disclosure to the Coroner 

Having considered it further and discussed the idea with i~.;_~_;~~] and 

[]~.~.~.~.]~_[]we think that as $35B really relates to disclosure about a 
practitioner’s ftp and because passing information to the Coroner is not 
strictly part of your statutory duty (which may affect the schedules 

which would apply under the Data Protection Act) we should probably get 

consent from the families - or offer to forward letters from the 

Coroner. We have therefore drafted the attached reply for your 
approval. 
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Please let me have any comments and I will then try and get the letter 
out tomorrow. 

~?.V_- .’_~2.2.2] I Par tner 

for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

Consider the environment, think before you print! 

Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP Portland Tower Portland Street Manchester 

M1 3LF 

Tel+44 (0)161 238 4900 Fax+44 (0)161 237 5357 E-mail info@ffw.com 
<mailto :info@ffw. corn> 

Web www.ffw.com <http://www.ffw.com/> CDE823 

FFW does not accept service of documents by e-mail for Court or other 
purposes unless expressly agreed in writing beforehand. For service to 

be effective, the sender must receive an express acknowledgement of 

receipt from the person intended to be served. 

This e-mail may contain privileged and confidential information. If you 

receive it in error please tell the sender and do not copy, distribute 

or take any action in reliance upon it. You should ensure this e-mail 
and any attachments are virus free. E-mail is not a 100% virus-free or 

secure medium. It is your responsibility to ensure that viruses do not 
adversely affect your system and that your messages to us meet your own 

security requirements. We reserve the right to read any e-mail or 

attachment entering or leaving our systems without notice. 

Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP is a limited liability partnership 

registered in England and Wales (registered number OC318472) and is 

regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority. A list of its members 
and their professional qualifications is available at its registered 

office, 35 Vine Street, London, EC3N 2AA. 
We use the term partner to refer to a member of Field Fisher Waterhouse 
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LLP, or an employee or consultant with equivalent standing and 

qualifications. 

From:i ....................................................... ~-d-~N ..................................................... 

Sent: Monday, August 04, 2008 5:25 PM 

To:i ....................... 3 

oo: 
Subject: Disclosure to the Coroner 

You previously asked whether we could disclose the names of the family 

members and the witnesses in our case to the Coroner, ~-~@~.k_-iis of the 
view that we should disclose unless there is a legal reason why we 
shouldn’t. 

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

i[[[[[[~.0.~_~.[[[[[J - HM Assistant Deputy Coroner 
Coroner’s Office 
Room T20 
The Guildhall 
Guildhall Square 

Portsmouth 
PO1 2AJ 

Our ref: TET/GML/00492-15579/7917906 vl 

Your ref: 

~:_?_d..e._A_._._.l 
Assistant Solicitor 

[._C_._.O.._d_._e._._ _A._.. (Direct Dial) 

~ ............ £~.~_.A_ ........... j 

6 August 2008 

Dear 

General Medical Council- 

Thank you for your letter of 17 July 2008, please accept my apologies for the delay in replying. 

Unforttmately neither myself nor the supervising partner in this matter, [ Code A i can attend the 

Pre-Inquest Meeting, however our paralegal colleague, [[[[[_E[3_-.a_-.;_-I_-.A_-]]]]] who has been assisting with 

this case, will attend on behalf of the General Medical Cotmcil on 14 August 2008. 

In relation to your request for a list of all family members and witnesses involved in the GMC 

proceedings we would be pleased to assist but will require the consent of the family members and 

witnesses involved. We would be happy either to write to them ourselves to obtain their consent or 

we would be able to forward any correspondence to them on your behalf. Please let us know how 

you would prefer to proceed. 

If it assists I confirmed, in my letter of 24 Jtme 2008, that the list of interested parties which you 

previously forwarded to me would appear to include a representative for each family. 

Please do not hesitate to contact me if you wish to discuss this matter further. 

Yours sincerely 

for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

05 August 2008 09:52 

Hi i.~_o.9_e.~j 

I’ve spoken to [i~iiiabout this and she’s going to have a look in OPCE records and let you know. 

I’ll order the relevant file from archives for you for the other letter. 

Lc_~.e.Ai 

Sent: 04 August 2008 18:06 

Subject: [i]i]~_~i~]i]] 

Hello [._~_.._e.~_j 

I’m dealing with the above case. 

[._._._C.£_d._e._..A._._.j representatives have informed us that the [:L:L:L:L:L~;.~L~_~:L:L:L:L:~had dealings with this case 

which were revealed in September 2002 would you or OPCE have any correspondence about 
this? 

LC._o._d..e._A_.j 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Subject: 

13 August 2008 16:16 

RE: Coroner on 

I can clarify that all of our witnesses had already spoken to the Police 

and therefore he will have their details (including the pharmacist). 

E:2:~_6.-_a:_( .,N_:2] I Solicitor 
for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

dd 

Mobile E ,-_ ,-_ ,-_ ~7o_ ,h_ ,;_ :g: ,-_ ,-_ ,-_ ] 

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

Sent: Wednesday, August 13, 2008 4:07 PM 
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Cc:i .............................................................................................................................. I 
Subject: Coroner on k-&-;5;~-i 

I have spoken to i code A ithe Asst Coroner doing the i..c._o._a.~_..a._icase 

The plan (subject to the meeting tomorrow) is to list the inquest 21 
October for 4 weeks. 

[i~i~i~i~i.h.}h_?~#i~i~i~i~ii represent 5 families and he hopes will eventually 
represent all of them. Apparently they will make submissions tomorrow: 

1. That the case should be heard with a jury 2. That the GMC case should 
go first. 

I gather the MDU will oppose the jury point as it will delay/extend 
matters. I indicated that was a matter which the GMC would have no view 

- Coroner agreed it was irrelevant to us. 

Not sure what others’ views on the order will be - I recall MDU wanted 

inquest first and we had some soundings from Counsel as to why this 
might be better for us. I said nothing to the Coroner and volunteered 

that the more he thought about it the stronger his view he should go 
first (he slightly implied that this was because he thought the GMC 

weren’t getting on with it (and commented we readily agreed to 

postpone). As an observer tomorrow i~_h.~)~iwill say nothing on this but I 
wanted to confirm that the GMC do not want to make any written 

submissions on this. The coroner said we should fax him before 8am if 
we wanted to send him anything. 

On the issue of a witness list he understood that the GMC had to think 
about DPA issues. He clarified that in fact he just wanted to know if 

he had missed anyone ie is there anyone we have seen from whom there is 
not a police statement. I said I would check but thought very limited 

(it occurred to me the pharmacist and healthcare commission witnesses 

would be all). 

I did say the Healthcare Commission had been a useful source of some 

relevant documents. 

I think if we need to give him the names of the one or two witnesses we 
have seen who were not police witnesses we could just call those 

witnesses to confirm they do not mind. 

Thanks 
[~-~~--_h~.~??-~-~~-?I Partner 

for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

dd:[ ............ .C_£.d_..e._A_ ............. i I m:[ ............ ~o~e-~ ............ i 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Subject: 

13 August 2008 16:07 

Coroner on 

I have spoken to [_._._.C_.o_.d_e_._A._._.j the Asst Coroner doing the [.6_.~_.~_~_i~]case. 

The plan (subject to the meeting tomorrow) is to list the inquest 21 October for 4 weeks. 

[._-._-._-._-._-~.#_-._-._-._-._-.] represent 5 families and he hopes will eventually represent all of them. 
Apparently they will make submissions tomorrow: 
1. That the case should be heard with a jury 
2. That the GMC case should go first. 

I gather the MDU will oppose the jury point as it will delay/extend matters. I indicated that was a 
matter which the GMC would have no view - Coroner agreed it was irrelevant to us. 

Not sure what others’ views on the order will be - I recall MDU wanted inquest first and we had 
some soundings from Counsel as to why this might be better for us. I said nothing to the Coroner 
and volunteered that the more he thought about it the stronger his view he should go first (he 
slightly implied that this was because he thought the GMC weren’t getting on with it (and 
commented we readily agreed to postpone). As an observer tomorrow i~.;~_~_~.iwill say nothing on 
this but I wanted to confirm that the GMC do not want to make any written submissions on this. 
The coroner said we should fax him before 8am if we wanted to send him anything. 

On the issue of a witness list he understood that the GMC had to think about DPA issues. He 
clarified that in fact he just wanted to know if he had missed anyone ie is there anyone we have 
seen from whom there is not a police statement. I said I would check but thought very limited (it 
occurred to me the pharmacist and healthcare commission witnesses would be all). 

I did say the Healthcare Commission had been a useful source of some relevant documents. 

I think if we need to give him the names of the one ortwo witnesses we have seen who were not 
police witnesses we could just call those witnesses to confirm they do not mind. 

Thanks 
_C._?_.d_.e_._A._._._.iI Partner 

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
Web ~ "~ ~ ’~ , 



GMC100106-0266 

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

15 August 2008 10:41 

.............................. C-o-d’-e’--A ............................. 
GMC Case Protocol stage 5 form.doc; [--~-~i~-~--i- Relisting 

Telecon 15 Aug 08.doc; Annex F- BT Meet Me Guide.doc 

Dear all 

I am now attaching the minutes from this morning’s re-listing telecon for the hearing 
[_.C_.o_.d_.e_._A._j Please contact me should any amendments be required. 

As agreed, a further telecon was scheduled for 27 April 2009 at 11:00, and I attach a further 
copy of the Stage 5 agenda and dial-in details for ease of reference. 

Many thanks 
.................................. i 
Code A i 

Adjudication Co-ordinator 
GMC Manchester 
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E/Committee/PCC/Listings/GMC Case Protocol stage 5 form 

GMC Case Protocol - Stage 5 Telephone Conference 

Case: PPC referral: 

Conference date: 

Areas to be covered 

Action 

Stage 3 actions complete? 
If no, please record below actions and timescale for 
completion 

Any outstanding procedural or legal issues? 
If so, please record below 

Are you aware of any health issues regarding the 
doctor, which may affect the planned hearing date for 
this case 

Confirm hearing date 

Confirm time estimate 

Confirm location of hearing 

Check whether there will witnesses giving evidence via video 
link up. If so check where they will be giving evidence from 
i.e Country or location in UK 

Outcome 

Yes / No (please 
circle) 

Date: 

8. Check whether facilities are required i.e: Video player / tape Yes / No 
player etc 

Days: 

Location: 

Yes / No 

Any details here 

Yes / No (please 
circle) 
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E/Committee/PCC/Listings/GMC Case Protocol stage 5 form 

GMC Case Protocol - Stage 5 Telephone Conference 
L_._._c._o.~.e._~_._._j, Medical Defence Union 
[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[~,[~[~[.;~[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[[-j, Field Fisher Waterhouse 
[_-_’i-i’i-#~)’_ei~-i-i-i-i-] on behalf of j .......... ~0"~~-~ ............ hvestigation Officer 
[_-._-._-._-._-._-._-£-~_-~_-.~L-._-._-._-.] Adj u d i cati ~-~-I-i-~t-i~-~~-i~ffi~6-~ 

Re-Listing Telephone Conference date: 15 August 2008 at 10:00 

Areas to be covered 

[[:[:[~_~-½[~[:[:] confirmed that the inquest has now been scheduled for 9 March 2009 and is due 
to last 6 weeks (finishing on 17 April 2009), 

Stage 3 actions complete? 

Action 

GMC confirmed that they are largely at completion: there are 
a number of witness statements outstanding which are due 
back shortly. GMC and defence agreed to liaise on any other 
outstanding matters. 

Any outstanding procedural or legal issues? 

Defence confirmed they may raise brief legal arguments 
regarding admissibility on a small number of points, but that 
they will keep the GMC updated. 

Are you aware of any health issues regarding the doctor, 
which may affect the planned hearing date for this case 

Confirm hearing date 

Confirm time estimate 
Extra time was built into the estimate to allow for panel non- 
sitting days, with the agreement of all parties. 

Confirm location of hearing 

Check whether there will witnesses giving evidence via video 
link up. If so check where they will be giving evidence from 
i.e Country or location in UK 

GMC were not aware of any witnesses needing to give 
evidence via video link at this stage, although this could 
change in the future and they would inform Listings. Defence 
noted that one potential witness is located in New Zealand 
and may need to give evidence via video link, but that they 
will update Listings once the position is clearer. 

Outcome 

See comment 

Possibly 

8 June-21 August 
2009 

55 Days 

London 

Possibly 

No 
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Check whether facilities are required i.e: Video player / tape | Not at this stage 
player etc 

It was agreed to schedule a further telephone conference after the inquest so that 
parties can review the situation - this is currently scheduled for 27 April 2009 at 
11"00. Listings also reminded parties that an additional telecon may be requested 
by any party in advance of this if required. 

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

At the agreed time, ring the MeetMe telephone number -[__._C_0_._d_e_._A__.~i 
i.£.o_.~_e._._A.j 

You will be prompted to enter the participant passcode. 

Enter i._....�£..d.e_._A__.iand then a #. 

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

In reply please quote: BR/Hl-197783948 

00178800 

i]J.].]JJ.].]JJ~-~.~.~]~_].].]JJ.].]JJ.]J 
Fratton Police Station, Kingston Crescent 
Portsmouth 
Hampshire ~ Ge.~lera] &te~’~,~~ .... 

P02 8BU ! Ori~}~,P,B.{ was a 
! Od~in~l was Poor Quali,~            I ....... 

,L~ riginal has been Pho;ocopled to i~ap;O’~ 

Scan Quatitv 

GMC Registration No: [--~-’~-~--] i 

General 
Medical 
Council 

Regent’s P|ace 

350 Euston Road 

London NW1 3JN 

--~[ephone: 0845 357 8001 

~a~imite: 0Z0 7189 

Emai[: gmc@gmc-uk,org 
www.gmc-uk.org 

I am writing to you in connection with i ....... _c..o.~_e._.A_ ...... 

The GMC’s Interim Orders Panel (lOP) considered the case of [_-._-.~.C_-..;.~~_-._-.] at its meeting on 
11 July 2008. 

¯ ’,.-.._-._-~.g_-._-._-.i attended the meeting and was legally represented. 

After considering submissions from the GMC’s Presenting Officer and also from ~.~.~] 
¯ ’,-$$~.;_~Z~.-_Z] legal representatives, the lOP considered that it was necessary for the protection 
of the members of the public, in the public interest and in [IZIZ~_~7~ZI~Z]own interests to 
make an order imposing conditions on her registration for a period of eighteen months as 
follows: 

1.    She must notify the GMC promptly of any professional appointment she 
accepts for which registration with the GMC is required and provide the contact 
details of her employer and the PCT on whose Medical Performers List she is 
included. 

2,    She must allow the GMC to exchange information with her employer or any 
organisation for which she provides medical services. 

3.    She must inform the GMC of any formal disciplinary proceedings taken 
against her, from the date of this determination. 

She must inform the GMC if she applies for medical employment outside the 

She must not prescribe diamorphine and must restrict her prescribing of 
diazepam in line with BNF guidance. 

6o She must provide evidence of her compliance with condition number 5 to the 
GMC prior to any review hearing of this Panel. 

Registered Charity No. 1089278 

Regulating doctors 
Ensuring good medical practice 
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7.    She must inform the following parties that her registration is subject to the 
conditions, listed at (1) to (6), above: 

a. Any organisation or person employing or contracting with her to 
undertake medical work 

b. Any Iocum agency or out-of-hours service she is registered with or 
applies to be registered with (at the time of application) 

c. Any prospective employer (at the time of application) 

d. The PCT in whose Medical Performers List she is included or seeking 
inclusion (at the time of application) 

e. Her Regional Director of Public Health. 

The order took effect on 11 July 2008 and will be reviewed within six months. 

I must stress that this is an interim order and there has been no finding against ~_-~_-._-.j 

.~ ................. 

Code A 
Adjudication Assistant 
Fitness to Practise Directorate 
Direct Dial: .’,- ......... ~-~-~-~-~, ......... 

Fax No: i~_~’~_-.~._~._~ 

Email:i .................. _C._.o_._d._e._._A._ ................. 
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OONFI~ENTI,~L 

FIR ]i~IL 

?.rid Ftoor, Regent’s Ptaceo 3~3JN 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Subject: 

Attachments: 

14 August 2008 08:42 

A 
RE: Coroner on 

i..-.:.:.:..-.:�_~._;.:A_-..-.:.:.:..-.i s u b m is s io n s. p d f 

Dear All 

Please find attached ~ ............ e-ga-~-~, ........... ] submissions to the Coroner which I obtained first thing this 
morning. ([~)~-_~you will not be able to view these on Blackberry but the Coroner is going to give you a 
hard copy at the meeting). 

I do not think that~i~ii say anything of note about the GMC proceedings and there is nothing incorrect. I 

would however observe that they suggest witnesses may be less than full and frank to the inquest if they 
are in fear of subsequent GMC/NMC proceedings. I think the opposite could be said (indeed it was a 
point raised by [._._.C_.o_.d_.e_._A._._.}. The inquest has the potential to find unlawful killing and the police 
investigation could be re-opened (in theory) - thus witnesses could arguably be more concerned about 
self incrimination on that basis. 

I do not think this is a point we need to raise at the meeting. L-~_-#_~2x._-jif (contrary to what he has indicated) 
the Coroner suddenly decides we should go ahead of him - could you call us. Thanks. 

Finally I think it would be helpful to find out if transcripts will be prepared of the inquest and if they are not 
simultaneous how long after the inquest they might be available. This will help with our discussion of 
listing on Friday. 

Thanks 

.X_ ] I Partner 
for Field Fisher Waterhouse LLP 

Sent: Wednesday, August 13, 2008 4:59 PM 

.................................................. ................................................. 
Cc: i ............................................................................................................................... 
Subject: Re: Coroner on 

I suppose what we have to guard against is that incorrect assertions are made by ~{~.;_~.-_.i as to what our 
procedures might deliver. In fact it is surprising they want us to go first since in the absence of an inquest verdict of 

unlawful killing we are not going to be alleging causation. 

Is it possible for us to see their submissions? 

I’d prefer us to stay out of this but not if the result is the coroner tells us to go first based on an inadequate 
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understanding of the relevant issues. 

..... Original Message ..... 

From: [ Code A 

To: V ....................................................................................................................................................................... 
Code A 

Sent: Wed Aug 13 16:06:59 2008 
Subject: Coroner on [~.i__-.;_-igi 

I have spoken to [i_~.~.~.}..~_~_~] the Asst Coroner doing the [~_~_~{i~i case. 

The plan (subject to the meeting tomorrow) is to list the inquest 21 October for 4 weeks. 

[7]]]i~?.h_?7~]]]]i?epresent 5 families and he hopes will eventually represent all of them. Apparently they will make 
submissions tomorrow: 

1. That the case should be heard with a jury 

2. That the GMC case should go first. 

I gather the MDU will oppose the jury point as it will delay/extend matters. I indicated that was a matter which the 
GMC would have no view - Coroner agreed it was irrelevant to us. 

Not sure what others’ views on the order will be - I recall MDU wanted inquest first and we had some soundings 
from Counsel as to why this might be better for us. I said nothing to the Coroner and volunteered that the more he 

thought about it the stronger his view he should go first (he slightly implied that this was because he thought the 
GMC weren’t getting on with it (and commented we readily agreed to postpone). As an observer tomorrow i._c.~_.a_~_~_.i 

will say nothing on this but I wanted to confirm that the GMC do not want to make any written submissions on this. 

The coroner said we should fax him before 8am if we wanted to send him anything. 

On the issue of a witness list he understood that the GMC had to think about DPA issues. He clarified that in fact he 

just wanted to know if he had missed anyone ie is there anyone we have seen from whom there is not a police 
statement. I said I would check but thought very limited (it occurred to me the pharmacist and healthcare 

commission witnesses would be all). 

I did say the Healthcare Commission had been a useful source of some relevant documents. 

I think if we need to give him the names of the one or two witnesses we have seen who were not police witnesses we 

could just call those witnesses to confirm they do not mind. 

Thanks 

[i[i[i[�[~[~[~[~i[i[ ] I Partner 
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
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IN THE PORTSMOUTH CORONER’S COURT 

IN THE MATTER OF THE GOSPORT WAR MEMORIAL INOUEST, S 

SUBMISSIONS ONTHE PRE-INQUEST REVIEW 

Introductio~t 

1. These submissions are intended to assist HM Coroner at the Pre-Inquest Review to be 

held at I0am on 14 August 2008, 

2. They are submitted on behalf of those relatives represented by Blake Lapthorn Tarlo 

Lyons (refen’ed to as "the [.-..-._-._-._-~b_-.d_-.e_-2~.-..-._-._-.] group" for convenience). The Blake 

Lapthom group consists of relatives of the following deceased: 

b. 

c, 
e 

d, 

3, In particular, the submissions seek to address: 

a. Whether it would be appropriate for the matter to proceed as one inquest; 

b. Whether it would be appropriate for HM Coroner to sit with a jury; 

e, Whether the inquest should take place before or after any GMC hearing; 

d. Representation at the inquest; 

e. Documentation mad witnesses; 

£ Venue; 

g. Time estimate. 

Summary of submissions 

4. The BlakeLapthom group submits as follows: 

a, There should be a single inquest covering the deaths; 

b. The Coroner should sit with a jury; 

c. The inquest should take place after any OMC/’NMC hearing; 

Fax £~om : 14/88/88 87:Z8     Pff: 2 
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d. Blake Lapthor~ are content to represent the interested of any/all of the 

deceased, but that will be a matter for ttle individuals concemed; 

e. Various documents (identified below) will be required and it is anticipated that 

most of the witnesses should give live evidence. Early and full disclosure is 

invited; 

f. The inquest should take place in a coIwenient venue that is able to 

accommodate the large number of interested persons/wltnesses’, 

g. It is probably premature for an accurate time estimate, but a working estimate 

of 6 weeks is considered appropriate. 

F~etu~l summary 

5. The 10 deceased whose deaths fall to be investigated by HM Coroner were patients at 

the Gosport Wa~ Memorial Hospital ("the hospital"). Police investigations took place 

into an alleged unlawful killing of a patient at tile hospital in 1998, Expert evidence 

was obtained in respect of 5 deaths. Although the police decided not to proceed with 

any prosecution~ they were sufficiently concerned about the care and treatment of frail 

and elderly people at the hospital that they referred the issue to the Commission for 

Health Improvement ("CHI") for investigation. CHI duly investigated and reported in 

July 2002, in a report entitled "Portsmouth Healthcare NHS Trust at Gosport War 

Memorial Hospital" ("the CHI report"). 

6. Hampshire Constabulary also referred the experts’ reports to the General Medical 

Council and the Nursing and Midwifery Com~cil, amongst others. 

7. CHI’s terms of reference were to consider whether, since 1998, there had been a 

failure of trust systems to ensure good quality patient care. The investigation focused 

on a number of areas, including the an’angements for the prescription and 

administration of drugs and staffing, accountability, supervision and training (para 

1,4). CHI’s remit specifically excluded the investigation of any particular death or the 

conduct of any individual (Executive Summary, vii). CUPs investigation centred on 

the 3 wards at the hospital providing general medical care for patients over 65: Dryad, 

Daedalus ~d Sultan wards. 

8. In relation to the administration of medications, CHI noted the concerns of the experts 

to include the following (p12): 

a. A lack of evidence of trust policy to ensure the appropriate prescription and 

dose escalation of strong opiate analgesia as the initial response to pain; 

2 
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b. The inappropriate combined subcutaneous administration of diamorphine, 

midazolam and haloperidol, which could carry a risk of excessive sedatiot~ and 

respiratory depression in older patients, leading to death; 

c. Confusion amongst staff about whether patients were being admitted for 

palliative or rehabilitative care; 

d. A failure to recognise the potential adverse effects of prescribed medicines; 

e. A failure of clinical managers to routinely monitor and supervise care on the 

ward. 

9. It was not within CHI’s remit to determine whether the said failures caused or 

contributed to any individual death. 

10. In relation to staffing, CHI found that there was inadequate supervision of the clinical 

assistants providing medical support on the hospital wards (until J~fly 2000), including 

a lack of review of any prescribing (pp29 and 33), 

11, CHI’s key conclusion was that there was a failure of trust systems to ensure good 

quality patient care in that: 

a. There were insufficient local prescribing guidelines in place governing the 

prescription of power pain relieving and sedative medicines; 

b. There was a lack of routine and rigorous review of pharmacy data, that led to 

high levels of prescribing on wards not being questioned; 

c. The absence of adequate supervision and appraisal systems meant that poor 

prescribing practices were not identified; 

d. There was a lack of adequate assessment of care needs of patients on 

admission (Executive Summary, vii). 

12. HM Coroner has elected to conduct inquests in relation to I0 patients who died at the 

hospital. The criteria for the selection of those deaths are not clear at this stage. The 

Coroner is invited to note that Blake Lapthorn have been contacted by a number of 

other relatives of those dying at the hospital in the relevant period, who are keen for 

the deaths of their relatives to be considered. 

One or more inquests 

13. From the ~nformation currently available, it would appear that there are a number of 

generic issues that would apply to the Coroner’s investigation of all 10 deaths. They 

include the lack of clarity as to whether palliative or rehabilitative care was required 

for patients, the prescription and administration of strong opiates, and the lack of 

3 
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supervision of staff generally and in relation to opiate prescription and administration 

in particular. 

14. Obviously, each death will raise separate issues and. will require individual 

examination, 

15. Given that fllere are generic issues that appear to apply to all 10 deaths, it is submitted 

that it would be appropriate for the cases to be heard together. This is likely to result 

[n the best use of resources, including expert evidence, and it is anticipated that a 

single inquest will allow the generic issues to be considered in appropriate detail. 

Further, a single hcariug is likely to result in closure of the matter for all of those 

involved - relatives and trust staff alike - and this is less likely to be achieved through 

a series of separate inquests. 

16. Careflfl consideration will be required as how best to conduct file hearings. At this 

stage, it is submitted that it would be appropriate for there to be a phase of evidence 

regarding genetic issues, with subsequent consideration of the individual deaths. 

I7. In te~zns of the orgaNsation of evidence, it is submitted that it would be appropriate to 

have a bundle containing ~eneri~ evidence, then separate bundles in respect of each of 

the deceased, containing medicat records, witness statements and any expert evidence. 

This would circumvent the problem of diseloslng inforraation about each deceased to 

the relatives of other deceased persons. 

Jury 

19. 

20. 

It is submitted ~hat it would be appropriate for HM Coroner to sit with a jury, either 

on a mandatory basis under section 8(3)(d) of the Coroners Act 1988 ("the Act") or 

on a discretionary basis under section 8(4) of the Act, 

Section 8(3)(d) of the Coroners Act 1988 provides: 

"If it appears to a coroner, either before he proceeds to hold an inquest or in the 

course of an inquest ~begun without a jury...(d) that the death occurred in 

circumstances the continuance or possible recurrence of which is prejudicial to the 

health or safety of the public or any section of the public, he shall proceed to summon 

ajw’y in the manner required by subsection (2) above)." 

It is submitted that the facts of these cases disclose prima facie evidence that the 

deaths occurred in circumstances the eontinu~ee or possible recurrence of which is 

prejudicial to file public, in particular elderly hospital patients, The criteria of section 

8(3)(d) are made out and the Coroner is obliged to sit with a jury. 

4 
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21. Alternatively, the Coroner is invited to sit with a jury pursuant to section 8(4). Plainly, 

this is a ease of significant public interest and it would be appropriate for the evidence 

to be weighed by a body of lay people. 

Timing of the inquest: before of after the GMC hearing 

22. As far as the relatives are concerned, there are competing arguments as to whether the 

inquest is to take place before any OMC or other disciplinary hearing. 

23. Plainly, it is a long time since the deaths (around 10 years) and there is an interest in 

hearing the inquests as soon as practicable. Not only does this relate to the cogency of 

the evidence but also the general desire of the relatives to move on fi’om the deaths. 

There may be Article 6 issues regarding delay. 

24. Against that, the Blake Lapthom group are concerned that, when the inquests are 

finally heard, the evidence should be as full, cogent and frank as possible. There are 

concerns that, with GMC hearings pending, the individuals involved may be 

distracted and more inclined to be guarded about the evidence they give. This may 

defeat, the purpose of the inquest. 

25. On balance, it is submitted that it would be preferable for the inquest to be adjourned 

pending the outcome of the GMC hearing/s. An element of further delay (provided it 

is not excessive) is unlikely to have any material effect on the cogency of the 

evidence - with a lapse of up to 10 years between the events ~d now, a further delay 

of a period of months is unlikely to make a significant difference to the recollection of 

witnesses. By contrast, it is submitted that the Coroner is more likely to be able to 

achieve the sort of full and frank investigation required by Article 2 if any disciplinary 

hearing has already been completed, 

Representation 

26. It is not clear at this stage whether any of the relatives of the other 5 deceased ’,vill 

join forces with the Blake Lapthom group. 

27. Blake Lapthom are content to represent the interests of al! of the deceased, but clearly 

the question of representation is a matter for the relatives of each deceased. 

28. At this stage, representation of the Blake Lapthom group is on a pro-bone basis. An 

application for exceptional public funding is to be made shortly. 

Documentationlwitnesses 

29. A this stage, it is submitted that the following evidence is likely to be of assistance: 
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a. Generic witness statements from Trust staff dealing (inter alia) with the 

rum~ingtstaff~ng of the hospital, supervision of staff, admission procedures, 

decisions regarding palliative/rehabilitative care and protocoIs for the 

administration of opiates. 

b. Generic expel~ evidence regarding the prescribing and administration of 

opiates. DiseIosure is invited of the expert evidence obtained by Hampshire 

Constabulary as part of its investigations. Alternatively, the Coroner is invited 

to obtain such evidence. 

c. In individual cases: 

i. The medical records; 

ii. Witness statements fi’om family members; 

iii. Witness statements from Trust staff caring for the deceased; 

iv. Expert evidence on the use of opiates in the deeeased’s case and 

whether that caused or materially contributed to the deceased’s death. 

v. Where appropriate in any case, expert evidence on any other matter 

relating to the cm’e of the deceased at the hospital which may have 

caused or materially contributed to the deceased’s deatht, 

30. Early disclosure of all documents is invited. 

31. As indicated above, the Coroner is invited to collate a file of generic evidence and to 

create separate bundles in respect of each deceased. 

32. It is anticipated that it wilt be appropriate to hear live evidence from most of the 

witnesses. Further submissions on this will be made at the appropriate time. 

Venue 

33. The Coroner is invited to sit ia a venue that can cope with the likely number of 

interested porsons/witnesses and can be booked for the requisite length of time (see 

below). 

Time estimate 

34. Until the evidence has been gathered, it is probably not possible to give an accurate 

time estimate. 

35. As a very rough estimate, it may be thought that it would be appropriate to allocate 6 

weeks to the inquest - a week or so for consideration of the generic issues, 2 days per 

t This is suggested at this stage~ b~eaus¢ it th~ ¢ircurastances of the individual deaths are not clear. 
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individual death and a few days for any submissions, summingup and consideration 

of verdicts. 

Further conduct 

36. Given the size of the inquest and the likely number of issues to be raised, it is 

suggested that at least one further Pre-Inquest Review will be required. 

14 August 2008 

7 
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IN THE PORTSMOUTH CORONER’S COURT 

IN THE MATTER OF THE GOSPORT WAR MEMORIAL INQUESTS 

SUBMISSIONS ONTHE PRE-INQUIgST REVIEW 

Blake Lapthorn Tarlo Lyons, 

New Court ($2), 

1 Barnes Wallis Road, 

Segensworth, 

Fareham~ 

Hampshire, 

PO15 5UA. 

Solicitors for the Blake Lapthorn group of re[.a..fives 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Subject: 

13 August 2008 16:59 

Re: Coroner on L._C._o..d..e._A_.j 

I suppose what we have to guard against is that incorrect assertions are made by i~2222~.;_.a_.;_K222] as to what our 

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

L.C_?_d2._A.j 

..... Original Message ..... 
From:[ ............................. -~ga;-~, ............................. 

Code A 
Sent: Wed Aug 13 16:06:59 2008 

Subject: Coroner on ~’~-j 

I have spoken to [--d);a;~---~the Asst Coroner doing the [~_.~_.a_;_i~ase. 

The plan (subject to the meeting tomorrow) is to list the inquest 21 October for 4 weeks. 

[ ......... 
c_9.a_.e_._~- ........ jrepresent 5 families and he hopes will eventually represent all of them. Apparently they will make 

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

GMC weren’t getting on with it (and commented we readily agreed to postpone). As an observer tomorrow 
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
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